Eva Morava Matthias Baumgartner Marc Patterson Shamima Rahman Johannes Zschocke Verena Peters *Editors*

JIMD Reports Volume 32





JIMD Reports Volume 32 Eva Morava Editor-in-Chief

Matthias Baumgartner · Marc Patterson · Shamima Rahman · Johannes Zschocke Editors

Verena Peters Managing Editor

JIMD Reports Volume 32





Editor-in-Chief Eva Morava Tulane University Medical School New Orleans Louisiana USA

Editor Matthias Baumgartner Division of Metabolism and Children's Research Centre University Children's Hospital Zurich Zurich Switzerland

Editor Marc Patterson Division of Child and Adolescent Neurology Mayo Clinic Rochester Minnesota USA *Editor* Shamima Rahman Clinical and Molecular Genetics Unit UCL Institute of Child Health London UK

Editor Johannes Zschocke Division of Human Genetics Medical University Innsbruck Innsbruck Austria

Managing Editor Verena Peters Center for Child and Adolescent Medicine Heidelberg University Hospital Heidelberg Germany

ISSN 2192-8304 ISSN 2192-8312 (electronic) JIMD Reports ISBN 978-3-662-54384-9 ISBN 978-3-662-54385-6 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-54385-6

© SSIEM and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2017

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer-Verlag GmbH Germany The registered company address is: Heidelberger Platz 3, 14197 Berlin, Germany

Contents

Establishing New Cut-Off Limits for Galactose 1-Phosphate-Uridyltransferase Deficiency for the Dutch Newborn Screening Programme	1
E.A. Kemper, A. Boelen, A.M. Bosch, M. van Veen-Sijne, C.N. van Rijswijk, M.J. Bouva, R. Fingerhut, and P.C.J.I. Schielen	
Four Years of Diagnostic Challenges with Tetrahydrobiopterin Deficienciesin Iranian PatientsShohreh Khatami, Soghra Rouhi Dehnabeh, Sirous Zeinali, Beat Thöny,Mohammadreza Alaei, Shadab Salehpour, Aria Setoodeh, Farzaneh Rohani,Fatemeh Hajivalizadeh, and Ashraf Samavat	7
Endurance Exercise Training in Young Adults with Barth Syndrome:A Pilot Study.W. Todd Cade, Dominic N. Reeds, Linda R. Peterson, Kathryn L. Bohnert,Rachel A. Tinius, Paul B. Benni, Barry J. Byrne, and Carolyn L. Taylor	15
Hydroxysteroid 17-Beta Dehydrogenase Type 10 Disease in Siblings Annely Richardson, Gerard T. Berry, Cheryl Garganta, and Mary-Alice Abbott	25
Reliable Diagnosis of Carnitine Palmitoyltransferase Type IA Deficiencyby Analysis of Plasma Acylcarnitine Profiles.M. Rebecca Heiner-Fokkema, Frédéric M. Vaz, Ronald Maatman,Leo A.J. Kluijtmans, Francjan J. van Spronsen, and Dirk-Jan Reijngoud	33
Relationships Between Childhood Experiences and Adulthood Outcomes in Women with PKU: A Qualitative Analysis Rachel M. Roberts, Tamara Muller, Annabel Sweeney, Drago Bratkovic, Anne Gannoni, and Brianna Morante	41
The Effect of S-Adenosylmethionine on Self-Mutilation in a Patientwith Lesch–Nyhan DiseaseMatthias Lauber, Barbara Plecko, Miriam Pfiffner, Jean-Marc Nuoffer,and Johannes Häberle	51
Low Protein Formula: Consequences of Quantitative Effects of Pre-analytical Factors on Amino Acid Concentrations in Plasma of Healthy Infants Claude Bachmann, Alexander Kainz, and Elisabeth Haschke-Becher	59
 A Multiplatform Metabolomics Approach to Characterize Plasma Levels of Phenylalanine and Tyrosine in Phenylketonuria. H. Blasco, C. Veyrat-Durebex, M. Bertrand, F. Patin, F. Labarthe, H. Henique, P. Emond, C.R. Andres, C. Antar, C. Landon, L. Nadal-Desbarats, and F. Maillot 	69

Japanese Male Siblings with 2-Methyl-3-Hydroxybutyryl- CoA Dehydrogenase Deficiency (HSD10 Disease) Without Neurological Regression Shohei Akagawa, Toshiyuki Fukao, Yuko Akagawa, Hideo Sasai, Urara Kohdera, Minoru Kino, Yosuke Shigematsu, Yuka Aoyama, and Kazunari Kaneko	81
Newborn Screening for Vitamin B ₆ Non-responsive Classical Homocystinuria: Systematical Evaluation of a Two-Tier Strategy Jürgen G. Okun, Hongying Gan-Schreier, Tawfeq Ben-Omran, Kathrin V. Schmidt, Junmin Fang-Hoffmann, Gwendolyn Gramer, Ghassan Abdoh, Noora Shahbeck, Hilal Al Rifai, Abdul Latif Al Khal, Gisela Haege, Chuan-Chi Chiang, David C. Kasper, Bridget Wilcken, Peter Burgard, and Georg F. Hoffmann	87
Management of an LCHADD Patient During Pregnancy and High Intensity Exercise	95
Rare Case of Hepatic Gaucheroma in a Child on Enzyme ReplacementTherapy.Sophy Korula, Penny Owens, Amanda Charlton, and Kaustuv Bhattacharya	101
Newborn Screening Programmes in Europe, Arguments and Efforts Regarding Harmonisation: Focus on Organic Acidurias Friederike Hörster, Stefan Kölker, J. Gerard Loeber, Martina C. Cornel, Georg F. Hoffmann, and Peter Burgard	105
Whole Exome Sequencing Identifies the Genetic Basis of Late-Onset LeighSyndrome in a Patient with MRI but Little Biochemical Evidenceof a Mitochondrial Disorder.Michael Nafisinia, Yiran Guo, Xiao Dang, Jiankang Li, Yulan Chen, Jianguo Zhang,Nicole J. Lake, Wendy A. Gold, Lisa G. Riley, David R. Thorburn, Brendan Keating,Xun Xu, Hakon Hakonarson, and John Christodoulou	117

RESEARCH REPORT

Establishing New Cut-Off Limits for Galactose 1-Phosphate-Uridyltransferase Deficiency for the Dutch Newborn Screening Programme

E.A. Kemper • A. Boelen • A.M. Bosch • M. van Veen-Sijne • C.N. van Rijswijk • M.J. Bouva • R. Fingerhut • P.C.J.I. Schielen

Received: 04 February 2016 / Revised: 10 February 2016 / Accepted: 19 March 2016 / Published online: 21 May 2016 © SSIEM and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2016

Abstract Newborn screening for classical galactosemia in the Netherlands is performed by five laboratories and is based on the measurement of galactose 1-phosphateuridyltransferase (GALT) activity and total galactose (TGAL) in heel prick blood spots. Unexpected problems with the GALT assay posed a challenge to switch to a new assay. The aim of this study was to make an analytical and clinical evaluation of GALT assays to replace the current assay and to establish new cut-off values (COVs).

First, the manual assay from PerkinElmer (NG-1100) and the GSP assay were compared by analyzing 626 anonymous heel prick samples in parallel. Secondly, a manual GSP method was evaluated and 2,052 samples were compared with the

E.A. Kemper and A. Boelen contributed equally to the preparation of this manuscript.

E.A. Kemper (⊠) · C.N. van Rijswijk Department of Clinical Chemistry, IJsselland Hospital, Prins Constantijnweg 2, 2906ZC Capelle aan den IJssel, The Netherlands e-mail: ekemper@ysl.nl

A. Boelen · M. van Veen-Sijne Newborn Screening Laboratory Amsterdam, Academic Medical Center, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

A.M. Bosch

Department of Pediatrics, Emma Children's Hospital, Academic Medical Center, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

M.J. Bouva · P.C.J.I. Schielen

Centre for Infectious Diseases Research, Diagnostics and Screening, National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, Bilthoven, The Netherlands

R. Fingerhut

Swiss Newborn Screening Laboratory, Children's Research Center, Zurich, Switzerland

automated GSP assay. Finally, a clinical evaluation was performed by collecting data from 93 referred newborns.

No satisfactory correlation was observed between GALT activity measured with the manual NG-1100 assay and the automated GSP assay. An acceptable correlation was found between the manual and automated GSP assay. Intra- and inter-assay variation of the automated GSP were 1.8-10.0% and 3.1-13.9%, respectively. Evaluation of clinical data demonstrated that adjusting the COVs for GALT to 2.0 U/dl and TGAL to 1,100 µmol/l improved specificity of screening for classical galactosemia.

An assay designed for automated processing to measure GALT activity in heel prick samples works equally well when processed manually. We therefore adopted both methods in the Dutch screening laboratories. As a result of this evaluation new COVs for GALT and TGAL have been introduced and are valid from July 2015.

Introduction

Classical galactosemia (OMIM 230400) is an autosomal recessively inherited disorder of galactose metabolism caused by a severe deficiency of galactose 1-phosphateuridyltransferase (GALT) enzyme (GALT; EC 2.7.7.12), (Isselbacher et al. 1956). Its incidence in Western Europe has been estimated to be between 1:23,000 and 1:44,000 (Bosch 2006). Affected children develop a severe illness with feeding difficulties, liver failure, *Escherichia coli* sepsis, and cataracts after ingestion of galactose from breast milk or infant formula in the first weeks of life. Timely treatment, consisting of a strict restriction of dietary galactose, is lifesaving, rendering this disease well suited for newborn screening. The Dutch newborn screening for classical galactosemia, which was implemented in 2007, is primarily based on the measurement of GALT activity in filter paper blood spots. In heel prick samples with an activity level at or below 20% of average GALT activities of daily experimental batches, total galactose (TGAL) concentration was determined in the same blood sample (cut-off value (COV) for positive screening result and clinical referral was 700 μ mol/l blood). The five Dutch screening laboratories aim to work with the same laboratory equipment and assays if possible to use the same, nationwide, COVs. For the galactosemia screening, three laboratories have experience using an automated GALT assay (PerkinElmer, 3303-0010-assay using the GSP analyzer) while two laboratories use a manual (Bio-Rad) assay.

Based on the data from the yearly reports of the newborn screening laboratories, in 2010–2014 (not publically available) about 0.4% of the newborn heel prick samples were considered abnormal and children were referred to a metabolic center; roughly 5% of referred children were diagnosed with classical galactosemia and roughly 6% were Duarte variants demonstrating GALT activity of 15–30%. So far, no cases of uridine diphosphate galactose 4-epimerase deficiency were found in the Netherlands.

Rather sudden delivery problems with the manual GALT assay in 2013 posed an immediate challenge for two laboratories to switch to a new assay that would fit as seamlessly as possible to the logistics and COVs of the current screening programme.

The aim of this study was to evaluate new GALT assays in order to fit these assays in the Dutch screening programme, maintaining uniformly applied COVs for GALT. Here we report the analytical and clinical evaluation of the new GALT assay in the context of the Dutch screening setting. The consequences for the Dutch newborn screening programme, including the COV for galactose, are discussed.

Methods

Study Population and Samples

Samples were selected from the routine screening programme in the laboratories immediately after performing the routine newborn screening. Approval to use anonymized samples for quality assurance properties and to improve test quality was obtained from the parents through the heel prick application form (in case parents notified informed dissent, cards were not used).

Assays

Three laboratories already had experience using the automated GALT assay (3303-0010-assay, PerkinElmer, Turku, Finland) and using the Genetic Screening Processor (GSP analyzer, PerkinElmer). The first choice for evaluation by the remaining two other laboratories was the manual GALT assay of PerkinElmer (NG-1100). An alternative method was to test whether the GSP assay could be used without a GSP (further referred to as manual GSP assay). To this end, the incubation steps carried out by the GSP analyzer were performed manually and the plates were read using a Fluorometer (Victor, PerkinElmer). This idea was originally suggested by Fingerhut and Torresani (2013).

Analytical Procedures

The experimental procedures for the manual and automated assays are comparable and were performed according to the manufacturer's protocol. Using a DBS puncher (Perkin Elmer), single 3.2 mm punches were collected in 96 well plates and incubated in a substrate reagent. The method applied in both GALT assays is an adaptation of the semiquantitative enzymatic assay of Beutler and Baluda (1966). GALT activity is determined using a coupled enzyme reaction, in which the end product (fluorescent NADPH) is measured by excitation with a laser source at 355 nm and detecting emitted light at 460 nm. Measurement of fluorescence was done using a Victor Fluorometer (PerkinElmer, 1420 Multilabel Counter) or with the GSP. Using this test, patients with GALT deficiency are identified, but also deficiencies of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase and phosphoglucomutase (Tegtmeyer et al. 2014) can be picked up, since these enzymes are required for the test to function. The NG-1100 Newborn GALT kit for manual processing is provided with calibrators to express GALT activity in units per gram hemoglobin. The 3303-0010 GSP Newborn GALT kit was processed with the GSP automated analyzer and is provided with calibrators to express GALT activity in units per dl blood. Thus, both methods differ compared to the method routinely used, where GALT was expressed as percentage of the average of the daily batch.

For the comparative assays, experimental runs of 100–200 samples were analyzed in the routine daily screening in the laboratory of Bilthoven using the automated GSP method. Duplicate punches were taken to fill duplicate plates that were transported for parallel analysis at the laboratory of the Academic Medical Center in Amsterdam, where the NG-1100 assay was performed the next

day. For the comparison between the automated GSP and NG-1100 assay a total of 626 daily routine samples was used. For the comparison of both GSP assays (automated GSP versus manual GSP) a total of 2,052 daily routine samples and a selected group of 68 samples with low GALT activities were measured. In addition, intra- and inter-assay variation was determined for the automated and manual GSP assay.

Finally, data were collected from 93 newborns with low GALT activities (performed by the automated and manual GSP method) who were referred to the hospital for further analysis. Based on these data optimal COVs for GALT were assessed.

Statistical Analysis

Comparison was established using Passing–Bablok statistics and Pearson correlation (Analyse-it software, which is integrated in Microsoft Excel 2010). Intra- and inter-assay variation (as % coefficient of variance (%CV) where %CV is the quotient of SD and average \times 100) were also established.

Results

Firstly, the manual assay (NG-1100) and the automated GSP assay were compared by analyzing 626 anonymous routine heel prick samples in parallel. Figure 1 shows the GALT activity measured by both assays. We did not observe a satisfactory correlation between both assays (Pearson correlation: r = 0.37 (95% confidence interval:



Fig. 1 GALT activity measured in 626 daily heel prick samples comparing the manual assay with the automated GSP assay

0.30-0.43) and Passing-Bablok analysis: slope = 0.37 and an intercept of 3.24).

Secondly, the manual GSP method was carried out. Comparative results of 2,052 measurements using the 3303-0010-assay, performed either automated or manually, are given in Fig. 2a. With a slope of 0.86, an intercept of -0.8and a correlation coefficient of 0.86 (0.85–0.87) between the manual and automated GSP method were deemed sufficiently comparable. In addition, data of a selected group of heel prick samples with low GALT values (<6.0 U/dl) were measured using both assays (Fig. 2b). Here, it is shown that the results were comparable to those shown in Fig. 2a, although GALT results of the manual assay were slightly lower compared to the automated GSP assay (with a slope of 0.74, intercept of 0.31, and correlation 0.64 (0.47–0.76)).

Intra- and inter-assay variation coefficients of the automated and manual GSP assay are listed in Table 1. Both assays showed acceptable variation coefficients (ranging from 1.8 to 13.9%) where the automated GSP assay performed better than the manual GSP assay.

Figure 3 reports the data collected from all newborns that were referred by all Dutch screening laboratories between July 2014 and June 2015 based on provisionally applied COVs (GALT activity ≤ 2.7 U/dl and TGAL $\geq 900 \ \mu$ mol/ l). Two newborns were excluded from this evaluation, since referral data were incomplete. Ninety-three newborns were referred (0.05% of all newborns screened in this period). In this group, three patients were confirmed to have classical galactosemia, and 41 newborns had GALT activities that are indicative of a Duarte variant. All patients with classical galactosemia showed GALT activities ≤ 0.8 U/dl combined with TGAL concentrations $\geq 3,000 \ \mu$ mol/l. The positive predictive value (PPV) was 3.3% (Duarte variants being considered as false positive results).

Discussion

The present study describes the adoption of a manual assay for GALT used in the newborn screening for classical galactosemia in order to replace the assay of which the production was terminated. Choices were limited, and of those limited choices we showed that the manual GALT assay from Perkin Elmer (NG-1100 assay) did not produce results that were comparable with those measured using the automated GALT assay (3303-0010-assay, processed with the GSP analyzer). In additional experiments we demonstrated that adaptation of the automated GSP assay for manual processing did produce satisfactory results. Intraand inter-assay variation were acceptable and comparable in both assays and, more importantly, a good correlation between the measurements of the automated and manual



Fig. 2 GALT activity measured in 2,052 random heel prick samples (a) and in a selection of 68 heel prick samples (b) with GALT activity ranging from 0 to 6 U/dl using the automated assay and manual GSP

assay. Slope and intercept of the Passing-Bablok analysis (grey line) are given in the diagram

Table 1	Intra-	and inter-assa	y variation of	GALT a	activity	measured by	the manual	and	automated	GSP	assay	of low a	nd medium	control	samp	oles
---------	--------	----------------	----------------	--------	----------	-------------	------------	-----	-----------	-----	-------	----------	-----------	---------	------	------

	Low control (3.7 U/dl)		Medium control (13.8 U/dl)	
	Automated GSP	Manual GSP	Automated GSP	Manual GSP
Intra-assay				
Average	3.7	3.7	14.5	12.5
CV (%)	7.0	10.0	1.8	4.2
Inter-assay				
Average	3.7	3.8	13.8	12.5
CV (%)	3.1	13.9	5.0	3.4

Intra-assay variation determined in one experiment with n = 6 analyses, inter-assay variation in ten experiments with 4–6 analyses



Fig. 3 Scattergram of results of all 93 newborns that were referred in a one year period (July 2014–June 2015) by all Dutch screenings laboratories based on GALT activity ≤ 2.7 U/dl and TGAL concentration $\geq 900 \text{ }\mu\text{mol/l}$ (gray line). The black line indicates new adjusted COVs (see the section "Discussion"). Referred neonates that appeared normal after clinical evaluation are indicated by open

GSP assay was shown. These results enabled implementation of this method in two of the five screening laboratories for measuring GALT activity in heel prick blood and set one nationwide-defined COV. The manual procedure was implemented on July 1, 2014. Concomitantly, a new COV for GALT, expressed in U/dl blood, had to be implemented.

The approach was to start with a relatively save, provisional COV, followed by a critical evaluation period, to allow fine tuning of the COV. In close collaboration with both the programme coordinator of the Dutch screening programme and the Dutch advisory board for newborn screening for metabolic disorders as of July 1, 2014, the initial COV for GALT activity in the Netherlands was set at GALT ≤ 2.7 U/dl blood (combined with TGAL $\geq 900 \ \mu$ mol/l). In a recent paper on GALT screening in the USA an overview was given of the applied COV for GALT screening (Pyhtila et al. 2014). Four out of nineteen laboratories used the PerkinElmer GSP assay, with COVs of 2.5, 2.7, 3.1, and 4.3 U/dl blood, respectively.

diamonds, cases with the Duarte variant are indicated with gray circles, and classical galactosemia cases with black triangles. Note: analytical sensitivity for GALT was determined at 0.8 U/dl (based on our own validation studies), therefore results of \leq 0.8 U/dl were all reported as 0.8 U/dl

Thus, 2.7 U/dl as a COV for the Dutch screening programme, compared to all comparative reference data together, seemed to be a reasonable choice.

After one year of experience, we have no indication of false negative results of the screening using the current COVs. GALT activities in cases of classical galactosemia were ≤ 0.8 U/dl (Fig. 3; three patients) and in case of the possible Duarte variants 0.8-2.7 U/dl blood. TGAL concentrations of the classical galactosemia cases were $\geq 3,000 \ \mu mol/l$ and of the Duarte variants between 900 and 2,717 $\ \mu mol/l$. Duarte variants are considered to be physiological variants and do not receive treatment.

To optimize COVs for GALT after the planned evaluation period we combined the limited available clinical and screening data of the current study and combined clinical and screening data (produced by using the exact same automated GSP method as the current study) from the Swiss newborn screening programme (kindly provided by Dr. Fingerhut). In the Swiss study it was shown that GALT activity of five classical galactosemia cases was 0-1.4 U/dl and of 10 Duarte cases GALT varied between 0.7 and 3.3 U/dl. TGAL concentrations of the classical galactosemia cases ranged from 965 to 7,148 µmol/l blood and of the Duarte casus from 19 to 2,368 µmol/l blood. GALT activity results together led us to believe that a new COV for GALT activity to detect neonates with classical galactosemia only could safely be set at 2.0 U/dl.

To set a new COV for TGAL we sought additional information on the lowest TGAL concentration (965 μ mol/l) in this dataset measured in a patient with classical galactosemia. It turned out that this patient was already on a galactose-free diet, because of the presence of a sibling with classical galactosemia.

It was therefore decided to increase the TGAL COV from 900 to 1,100 μ mol/l. These new COVs (GALT ≤ 2.0 U/dl and TGAL \geq 1,100 μ mol/l) were approved by the National Screening Programme Committee and are valid as of July 1, 2015. Adjustment of the COVs will result in a significant decrease of the referral rate (48 instead of 93, projected on the July 2014–June 2015 data) and thereby reducing the amount of false positive referrals (45 instead of 90) and a subsequent increase in the PPV (6.5% instead of 3.3%). Duarte variants are included in the number of false positives. Adjustment of the COVs results in increased specificity (99.98%) compared to the formerly used COVs (specificity 99.95%) with unchanged sensitivity (100%).

The finding of one neonate with classical galactosemia that presented in 2011 with a very low GALT activity but a TGAL concentration of 959 hampered the decision on a COV of 1,100 μ mol/l blood for some time. The fact that this particular neonate at the time of the heel prick was already on a partly galactose-free diet not only paved the way to elevate the COV for TGAL, but also stressed the importance of the dietary status of the neonate with respect to galactosemia screening. A question on the Dutch heel prick card might be a future consideration, allowing for an even higher TGAL COV, and thus a lower referral rate.

Acknowledgements This project would have been impossible without the help of many people involved in the Dutch newborn screening organization. This work was performed within the framework of the Dutch newborn screening organization, which is coordinated by the Centre for Population screening (RIVM – Mrs Eugenie Dekkers, programme director). We especially thank the two newborn screening laboratories in Zwolle and Tilburg, two of the five screening laboratories that were not mentioned in the text but made a significant contribution to collect data for this study.

Take-Home Message

A new method for measuring GALT activity for newborn screening was introduced in the Netherlands and has led to new COVs in newborn screening for classical galactosemia and may lower referral rates.

Contributions of Individual Authors

Boelen A: Conception and design, data analysis and interpretation of data, drafting and revising article.

Kemper EA: Conception and design, data analysis and interpretation of data, drafting and revising article.

Bosch AM: Interpretation of data, professional consultation, revising article.

van Veen-Sijne M: Acquisition of data, revising article. van Rijswijk CN: Acquisition of data, revising article. Bouva MJ: Acquisition of data, revising article.

Fingerhut R: Acquisition of data, professional consultation, revising article.

Schielen PCJI: Conception and design, interpretation of data, drafting and revising article.

Guarantor for the Article

Schielen PCJI

Compliance with Ethics Guidelines

Conflict of Interest

Anita Boelen, Evelien Kemper, Annet Bosch, Marja van Veen, Carolien van Rijswijk, Marelle Bouva, Ralph Fingerhut, and Peter Schielen declare that they have no conflict of interest. With regard to the mandatory submission of the Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form, please see the following section on "Competing Interests".

References

- Beutler E, Baluda MC (1966) A simple spot screening test for galactosemia. J Lab Clin Med 68:137–141
- Bosch AM (2006) Classical galactosaemia revisited. J Inherit Metab Dis 29:516–525
- Fingerhut R, Torresani R (2013) Evaluation of the genetic screening processor (GSPTM) for newborn screening. Anal Methods 5:4769–4776
- Isselbacher KJ, Andersson EP, Kurahashi K, Kalckar HM (1956) Congenital galactosemia, a single enzymatic block in galactose metabolism. Science 123:635–636
- Pyhtila BM, Shaw KA, Neumann SE, Fridovich-Keil JL (2014) Newborn screening for galactosemia in the United States: looking back, looking around, and looking ahead. JIMD Rep 302:79
- Tegtmeyer LC, Rust S, van Scherpenzeel M, Ng BG (2014) Multiple phenotypes in phosphoglucomutase 1 deficiency. N Engl J Med 370:533–542

RESEARCH REPORT

Four Years of Diagnostic Challenges with Tetrahydrobiopterin Deficiencies in Iranian Patients

Shohreh Khatami · Soghra Rouhi Dehnabeh · Sirous Zeinali · Beat Thöny · Mohammadreza Alaei · Shadab Salehpour · Aria Setoodeh · Farzaneh Rohani · Fatemeh Hajivalizadeh · Ashraf Samavat

Received: 16 November 2015 / Revised: 03 April 2016 / Accepted: 29 April 2016 / Published online: 01 June 2016 © SSIEM and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2016

Abstract Hyperphenylalaninemia (HPA) is a condition caused by tetrahydrobiopterin (BH₄) and phenylalanine hydroxylase (PAH) deficiencies. It is essential that differential diagnosis be conducted to distinguish these two causes of HPA, because BH₄ deficiency is a more severe disease involving progressive neurologic deterioration.

Communicated by: Francois Feillet, MD, PhD
 S. Khatami (⊠) • S.R. Dehnabeh (⊠) Department of Biochemistry, Pasteur Institute of Iran, Pasteur Street, No. 69, 1316943551 Tehran, Iran e-mail: sh-khatami@pasteur.ac.ir e-mail: SRD@pasteur.ac.ir
S. Zeinali Genetic Laboratory of Dr Zeinali, Tehran, Iran
S. Zeinali Department of Medical Molecular, Pasteur Institute of Iran, Tehran, Iran
B. Thöny Division of Clinical Chemistry and Biochemistry, Laboratory of Molecular Genetic Investigation, University Children's Hospital Zürich, Zürich, Switzerland
M. Alaei Mofid Children's Hospital, Shaid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran
S. Salehpour Genomic Research Center, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran
A. Setoodeh Growth and Development Research Center, Children's Medical Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran
F. Rohani Department of Pediatrics Endocrinology and Metabolism, Ali Asghar Children's Hospital, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran
F. Hajivalizadeh · A. Samavat Genetics Office, CDC, Ministry of Health of Iran, Tehran, Iran

Based on the biological findings, HPA is defined as a plasma phenylalanine level of >2.0 mg/dl (>120 μ mol/l). The National Biochemistry Reference Laboratory at the Pasteur Institute of Iran initiated BH₄ deficiency screening tests for the first time during the implementation of a nationwide phenylketonuria (PKU) screening program. Measurement of blood phenylalanine and urinary neopterin and biopterin was conducted by high-performance liquid chromatography in 617 patients with HPA. Dihydropteridine reductase (DHPR) activity was measured in all patients by kinetic spectrophotometry. Differential diagnosis was conducted for PKU, transient HPA, and BH₄ deficiencies.

Our results indicated that out of 76 cases involving BH₄ deficiencies, 37 had 6-pyruvoyl-tetrahydropterin synthase (PTPS) deficiency, 35 had DHPR deficiency, 1 case had pterin-4a-carbinolamine dehydratase (PCD) deficiency, and 3 cases had GTP cyclohydrolase I (GTPCH) deficiency. In this study, 1 novel deletion mutation and 18 novel missense mutations were reported in addition to mutations that had previously been identified and registered in BIOMDB. At present, the screening program for PKU in Iran includes tests that detect different forms of BH₄ deficiency presenting with HPA. Newborns that are BH₄-deficient benefit from the availability of the tests because they can receive necessary care before being clinically affected.

Introduction

The fully functional phenylalanine hydroxylase (PAH) system for phenylalanine (Phe) metabolism consists of the PAH (EC 1.14.16.1) enzyme, the cofactor tetrahydrobiopterin (BH₄), and two regenerating enzymes: pterin-4a-

carbinolamine dehydratase (PCD) and dihydropteridine reductase (DHPR) (Blau et al. 2010). PAH deficiency and BH₄ deficiency result in hyperphenylalaninemia (HPA). Elevated Phe is a marker of this disorder; thus, a commonly used plasma Phe cutoff level for HPA diagnosis is >120 μ mol/l (>2 mg/dl) (Blau et al. 2010).

 BH_4 is an essential cofactor for aromatic amino acid hydroxylases, including phenylalanine, tyrosine, and tryptophan hydroxylases (Arai et al. 1982). Defects in the enzymatic conversion of phenylalanine to tyrosine, tyrosine to L-Dopa, and tryptophan to 5-hydroxytryptophan cause HPA and reduce dopamine and serotonin levels in the central nervous system (Arai et al. 1982).

The classical pathway for the de novo biosynthesis of BH₄ from guanosine triphosphate (GTP) requires three enzymes: GTP cyclohydrolase I (GTPCH; EC 3.5.4.16), 6-pyruvoyl-tetrahydropterin synthase (PTPS; EC 4.6.1.10), and sepiapterin reductase (SR; EC 1.1.1.153) (Blau et al. 2010). In addition, dihydropteridine reductase (DHPR; EC 1.6.99.7) and pterin-4a-carbinolamine dehydratase (PCD; EC 4.2.1.96) are critical for the regeneration of BH₄.

 BH_4 deficiency is a severe disease involving progressive neurologic deterioration despite adequate dietary control of blood phenylalanine levels (Arai et al. 1982). Therefore, differential diagnosis to distinguish BH_4 deficiencies from PAH gene deficiencies is very important.

In Iran, screening for phenylketonuria (PKU) began as a pilot program in three provinces in 2006 and was expanded nationwide in 2011 under the direction of the Genetics Office of the Ministry of Health.

For a complete study, DHPR enzyme activity measurement and urinary neopterin and biopterin analyses are required to rule out BH_4 deficiencies. For this purpose, the National Biochemistry Reference Laboratory (NBRL) at the Pasteur Institute of Iran began to administer tests and serve patients in 2010. This program allows for the early identification and timely intervention to reduce morbidity and mortality rates, thus increasing the chances for healthy patient outcomes.

At present, NBRL is the only referral center in Iran to diagnose these disorders by urinary neopterin and biopterin analyses and DHPR enzyme activity determination. The purpose of this paper is to report on the implementation of these tests in Iran and present results from 4 years (2010–2014) of diagnosing autosomal-recessive BH_4 deficiencies at our laboratory.

Materials and Methods

Patients

JIMD Reports

signs referred by physicians nationwide between 2010 and 2014 were investigated for possible BH_4 deficiencies at NBRL.

Selective tests conducted for all patients included blood phenylalanine measurement by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), the DHPR activity test, and urinary neopterin and biopterin analyses by HPLC (Atherton 1989; Ponzone et al. 2004; Blau et al. 2008). Patients were on unrestricted diets for 3 days before sampling. Medications such as multivitamins, BH4, ferrous sulfate, and folic acid were not taken prior to before sampling. Dried blood samples (DBS) on filter paper cards were prepared by blood sampling, as the DHPR enzyme in DBS is stable enough for the sample to be mailed to a central laboratory (Ponzone et al. 2004).

For a complete evaluation to establish the exact nature of the genotype, blood samples from BH_4 deficient patients and their parents were sent to the genetic laboratory for molecular analysis. Out of 76 patients, gene mutation analysis was only performed for 44 cases because some patients did not consent to the molecular study.

Neopterin and Biopterin Measurement

Fresh clean-catch urine specimens were used to determine pterin profile levels. All urine samples were diluted 100fold in normal saline (Ribeiro de Castro et al. 2004). Acid oxidation of reduced pterin was conducted according to the protocol of Blau et al. (2008). A Knauer HPLC system and Waters fluorimeter, equipped with a primary filter exciting at 350 nm and a secondary filter emitting wavelengths at 450 nm, and Tracer Excel 120 reversed-phase columns ODSB 5 μ m 25 × 0.46 cm, part number: TR-016345, serial number: NF-31639, (Teknokroma) were used for pterin analysis.

Quality assurance of the neopterin and biopterin measurements was obtained by testing standard solutions and monitoring the inter-assay variation of urine precision control prepared in our lab.

DHPR Activity Assay

Enzyme activity was assayed based on spectrophotometric monitoring of the formation of ferrocytochrome C in a coupled reaction, according to the protocols of Arai et al. (1982) and Blau et al. (2008). Quality assurance of the DHPR assay was obtained by testing and monitoring the inter-assay variation of blood spot elutes from a normal adult and a DHPR-deficient patient.

Genetics

463 patients diagnosed with HPA (blood phenylalanine $>120 \mu mol/l$) and 154 patients with HPA and neurological O Springer

DNA was extracted from 5 ml peripheral blood collected from each patient and their parents. Direct sequencing of

PCR products was accomplished using a BigDye Terminator kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Life Technologies, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol, using an ABI3130XL Genetic Analyzer for mutation detection in the Dr. Zeinali Human Genetics Laboratory, Tehran, Iran. Mutations in genomic DNA in GCH1 (OMIM: 600225), PCBD1 (OMIM: 126090), PTS (OMIM: 612719), and QDPR (OMIM: 612676) genes were studied (http://www. dnalc.org).

The bioinformatics analysis of these genes was performed using Gene Runner version 3.05, and mismatches were compared using an in-house MS Word file containing full details of exons (6 in GCH1, 4 in PCBD1, 6 in PTS, and 7 in QDPR genes), intron numbers, codon numbers, and details of known mutations.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis of the results was performed in Microsoft Excel 2010. Median, minimum, and maximum values were extracted for all variables.

Results

In this cross-sectional study, 617 hyperphenylalaninemic cases were tested for DHPR activity and urinary neopterin and biopterin profiles. According to the data, of 617 HPA patients, 76 cases exhibited BH_4 deficiency.

The results, including the median, minimum, and maximum values of the 541 HPA cases, were shown in Table 1. PAH gene mutations were searched in some patients but are not reported in this article.

In the remaining cases, 76 individuals had BH_4 deficiencies with the following subtypes: DHPR deficiency (35 patients), PTPS deficiency (37 patients), PCD deficiency (1 patient), and GTPCH deficiency (3 patients). The results, including the median, minimum, and maximum values for laboratory data in these groups are shown in Table 2.

Out of 76 patients, 4 patients were Afghan and 6 patients had Arab ethnic origins. All 10 of these patients suffered from PTPS deficiency. For 11 patients with DHPR deficiency and 16 patients with PTPS deficiency, diagnosis

Table 1	Biochemical	data	according to	age	and	phenylalanine	level	for 5	641	hyperphenyla	alaninemic	cases
---------	-------------	------	--------------	-----	-----	---------------	-------	-------	-----	--------------	------------	-------

Phenylalanine 120-600 µmol/L				
	<1 Year	1-4 Years	4-10 Years	>10 Years
Phe (B) (µmol/L)	276 (127; 589)	262 (126; 583)	398 (177; 586)	223 (121; 570)
Neo (U) (mmol/mol Creat.)	3.54 (0.39; 10.10)	2.42 (0.40; 15.13)	0.99 (0.76; 2.51)	0.62 (0.46; 1.15)
Bio (U) (mmol/mol Creat.)	1.65 (0.30; 8.83)	3.04 (0.63; 9.06)	1.43 (0.76; 3.77)	1.68 (0.83; 2.49)
DHPR activity (mU/mg Hb)	2.80 (1.40; 4.70)	2.80 (1.40; 4.70)	2.20 (1.80; 4.60)	2.00 (1.40; 2.60)
No. of cases	149	35	12	4
Phenylalanine 600–1,200 µmol/l	L			
	<1 Year	1-4 Years	4-10 Years	>10 Years
Phe (B) (µmol/L)	863 (600; 1,199)	1,020 (600; 1,193)	1,055 (631; 1,182)	986 (606; 1,185)
Neo (U) (mmol/mol Creat.)	4.68 (1.25; 9.69)	2.66 (1.18; 5.43)	1.77 (0.74; 4.36)	1.23 (0.64; 2.61)
Bio (U) (mmol/mol Creat.)	3.84 (0.43; 8.55)	3.52 (0.80; 6.78)	2.66 (1.43; 5.20)	2.43 (1.17; 5.19)
DHPR activity (mU/mg Hb)	2.60 (1.60; 4.10)	2.40 (1.30; 3.50)	2.00 (1.40; 3.80)	2.10 (1.60; 2.80)
No. of cases	56	30	25	14
Phenylalanine >1,200 µmol/L				
	<1 Year	1-4 Years	4-10 Years	>10 Years
Phe (B) (µmol/L)	1,778 (1,204; 3,039)	1,600 (1,206; 2,707)	1,500 (1,212; 2,100)	1,551 (1,220; 1,961)
Neo (U) (mmol/mol Creat.)	4.43 (1.47; 21.05)	3.52 (1.36; 9.54)	1.95 (0.19; 8.13)	1.10 (0.41; 2.84)
Bio (U) (mmol/mol Creat.)	4.29 (0.81; 13.50)	4.06 (0.97; 15.54)	3.67 (1.00; 10.56)	1.76 (0.44; 4.80)
DHPR activity (mU/mg Hb)	2.60 (1.40; 4.40)	2.30 (1.40; 4.90)	2.00 (1.30; 3.60)	1.85 (1.30; 3.10)
No. of cases	88	45	55	28

Phe (B) phenylalanine in blood, Neo (U) neopterin in urine, Bio (U) biopterin in urine, Creat. urine creatinine, Hb hemoglobin

BH ₄ Deficiencies Groups	PTPS Deficiency Group Median (Min; Max)	DHPR Deficiency Group Median (Min; Max)	PCD Deficiency Group Median	GTPCH Deficiency Group Median (Min; Max)	Reference range in normal group
Phenylalanine (B) (µmol/L)	864 (60; 2,064)	264 (49; 1,702)	1,327	1,248 (827; 1,747)	<1 month: 0−124 <16 years: 26−86 ≥16 years: 41−68
Neo (U) (mmol/ mol Creat.)	24.08 (4.09; 57.15)	2.49 (0.74; 21.82)	1.52	<0.2	1 day to 10 years: 1.1–4.0 >11 years: 0.2–1.7
Bio (U) (mmol/ mol Creat.)	0.11 (0.02; 0.64)	8.54 (2.87; 23.03)	_	<0.2	1 day to 10 years: 0.5-3 >11 years: 0.5-2.7
% Biopterin	0.49 (0.06-4.82)	77.50 (31.46-91.46)	_	_	
DHPR activity (mU/mg Hb)	3.8 (1.70; 4.60)	0.0 (0.0; 0.0)	_	4.20 (3.40-4.50)	1.8-3.8
No. of female cases	18	12	1	2	_
No. of male cases	19	23	0	1	-
No. of total (Percentage; %)	37 (49%)	35 (46%)	1 (1%)	3 (4%)	-
Ages	1 month to 12 years	1 month to 20 years	13 years	5 month to 4 years	_

Table 2 Laboratory data of patients with BH₄ deficiency at the time of diagnosis

Phe (B) phenylalanine in blood, Neo (U) neopterin in urine, Bio (U) biopterin in urine, %Biopterin calculated by ((biopterin/ (biopterin + neopterin))*100); Creat. urine creatinine, Hb hemoglobin

occurred prior to one year of age. Consanguineous marriage existed in 64 (84.2%) families. In terms of gender, there was an early equal distribution of PTPS deficiency between females (49%) and males (51%), but in the DHPR deficiency group, the number of males (66%) was twice that of females (34%). Four of the reported cases of DHPR-deficient patients were siblings.

Also, decreases or absences of both neopterin and biopterin were observed in GTPCH deficiency group profile.

In PTPS-deficient patients, neopterin concentrations were significantly increased while biopterin levels were low. The data from this group imply that 37 PTPS-deficient patients (100%) had neopterin >4.0 mmol/mol creatinine, while 35 patients (94.6%) had biopterin \leq 0.5 mmol/mol creatinine.

In PCD-deficient patients, elevated neopterin and primapterin levels were observed.

According to the past research, DHPR-deficient subjects showed slightly elevated amounts of biopterin combined with minor increases in neopterin (Blau et al. 2008). In our study, the data showed that 32 DHPR-deficient patients (91.4%) had biopterin >3.0 mmol/mol creatinine. In this group, only 2 cases (5.7%) of 35 DHPR-deficient patients exhibited normal levels of both neopterin and biopterin simultaneously.

Statistical analysis of the phenylalanine results determined that 29 DHPR-deficient patients (82.9%) and 13 PTPS-deficient patients (35.1%) had phenylalanine <600 μ mol/l, which demonstrated that most of the BH₄.deficient patients have mild HPA.

The genomic structures of identified mutations for 44 cases in *GCH1*, *PCBD1*, *PTS*, and *QDPR* genes, their inheritance conditions, and other information including biochemical data are shown in detail in Table 3.

In our study, we found that mutations more frequently involved DHPR (46%) and PTPS (49%) than GTPCH (4%) and PCD (1%) (Table 3). All BH₄-deficient patients showed homozygous mutations, except one patient in the PTPS deficiency group, who had c.297C>A and c.84-3C>G in a compound heterozygous form.

Most detected mutations had been previously reported (http://www.biopku.org/BioPKU_DatabasesBIOMDB.asp), but 18 missense mutations (16 in exons and 2 in introns) and 1 deletion mutation were novel and had not been registered in the BioPKU_Databases BIOMDB yet. They are demonstrated by asterisks in Table 3 and included: c.163 + 2 T>C, c.217del(c.217delA), c.265G>A, c.266G>A, c.267A>G, c.673G>A, c.710C>T, c.49G>T, c.68G>A, c.488G>C, and c.344C>T in *QDPR* gene; c.281A>T,c.164.36A>G,c.331G>A,c.400G>A,

I GCTPH Def. P_1030 $13.06.2011$ 3.5 years N 2 GCTPH Def. P_2137 $16.12.2014$ 1.5 months 1.5 months 3 GCTPH Def. P_1017 $11.08.2000$ 12.5 years N 6 DHPR Def. P_1177 $11.08.2000$ 12.5 years N 7 DHPR Def. P_1377 $25.05.2003$ 10 years N 8 DHPR Def. P_1477 $25.05.2003$ 10 years N 9 DHPR Def. P_2104 $0.07.2014$ 6 months N 10 DHPR Def. P_2102 $25.0112.008$ 5 years N 11 DHPR Def. P_1172 $0.6.05.2010$ 2.5 years N 11 DHPR Def. P_1172 $0.6.05.2012$ 2.5 years N 12 DHPR Def. P_1172 $0.5.02.002$ 0.5 years N 13 DHPR Def. P_1172 $0.5.02.003$ 1.9 years	Phe (B) Ethnic at birth inity origin µmol/l	Phe (B) at Coding diagnosis referenc µmol/l Sequenc	DNA NCBI reference sequence for genes	Inhe Exon conc	Nec mm ritance mol lition Cre	o (U) Bio nol / mr at. Cr.	o (U) nol / at. Bid	DH pterin act
2 GCTPH Def. $P2137$ 16.12.2014 1.5 months F 3 GCTPH Def. $P1017$ $11.08.2000$ $1.5.5$ months F 5 DHPR Def. $P1017$ $11.08.2000$ $1.5.5$ wants F 6 DHPR Def. $P1377$ $25.05.2000$ 10 years F 7 DHPR Def. $P1477$ $25.05.2000$ 10 years F 9 DHPR Def. $P2147$ $25.05.2010$ 10 years F 9 DHPR Def. $P2104$ $0.07.2014$ 6 months F 10 DHPR Def. $P2103$ $25.05.2010$ 10 years F 11 DHPR Def. $P2132$ $03.04.2009$ 1.5 years F 13 DHPR Def. $P304.2009$ 1.5 years F F 14 DHPR Def. P1019 $22.01.2004$ 8 years F 15 DHPR Def. P101201 $25.04.1909$ 1.5 years F 15	Fars 972	1,747 c.551G	A* NM_000161.2	5 Hon	tozygote <0.	.2 <0	.2 nd	4.2
3 GCTPH Def. $P2149$ $P202014$ 5 months F 4 PCD Def. $P1017$ $11.08.2000$ 12.5 years F 5 DHPR Def. $P1477$ 28.122003 7 years F 6 DHPR Def. $P1477$ $25.05.2000$ 10 years F 7 DHPR Def. $P2104$ $90.07.2014$ 6 months F 9 DHPR Def. $P2104$ $90.07.2014$ 6 months F 10 DHPR Def. $P2104$ $90.07.2014$ 6 months F 11 DHPR Def. $P1172$ $60.65.2010$ 25.5 years F 12 DHPR Def. $P335$ 12.102009 15.5 years F 13 DHPR Def. $P336$ 25.102003 35.9 wars F 14 DHPR Def. $P304$ $90.05.2003$ 15.9 wars 11.02009 15.9 wars 11.02009 15 DHPR Def. $P304$ $90.01.20104$	Fars 900	1,248 c.551G	-A* NM_000161.2	5 Hon	lozygote <0.	.2 <0	.2 nd	3.4
4PCD Def.P.101711.08.2000 12.5 yearsN5DHPR Def.P.432 $28.12.2003$ 7 yearsN6DHPR Def.P.1477 $25.05.2013$ 1.5 monthsN8DHPR Def.P.213 $25.05.2013$ 1.5 monthsN9DHPR Def.P.2104 $09.07.2014$ 6 monthsN10DHPR Def.P.2104 $09.07.2014$ 6 monthsN11DHPR Def.P.2105 $25.11.2008$ 5 yearsN12DHPR Def.P.2195 $25.11.2008$ 5 yearsN13DHPR Def.P.336 $29.07.2010$ 4 monthsN14DHPR Def.P.336 $29.07.2010$ 4 monthsN15DHPR Def.P.346 $29.07.2010$ 4 monthsN16DHPR Def.P.346 $29.01.2008$ 3 yearsN17DHPR Def.P.344 $10.02.009$ 1.5 yearsN17DHPR Def.P.344 $10.02.2002$ 9.5 yearsN18DHPR Def.P.344 $10.02.2002$ 9.5 yearsN20DHPR Def.P.344 $31.12.10208$ 5.9 yearsN21DHPR Def.P.344 $31.12.10208$ 3.7 yearsN22DHPR Def.P.344 $31.12.10208$ 3.7 yearsN23DHPR Def.P.344 $31.12.10208$ 3.7 yearsN24DHPR Def.P.344 $31.12.10208$ 3.7 years	Azari 1,500	827 nd	I	I	<0.	.2 <0	.2 nd	4.5
5DHPR Def.P.43228.12.20037 yearsF6DHPR Def. $P.1477$ 25.05.201010 yearsN7DHPR Def. $P.1477$ 25.05.20131.5 monthsN8DHPR Def. $P.1477$ 25.05.20131.5 monthsN9DHPR Def. $P.2104$ 09.07.20146 monthsN10DHPR Def. $P.2195$ 25.11.20086 yearsN11DHPR Def. $P.2195$ 25.11.20086 yearsN12DHPR Def. $P.232$ 03.04.20091.5 yearsN13DHPR Def. $P.386$ 29.07.20104 monthsN14DHPR Def. $P.386$ 29.07.20104 monthsN15DHPR Def. $P.386$ 29.07.20104 monthsN16DHPR Def. $P.346$ 29.07.20103 yearsN17DHPR Def. $P.344$ 10.02.0033 yearsN18DHPR Def. $P.344$ 10.02.0033 yearsN20DHPR Def. $P.344$ 10.02.0013 yearsN21DHPR Def. $P.344$ 3.11.21082.5 yearsN22DHPR Def. $P.344$ 10.01.20103 yearsN23DHPR Def. $P.344$ 10.02.20129 yearsN24DHPR Def. $P.344$ 2.03.20121 wonthsN25DHPR Def. $P.344$ 2.03.20131 wonthsN26DHPR Def. $P.344$ <td>Fars –</td> <td>1,116 c.313 T</td> <td>>C* NM_000281.3</td> <td>4 Hon</td> <td>1.52 1.52</td> <td>- 2</td> <td>pu</td> <td>pu</td>	Fars –	1,116 c.313 T	>C* NM_000281.3	4 Hon	1.52 1.52	- 2	pu	pu
6DHPR Def. $P.223$ $25.05.2010$ $10 \ years$ N 7DHPR Def. $P.1477$ $25.05.2013$ $1.5 \ months$ N 8DHPR Def. $P.1477$ $25.05.2013$ $1.5 \ months$ N 9DHPR Def. $P.2104$ $90.07.2014$ $6 \ months$ N 10DHPR Def. $P.2105$ $25.11.2008$ $6 \ years$ N 11DHPR Def. $P.1172$ $06.05.2010$ $2.5 \ years$ N 12DHPR Def. $P.1172$ $06.05.2010$ $2.5 \ years$ N 13DHPR Def. $P.232$ $03.04.2009$ $1.5 \ years$ N 14DHPR Def. $P.386$ $29.07.2010$ $4 \ months$ N 15DHPR Def. $P.386$ $29.07.2004$ $8 \ years$ N 16DHPR Def. $P.1101$ $22.01.2008$ $5 \ years$ N 17DHPR Def. $P.1101$ $22.01.2008$ $5 \ years$ N 18DHPR Def. $P.1102$ $23.04.1999$ $13 \ years$ N 20DHPR Def. $P.1102$ $23.11.2008$ $5 \ years$ N 21DHPR Def. $P.1117$ $23.112.2005$ $9.5 \ years$ N 22DHPR Def. $P.1117$ $23.11.2008$ $3 \ years$ N 23DHPR Def. $P.1117$ $23.012.2003$ $9 \ years$ N 24DHPR Def. $P.1274$ $31.12.196$ $16 \ years$ 1 23DHPR Def. $P.174$ $31.02.2003$ $9 \ ye$	Azari –	220 c.53G>	A NM_000320.2	1 Hon	1.5 ² 1.5	4 9.0	5 85.	46 0
7 DHPR Def. $P.1477$ $25.05.2013$ $1.5 months$ N 8 DHPR Def. $P.2104$ 90.72014 $6 months$ N 10 DHPR Def. $P.2104$ 90.72014 $6 months$ N 11 DHPR Def. $P.2195$ $25.11.2008$ $6 years$ N 12 DHPR Def. $P.1172$ $06.05.2010$ $2.5 years$ N 13 DHPR Def. $P.336$ $29.07.2010$ $4 months$ N 14 DHPR Def. $P.336$ $29.07.2004$ $8 years$ N 15 DHPR Def. $P.346$ $2.5 years$ N N 16 DHPR Def. $P.1019$ $2.5 years$ N N 17 DHPR Def. $P.1102$ $2.5 years$ N N 17 DHPR Def. $P.1124$ $03.11.2009$ $13 years$ N 20 DHPR Def. $P.1172$ $23.01.2006$ $95 years$ N 21	Fars –	– c.49G>	F* NM_000320.2	1 Hon	1.7 1.7	5.2	8 75.	54 nd
8 DHPR Def. P2104 09.07.2014 6 months N 9 DHPR Def. P.800 13.07.2011 3.5 years F 10 DHPR Def. P.1172 06.05.2010 2.5 years F 11 DHPR Def. P.1172 06.05.2010 2.5 years F 12 DHPR Def. P.336 29.07.2010 4 months F 13 DHPR Def. P.336 29.07.2010 4 months F 14 DHPR Def. P.336 29.07.2010 4 months F 15 DHPR Def. P.344 2.01.2008 5 years F 17 DHPR Def. P.1027 2.30.41.999 13 years F 17 DHPR Def. P.1117 2.31.12.008 5 years F F 20 DHPR Def. P.1177 23.04.1999 13 years F F 21 DHPR Def. P.1124 0.3.11.2008 5 years F F F F <	Fars 690	184 c.68G>	A* NM_000320.2	1 Hon	10Zygote 3.83	3 3.8	9 50.	39 0
9 DHPR Def. P.800 13.07.2011 3.5 years F 10 DHPR Def. P.1172 06.05.2010 2.5 years F 11 DHPR Def. P.1172 06.05.2010 2.5 years F 12 DHPR Def. P.232 03.04.2009 1.5 years F 13 DHPR Def. P.335 12.10.2009 2.5 years F 14 DHPR Def. P.346 29.07.2010 4 months F 15 DHPR Def. P.346 29.01.2004 8 years F 17 DHPR Def. P.1019 2.2.01.2008 5 years F 18 DHPR Def. P.1424 03.01.2004 8 years F 20 DHPR Def. P.1424 31.12.012 8 months F 21 DHPR Def. P.1117 23.102.001 3 years F 22 DHPR Def. P.1244 31.12.012 8 months F 23 DHPR Def. P.144 1 y	Azari 635	244 c.190 G	>A NM_000320.2	2 Hon	1.50 1.50	6 6.8	8 81.	52 0
10 DHPR Def. P.2195 25.11.2008 6 years N 11 DHPR Def. P.1172 06.05.2010 2.5 years N 12 DHPR Def. P.335 12.10.2009 2.5 years N 13 DHPR Def. P.335 12.10.2009 2.5 years N 14 DHPR Def. P.346 2.9.07.2010 4 months H 15 DHPR Def. P.1019 2.5 years N N N 17 DHPR Def. P.1019 2.0.1.2008 5 years N N 18 DHPR Def. P.1019 2.5.1.2.2005 9.5 years N N 20 DHPR Def. P.1424 0.6.05.2012 3 wears N	Fars 360	48.6 c.265G	A* NM_000320.2	3 Hon	1.79 1.79	9 5.0	8 73.	94 0
II DHPR Def. P.1172 06.05.2010 2.5 years F 12 DHPR Def. P.935 12.102009 2.5 years F 13 DHPR Def. P.935 12.102009 2.5 years F 14 DHPR Def. P.386 29.07.2010 4 months F 15 DHPR Def. P.346 29.01.2004 8 years F 17 DHPR Def. P.1019 22.01.2008 5 years F 17 DHPR Def. P.1019 22.01.2008 5 years F 18 DHPR Def. P.94-124 03.01.1.2008 5 years F 20 DHPR Def. P.1117 23.11.2.012 8 months F 21 DHPR Def. P.1117 23.11.2.012 8 months F F 23 DHPR Def. P.1117 23.11.2.012 8 months F F F F F F F F F F F F F F<	Talesh –	245 c.266G	×A* NM_000320.2	3 Hon	1.98 1.98	8 6.1	75.	50 0
12 DHPR Def. P.232 03.04.2009 1.5 years N 13 DHPR Def. P.935 12.10.2009 2.5 years N 14 DHPR Def. P.336 29.07.2010 4 months F 15 DHPR Def. P.346 29.07.2010 4 months F 17 DHPR Def. P.1019 2.2.01.2008 5 years N 18 DHPR Def. P.1019 2.2.01.2004 8 years N 19 DHPR Def. P.94-124 0.3.01.2008 5 years N 20 DHPR Def. P.94-124 0.3.01.2008 2.5 years N 21 DHPR Def. P.1117 23.10.2001 4 months N 22 DHPR Def. P.1117 23.11.2012 8 months N 23 DHPR Def. P.1117 23.11.2012 8 months N 24 DHPR Def. P.1244 31.12.012 8 months N 25 DHPR Def. P.124	Fars 257	143 c.267A3	•G* NM_000320.2	3 Hon	1.1: 3.1:	5 11.	28 78.	17 0
13 DHPR Def. P.935 12.102009 2.5 years N 14 DHPR Def. P.386 29.072010 4 months F 15 DHPR Def. P.386 29.072010 4 months F 16 DHPR Def. P.3402 29.012008 5 years N 17 DHPR Def. P.1019 22.012008 5 years N 18 DHPR Def. P.94-124 0.3.01.2008 5 years N 20 DHPR Def. P.94-124 0.3.01.2008 5 years N 21 DHPR Def. P.1117 23.11.2018 3 months N 22 DHPR Def. P.1117 23.112.0196 16 years N 23 DHPR Def. P.1117 23.112.012 8 months N 24 DHPR Def. P.1117 23.112.012 8 months N 25 DHPR Def. P.1274 31.12.012 8 months N 26 DHPR Def. P.177 29.03.2015 1 month N 26 DHPR Def. P.177	Lor –	228 c.341C>	T* NM_000320.2	4 Hon	10Zygote 8.47	7 21.	53 71.	77 0
14 DHPR Def. P.386 29.07.2010 4 months F 15 DHPR Def. P.392 29.01.2004 8 years P 16 DHPR Def. P.1019 22.01.2004 8 years P 17 DHPR Def. P.1019 22.01.2004 8 years P 18 DHPR Def. P.94-124 03.08.2014 1 years P 20 DHPR Def. P.94-124 03.08.2014 1 years P 21 DHPR Def. P.1117 23.12.2003 9.5 years P 22 DHPR Def. P.1117 23.12.2011 6 months P 23 DHPR Def. P.1117 23.12.2013 9 wears P 24 DHPR Def. P.1117 23.12.2013 9 months P 25 DHPR Def. P.1274 31.12.012 8 months P 26 DHPR Def. P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month P 26 DHPR Def. P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month P 27 DHPR Def. P.94-17	Fars 282	714 c.344C>	T* NM_000320.2	4 Hon	1.70 Inzygote	6 10.	13 85.	20 0
15 DHPR Def P.892 29.01.2004 8 years N 16 DHPR Def P.1019 22.01.2008 5 years N 17 DHPR Def P.1019 22.01.2008 5 years N 18 DHPR Def P.94-89 25.12.2005 9.5 years N 20 DHPR Def P.94-124 03.08.2014 1 years N 21 DHPR Def P.1117 23.12.2005 9.5 years N 22 DHPR Def P.1117 23.11.2018 8 months N 23 DHPR Def P.1117 23.12.2011 6 months N 23 DHPR Def P.1117 23.12.2012 9 years N 24 DHPR Def P.1274 31.12.012 8 months N 25 DHPR Def P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month N 26 DHPR Def P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month N 27 DHPR Def P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month N 27 DHPR Def P.94-17 20	Fars –	240 c.449A	•G NM_000320.2	5 Hon	102ygote 6.1	4 8.0	3 56.	57 0
16 DHPR Def P.1019 22.01.2008 5 years N 17 DHPR Def P.94-89 25.122005 9.5 years N 18 DHPR Def P.94-89 25.122005 9.5 years N 20 DHPR Def P.94-124 03.02.014 1 year N 21 DHPR Def P.1117 23.11.2008 2.5 years N 22 DHPR Def P.1117 23.11.2012 9 wouths N 23 DHPR Def P.1117 23.11.2012 9 wouths N 23 DHPR Def P.1117 23.11.2012 9 wouths N 24 DHPR Def P.1274 31.12.1996 16 years N 25 DHPR Def P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month N 25 DHPR Def P.94-17 29.03.2001 11 year N 26 DHPR Def P.94-17 29.03.2001 11 year N 26 DHPR Def P.94-13 29.03.2	Fars –	506 c.449A)	•G NM_000320.2	5 Hon	10Zygote 0.74	4 6.1	6 89.	28 0
17 DHPR Def P.1027 23.04.199 13 years N 18 DHPR Def P94.89 25.12.2005 9.5 years F 20 DHPR Def P94.124 03.03.2014 1 year F 21 DHPR Def P1117 23.11.2008 2.5 years F 22 DHPR Def P.1117 23.11.2018 2.5 years F 23 DHPR Def P.1117 23.11.2011 6 months F 23 DHPR Def P.1117 23.11.2012 9 years F 24 DHPR Def P.1274 31.12.1996 16 years F 25 DHPR Def P.1274 31.12.1905 3 years F 25 DHPR Def P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month F 26 DHPR Def P.94-17 29.03.2001 1 years F 26 DHPR Def P.1571 10.11.2012 1 years F 27 DHPR Def P.1571 10.11.2012 </td <td>Azari 900</td> <td>300 c.449A</td> <td>•G NM_000320.2</td> <td>5 Hon</td> <td>10Zygote 4.72</td> <td>2 11.</td> <td>16 70.</td> <td>28 0</td>	Azari 900	300 c.449A	•G NM_000320.2	5 Hon	10Zygote 4.72	2 11.	16 70.	28 0
18 DHPR Def P.94-89 25.12.2005 9.5 years F 20 DHPR Def P.94-124 03.08.2014 1 year N 21 DHPR Def P.1524 16.06.2013 3 months F 21 DHPR Def P.1117 23.11.2008 2.5 years F 22 DHPR Def P.1117 23.11.2016 6 months F 23 DHPR Def P.1117 23.11.2012 9 years F 24 DHPR Def P.1274 31.12.1996 16 years F 25 DHPR Def P.1274 31.12.192 8 months F 25 DHPR Def P.1274 31.12.192 8 months F 26 DHPR Def P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month F 27 DHPR Def P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month F 27 DHPR Def P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month F 28 DHPR Def P.1571 10.11.201	Azari –	228 c.449A	•G NM_000320.2	5 Hon	1.05 1.05	5 5	82.	54 0
19 DHPR Def. P.94-124 03.08.2014 1 year 20 DHPR Def. P.1524 16.06.2013 3 months F 21 DHPR Def. P.1524 16.06.2013 3 months F 22 DHPR Def. P.1117 23.12.2011 6 months F 23 DHPR Def. P.1117 23.12.2011 6 months F 24 DHPR Def. P.1274 31.12.1906 16 years F 25 DHPR Def. P.1274 31.12.1901 16 years F 26 DHPR Def. P.1274 31.12.102 8 months F 26 DHPR Def. P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month F 27 DHPR Def. P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month F 27 DHPR Def. P.94-17 29.03.2012 1 years F 27 DHPR Def. P.1571 10.11.2012 1 years F 30 DHPR Def. P.1571 10.11.2012 1 years F 31 DHPR Def. P.1377 18.07.2	Fars 440	593 c.470 T	>G NM_000320.2	5 Hon	10Zygote 4.08	8 22	25 84.	50 0
20 DHPR Def. P.1524 16.06.2013 3 months F 21 DHPR Def. P.586 03.11.2008 2.5 years N 22 DHPR Def. P.1117 23.12.2011 6 months N 23 DHPR Def. P.1117 23.12.2011 6 months N 24 DHPR Def. P.1274 31.12.1906 16 years H 25 DHPR Def. P.1289 28.11.2012 8 months H 26 DHPR Def. P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month H 27 DHPR Def. P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month H 27 DHPR Def. P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month H 27 DHPR Def. P.94-17 29.03.2016 1 years H 27 DHPR Def. P.1571 10.11.2012 1 years H 30 DHPR Def. P.1778 14.08.2013 6 months H 31 DHPR Def. P.1377 18.07.2009 3.5 years H 32 DHPR Def. P.1373 <td>Azari 600</td> <td>142 c.472 C</td> <td>>T NM_000320.2</td> <td>5 Hon</td> <td>1.80 1.80</td> <td>6 4.2</td> <td>5 69.</td> <td>56 0</td>	Azari 600	142 c.472 C	>T NM_000320.2	5 Hon	1.80 1.80	6 4.2	5 69.	56 0
21 DHPR Def. P.586 03.11.2008 2.5 years N 22 DHPR Def. P.1117 23.12.2011 6 months N 23 DHPR Def. P.1117 23.12.2011 6 months N 24 DHPR Def. P.117 23.12.2011 6 months N 25 DHPR Def. P.1274 31.12.196 16 years H 26 DHPR Def. P.147 29.03.2015 1 month H 27 DHPR Def. P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month H 27 DHPR Def. P.94-17 29.03.2016 1 month H 28 DHPR Def. P.94-17 29.03.2016 1 wars H 29 DHPR Def. P.1571 10.11.2012 1 year T 30 DHPR Def. P.1173 H.08.2013 6 months T 31 DHPR Def. P.1173 14.08.2013 6 months T 32 DHPR Def. P.1377 18.07.2009 3.5 years T 33 DHPR Def. P.1333	Fars 360	551 c.488G	•C* NM_000320.2	5 Hon	10Zygote 4.53	3 5.2	6 53.	73 0
22 DHPR Def. P.1117 23.12.2011 6 months N 23 DHPR Def. P.3.66 26.02.2002 9 years N 24 DHPR Def. P.1274 31.12.1996 16 years N 25 DHPR Def. P.1289 28.11.2012 8 months N 26 DHPR Def. P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month H 27 DHPR Def. P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month H 27 DHPR Def. P.94-17 29.03.2016 1 month H 28 DHPR Def. P.94-17 29.03.2018 3 years H 29 DHPR Def. P.1571 10.11.2012 1 year T 30 DHPR Def. P.11738 14.08.2013 6 months T 31 DHPR Def. P.11738 14.08.2013 6 months T 33 DHPR Def. P.1377 18.07.2009 3.5 years T 34 DHPR Def. P.1333 18.05.2003 5 years T 35 DHPR Def. P.1333 <td>Azari –</td> <td>389 c.217de</td> <td>(c.217deIA)* NM_000320.2</td> <td>7 Hon</td> <td>10Zygote 2.64</td> <td>4 13.</td> <td>1 83.</td> <td>23 0</td>	Azari –	389 c.217de	(c.217deIA)* NM_000320.2	7 Hon	10Zygote 2.64	4 13.	1 83.	23 0
23 DHPR Def. P.366 26.02.2002 9 years N 24 DHPR Def. P.1274 31.12.1996 16 years F 25 DHPR Def. P.14-17 29.03.2012 8 months N 26 DHPR Def. P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month H 27 DHPR Def. P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month H 27 DHPR Def. P.94-17 29.03.2016 1 month H 28 DHPR Def. P.94-17 29.03.2012 1 years H 29 DHPR Def. P.1571 10.11.2012 1 years H 30 DHPR Def. P.1738 14.08.2013 6 months H 31 DHPR Def. P.1738 14.08.2013 6 months H 33 DHPR Def. P.1377 18.07.2009 3.5 years H 34 DHPR Def. P.1337 18.07.2003 3.5 years H 35 DHPR Def. P.1337 18.05.2013 9 months H 35 DHPR Def. P.1383 <td>Fars 660</td> <td>174 c.661C></td> <td>T NM_000320.2</td> <td>7 Hon</td> <td>10Zygote 4.75</td> <td>5 6.5</td> <td>8 58.</td> <td>0 80</td>	Fars 660	174 c.661C>	T NM_000320.2	7 Hon	10Zygote 4.75	5 6.5	8 58.	0 80
24 DHPR Def. P.1274 31.12.1996 16 years F 25 DHPR Def. P.1289 28.11.2012 8 months N 26 DHPR Def. P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month F 27 DHPR Def. P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month F 28 DHPR Def. P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month F 29 DHPR Def. P.5504 05.06.2008 3 years F 30 DHPR Def. P.1571 10.11.2012 1 years F 31 DHPR Def. P.517 10.11.2012 1 years F 31 DHPR Def. P.1738 14.08.2013 6 years F 32 DHPR Def. P.1738 14.08.2013 6 months T 33 DHPR Def. P.1337 18.07.2009 3.5 years T 34 DHPR Def. P.1333 18.07.2003 3.5 years T 35 DHPR Def. P.1337 18.07.2003 3.6 years T 35 DHPR Def. P.1385	Azari –	525.61 c.673G	A* NM_000320.2	7 Hon	10Zygote 2.3	18	34 88.	86 0
25 DHPR Def P.1289 28.11.2012 8 months N 26 DHPR Def P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month H 27 DHPR Def P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month H 28 DHPR Def P.504 05.06.2008 3 years H 29 DHPR Def P.504 05.06.2008 3 years H 30 DHPR Def P.511 10.11.2012 1 years H 31 DHPR Def P.211 27.03.2011 11 years H 32 DHPR Def P.1738 14.08.2013 6 months H 33 DHPR Def P.1738 14.08.2013 6 months H 33 DHPR Def P.1337 18.07.2009 3.5 years H 34 DHPR Def P.1333 18.07.2003 3.5 years H 35 DHPR Def P.1333 18.07.2003 3.5 years H 35 DHPR Def P.1333 18.05.2013 9 months H 36 DHPR Def P.1348 08.09	Azari –	400.88 c.673G	•A* NM_000320.2	7 Hon	nozygote nd	pu	pu	0
26 DHPR Def P.94-17 29.03.2015 1 month F 27 DHPR Def P.925 01.12.2008 3 years F 28 DHPR Def P.504 05.06.2008 3 years F 29 DHPR Def P.1571 10.11.2012 1 year 7 30 DHPR Def P.511 27.03.2001 11 year 7 31 DHPR Def P.211 27.03.2001 11 years 7 32 DHPR Def P.1738 14.08.2013 6 months 7 33 DHPR Def P.1738 14.08.2013 6 months 7 33 DHPR Def P.1337 18.07.2009 3.5 years 1 35 DHPR Def P.1333 18.07.2003 5 years 1 36 DHPR Def P.1333 18.07.2003 5 years 1 37 DHPR Def P.1385 07.12.2013 9 months 1 37 DHPR Def P.1948 08.09.1994 20 years 1 37 DHPR Def P.1445 14.06.2014<	Kord 312	175 c.710C>	T* NM_000320.2	7 Hon	1.13 1.13	3 2.8	8 71.	82 0
27 DHPR Def P.925 01.12.2008 3 years F 28 DHPR Def P.504 05.06.2008 3 years F 29 DHPR Def P.1571 10.11.2012 1 year 7 30 DHPR Def P.511 27.03.2001 11 year 7 31 DHPR Def P.113 14.08.2013 6 months 7 32 DHPR Def P.113 14.08.2013 6 months 7 33 DHPR Def P.1377 18.07.2009 3.5 years 7 34 DHPR Def P.1337 18.07.2003 5 years 7 35 DHPR Def P.1333 18.05.2003 5 years 7 35 DHPR Def P.1333 18.05.2003 5 years 7 36 DHPR Def P.1383 07.12.2013 9 months 1 37 DHPR Def P.1948 08.09.1994 20 years 1 37 DHPR Def P.1948 08.09.1994 20 years 1 37 DHPR Def P.1445 14.06.2014 <td>Azari 600</td> <td>1,702 c.295 +</td> <td>1 G>A NM_000320.2</td> <td>– Hon</td> <td>10.5 10.5</td> <td>59 4.8</td> <td>6 31.</td> <td>46 0</td>	Azari 600	1,702 c.295 +	1 G>A NM_000320.2	– Hon	10.5 10.5	59 4.8	6 31.	46 0
28 DHPR Def. P.504 05.06.2008 3 years F 29 DHPR Def. P.1571 10.11.2012 1 year N 30 DHPR Def. P.582 05.08.2008 6 years P 31 DHPR Def. P.511 27.03.2001 11 years P 32 DHPR Def. P.1738 14.08.2013 6 months P 33 DHPR Def. P.1377 18.07.2009 3.5 years P 34 DHPR Def. P.1337 18.07.2003 3.5 years P 35 DHPR Def. P.1333 18.05.2003 5 years P 35 DHPR Def. P.1383 18.05.2003 5 years P 36 DHPR Def. P.1383 18.05.2003 5 years P 35 DHPR Def. P.1383 07.12.2013 9 months P 37 DHPR Def. P.1948 08.09.1994 20 years P 37 DHPR Def. P.94.145 14.06.2014 2 months P	Fars 540	534 nd	I	I I	3.30	3 13.	9 80.	57 0
29 DHPR Def. P.1571 10.11.2012 1 year N 30 DHPR Def. P.582 05.08.2008 6 years N 31 DHPR Def. P.211 27.03.2001 11 years N 32 DHPR Def. P.1738 14.08.2013 6 months N 33 DHPR Def. P.1377 18.07.2009 3.5 years N 34 DHPR Def. P.1337 18.07.2009 3.5 years N 35 DHPR Def. P.1337 18.07.2003 5 years N 35 DHPR Def. P.1333 18.05.2003 5 years N 36 DHPR Def. P.1383 18.05.2003 5 years N 35 DHPR Def. P.1383 18.05.2003 5 years N 37 DHPR Def. P.1488 07.12.2013 9 months N 37 DHPR Def. P.1448 08.09.1994 20 years N 38 DHPR Def. P.94.145 14.06.2014 2 months N	Fars –	626 nd	I	I I	3.7	3 12	37 76.	83 0
30 DHPR Def. P.582 05.08.2008 6 years N 31 DHPR Def. P.211 27.03.2001 11 years N 32 DHPR Def. P.1138 14.08.2013 6 months N 33 DHPR Def. P.1377 18.07.2009 3.5 years N 34 DHPR Def. P.1337 18.07.2009 3.5 years N 35 DHPR Def. P.1337 18.05.2008 5 years N 35 DHPR Def. P.1337 18.05.2003 5 years N 36 DHPR Def. P.1383 18.05.2003 5 years N 35 DHPR Def. P.1383 07.12.2013 9 months N 37 DHPR Def. P.1448 08.09.1994 20 years 1 37 DHPR Def. P.94.145 14.06.2014 2 wonths 1	Azari 312	840 nd	I	I I	2.87	7 15.	98 84.	77 0
31 DHPR Def. P.211 27.03.2001 11 years N 32 DHPR Def. P.1738 14.08.2013 6 months N 33 DHPR Def. P.1377 18.07.2009 3.5 years N 34 DHPR Def. P.1377 18.07.2009 3.5 years N 35 DHPR Def. P.1337 18.05.2008 5 years N 35 DHPR Def. P.1383 18.05.2003 5 years N 36 DHPR Def. P.1383 18.05.2003 5 years N 36 DHPR Def. P.1488 07.12.2013 9 months N 37 DHPR Def. P.1488 08.09.1994 20 years N 37 DHPR Def. P.94.145 14.06.2014 2 months N	Azari –	241 nd	I	I I	2.3	4 10	83 82.	23 0
32 DHPR Def. P.1738 14.08.2013 6 months h 33 DHPR Def. P.500 09.01.2010 15 months h 34 DHPR Def. P.1377 18.07.2009 3.5 years h 35 DHPR Def. P.1383 18.05.2008 5 years h 35 DHPR Def. P.1383 18.05.2008 5 years h 36 DHPR Def. P.1885 07.12.2013 9 months h 37 DHPR Def. P.1885 07.12.2013 9 months h 37 DHPR Def. P.1448 08.09.1994 20 years 1 38 DHPR Def. P.94.145 14.06.2014 2 months 1	Fars –	199 nd	I	I	1.3	4 6.9	5 83.	84 0
33 DHPR Def. P.500 09.01.2010 15 months N 34 DHPR Def. P.1377 18.07.2009 3.5 years N 35 DHPR Def. P.1383 18.05.2008 5 years N 36 DHPR Def. P.1885 07.12.2013 9 months 1 37 DHPR Def. P.1948 08.09.1994 20 years 1 37 DHPR Def. P.94.145 14.06.2014 2 nonths 1	Azari –	161 nd		I	1.13	3 2.8	7 71.	75 0
34 DHPR Def. P.1377 18.07.2009 3.5 years N 35 DHPR Def. P.1383 18.05.2008 5 years P 36 DHPR Def. P.1885 07.12.2013 9 months P 37 DHPR Def. P.1948 08.09.1994 20 years 1 38 DHPR Def. P.94.145 14.06.2014 2 months 1	Baloch –	405 nd	I	I	4.73	2 23.	03 82.	0 66
35 DHPR Def. P.1383 18.05.2008 5 years N 36 DHPR Def. P.1885 07.12.2013 9 months 1 37 DHPR Def. P.1948 08.09.1994 20 years 1 38 DHPR Def. P.94.145 14.06.2014 2 months 1	Lor –	240 nd	I	I	1.19	9 4.8	6 80.	33 0
36 DHPR Def. P.1885 07.12.2013 9 months N 37 DHPR Def. P.1948 08.09.1994 20 years 1 38 DHPR Def. P.94.145 14.06.2014 2 months 1	Bakhtiari –	120 nd	I	I	1.73	7 4.3	6 71.	13 0
37 DHPR Def. P.1948 08.09.1994 20 years 1 38 DHPR Def. P.94.145 14.06.2014 2 months 1	Lor 432	387 nd	I	I I	2.7	11.	21 80.	59 0
38 DHPR Def. P.94.145 14.06.2014 2 months J	Tork –	283 nd	I	I I	1.59	9 17.	02 91.	46 0
	Fars 240	1,503 nd	I	I I	11.0	04 10	87 49.	51 0

(continued)

F		Ð	Date of	Age at	C	C	Ethnic	Phe (B) at birth	Phe (B) at diagnosis	Coding DNA reference	NCBI reference sequence	F	Inheritance	Neo (U) mmol / mol	Bio (U) mmol / mol	%	DHPR
Row	Status	number	birth	diagnosis	Gend	ler Consanguinit	v origin	µmol/l	μmol/l	Sequence	for genes	Exor	condition	Creat.	Creat.	Biopterin	activity
39	DHPR Def.	P.1917	22.05.2014	1.5 months	ĽL,	Yes	Fars	570	1,020	pu	I	I	I	21.82	11.38	34.28	0
40	PTPS Def.	P.1160	14.04.2011	1.5 years	Σ	No	Afghan	I	940	c.155A>G	NM_000317.2	7	Homozygote	48.18	0.35	0.72	pu
41	PTPS Def.	P.247	21.06.2008	2.5 years	Ĺ	Yes	Fars	I	672	c.155A>G	NM_000317.2	7	Homozygote	42.9	0.55	1.27	pu
42	PTPS Def.	P.246	21.01.2008	2.5 years	ц	Yes	Fars	I	766.02	c.155A>G	NM_000317.2	7	Homozygote	51.49	0.44	0.85	pu
43	PTPS Def.	P.2030	27.08.2014	4.5 months	۲L,	Yes	Azari	630	807	c.199 C>T	NM_000317.2	7	Homozygote	36.57	0.23	0.63	4.3
44	PTPS Def.	P.1816	18.04.2011	3 years	Σ	Yes	Fars	180	124	c.259 C>T	NM_000317.2	5	Homozygote	7.65	0.03	0.39	1.9
45	PTPS Def.	P.227	30.01.2009	6 months	ГL	Yes	Kord	I	947	c.281A>T*	NM_000317.2	5	Homozygote	54.23	0.25	0.46	pu
46	PTPS Def.	P.238	18.08.2009	11.5 months	M	Yes	Kord	I	800.55	c.281A>T*	NM_000317.2	S	Homozygote	13.31	0.02	0.15	pu
47	PTPS Def.	P.1157	26.04.2012	4.5 months	Ц	No	Fars	794	1,353	c.297C>A & c.84-	NM_000317.2	5	Compound	35.5	0.25	0.70	pu
48	PTPS Def.	P.2001	04.03.2015	7 months	ſ.	Yes	Fars	1,440	1,852	3C>G c.317 C>T	NM_000317.2	9	Heterozygote Homozygote	34.9	0.08	0.23	2.6
49	PTPS Def.	P.2194	17.01.2015	1.5 months	Ľ.	No	Azari	1,560	1,305	c.317 C>T	NM_000317.2	9	Homozygote	35.99	0.15	0.42	4.6
50	PTPS Def.	P.207	05.03.2001	12 years	Ц	Yes	Azari	I	2,064	c.331G>A*	NM_000317.2	9	Homozygote	11.87	0.04	0.34	pu
51	PTPS Def.	P.1551	04.08.2013	2 months	Σ	Yes	Afghan	841	596	c.351C>A*	NM_000317.2	9	Homozygote	12.57	0.16	1.26	pu
52	PTPS Def.	P.236	10.05.2005	5 years	Σ	Yes	Arab	I	480	c.373A>T	NM_000317.2	9	Homozygote	31.72	0.04	0.13	pu
53	PTPS Def.	P.94-26	19.12.2014	6 months	ц	Yes	Arab	1,230	1,616	c.373A>T	NM_000317.2	9	Homozygote	57.15	0.19	0.33	3.8
54	PTPS Def.	P.1124	06.11.2008	4 years	Σ	Yes	Arab	I	420	c.373A>T	NM_000317.2	9	Homozygote	24.08	0.07	0.29	pu
55	PTPS Def.	P.1344	15.09.2011	1.5 years	Σ	Yes	Fars	660	1,331	c.373A>T	NM_000317.2	9	Homozygote	22.06	0.11	0.50	pu
56	PTPS Def.	P.1268	08.12.2012	1 month	ĽL,	Yes	Azari	1,020	1,241	c.400G>A*	NM_000317.2	9	Homozygote	33.13	0.02	0.06	pu
57	PTPS Def.	P.229	03.07.2009	1 year	Σ	Yes	Kord	480	06	c.84-3C>G	NM_000317.2	I	Homozygote	6.31	0.32	4.83	pu
58	PTPS Carrier	P.1918	05.06.2014	1 month	۲L,	Yes	Fars	270	244	$c.163 + 2 T > C^*$	NM_000317.2	T	Heterozygote	10.01	3.14	23.88	2.7
59	PTPS Def.	P.1122	19.02.2012	6.5 months	Σ	Yes	Arab	1,920	1,200	c.164.36A>G*	NM_000317.2	I	Homozygote	48.85	0.04	0.08	pu
60	Probably PTPS Det	: P.878	06.12.2010	1 year	Σ	Yes	Kord	I	60	pu	Ι	I	I	11.1	0.12	1.07	pu
61	Probabely PTPS De	f. P.1105	12.04.2012	4 months	ц	Yes	Fars	864	894	pu	Ι	I	I	25.83	0.08	0.31	pu
62	Probabely PTPS De	f. P.622	01.10.2010	9 months	Σ	No	Fars	I	I	pu	Ι	I	I	20.4	0.06	0.29	pu
63	Probabely PTPS De	f. P.1213	23.04.2012	1.5 years	Σ	Yes	Fars	I	1,410	nd	I	I	I	29.48	0.15	0.51	4.1
64	Probabely PTPS De	f. P.260	02.12.2007	5 years	ц	No	Fars	I	161	nd	I	I	I	16.27	0.1	0.61	pu
65	Probabely PTPS De	f. P.563	26.08.2007	3 years	Σ	Yes	Fars	Ι	1,129	pu	I	I	I	18.06	0.1	0.55	pu
99	Probabely PTPS De	f. P.596	31.10.2005	5 years	Σ	Yes	Azari	I	426	nd	I	I	I	4.09	0.08	1.92	pu
67	Probabely PTPS De	f. P.1141	16.08.2006	7 years	Σ	Yes	Kord	I	1,156	pu	I	I	I	22.82	0.11	0.48	pu
68	Probabely PTPS De	f. P.1375	23.08.2006	6.5 years	ĽL,	Yes	Arab	I	540	pu	I	I	I	13.81	0.09	0.65	pu
69	Probabely PTPS De	f. P.357	07.06.2010	4.5 months	ц	Yes	Azari	I	1,890	nd	I	I	I	55.08	0.64	1.15	pu
70	Probabely PTPS De	f. P.1591	20.09.2012	13 months	ц	Yes	Azari	510	1,080	nd	I	I	I	16.05	0.07	0.43	1.8
71	Probabely PTPS De	f. P.1717	15.08.2013	5 months	ц	No	Afghan	I	1,573	pu	I	I	I	30.23	0.21	0.69	1.7
72	Probabely PTPS De	f. P.1736	23.03.2009	5 years	Σ	Yes	Azari	1,320	834	pu	I	I	I	16.62	0.2	1.19	1.8
73	Probabely PTPS De	f. P.1813	27.11.2011	2 years	ц	Yes	Fars	I	1,251	nd	I	I	I	19.09	0.16	0.83	pu
74	Probabely PTPS De	f. P.94-128	23.08.2014	1 year	Σ	Yes	Afghan	I	585	nd	I	I	I	22.43	0.1	0.44	4.3
75	Probabely PTPS De	f. P.94-48	30.01.2014	1.5 years	Σ	Yes	Arab	I	579	nd	I	I	I	24.63	0.11	0.44	3.9
76	Probabely PTPS Carrier	P.94-95	11.06.2015	1 month	М	No	Azari	360	488	pu	I	L	I	45.62	2.03	4.26	4

🖄 Springer

Table 3 (continued)

Phe (B) phenylalanine in blood, Neo (U) neopterin in urine, Bio (U) biopterin in urine, %Biopterin calculated by ((biopterin/(biopterin + neopterin))*100), nd not detected

c.351C>A, and c.163 + 2 T>C in *PTS* gene; c.313 T>C in *PCBD1* gene; c.551G>A in *GCH1* gene.

Moreover, the diagnosis for one of the DHPR-deficient patients with DHPR activity equal to zero was performed by the University Children's Hospital of Zürich, Switzerland. All exons of the QDPR gene plus flanking intronic regions, and the complete coding sequence of the cDNA, were tested in this case. The new homozygous alteration c.267A>G, which seems to be synonymous for coding on the protein level (p. Gly89Gly) was found. The program used was "Human Splicing Finder," version 2.4.1 (http:// www.umd.be/HSF/). Mutations in c.265G>A which coded (p.Gly89Arg) on the protein level and c.266G>A, coding (p.Gly89Gln) on the protein level, were observed in two other DHPR-deficient patients. All three mutations are novel on Cd89 DHPR gene. Phenylalanine levels were <250 µmol/: 49 µmol/l for patient with mutation in c.265G>A, 245 µmol/l for patient with mutation in c.266G>A, and 143 µmol/l for patient with mutation in c.267G>G.

Discussion

 BH_4 deficiencies are a very heterogeneous group of diseases (Blau et al. 2001). Every newborn with even slight but persistent HPA should be tested for BH_4 deficiency. Such tests have been introduced in many developed countries, but even today, older children are more commonly diagnosed after the appearance of clinical symptoms, such as hypotonia of the trunk, hypertonia of the extremities, and often, myoclonic seizures unresponsive to a low-phenylalanine diet.

Because classical BH_4 deficiencies are a group of diseases that can be detected but not identified through neonatal mass screening for HPA, selective screening for a BH_4 deficiency is essential for every newborn with slightly elevated phenylalanine levels (Dhondt 1991).

Our findings show that there is no predominant mutation and that the majority of these mutations are isolated in families and scattered throughout the genes of the Iranian population. This finding aligns with a prior Iranian study about the *QDPR* gene (Foroozani et al. 2015). Furthermore, eight of the eleven new mutations reported in this article on the *QDPR* gene were previously reported by Foroozani et al. (2015).

It is interesting that in the DHPR deficiency group, the new homozygous alteration c.267A>G in the *QDPR* gene reported in this paper as a novel mutation, which seems to be synonymous coding on the protein level (p.Gly89Gly), is not an SNP. This mutation generates a new 9G8 (or SRprotein SFRS7) exon-splice-enhancer, which might alter pre-mRNA splicing. The observation of two other new mutation on codon 89 (c.265G>A and c.266G>A) is a more interesting note that should be reported about Iranian DHPR-deficient patients. All mutations on this codon were novel, and all three patients had mild HPA. Therefore it will be interesting if a phenotype–genotype relation study were carried out.

In the PTPS deficiency group, there were no genetic study data or enzyme activity to confirm disease existence for 17 (46%) patients. According to biochemical findings and clinical signs, they were suspected of having PTPS deficiency. Despite the lack of confirmation for these patients, according to physicians' comments, they were treated with BH_4 tablets.

For a more complete diagnosis it is necessary to measure PTPS activity and assess 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid, homovanillic acid, and 5-methyl tetrahydrofolic acid in the cerebrospinal fluid. The results in this article show gaps in the prevention and control programs for the diseases. These gaps can often be eliminated by using existing capacities in a standardized and systematic approach. If all newborns with HPA are screened to rule out BH_4 deficiencies within the first month of life, we would be able to report a precise incidence of BH_4 deficiencies per 100,000 live births in Iran in the future.

Under the present circumstances, BH_4 -deficient newborns are benefiting from the availability of these tests in the context of a screening program in Iran, because they have the chance to be diagnosed and receive necessary care before clinical damage occurs.

Acknowledgement We are grateful to the many colleagues in contributing medical centers, the patients' families, and their physicians for sending specimens. We would also like to give special thanks to Prof. Dr. Nenad Blau, Prof. Dr. Jörn Oliver Sass, Corinne Britschgi, Alessio Cremonesi, and Anahita Rassi for their helpful recommendations and efforts.

Compliance with Ethics Guidelines

Consortium

Soghra Khani, Rogiyeh Mirzazadeh, Sedigheh Sadeghi, Somayeh Mahmoudi Baram, Elham Farhangara, Arezou Asgari, Rayhaneh Hasanzaeh, Mina Barzegari, Parastoo Bayat, Hamid Mohammadaliha, Parinaz Saeedi, Robabeh Ahadi, Ghazaleh Dadashizadeh, Saeedeh Saeedi, Sarah Azadmehr, Tina Shirzad, Leali Rejali, and Mahbobeh Masoodifar.

Conflict of Interest

Shohreh Khatami, Soghra Rouhi Dehnabeh, Sirous Zeinali, Beat Thöny, Mohammadreza Alaei, Shadab Salehpour, Aria Setoodeh, Farzaneh Rohani, Fatemeh Hajivalizadeh, and Ashraf Samavat declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Informed Consent

The project was supported financially with research grants for implemented programs by the Ministry of Health of Iran. Informed consent was obtained from all patients for inclusion in the study.

Animal Rights

This article does not reference any studies with animal subjects performed by any of the authors.

Details of the Contributions of Individual Authors

Shohreh Khatami, as member of the PKU national scientific committee, contributed to the planning, conducting, and reporting of the BH₄ screening tests described in the article.

Soghra Rouhi contributed to the conception and design of the DHPR test and peterin analysis setup and to drafting the article.

Mohammadreza Alaei, Shadab Salehpour, Aria Sotoudeh, and Farzaneh Rohani contributed as members of the PKU national scientific committee and introduced patients for sample gathering.

Sirous Zeinali, Sarah Azadmeh, Tina Shirzad, Leyli Rejali, Mahbobeh Masoodifarand, and Beat Thöny contributed to the genetics study.

Soghra Khani, Rogiyeh Mirzazadeh, Sedigheh Sadeghi, Somayeh Mahmoudi Baram, Elham Farhangara, Arezu Asgari, Ghazaleh Dadashizadeh, Rayhaneh Hasanzaeh, Mina Barzegari, Parinaz Saeedi, Parastoo Bayat, Robabeh Ahadi, Hamid Mohammadaliha, and Saeedeh Saeedi contributed to the setup and performing of the tests.

Ashraf Samavat (Head of the Genetics Office, Ministry of Health of Iran) and Fatemeh Hajivalizadeh contributed to the design of the PKU screening program in Iran and to revising the article critically for important intellectual content. Author Serving as Guarantor for the Article

Dr. Shohreh Khatami

Competing Interests Statement

None

References

- Arai N, Narisawa K, Hayakawa H et al (1982) Hyperphenylalaninemia due to dihydropteridine reductase deficiency: diagnosis by enzyme assays on dried blood spots. Pediatrics 70:426–430
- Atherton ND (1989) HPLC measurement of phenylalanine by direct injection of plasma onto an internal-surface reversed-phase silica support. Clin Chem 35(6):975–978
- BIOMDB: Database of Mutations Causing Tetrahydrobiopterin Deficiencies (database online) (http://www.biopku.org/BioPKU_-DatabasesBIOMDB.asp) curated by N. Blau, B. Thöny
- Blau N, Thöny B, Cotton RGH (2001) Disorders of tetrahydrobiopterin and related biogenic amines. In: Scriver CR, Beaudet AL, Sly WS, Valle D, Childs B, Vogelstein B (eds) The metabolic and molecular bases of inherited disease, 8th edn. McGraw-Hill, New York, pp 1725–1776
- Blau N, Duran M, Gibson KM (2008) Laboratory guide to the methods in biochemical genetics techniques. Springer, Heidelberg, pp 696–699
- Blau N, Burton BK, Thöny B et al (2010) Phenylketonuria and BH4 deficiencies, 1st edn. UNI-MED, Bremen
- Dhondt JL (1991) Strategy for the screening of tetrahydrobiopterin deficiency among hyperphenylalaninaemic patients: 15-years experience. J Inherit Metab Dis 14:117–127
- Foroozani H, Abiri M, Salehpour S et al (2015) Molecular characterization of QDPR gene in Iranian families with BH₄ deficiency: reporting novel and recurrent mutations. JIMD Rep 21:123–128

http://www.dnalc.org/view/15479-Sanger-method-of-DNA-sequencing-3D-animation-with-narration.html

- Ponzone A, Spada M, Ferraris S et al (2004) Dihydropteridine reductase deficiency in man: from biology to treatment. Med Res Rev 24(2):127–150
- Ribeiro de Castro M, Seno Di Marco G, Yuri Arita D et al (2004) Urinary neopterin quantification by reverse-phase high-performance liquid chromatography with ultraviolet detection. J Biochem Biophys Methods 59(3):275–283

RESEARCH REPORT

Endurance Exercise Training in Young Adults with Barth Syndrome: A Pilot Study

W. Todd Cade • Dominic N. Reeds • Linda R. Peterson • Kathryn L. Bohnert • Rachel A. Tinius • Paul B. Benni • Barry J. Byrne • Carolyn L. Taylor

Received: 12 October 2015 / Revised: 31 December 2015 / Accepted: 02 March 2016 / Published online: 11 June 2016 © SSIEM and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2016

Abstract *Background*: Barth syndrome (BTHS) is a rare X-linked disorder that is characterized by mitochondrial abnormalities, cardio-skeletal myopathy, exercise intolerance, and premature mortality. The effect on endurance exercise training on exercise tolerance, cardio-skeletal function, and quality of life in BTHS is unknown.

Methods: Four young adults $(23 \pm 5 \text{ years}, n = 4)$ with BTHS participated in a 12-week, supervised, individualized endurance exercise training program. Exercise training was performed on a cycle ergometer for 30-45' three times per week at a moderate intensity level.

Communicated by: Michael J Bennett, PhD
Competing interests: None declared
Electronic supplementary material: The online version of this chapter (doi:10.1007/8904_2016_553) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.
W.T. Cade (⊠) · K.L. Bohnert · R.A. Tinius Program in Physical Therapy, Washington University School of

Medicine, Box 8502, St. Louis, MO 63108, USA e-mail: tcade@wustl.edu

D.N. Reeds

Division of Geriatrics and Nutritional Sciences, Department of Medicine, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO 63108, USA

L.R. Peterson

Cardiovascular Division, Department of Medicine, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO 63108, USA

P.B. Benni

CAS Medical Systems, Inc., Branford, CT 06405, USA

B.J. Byrne

Departments of Pediatrics, Molecular Genetics and Microbiology, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL 32611, USA

C.L. Taylor

Division of Pediatric Cardiology, Medical University of South Carolina, Charleston, SC 29412, USA

Exercise tolerance was measured by graded exercise testing and peak oxygen consumption, heart function via two-dimensional and M-mode echocardiography, skeletal muscle function by near-infrared spectroscopy, and quality of life through the Minnesota Living with Heart Failure questionnaire.

Results: There were no adverse events during exercise testing or training for any participant. Peak oxygen consumption modestly (~5%) improved in three or four participants. Mean quality of life questions regarding dyspnea and side effects from medications significantly improved following exercise training. Mean resting heart function or skeletal muscle oxygen extraction during exercise did not improve after exercise training.

Conclusion: Endurance exercise training is safe and appears to modestly improve peak exercise tolerance and certain measures of quality of life in young adults with BTHS. However, compared to improvements resulting from endurance exercise training seen in other non-BTHS mitochondrial myopathies and heart failure, these improvements appear blunted. Further research into the most beneficial mode, intensity and frequency of exercise training in BTHS is warranted.

Barth syndrome (BTHS) is an X-linked disorder that results in cardio-skeletal myopathy, heart failure, fatigue, chronic/ cyclic neutropenia, growth delay, and premature mortality (Barth et al. 1983). The full scope of the pathological and clinical manifestations of BTHS is not fully understood, but involves a tafazzin gene defect that results in cardiolipin deficiency and severe mitochondrial dysfunction. BTHSassociated mitochondrial dysfunction is assumed to mediate the cardio-skeletal myopathy seen in the majority of those with BTHS (Spencer et al. 2006).

Our group recently found that whole-body peak oxygen consumption (VO_{2neak}) during acute exercise was significantly impaired in BTHS when compared to healthy peers (Spencer et al. 2011). Further, deficits in VO_{2peak} in those with BTHS were mediated by impairments in both cardiac and skeletal muscle function (Spencer et al. 2011). This is important because peak oxygen consumption (i.e., exercise tolerance) is the single best predictor of cardiovascular and all-cause mortality in individuals with cardiovascular disease (Myers et al. 2002). In individuals with non-BTHS heart failure, endurance (aerobic) exercise training increases peak whole-body oxygen consumption, left ventricular function, skeletal muscle blood flow and oxidative function, plasma lactate concentration during exercise, and improves serum markers associated with the severity of the cardiac impairment (e.g., tumor-necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) and probrain natriuretic peptide(pro-BNP)) (Sullivan et al. 1988; Minotti et al. 1990; Coats et al. 1992; Hambrecht et al. 1997, 1998; Adamopoulos et al. 2002; Delagardelle et al. 2002; Giannuzzi et al. 2003; Conraads et al. 2004; Bartlo 2007). Most importantly, endurance exercise training in patients with non-BTHS heart failure was safe, improved survival (Belardinelli et al. 1999), decreased hospitalization (Belardinelli et al. 1999), and increased quality of life (Coats et al. 1992; Tyni-Lenne et al. 1996; Belardinelli et al. 1999). Similarly, endurance exercise training has been found to be safe, improve exercise capacity, increase skeletal muscle oxygen extraction, and improve quality of life in individuals with other non-BTHS mitochondrial myopathies (Taivassalo et al. 2001; Cejudo et al. 2005; Jeppesen et al. 2006, 2009). However, the effect of endurance exercise training on these measures in BTHS is unknown. Because there is no specific therapies for BTHS to date, identification of an intervention to improve cardiovascular and metabolic health and to improve quality of life in this population is of high clinical importance.

BTHS has many similar clinical characteristics with patients with non-BTHS-related heart failure and those with non-BTHS mitochondrial myopathies. Therefore we hypothesized that endurance exercise training would improve exercise tolerance (i.e., peak oxygen consumption), skeletal muscle oxygen extraction, cardiac function, and quality of life in young adults with BTHS. In this pilot study, we collected preliminary data on the effect of a 12week endurance exercise training program in four young adults with BTHS.

Methods

Participants

Inclusion criteria included sedentary lifestyle (exercises $<1\times$ /week), willing to exercise, and with unchanged medications >3 months (Table 1). Participants were excluded if they had unstable heart disease or cardiac transplantation. Once identified, each potential participant was contacted by the principal investigator (WTC) to evaluate interest in participating in the study. If the participants were interested, a medical release for participation in the study's exercise program was obtained from the participant's personal cardiologist. Participant demographics are presented in Table 1. Informed written and verbal consent was obtained from all participants and the study was approved by the Human Research Protection Office at Washington University. All procedures followed were in accordance with the ethical standards of the responsible committee on human experimentation (institutional and national) and with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2000.

Baseline Testing

Baseline testing was performed at the 2010 Barth Syndrome International Family Scientific, Medical and Family Conference in Clearwater, FL. Upon screening, all participants received a physical examination, including a medical history. Participants also received fasting complete blood chemistry including plasma pro-brain natriuretic peptide as a marker of left ventricular (LV) dysfunction (Nir et al. 2004). All post-exercise measurements were performed at the Washington University Institute for Clinical and Translational Sciences Clinical Research Unit.

Exercise Testing

Each participant performed a graded exercise test on an electronically braked cycle ergometer (SensorMedics/VIASYS Healthcare, Yorba Linda, CA). The exercise test began with participants pedaling at a rate of 60 revolutions/ min with no load for 1 min (warm up). After the warm-up period, the work rate (WR) on the cycle ergometer started at 10 Watts (W) and increased 10 W/min until volitional exhaustion. Twelve-lead cardiography (ECG), blood pressure, O₂ consumption (VO₂), CO₂ production (VCO₂), and ventilation (VMax, SensorMedics/VIASYS Healthcare) were continuously measured. Exercise tests were considered to be maximal if the peak heart rate (HR) was \geq 85% of that predicted for age (220-age) and/or the peak respiratory exchange ratio (RER; VCO₂/VO₂) was \geq 1.15 (ACSM 1998).

Echocardiography

Males with BTHS ages 15-35 years were identified All part through the Barth Syndrome Foundation Registry (BSFR). standard $\widehat{\bigtriangleup}$ Springer

All participants underwent echocardiography using a standardized protocol designed to evaluate LV size, LV

Table 1 Demographics of participants

Variable	Participant #1	Participant #2	Participant #3	Participant #4
Age (yrs)	21	22	29	18
ICD (yes/no)	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
Pre-intervention endurance (city blocks)	2–3	2	2–3	1–2
Employment/student status	Graduate student	Undergraduate student	Part-time employed	Unemployed
Hobbies	Following sports, cooking	Following sports, gaming	Computers, gaming, photography	Gaming
Medications	Carvedilol 25 mg BID	Metoprolol 50 mg BID	Carvedilol 12.5 mg BID	Losartan 25 mg QD
	Furosemide 10 mg QD	Digoxin 0.125 mg QD	Captopril 25 mg QD	Atenolol 25 mg QD
	Digoxin 0.125 mg QD		Sertraline 50 mg QD	Carnitine 5 mL TID
	Losartan 50 mg QD		Metformin 50 mg BID	CEQ-10 200 mg TID
	Spironolactone 25 mg QD			Sulfamethoxazole TMP
	Warfarin 2.5 mg QD			DS tablet QD
	KCl 20 mg BID			
	Arginine 7 g QD			
	Cysteine 7 g QD			
	Methionine 7 g			
	Calcium/vitamin D 160 mg QD			

yrs years, ICD intra-cardiac defibrillator, CEQ co-enzyme Q, BID twice a day, QD once a day, TID three times a day

morphology, and systolic and diastolic function as previously described (Spencer et al. 2011). All echocardiograms were recorded digitally and each study participant and visit was interpreted and measured by the same cardiologist (CLT) who was blinded to subject identification. Echocardiograms were obtained using Phillips 7500 echocardiography machines (Phillips Medical Systems, Bothell, WA).

Near-Infrared Spectroscopy

Near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) is a well-described noninvasive technique that measures changes in oxy-hemoglobin and deoxy-hemoglobin which closely reflects muscular fractional oxygen extraction during exercise (DeLorey et al. 2003; Grassi et al. 2003). Relative concentration changes in oxy-(HbO₂), deoxy-(DeoxyHb), and total (TotalHb) hemoglobin of the vastus lateralis muscle and brain were measured using a four-wavelength continuous wave NIRS system (FORE-SIGHT[®], CAS Medical Systems Inc., Branford, CT) as previously described (Spencer et al. 2011).

Assessment of Heath-Related Quality of Life

Subjective quality of life was measured by the Minnesota Living with Heart Failure Questionnaire (MLWHFQ). This tool examines the effects of heart failure and treatments for heart failure on the individual's quality of life and has been validated in individuals with heart failure (Rector et al. 1993) and a valid tool to evaluate therapies in this population (Rector et al. 1996). This tool contains 21 questions in response to the overall question "Did your heart failure prevent you from living as you wanted during the past month by?" in various categories (Supplementary Table 1) where the participants answer through a Likert scale from No (0) to Very Little (1) to Very Much (5).

Exercise Training

Volunteers participated in a 12-week, individualized, progressive, and supervised moderate-intensity endurance exercise training program performed at a hospital-based physical therapy clinic/cardiac rehabilitation program near the participants' homes. The ultimate goal of the training program was for the participants to perform a total of 45 min of continuous or intermittent moderate-intensity exercise (Borg scale 14–16 or "Somewhat Hard to Hard") on a cycle ergometer $3\times$ /week or a total of 36 visits over 12 weeks. Cycle ergometer intensity (resistance in Watts) was increased to maintain moderate intensity as each participant's exercise tolerance increased. The principal investigator (WTC) personally traveled to the training site to initiate and train the local physical therapist/exercise physiologist on the intervention protocol, based on the

exercise tolerance of the participant. Weekly communication by the PI and site physical therapist/exercise physiologist was maintained throughout the training period. Total training time, heart rate, blood pressure, and perceived exertion (i.e., Borg Scale) were recorded for each training visit. In general, participants would exercise at a moderate intensity as long as they could and then rest before attempting another exercise bout. This was performed as many times within the 45 min time frame as the participant could tolerate with encouragement from the physical therapist/exercise physiologist.

Post-Exercise Testing

All post-exercise training testing was performed at Washington University School of Medicine as per previously described. Exercise testing and echocardiography equipment at Washington University were the same makes and models, and the NIRS equipment was identical as used in pre-testing at the 2010 Barth Syndrome Foundation Conference. Post-training NIRS was not performed in Participant #4 due to technical difficulties and thus data for this participant is not presented.

Statistics

The overall objective of this pilot study was to obtain preliminary data on the effect of endurance exercise training in BTHS. However, based on our preliminary data with peak exercise testing in BTHS (Spencer et al. 2011), for a statistically significant 20% improvement in peak oxygen consumption seen in populations with similar characteristics as BTHS, a sample size of 12 is needed. Pre–post data were analyzed through paired *t*-testing (IBM SPSS, Chicago, IL).

Results

Exercise Training

Participant #1 completed 100% of the exercise sessions plus three extra visits (39 visits) for a total of 1,920 min of exercise. Participant #2 completed 100% of the sessions (36 visits) for a total of 1,101 min of exercise. Participant #3 completed 100% of the exercise training plus eight visits extra (44 visits) due to personal reasons, there was a 10-day gap in the training where no exercise was performed and the extra visits were added to compensate for this. Participant #3 completed a total of 866 min of exercise. Participant #4 completed only 81% (29 sessions) of the exercise sessions for a total of 428 min of exercise (Table 2). Missed exercise sessions by Participant #4 were not due to medical but personal reasons. Also, compliance and motivation during the exercise sessions were reported to be variable in Participant #4 which might have affected the outcomes in this participant. Means \pm SDs for heart rate, blood pressure, exercise duration, work and perceived exertion for each third of the training sessions (first third, second third, and final third) are presented in Table 3. Importantly, there were no adverse events for any participant during the training or testing sessions.

Demographics and Plasma Markers

As a group, there was no mean effect of exercise training on body weight; however, body weight slightly increased in three of the four participants and decreased in one participant. Mean hemoglobin/hematocrit, white cell count, absolute neutrophil count and percentage, pre-albumin, and pro-BNP were unchanged as a group following exercise training (Table 3).

Exercise Tolerance

As a group, mean peak oxygen consumption expressed absolutely and per kilogram body weight increased ~5% following exercise training; however, this was not significant (Table 3, Fig. 1a). Peak work, exercise time, and heart rate were unchanged following exercise training as a group. Peak respiratory exchange ratio (RER) tended (p = 0.10) to decrease following exercise training (Table 3). Three of four participants were able to tolerate more exercise volume (time exercising and intensity (watts)) from early in training to late in training (Fig. 1c).

Muscle Oxygen Extraction

The mean slope of deoxy-hemoglobin and time (i.e., Δ deoxy-hemoglobin) during exercise did not change following exercise training (Table 3). The deoxy-hemoglobin slope improved in one participant but mildly declined in two participants (Table 3).

Cardiac Function

Mean resting heart rate, blood pressure, and systolic and diastolic function were unchanged as a group as a result of exercise training (Table 3).

Subjective Quality of Life

As a group, mean total score from the MLWHFQ did not improve following exercise training. However, the effect of the participants' heart failure on the specific questions regarding dyspnea and side effects of medications signifi-

	Participant #	#1		Participant #	42		Participant 7	#3		Participant #	4	
variable Mean +/-SD (session)	1/3	2/3	3/3	1/3	2/3	3/3	1/3	2/3	3/3	1/3	2/3	3/3
Exs duration (min)	52 ± 9	49 ± 3	47 ± 3	14 ± 4	21 ± 3	41 ± 10	17 ± 1	22 ± 2	22 ± 3	16 ± 5	17 ± 9	12 ± 3
HR (bpm)	123 ± 7	123 ± 6	126 ± 2	136 ± 6	139 ± 6	145 ± 4	130 ± 2	131 ± 4	128 ± 4	153 ± 19	136 ± 8	145 ± 6
SBP (mmHg)	103 ± 6	107 ± 8	108 ± 7	114 ± 20	109 ± 12	98 ± 20	112 ± 10	109 ± 5	103 ± 9	102 ± 10	106 ± 9	109 ± 14
DBP (mmHg)	61 ± 6	60 ± 3	59 ± 4	66 ± 7	64 ± 7	77 ± 18	64 ± 6	68 ± 7	62 ± 4	60 ± 8	62 ± 5	61 ± 8
Work (W)	42 ± 10	42 ± 8	49 ± 4	15 ± 1	18 ± 2	21 ± 3	15 ± 0	15 ± 0	15 ± 1	25 ± 0	25 ± 0	100 ± 0
RPE	12 ± 1	14 ± 0	14 ± 1	13 ± 1	13 ± 0	13 ± 1	15 ± 1	16 ± 1	15 ± 1	15 ± 2	16 ± 2	16 ± 1

 Table 2 Endurance exercise training data

1/3 mean \pm SD of first third of exercise sessions, 2/3 mean \pm SD of second third of exercise sessions, 3/3 mean \pm SD of last third of exercise sessions, Exs exercise, HR heart rate, SBP systolic blood pressure, DBP diastolic blood pressure, RPE rating of perceived exertion, bpm beats per minute

Table 3 Metabolic and exercise responses to endurance exercise training

	Particip	ant #1	Particip	ant #2	Particip	ant #3	Particip	ant #4	Mean		
Variable Mean +/-SD	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	P value
Weight (kg)	53.1	55.3	53.9	56.2	87.5	90.3	83.3	73.6	69.5 ± 18.5	68.9 ± 16.6	0.86
Hb (g/dL)	14.1	13.3	15.8	15.5	15.5	16.1	14.7	14.6	15.0 ± 0.8	14.9 ± 1.2	0.64
Hct (%)	40.6	37.1	44.3	44.3	44.0	46.4	43.1	41.5	43.0 ± 1.7	42.3 ± 4.0	0.62
WBC (K/cumm)	4.4	3.4	3.3	2.9	3.5	2.4	2.6	2.7	3.5 ± 0.7	2.9 ± 0.4	0.12
ANC (K/cumm)	1.6	1.1	0.5	0.6	1.7	0.7	0.7	0.4	1.1 ± 0.6	0.7 ± 0.3	0.16
Neutrophil (%)	37	33	13	22	49	31	25	13	31.0 ± 15.5	24.8 ± 9.2	0.36
Pre-albumin (mg/dL)	15.0	12.4	19.0	17.1	21.0	22.1	14.7	11.2	17.4 ± 3.1	15.7 ± 5.0	0.18
BNP (pg/mL)	196	121	26	43	15	18	10	15	61.8 ± 89.9	49.3 ± 49.5	0.60
Peak VO ₂ (L/min)	0.55	0.58	0.63	0.68	0.97	1.16	0.76	0.66	0.73 ± 0.18	0.77 ± 0.26	0.52
Peak Work (W)	50	60	50	60	80	70	70	60	62.5 ± 15.0	62.5 ± 5.0	1.00
Peak Time (s)	306	370	327	380	477	468	370	360	62.5 ± 15.0	62.5 ± 5.0	0.30
Peak HR (bpm)	144	151	142	169	171	169	171	136	157.0 ± 16.2	156.3 ± 16.0	0.96
Peak RER	1.9	1.7	1.7	1.7	1.4	1.3	1.7	1.4	1.7 ± 0.2	1.5 ± 0.2	0.10
Peak Ve	75	41	60	50	56	52	**	30	63.7 ± 10.0	43.3 ± 10.0	0.22
$\Delta Deoxy-Hb \ (\mu M/s)$	0.4	1.0	2.1	1.0	1.7	1.3	**	**	1.4 ± 0.9	1.1 ± 0.2	0.60
SBP (mmHg)	100	98	96	102	130	98	120	93	112 ± 16	113 ± 15	0.60
DBP (mmHg)	70	70	62	70	60	72	66	50	65 ± 4	66 ± 10	0.88
LV mass index	26.7	29.7	20.0	26.3	31.2	26.3	37.3	37.3	28.8 ± 7.3	29.9 ± 5.2	0.68
LVEDV (mL)	194.3	176.5	137.2	125.5	151.0	179.3	168.8	173.4	162.8 ± 24.6	162.5 ± 25.1	0.98
LVESV (mL)	157.0	125.6	72.4	69.1	79.5	100.7	79.6	78.7	97.1 ± 40.1	93.5 ± 25.1	0.76
EF (%)	19	29	47	45	47	44	53	55	42 ± 15	43 ± 11	0.67
FS (%)	9.0	8.9	19.4	19.1	20.3	19.8	26.9	26.6	18.9 ± 7.4	18.6 ± 7.3	0.96
MPI	0.9	0.7	**	**	0.44	0.54	0.51	0.68	0.62 ± 0.2	0.64 ± 0.1	0.86
E/A	2.7	1.8	1.6	1.5	1.4	1.4	1.5	1.4	1.8 ± 0.6	1.5 ± 0.2	0.28

Hb hemoglobin, *Hct* hematocrit, *WBC* white blood cell, *ANC* absolute neutrophil count, *BNP* brain natriuretic peptide, VO_2 volume of oxygen consumption, *Exs* exercise, *HR* heart rate, *RER* respiratory exchange ratio, *Ve* ventilation, *ΔDeoxy-Hb* (μ *M/s*) slope of deoxy-hemoglobin and time in micromoles per second, *SBP* systolic blood pressure, *DBP* diastolic blood pressure, *LV* left ventricle, *LVEDV* left ventricular end diastolic volume, *LVESV* left ventricular end systolic volume, *FS* fractional shortening, *EF* ejection fraction, *MPI* myocardial performance index, *E/A* early to late diastolic filling ratio

** Missing data

cantly improved following exercise training (Fig. 1b, Supplementary Table 1). Of note, subjective fatigue improved in two participants and was unchanged in two participants after exercise training and the ability to perform house/yard work improved in two participants following training. However, as a group mean, neither specific question was significantly different following exercise training.

Discussion

This is the first study examine the effects of endurance exercise training on peak exercise tolerance, peak skeletal muscle oxygen extraction, cardiac function, and quality of life in individuals with BTHS. Our primary findings were that in four young adults with BTHS, 12 weeks of endurance exercise training: (1) was safe, (2) induced modest (\sim 5%) improvement in peak exercise tolerance (i.e., oxygen consumption) in three of four participants, and (3) improved the participants' subjective impact of heart failure on dyspnea and the side effects from treatment. In addition, the majority of participants were able to tolerate longer and more intense exercise as the training sessions increased. Surprisingly, endurance exercise training did not appear to improve skeletal muscle oxygen extraction or cardiac function to a significant extent these participants.

Overall, in four individuals with BTHS, endurance exercise training was safe as there were no adverse events or known occurrences of life-threatening arrhythmias. Of note, three of the four participants with BTHS had a previous history of life-threatening arrhythmias as evidenced by implantation of ICD's but were able to safely undergo exercise training. These data suggest that individ-



Fig. 1 (a) Peak oxygen consumption before and following 12 weeks of endurance exercise. (b) Dyspnea scores from the Minnesota Living with Heart Failure Quality of Life Questionnaire before and following

uals with BTHS with stable disease can participate in endurance-type exercise without risk of life-threatening arrhythmias. These data agree with the documented safety of aerobic exercise training in patients with non-BTHS congestive heart failure (Belardinelli et al. 1999). Additional benefits of endurance exercise training in non-BTHS heart failure include decreased hospitalization and improved survival rates (Belardinelli et al. 1999) however; additional and longer term studies are needed to confirm these benefits in BTHS.

Chronic endurance (i.e., aerobic) exercise training is a well-established intervention that improves exercise tolerance and increases cardiac function and skeletal muscle mitochondrial function in healthy individuals (ACSM 1998). Endurance exercise training has also been found to be safe and improve peak exercise tolerance and cardiac and skeletal muscle function in conditions that share similar characteristics as BTHS: mitochondrial myopathies (Cejudo et al. 2005; Jeppesen et al. 2006, 2009) and congestive

12 weeks of endurance exercise. (c) Total exercise work volume (time \times resistance) during over the first, second, and last third of exercise sessions

heart failure (Coats et al. 1992; Delagardelle et al. 2002; Giannuzzi et al. 2003; Bartlo 2007). In patients with other mitochondrial myopathies, an endurance exercise program $(3-5\times/\text{week}, 12 \text{ weeks}, 70\% \text{ VO}_{2\text{peak}})$ increased peak oxygen consumption 23-29% and peak work rate 16-100% (Cejudo et al. 2005; Jeppesen et al. 2006, 2009). Also, 14 weeks of endurance exercise training increased peak oxygen consumption (~25%), peak skeletal muscle oxygen extraction (20%), and mitochondrial function, enzyme activity and volume (~50%) without an improvement in cardiac function in individuals with mitochondrial myopathies. These findings demonstrate that endurance exercise training in non-BTHS mitochondrial myopathies specifically increases the ability of skeletal muscle to extract and utilize oxygen for energy production during exercise (Taivassalo et al. 2001). In addition, endurance exercise training increased peak oxygen consumption (23%) (Sullivan et al. 1988) and improved skeletal muscle oxidative function in individuals with

non-BTHS heart failure (Sullivan et al. 1988; Minotti et al. 1990; Hambrecht et al. 1997). In the current study, young men with BTHS were able to tolerate greater amounts (i.e., time and resistance) of submaximal exercise as the training period progressed; however, we observed only a modest increase in peak oxygen consumption (~5%) compared to larger increases seen in other mitochondrial myopathies (20-30%). This might suggest an improved ability for Cori cycling/gluconeogenesis in BTHS with exercise training (Bongaerts and Wagener 2007); however, this is speculative as we did not measure this. We also did not find an improvement in skeletal muscle oxygen extraction during peak exercise as seen in studies in patients with non-BTHS mitochondrial myopathies. One potential reason for these differences might include slight differences in exercise intensity: we used perceived exertion (i.e., Borg scale) to guide exercise intensity rather than %VO_{2neak} as used in other studies and thus we might have exercised our participants at a lower intensity level. Also, with the heterogeneity of mitochondrial DNA mutations, it is possible that exercise training increases the density of non-mutated mitochondria, resulting in better improvements in peak oxygen consumption. In contrast, the mitochondrial pathophysiology of BTHS is of nuclear origin and therefore endurance exercise training might only increase the density of defective mitochondria, thus blunting the response to exercise training. However, this is speculative as we did not obtain muscle biopsies. Lastly, it is possible that the training period (i.e., 12 weeks) was not long enough to elicit skeletal muscle and cardiac adaptations in the participants with BTHS. In healthy individuals, 12 weeks of endurance exercise is associated with a $\sim 8-11\%$ increase in peak oxygen consumption; however, improvements increase to 10-14%, 13-17%, and 16-17% with 24, 36, and 52 weeks of training, respectively (Iwasaki et al. 2003; Scharhag-Rosenberger et al. 2009). Thus, it is possible that cardiorespiratory adaptations might have further increased with a longer duration of exercise training and warrants further study.

Moderate-intensity endurance exercise training has been shown to improve left ventricular function in individuals with non-BTHS heart failure as well as improve levels of plasma markers known to be associated with the severity of cardiac impairment (e.g., TNF- α and pro-BNP) (Adamopoulos et al. 2002; Conraads et al. 2004; Chen et al. 2012). However, in the current study we did not observe improvements in resting nor exercise-stimulated left ventricular function, plasma pro-BNP, or plasma TNF- α following endurance exercise training in four participants with BTHS. It is possible that the training period was not long enough to demonstrate improvements in cardiac function as the majority of studies in non-BTHS heart failure that demonstrated cardiac improvements had training period \geq 6 months (Chen et al. 2012). Like skeletal muscle, it is also possible that endurance exercise training in BTHS increased more genetically impaired cardiac mitochondria that did not result in improvement of cardiac energetics and function; however, this is also speculative as cardiac biopsies were not performed.

Endurance exercise training has been shown to improve subjective quality of life in non-BTHS heart failure (Tvni-Lenne et al. 1996; Belardinelli et al. 1999; Taylor et al. 2014) and mitochondrial myopathy (Cejudo et al. 2005). In the current study, endurance exercise training did not significantly improve overall (i.e., total score of the Minnesota Living with Heart Failure Questionnaire) subjective quality of life but did significantly improve scores on specific questions related to dyspnea and side effects of heart failure treatment. Two of four participants also reported an improvement in fatigue and rest during the day questions however as a group, these were not significantly improved following exercise training. Larger and longer studies are needed to fully determine the beneficial effects of endurance exercise training on subjective quality of life in BTHS.

There are limitations associated with this small pilot study. First, we were not adequately powered to demonstrate an effect of endurance exercise training on exercise tolerance. We were also not powered to detect differences in cardiac function or quality of life. However, we were able to show a trend towards improvement of exercise tolerance in the three of four participants with BTHS. In addition, during the training, exercise intensity was guided by perceived exertion rather than heart rate/VO2. This was performed as all participants were on beta-blocker medication which blunts exercise-stimulated heart rate thus making heart rate guided exercise prescription unreliable. Lastly, the endurance exercise intervention was applied by four different physical therapists/exercise physiologists that could have led to varying motivational techniques for each participant. However, the PI (WTC) provided the same instructions and general communication to all participating therapists/physiologists.

In conclusion, in four young adults with BTHS, 12 weeks of moderate-intensity endurance exercise training was safe, well-tolerated, and modestly improved exercise tolerance and specific areas of subjective quality of life. Training improvements in BTHS however were not as great as those seen in other conditions that share characteristics as BTHS. Endurance exercise induced adaptation might be blunted in BTHS due to the more severe cardiac involvement and homogenous mitochondrial alterations in BTHS compared to other mitochondrial myopathies (Spencer et al. 2006; Finsterer and Kothari 2014). Randomized clinical trials that examine higher intensity and longer duration interventions of endurance exercise training are needed to

determine if endurance exercise training is clearly beneficial in BTHS. It is also possible that an exercise training mode that targets less oxidative muscle fiber types (i.e., Type II) such as resistance training (or combination of resistance and endurance) might be more effective in improving exercise tolerance in BTHS however; this needs to be tested in future studies.

Compliance with Ethics Guidelines

Synopsis

Conflict of Interest

Endurance exercise training is safe and appears to modestly improve exercise tolerance and certain measures of quality of life in young adults with BTHS.

W. Todd Cade, Dominic Reeds, Linda Peterson, Kathryn Bohnert, Rachel Tinius, Paul Benni, Barry Byrne, and Carolyn Taylor declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Author Contributions

WTC planned the study, performed the study, analyzed the data, wrote the manuscript.

DNR performed the studies, wrote the manuscript.

LRP performed the studies, wrote the manuscript.

KLB performed the studies, wrote the manuscript.

RAT performed the studies, wrote the manuscript.

PBB analyzed the data, wrote the manuscript.

BJB planned the study, wrote the manuscript.

CLT planned the study, analyzed the data, wrote the manuscript.

Funding

This project was supported by the Barth Syndrome Foundation and by the National Institutes of Health grants: Institute of Clinical and Translational Sciences (UL1 RR024992), Diabetes Research and Training Center (DK-020579), and Nutrition-Obesity Research Center (DK-056341) from the National Center for Research Resources (NCRR) and NIH Roadmap for Medical Research. Its contents are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official view of NIH or its Institutes.

References

Adamopoulos S, Parissis J, Karatzas D et al (2002) Physical training modulates proinflammatory cytokines and the soluble Fas/soluble Fas ligand system in patients with chronic heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 39:653–663

- American College of Sports Medicine (1998) American College of Sports Medicine Position Stand. The recommended quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory and muscular fitness, and flexibility in healthy adults. Med Sci Sports Exerc 30:975–991
- Barth PG, Scholte HR, Berden JA et al (1983) An X-linked mitochondrial disease affecting cardiac muscle, skeletal muscle and neutrophil leucocytes. J Neurol Sci 62:327–355
- Bartlo P (2007) Evidence-based application of aerobic and resistance training in patients with congestive heart failure. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev 27:368–375
- Belardinelli R, Georgiou D, Cianci G, Purcaro A (1999) Randomized, controlled trial of long-term moderate exercise training in chronic heart failure: effects on functional capacity, quality of life, and clinical outcome. Circulation 99:1173–1182
- Bongaerts GP, Wagener DJ (2007) Increased hepatic gluconeogenesis: the secret of Lance Armstrong's success. Med Hypotheses 68:9–11
- Cejudo P, Bautista J, Montemayor T et al (2005) Exercise training in mitochondrial myopathy: a randomized controlled trial. Muscle Nerve 32:342–350
- Chen YM, Li ZB, Zhu M, Cao YM (2012) Effects of exercise training on left ventricular remodelling in heart failure patients: an updated meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Int J Clin Pract 66:782–791
- Coats AJ, Adamopoulos S, Radaelli A et al (1992) Controlled trial of physical training in chronic heart failure. Exercise performance, hemodynamics, ventilation, and autonomic function. Circulation 85:2119–2131
- Conraads VM, Beckers P, Vaes J et al (2004) Combined endurance/ resistance training reduces NT-proBNP levels in patients with chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J 25:1797–1805
- Delagardelle C, Feiereisen P, Autier P, Shita R, Krecke R, Beissel J (2002) Strength/endurance training versus endurance training in congestive heart failure. Med Sci Sports Exerc 34: 1868–1872
- DeLorey DS, Kowalchuk JM, Paterson DH (2003) Relationship between pulmonary O2 uptake kinetics and muscle deoxygenation during moderate-intensity exercise. J Appl Physiol 95:113–120
- Finsterer J, Kothari S (2014) Cardiac manifestations of primary mitochondrial disorders. Int J Cardiol 177:754–763
- Giannuzzi P, Temporelli PL, Corra U, Tavazzi L (2003) Antiremodeling effect of long-term exercise training in patients with stable chronic heart failure: results of the Exercise in Left Ventricular Dysfunction and Chronic Heart Failure (ELVD-CHF) Trial. Circulation 108:554–559
- Grassi B, Pogliaghi S, Rampichini S et al (2003) Muscle oxygenation and pulmonary gas exchange kinetics during cycling exercise ontransitions in humans. J Appl Physiol 95:149–158
- Hambrecht R, Fiehn E, Yu J et al (1997) Effects of endurance training on mitochondrial ultrastructure and fiber type distribution in skeletal muscle of patients with stable chronic heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 29:1067–1073
- Hambrecht R, Fiehn E, Weigl C et al (1998) Regular physical exercise corrects endothelial dysfunction and improves exercise capacity in patients with chronic heart failure. Circulation 98: 2709–2715
- Iwasaki K, Zhang R, Zuckerman JH, Levine BD (2003) Dose–response relationship of the cardiovascular adaptation to endurance training in healthy adults: how much training for what benefit? J Appl Physiol 95:1575–1583
- Jeppesen TD, Schwartz M, Olsen DB et al (2006) Aerobic training is safe and improves exercise capacity in patients with mitochondrial myopathy. Brain 129:3402–3412

- Jeppesen TD, Duno M, Schwartz M et al (2009) Short- and long-term effects of endurance training in patients with mitochondrial myopathy. Eur J Neurol 16:1336–1339
- Minotti JR, Johnson EC, Hudson TL et al (1990) Skeletal muscle response to exercise training in congestive heart failure. J Clin Invest 86:751–758
- Myers J, Prakash M, Froelicher V, Do D, Partington S, Atwood JE (2002) Exercise capacity and mortality among men referred for exercise testing. N Engl J Med 346:793–801
- Nir A, Bar-Oz B, Perles Z, Brooks R, Korach A, Rein AJ (2004) N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide: reference plasma levels from birth to adolescence. Elevated levels at birth and in infants and children with heart diseases. Acta Paediatr 93: 603–607
- Rector TS, Kubo SH, Cohn JN (1993) Validity of the Minnesota Living with Heart Failure questionnaire as a measure of therapeutic response to enalapril or placebo. Am J Cardiol 71: 1106–1107
- Rector TS, Bank AJ, Mullen KA et al (1996) Randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled study of supplemental oral L-arginine in patients with heart failure. Circulation 93:2135–2141

- Scharhag-Rosenberger F, Meyer T, Walitzek S, Kindermann W (2009) Time course of changes in endurance capacity: a 1-yr training study. Med Sci Sports Exerc 41:1130–1137
- Spencer CT, Bryant RM, Day J et al (2006) Cardiac and clinical phenotype in Barth syndrome. Pediatrics 118:e337-e346
- Spencer CT, Byrne BJ, Bryant RM et al (2011) Impaired cardiac reserve and severely diminished skeletal muscle O(2) utilization mediate exercise intolerance in Barth syndrome. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 301:H2122–H2129
- Sullivan MJ, Higginbotham MB, Cobb FR (1988) Exercise training in patients with severe left ventricular dysfunction. Hemodynamic and metabolic effects. Circulation 78:506–515
- Taivassalo T, Shoubridge EA, Chen J et al (2001) Aerobic conditioning in patients with mitochondrial myopathies: physiological, biochemical, and genetic effects. Ann Neurol 50:133–141
- Taylor RS, Sagar VA, Davies EJ et al (2014) Exercise-based rehabilitation for heart failure. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 4: CD003331
- Tyni-Lenne R, Gordon A, Sylven C (1996) Improved quality of life in chronic heart failure patients following local endurance training with leg muscles. J Card Fail 2:111–117

RESEARCH REPORT

Hydroxysteroid 17-Beta Dehydrogenase Type 10 Disease in Siblings

Annely Richardson • Gerard T. Berry • Cheryl Garganta • Mary-Alice Abbott

Received: 07 December 2015 / Revised: 11 February 2016 / Accepted: 12 February 2016 / Published online: 14 June 2016 © SSIEM and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2016

Abstract Hydroxysteroid 17-beta dehydrogenase type 10 (HSD10) deficiency (HSD10 disease) is a rare X-linked neurodegenerative condition caused by abnormalities in the HSD17B10 gene. A total of 10 mutations have been reported in the literature since 2000. Described phenotypes include a severe neonatal or progressive infantile form with hypotonia, choreoathetosis, seizures, cardiomyopathy, neurodegeneration, and death, as well as an attenuated form with variable regression. Here we present the second report of a c.194T>C (p.V65A) mutation in two half-brothers with a clinical phenotype characterized by neurodevelopmental delay, choreoathetosis, visual loss, cardiac findings, and behavioral abnormalities, with regressions now noted in the older sibling. Neither has experienced a metabolic crisis. Both of the siblings had normal tandem mass spectroscopy analysis of their newborn screening samples. The older brother's phenotype may be complicated by the presence of a 3q29 microduplication. Diagnosis requires a high index of suspicion, as the characteristic urine organic acid pattern may escape detection. The exact pathogenic mechanism of disease remains to be elucidated, but may involve the non-dehydrogenase functionalities of the HSD10 protein. Our report highlights clinical features of two patients with the less fulminant phenotype associated

Communicated by: Johannes Häberle

A. Richardson (⊠) · M.-A. Abbott
 Department of Pediatrics, Baystate Children's Hospital, Springfield,
 MA 01199, USA

e-mail: annely.richardsonMD@baystatehealth.org

G.T. Berry Boston Children's Hospital, Boston, MA 02115, USA

C. Garganta University of Florida, Gainesville, FL 32611, USA with a V65A mutation, compares the reported phenotypes to date, and reviews recent findings regarding the potential pathophysiology of this condition.

Summary Sentence Hydroxysteroid 17-beta dehydrogenase type 10 (HSD10) disease (HSD10 disease) is a rare X-linked neurodegenerative condition with a variable clinical phenotype; diagnosis requires a high index of suspicion.

Introduction

Hydroxysteroid 17-beta dehydrogenase type 10 (HSD10) is a multifunctional NAD⁺-dependent mitochondrial enzyme involved in the degradation of isoleucine, metabolism of neuroactive steroids, and processing of mitochondrial tRNA transcripts (Yang et al. 2011; Zschocke 2012). It is encoded by the 3.11 kb *HSD17B10* gene, located on chromosome Xp11.2. The encoded protein, HSD10, is a 261 amino acid, 27 kDa protein which combines to form a 108 kDa homotetramer. It is the only 17-beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase located in the mitochondria, and has a versatile active site that acts on a variety of substrates, including 17-beta-estradiol, allopregnanolone, isoleucine, fatty acids, bile acids, and xenobiotics (Holzmann et al. 2008; Yang et al. 2011).

HSD10 has been implicated in both childhood and adultonset neurodegenerative conditions, such as HSD10 disease, MRXS10 disease, Alzheimer disease, and multiple sclerosis (Lenski et al. 2007; Yang et al. 2014). Missense mutations in the *HSD17B10* gene lead to HSD10 disease, a rare X-linked condition characterized by neurodegeneration, progressive visual impairment, choreoathetosis, and cardiomyopathy (Zschocke 2012). While primarily affecting males, variable X-inactivation has been described, leading to broad phenotypic expression in carrier females (Yang et al. 2013a). The first case of HSD10 disease was reported in 2000 by Zschocke et al. who described a 14month-old boy with progressive cognitive and motor regression, choreoathetoid movements, loss of vision, and death at 3.5 years of age after developing intractable epilepsy (Ofman et al. 2003; Zschocke et al. 2000).

Disease pathogenicity was initially thought to be related to HSD10's function in isoleucine metabolism, as this enzyme is known to catalyze the 2-methyl-3-hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenation (MHBD) reaction in isoleucine metabolism. Those with HSD10 disease have elevated urine levels of 2-methyl-3-hydroxybutyrate and tiglylglycine, without increase in 2-methylacetoacetate as would be seen in beta-ketothiolase deficiency (Korman 2006). Unlike beta-ketothiolase deficiency, which is characterized by intermittent episodes of ketoacidosis often associated with illness, HSD10 disease follows a pattern of progressive neurodegeneration that is unresponsive to dietary or other intervention (Ofman et al. 2003; Yang et al. 2014). Pathogenicity is thought to be related either to an impaired role in metabolizing neuroactive steroids, such as 17-beta estradiol and allopregnanolone (Yang et al. 2007, 2009), and/or impaired processing of mitochondrial tRNA and mitochondrial dysfunction (Rauschenberger et al. 2010), as HSD10 is an essential component of mitochondrial ribonuclease (RNase) P (Holzmann et al. 2008).

Subsequent case reports identified another four patients with similar clinical features and metabolic profiles (Ensenauer et al. 2002; Sutton et al. 2003; Poll-The et al. 2004; Sass et al. 2004). Genetic analysis confirmed pathogenic missense mutations in the HSD17B10 gene in these patients (Ofman et al. 2003). Over the past decade, a total of 10 missense mutations have been identified in about 20 cases of HSD10 disease (Yang et al. 2013b; Zschocke 2012). Whereas approximately 50% of these cases are associated with one common missense mutation, c.388C>T (p.R130C), other mutations have been reported as well. Less fulminant courses have been described, associated with the E249Q, L122V, Q165H, A145T, and V65A mutations (Olpin et al. 2002; Poll-The et al. 2004; Rauschenberger et al. 2010; Fukao et al. 2014; Seaver et al. 2011). In particular, the V65A mutation was reported by Seaver in 2011 in a case of a 10-year-old male with refractory epilepsy, choreoathetosis, ataxia, visual loss, and developmental regression with onset at approximately 2–3 years of life (Seaver et al. 2011). Here we present the second report of a V65A mutation in HSD17B10 occurring in two half-brothers with neurodevelopmental delay, unusual movements, autistic features, and progressive visual loss.

Case History

A now 7-year-old male was referred at 19 months of age due to a family history of intellectual disability, visual impairment, and microduplication (dup 3q29). He was born at term without complications. Birthmother admitted to consuming alcohol during early pregnancy. Urine toxicology screen was negative. Hearing screen via otoacoustic emission was normal. Newborn screen by tandem mass spectroscopy (which included assessment for beta-ketothiolase deficiency and may detect deficiencies in 2-methyl-3hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase) was normal. He had two hospitalizations for bronchiolitis prior to the age of 7 months, the latter of which was complicated by Klebsiella urosepsis and probable endocarditis with Wolff-Parkinson-White (WPW) syndrome and mild left ventricular hypertrophy. After treatment with gentamicin, a hearing test identified sensorineural hearing loss. At 19 months of age he was noted to have delays in speech, fine motor, and social skills with some regression in social functioning. Chromosome microarray was normal, excluding the familial microdeletion, and Fragile X testing was normal. By 5 years of age he was having staring spells, had low truncal tone, and had been diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder with delays in speech, social skills, and toilet training. EEG revealed benign Rolandic epilepsy. Brain MRI was normal. Eye examination revealed pale optic nerves with foveal changes, suggestive of incomplete stationary night blindness. At about 7 years of age, he began to experience exertion-related spells of pallor, collapse, and near loss-of-consciousness felt to be related to WPW. Repeat echocardiogram showed increased left ventricular hyperplasia with mild diastolic dysfunction. In one of two urine organic acid analysis samples there was a characteristic pattern of elevated 2-methyl-3-hydroxybutyric acid and tiglyglycine without elevation of 2-methylacetoacetic acid, typical of HSD10 disease. A hemizygous c.194T>C (p.V65A) mutation in exon 3 of the HSD17B10 gene was identified, confirming a diagnosis of HSD10 disease (Table 1). Given the lack of known treatment, and the clinical similarity to disorders of mitochondrial function (Rauschenberger et al. 2010), he was prescribed a "mitochondrial cocktail," including coenzyme Q, Vitamins B1, B2, C, and E, acetylcysteine, and selenium, as well as digestive enzymes and probiotics. There has been subjective behavioral improvement noted by his family and teachers, but quantitative evidence for treatment effect has not been obtained. No further regressions have been observed.

Table 1	Reported pathoger	iic mutations in tl	he HSD17B10 gene							
Patient	Genotype	Age of onset	Neurological findings	Developmental Findings	Regression (deceased)	Growth retardation	Visual loss	Hearing loss	Abnormal UOA	Reference
I-1 (F, adult)	c.194T>C (obligate), (p.V65A)	Unknown	Unknown	Learning difficulties in college	No	No	Unknown	Unknown	Unknown	N/A
II-1 (M, 7 years)	c.194T>C (p. V65A)	18 months	Hypotonia; benign Rolandic epilepsy; autism spectrum	Speech delay; behavioral issues	Progressive visual loss	No	Yes	Yes ^a	Yes	N/A
II-2 (M, 20 years)	c.194T>C, (p.V65A)	18 months	Decreased white matter volume of occipital lobes; cognitive impairment; choreoathetosis	Global developmental delays	Progressive visual loss	No	Yes	No	Yes	N/A
Number o	of reported cases				Regression					
One case	c.194T>C; p. V65A	2-3 years	Ataxia; choreoathetosis; dysarthria; seizures; hypotonia	Moderate cognitive and mild social impairments	Yes	No	Yes	Unknown	Yes	Seaver et al. (2011)
One case	c:745G>C; p. E249Q	6 years	Gait abnormality; dysarthria; hyperreflexia; dystonic posturing with upper extremity tremor; behavioral difficulties	Regression of verbal and motor skills	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	Olpin et al. (2002) (mutation info by Yang et al. (2009))
One Case	c.257A>G; p. D86G	Neonatal	Absent neurological development	N/A	No	No	Unknown	Unknown	Unknown	Rauschenberger et al. (2010)
One case	c.364C>G; p. L122V	Prior to 13 months	Broad-based gait; spastic paraparesis; increased lateral ventricle size; increased white matter perivascular spaces	Verbal and motor delays	No	No	Unknown	No	Yes	Poll-The et al. (2004) (mutation info: Ofman et al. (2003))
Ten cases	c.388C>T, p. R130C	Birth to 15 months	Motor regression; choreoathetosis; epilepsy; slight frontotemporal atrophy	Relatively normal development followed by progressive loss of milestones	Yes for males (death w/in several years of onset); no for females	No	Yes	No	Yes	Zschocke et al. (2000), Ensenauer et al. (2002) (mutation info: Offman et al. (2003)), Sutton et al. (2003), Sass et al. (2004) (mutation info: Zschocke (2012)), Carzola et al. (2005, 2009), Zschocke (2012)
										(continued)

JIMD Reports

Table 1 (c	ontinued)									
Patient	Genotype	Age of onset	Neurological findings	Developmental Findings	Regression (deceased)	Growth retardation	Visual loss	Hearing loss	Abnormal UOA	Reference
One case	c.460G>A; p. A154T	6 years	Slightly below normal neurological development; normal MRI brain	Mildly delayed gross motor skills; difficulty with fine motor skills	No	°N	No	No	Yes	Fukao et al. (2014)
One case	c.495A>C; p. 0165H	Not reported	Microcephaly	Growth retardation	No	Yes	Unknown	Unknown	Unknown	Rauschenberger et al. (2010)
Two cases	c.628C>T; p. P210S	3 months	Hypotonia	Developmental regression	Yes	No	Yes	Unknown	Unknown	Garcia-Villoria et al. (2009)
One case	c.677G>A; p. 0226R	1 day old	Myoclonus; seizures	Developmental regression	Yes (deceased at 7 months)	No	Unknown	Unknown	Unknown	Garcia-Villoria et al. (2009)
Three cases	c.740A>G; p. N247S	0-4 months	Ataxia, hyperkinetic behavior, myoclonus during stress	Psychomotor and speech delay	Yes for males (both deceased in infancy); no for female	No	Unknown	Yes	Yes	Garcia-Villoria et al. (2005), Chatfield et al. (2015)
Two cases	Silent mutation: c.574C>A; p.R192R (MRXS10)	1 month	Axial hypotonia; choreoathetosis; dysarthria; wide-based gait; lumbar lordosis	Motor delays	Unknown	No	No	Unknown	Unknown	Reyniers et al. (1999), Lenski et al. (2007)
Eight cases	Duplication Xp11.22	Unknown	hypotonic mouth; dysarthria; moderate intellectual disability; short attention span	Cognitive and speech delays	Unknown	No	Unknown	Unknown	Unknown	Froyen et al. (2008)

^a Noted after exposure to gentamicin

28

 $\underline{\textcircled{O}}$ Springer

His older maternal half-brother, now 20 years old, had onset of global developmental delays, visual impairment, and behavioral disturbances with autistic features at a similar age as our proband. His history is also significant for cryptorchidism, left inguinal hernia, and mild dysmorphisms (coarse facial features, inverted nipples). His cognitive functioning is at the approximate level of a 2-3year old. His visual difficulties were progressive and he is now legally blind. Full ophthalmological assessment is significant for myopia and progressive macular degeneration, with prolonged VEP responses consistent with optic nerve atrophy. He achieved walking at 2 years of age, but began to experience choreoathetoid movements during his childhood. These movements were more pronounced with ambulation and most prominent in his upper extremities, but also involved his face and lower extremities. With time, these movements have become nearly constant and are accompanied by intermittent dystonic posturing. By 19 years of age his gait had become slow, spastic, and shuffling with lower extremity hyperreflexia and sustained ankle clonus. More recently, he has experienced increasing difficulties with dystonia, thought due to a combination of side effects of psychiatric medication for aggression and his underlying HSD10 disease. An extensive work-up over the years, including plasma amino acids, urine amino acids, mitochondrial encephalopathy profile (including MELAS, MERRF, and NARP), 2-methylglutaconic acid, and testing for Leber Hereditary Optic Neuropathy were all normal. Free and total carnitine were mildly depressed. Chromosome microarray analysis identified a 3q29 microduplication, a finding known to be associated with mild to moderate cognitive impairment and mild dysmorphic features. EEG was normal. Brain MRI obtained at 8 years of age showed no structural abnormality, but decreased white matter volume of occipital lobes. Repeat MRI at 20 years of age showed progression of cerebral volume loss with increased ventricular size. Echocardiogram was normal at 17 years of age, but by 20 years of age showed decreased left ventricular size with moderate to severe concentric thickening. The characteristic HSD10 pattern was detectable on urine organic acid analysis; however, the findings were subtle and could have been consistent with recent ketosis. Analysis of the HSD17B10 gene revealed the same hemizygous c.194T>C (p.V65A) mutation as seen in his younger half-brother.

The older brother's full sister shares his 3q29 microduplication, but not his *HSD17B10* gene mutation. She is a high school graduate with only mild cognitive disability. Their birthmother, a presumed carrier of the 3q29 microduplication and the HSD10 mutation, graduated from high school, but was diagnosed with learning problems and is reported to have "autism."

Discussion

HSD10 disease is a rare X-linked condition characterized by neurodevelopmental regression, choreoathetoid movements, hypotonia, progressive visual loss, hearing impairment, and seizures (Zschocke 2012). Despite few case reports (Table 1), a broad phenotypic spectrum has been described, ranging from a fatal neonatal form, to a rapidly progressive neurodegenerative infantile form, to an attenuated form lacking regression (Zschocke 2012). The severe R130C mutation accounts for approximately 50% of reported cases of HSD10 disease, possibly due to the presence of a hypermutable 5-methylcytosine prone to deamination (Yang et al. 2013b).

Here we describe the second case(s) of HSD10 disease associated with the V65A mutation first described by Seaver et al. (2011). The c.194T>C (p.V65A) mutation in HSD17B10 results in the substitution in amino acid of an alanine for a valine in the HSD active site, which weakens interaction with NAD+. Our cases contribute important information regarding the V65A mutation phenotype, which is associated with a less fulminant clinical course than the more prevalent c.388C>T (p.R130C) mutation. Whereas R130C mutations generally result in severe neonatal or progressive infantile neurodegeneration with hypotonia, choreoathetosis, seizures, and death within a few years of onset, the V65A mutation causes a more prolonged course. The V65A phenotypes described here and by Seaver et al. (2011) share the features of abnormal choreoathetoid movements, dystonia, neurocognitive abnormalities, and progressive visual impairment, but lack the rapid deterioration described in individuals with the R130C mutation. Cardiomyopathy is a feature of the severe form of HSD10 disease (Zschocke 2012), and cardiac involvement, found in both of our patients, may be part of the expanded phenotype in attenuated cases. The neurodevelopmental regression in HSD10 disease appears variable, although regressions have become apparent in our older patient. Visual loss with myopia and bilateral optic nerve pallor is a common feature among all three V65A cases, as are social delays and abnormal choreoathetoid movements. The presence of hearing loss, autistic features and seizures are variably present (Table 1).

Interestingly, there appears to be a similar but distinct disorder, MRXS10 syndrome (OMIM #300220), caused by the silent c.574C>A (p.R192R) mutation. This mutation is associated with cognitive difficulties and choreoathetosis with normal vision. This abnormal HSD10 protein has essentially normal activity in catalyzing the MHBD reaction, but the amount of protein expression is reduced to approximately 60–70% (Lenski et al. 2007; Reyniers et al. 1999). Urine organic acid analysis was not reported.

Whereas HSD10 protein amount is reduced in MRXS10 syndrome, microduplication of the *HSD17B10* gene leads to higher protein levels and mild to moderate cognitive difficulties, dysarthria and shortened attention spans, without regression, choreoathetosis, or reported visual impairment (Froyen et al. 2008).

Researchers have tried to correlate clinical phenotype with residual HSD10 activity in the MHBD reaction of isoleucine metabolism, but the data appear variable and inconclusive (Yang et al. 2013b); R130C with 0-14% MHBD enzymatic residual activity, L122V with 25.4% residual activity, V65A with 50.5% residual activity, and R192R with 60-70% residual activity. Other mutations do not follow this trend: Rauschenberger describes a boy with a Q165H mutation and complete loss of MHBD enzymatic activity (<3% residual activity), who has normal neurologic development in the context of failure to thrive and microcephaly, and contrasts this with a case of a D86G mutation having 30% residual MHBD activity and a severe neonatal presentation that is fatal (Rauschenberger et al. 2010). Thus, impairment of the MHBD function does not appear to consistently correlate with the clinical phenotype of HSD10 disease.

Although a specific mechanism for the pathogenicity of HSD10 abnormalities remains elusive, researchers have been examining its function in mitochondrial ribonuclease (RNase) P (Deutschmann et al. 2014; Rauschenberger et al. 2010), and its role in the metabolism of neuroactive steroids (Yang et al. 2014). The HSD17B10 gene encodes one of the three protein components of RNase P, an essential component of post-translational mitochondrial RNA processing (Holzmann et al. 2008). Variable disruption of mitochondrial morphology in cultured fibroblasts containing the Q165H, D86G, and R130C mutations has been demonstrated (Rauschenberger et al. 2010), with the amount of disruption being significantly higher in the more severe versus attenuated clinical phenotypes (Rauschenberger et al. 2010). A recent study of post-mortem tissue confirmed disrupted mitochondrial architecture and showed evidence of abnormal mitochondrial RNA processing, with markedly increased levels of unprocessed mitochondrial RNA in affected tissues (Chatfield et al. 2015). Such findings support the developing hypothesis that HSD10 disease is primarily related to an impairment of mitochondrial function.

The HSD10 protein also plays a vital role in the metabolism of neuroactive steroids, including allopregnanolone, an important modulator in gamma-aminobutyric acid type A (GABA_A) receptor functioning (Yang et al. 2009, 2014). Elevated levels of HSD10 negatively affect GABA_A receptor functionality. Interestingly, HSD10 amount is increased in Alzheimer disease, Down syndrome, and multiple sclerosis (Yang et al. 2014), all of which are associated with neurocognitive abnormalities. The clinical characterization of our proband's older brother and their mother is complicated by the presence of a microduplication at chromosome 3q29 not present in the proband. The sister serves as a case control. 3q29 duplication syndrome is typically characterized by mild to moderate cognitive difficulties and microcephaly (Lisi et al. 2008). In the family presented here, the sister has the 3q29 microduplication and not the HSD10 mutation, and has minimal cognitive disabilities. Although we have considered the possible contribution of this microduplication in the older brother's neurocognitive disabilities, we believe that this is not the primary etiology underlying his significant global developmental delays, progressive visual disability, cardiac findings, abnormal neurologic exam and movements, and recently progressive course.

The diagnosis of HSD10 disease can be facilitated by urine organic acid analysis, which typically reveals elevated levels of intermediate metabolites of isoleucine metabolism (2-methyl-3-hydroxybutyrate and tiglylglycine). Unfortunately, the findings may be subtle, absent, or present only during times of metabolic stress. The pattern may mimic that of beta-ketothiolase deficiency (the next step in isoleucine metabolism), however, the absence of elevations in 2-methylacetoacetate excludes that diagnosis. Addition of an isoleucine load 6 h prior to measurement of urine organic acids can improve detection of HDS10 disease, particularly in carrier females, in whom diagnosis may require assessment of an additional metabolite, 2-ethylhydracrylic acid, to make the diagnosis (Garcia-Villoria et al. 2009). Acylcarnitine profile may also be abnormal, with possible elevations of C5:1 or C5-OH species (Fukao et al. 2014; Garcia-Villoria et al. 2005; Sass et al. 2004; Zschocke et al. 2000). Diagnosis is confirmed by identification of a disease-causing mutation in the HSD17B10 gene. Though some states' newborn screening includes beta-ketothiolase deficiency in their panel of assessed conditions, it is important to note that tandem mass spectroscopy assessment of newborn screen samples in our patients was normal on initial and/or post-diagnosis reanalysis.

No standard or proven treatments options for HSD10 disease have been identified to date. As the disease pathogenesis appears independent of the enzyme's role in isoleucine metabolism, it is not surprising that dietary restriction does not ameliorate symptom progression (Ofman et al. 2003).

Conclusion

We present the second reported instance(s) of a c.194T>C (p.V65A) mutation in the *HSD17B10* gene causing HSD10 disease in two maternally related half-brothers. This
mutation is associated with an attenuated phenotype compared to the classic infantile form of HSD10 disease. Our report highlights the ophthalmologic, neurologic, cardiac, and behavioral aspects of this specific mutation as well as the subtleties of detection and diagnosis of this rare disease, which has characteristic but variably present metabolic features. Current newborn screening protocols are unlikely to detect this condition, and diagnosis requires a high index of suspicion. Pharmacologic or dietary interventions to reverse or slow the progressive nature of this complex multisystemic disease will require a better understanding of the enzymatic and cellular roles of this multifunctional protein.

Acknowledgements We would like to thank Dr. Inderneel Sahai for her assistance with newborn blood spot (re)analysis.

Compliance with Ethical Guidelines

Neither this work nor any similar work has been submitted for previous or simultaneous publication. The above authors have substantially contributed to the analysis of these cases and the writing or revision of the included manuscript and agree to its submission for publication.

Annely Richardson – primary author, consolidated the case material for presentation, performed thorough literature review, wrote and edited the final manuscript for publication

Gerard T. Berry – provided metabolic genetics clinical consultation for these patients as well as expert analysis and critique of manuscript

Cheryl Garganta – provided expert analysis of clinical and laboratory data, and critique of the manuscript

Mary-Alice Abbott – primary geneticist of the patients described, initiated and supervised all aspects of the cases, data analysis, literature review, manuscript preparation, and final editing

Informed Consent

The patients and their guardians discussed provided their informed consent and permission to have their medical information discussed in this manuscript. Written documentation of verbal consent is available on request.

Conflict of Interest

Annely Richardson, Gerard T. Berry, Cheryl Garganta, and Mary-Alice Abbott declare that they have no conflict of interest.

31

References

- Carzola MR, Verdu A, Perez-Cerda C, Ribes A (2007) Neuroimage findings in 2-methyl-3-hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency. Pediatr Neurol 36:24–27
- Chatfield KE, Coughlin CR, Friederich MW et al (2015) Mitochondrial energy failure in HSD10 disease is due to defective mtDNA transcript processing. Mitochondrion 21:1–10
- Deutschmann AJ, Amberger A, Zavadil C et al (2014) Mutation or knock-down of 17 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 10 cause loss of MRPP1 and impaired processing of mitochondrial heavy strand transcripts. Hum Mol Genet 23:3618–3628
- Ensenauer R, Niederhoff H, Ruiter JP, Wanders RJ, Schwab KO, Brandis M, Lehnert W (2002) Clinical variability in 3-hydroxy-2-methylbutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency. Ann Neurol 51:656–659
- Froyen G, Corbett M, Vandewall J, Jarvela I et al (2008) Submicroscopic duplications of the hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase HSD17B10 and the E3 ubiquitin ligase HUWE1 are associated with mental retardation. Am J Hum Genet 82:432–443
- Fukao R, Akiba K, Goto M, Kuwayama N et al (2014) The first case in Asia of 2-methyl-3-hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency (HSD10 disease) with atypical presentation. J Hum Genet 59:609–614
- Garcia-Villoria J, Ofman R, Ruiz Sala P et al (2005) 2-Methyl-3hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase (MHBD) deficiency: an Xlinked inborn error of isoleucine metabolism that may mimic a mitochondrial disease. Pediatr Res 58:488–491
- Garcia-Villoria J, Navarro-Sastre A, Fons C et al (2009) Study of patients and carriers with 2-methyl-3-hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase (MHBD) deficiency: difficulties in the diagnosis. Clin Biochem 42:27–33
- Holzmann J, Frank P, Loeffler E, Bennett KL, Gerner C, Rossmanith W (2008) RNase P without RNA: identification and functional reconstitution of the human mitochondrial tRNA processing enzyme. Cell 135:462–474
- Korman SH (2006) Inborn errors of isoleucine degradation: a review. Mol Genet Metab 89:289–299
- Lenski C, Kooy RF, Reyniers E et al (2007) The reduced expression of the HADH2 protein causes X-linked mental retardation, choreoathetosis, and abnormal behavior. Am J Hum Genet 80:372–377
- Lisi EC, Hamosh A, Doheny KF et al (2008) 3q29 Interstitial microduplication: a new syndrome in a three-generation family. Am J Med Genet 146A:601–609
- Ofman R, Ruiter JP, Feenstra M et al (2003) 2-methyl-3-hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency is caused by mutations in the HADH2 gene. Am J Hum Genet 72:1300–1307
- Olpin SE, Pollitt RJ, McMenamin J et al (2002) 2-Methyl-3hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency in a 23-year-old man. J Inherit Metab Dis 25:477–482
- Poll-The BT, Wanders RJ, Ruiter JP, Ofman R, Majoie CB, Barth PG, Duran M (2004) Spastic diplegia and periventricular white matter abnormalities in 2-methyl-3-hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency, a defect of isoleucine metabolism: differential diagnosis with hypoxic-ischemic brain diseases. Mol Genet Metab 81:295–299
- Rauschenberger K, Schoeler K, Sass JO et al (2010) A non-enzymatic function of 17 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 10 is required for mitochondrial integrity and cell survival. EMBO Mol Med 2:51–62
- Reyniers E, Van Bogaert P, Peeters N et al (1999) A new neurological syndrome with mental retardation, choreoathetosis, and abnormal

behavior maps to chromosome Xp11. Am J Hum Genet 65:1406-1412

- Sass JO, Forstner R, Sperl W (2004) 2-Methyl-3-hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency: impaired catabolism of isoleucine presenting as neurodegenerative disease. Brain Dev 26:12–14
- Seaver LH, He XY, Abe K et al (2011) A novel mutation in the HSD17B10 gene of a 10-year-old boy with refractory epilepsy, choreoathetosis and learning disability. PLoS One 6:e27348
- Sutton VR, O'Brien WE, Clark GD, Kim J, Wanders RJ (2003) 3-Hydroxy-2-methylbutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency. J Inherit Metab Dis 26:69–71
- Yang SY, He XY, Miller D (2007) HSD17B10: a gene involved in cognitive function through metabolism of isoleucine and neuroactive steroids. Mol Genet Metab 92:36–42
- Yang SY, He XY, Olpin SE et al (2009) Mental retardation linked to mutations in the HSD17B10 gene interfering with neurosteroid and isoleucine metabolism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:14820–14824

- Yang SY, He XY, Miller D (2011) Hydroxysteroid (17 beta) dehydrogenase X in human health and disease. Mol Cell Endocrinol 343:1–6
- Yang SY, Dobkin C, He XY, Brown WT (2013a) Transcription start sites and epigenetic analysis of the HSD17B10 proximal promoter. BMC Biochem 14:17–23
- Yang SY, Dobkin C, He XY, Philipp M, Brown WT (2013b) A 5methylcytosine hotspot responsible for the prevalent HSD17B10 mutation. Gene 515:380–384
- Yang SY, He XY, Isaacs C, Dobkin C, Miller D, Philipp M (2014) Roles of 17 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 10 in neurodegenerative disorders. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 143:460–472
- Zschocke J (2012) HSD10 disease: clinical consequences of mutations in the HSD17B10 gene. J Inherit Metab Dis 35:81–89
- Zschocke J, Ruiter JP, Brand J et al (2000) Progressive infantile neurodegeneration caused by 2-methyl-3-hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency: a novel inborn error of branched-chain fatty acid and isoleucine metabolism. Pediatr Res 48:852–855

RESEARCH REPORT

Reliable Diagnosis of Carnitine Palmitoyltransferase Type IA Deficiency by Analysis of Plasma Acylcarnitine Profiles

M. Rebecca Heiner-Fokkema • Frédéric M. Vaz • Ronald Maatman • Leo A.J. Kluijtmans • Francjan J. van Spronsen • Dirk-Jan Reijngoud

Received: 19 December 2015 / Revised: 25 March 2016 / Accepted: 29 March 2016 / Published online: 14 June 2016 © SSIEM and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2016

Abstract *Background*: Carnitine palmitoyltransferase IA (CPT-IA) deficiency is an inherited disorder of the carnitine cycle (MIM #255120). Patients affected by this deficiency might be missed easily because of lack of specific and sensitive biochemical markers. In this study, sensitivity and specificity of plasma free carnitine (C0) and long-chain acylcarnitines (lc-ac: C16:0-, C16:1-, C18:0-, C18:1- and C18:2-ac) was evaluated, including the sum of lc-ac ($\sum lc-ac$) and the molar ratios C0/(C16:0-ac+C18:0-ac) and C0/ $\sum lc-ac$.

Methods: Nine plasma acylcarnitine profiles of 4 CPT-IA deficient patients were compared with profiles of 2,190 subjects suspected of or diagnosed with an inherited

Communicated by: Jörn Oliver Sass	
Competing interests: None declared	

M.R. Heiner-Fokkema (⊠) · D.-J. Reijngoud Department of Laboratory Medicine, Laboratory of Metabolic Diseases, University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Room Y2.125, HPA EA60, P.O. Box 30.001, NL-9700 RB Groningen, The Netherlands e-mail: m.r.heiner@umcg.nl

F.M. Vaz

Department of Clinical Chemistry and Pediatrics, Laboratory of Metabolic Diseases, Academic Medical Center, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

R. Maatman

Medlon BV, Enschede, The Netherlands

L.A.J. Kluijtmans

Department of Laboratory Medicine, Translational Metabolic Laboratory, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Center, Nijmegen, The Netherlands

F.J. van Spronsen

Division of Metabolic Diseases, University Medical Center Groningen, University of Groningen, Beatrix Children's Hospital, Groningen, The Netherlands disorder of metabolism. Age-dependent reference values were calculated based on the patient population without a definite diagnosis of an inborn error of metabolism (n = 1,600). Sensitivity, specificity, and Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curves were calculated based on samples of the whole patient population.

Results: Concentrations of C0 in plasma were normal in all CPT-IA deficient patient samples. ROC analyses showed highest diagnostic values for C18:0-ac, C18:1-ac, and \sum lc-ac (AUC 1.000) and lowest for C0 (AUC 0.738). Combining two markers, i.e., a plasma C18:1-ac concentration <0.05 µmol/L and a molar ratio of C0/(C16:0-ac +C18:0-ac) >587, specificity to diagnose CPT-IA deficiency increased to 99.3% compared with either C18:1-ac (97.4%) or C0/(C16:0-ac+C18:0-ac) (96.9%) alone, all at a sensitivity of 100%.

Conclusions: Combination of a low concentration of C18:1-ac with a high molar ratio of C0/(C16:0-ac+C18:0-ac) ratio in plasma has high diagnostic value for CPT-IA deficiency. Patients with a clinical suspicion of CPT-IA deficiency can be diagnosed with this test combination.

Background

Carnitine palmitoyltransferase IA (CPTIA, EC# 2.3.1.21) deficiency is a rare autosomal recessively inherited disorder of the carnitine cycle (MIM #255120) (Bonnefont et al. 2004). This enzyme is essential for transport of long-chain fatty acyl-CoA esters into mitochondria for subsequent beta-oxidation. It is located in the outer mitochondrial membrane and catalyzes the conversion of cytosolic long-chain acyl-CoA esters into their respective acylcarnitine

esters. Acylcarnitines are subsequently transported across the inner mitochondrial membrane and reconverted to acyl-CoA thioesters by the actions of carnitine/acylcarnitine translocase (CACT, SLC25A20) and carnitine palmitoyltransferase II (CPTII, EC# 2.3.1.21). Loss of CPT-IA activity diminishes the intra-mitochondrial substrate levels for fatty acid beta-oxidation, thereby impairing energy generation (Bonnefont et al. 2004). Clinical symptoms often appear during periods of prolonged fasting or illness. Life-threatening hypoketotic hypoglycemia, hepatic encephalopathy, hepatomegaly with or without acute liver failure, seizures, and coma are prominent presenting clinical features. Mild cardiomegaly and heart beat disorders may be part of the clinical spectrum, as well as renal tubular acidosis (Bonnefont et al. 2004).

Classically, high plasma concentrations of free carnitine (C0) were considered diagnostic (Bonnefont et al. 2004; Stanley et al. 1992). It became, however, increasingly clear that this diagnostic parameter is problematic and that the diagnosis could be easily overlooked since quite often the concentration of C0 in plasma was found to be normal (Bergman 1994; Bonnefont et al. 2004; Innes et al. 2000; Primassin and Spiekerkoetter 2010; de Sain-van der Velden et al. 2013). It has been suggested that a high concentration of C0 in blood spot is more sensitive than its concentration in plasma (Primassin and Spiekerkoetter 2010; de Sain-van der Velden et al. 2013; Sim et al. 2001). This could be debated. Fingerhut et al. (2001) investigated the concentrations of C0 and acylcarnitines in 6 blood spot samples of 3 patients diagnosed with CPT-IA deficiency (2 days to 12 months old) and compared the results with those of 177,842 samples from the central Bavarian newborn-screening program. Blood spot C0 concentrations were normal in two of three patients. Diagnostic accuracy improved considerably in these patients when the molar ratio of C0/ (C16:0-ac+C18:0-ac) was used (Fingerhut et al. 2001). In the most commonly used matrix, i.e., plasma, this ratio might have high sensitivity as well (de Sain-van der Velden et al. 2013). Unfortunately, the specificity of this marker is currently unknown.

To gain insight in the sensitivity and specificity of biochemical markers of CPT-IA deficiency, acylcarnitines in plasma of patients with proven CPT-IA deficiency were compared with those of patients in our historical dataset.

Methods

(Acyl-) carnitines in nine plasma samples of four patients with enzymatically and genetically confirmed CPT-IA deficiency were analyzed in three hospital laboratories, using comparable analytical methods. Blood spot acylcarnitines were available for three patients. The plasma results were compared with the historical dataset of 2,190 subjects of whom samples were analyzed in one of our laboratories between 2006 and 2012, (2,194 including the samples of 4 CPT-IA deficient patients). Only analyses of the first sample presented to our laboratories were included. The need for formal ethical review was waived by the local ethics committee. The study design was in accordance with the current revision of the Helsinki Declaration.

Samples were prepared according to local standard operating procedures. In short, plasma was deproteinized with acetonitrile. Subsequently, 6 deuterium-labeled internal standards in methanol/H₂O were added and samples were analyzed by flow-injection tandem-mass spectrometry (API-3000, AB Sciex, Framingham, USA). Concentrations of C0 and the individual acylcarnitines were quantitated by multiple reaction monitoring. C0 by an m/z transition of 162->103 and acylcarnitines by selected precursor ions with m/z 85 as the common product ion, as described earlier by Derks et al. (2008). For free carnitine, a daughtermass with an m/z 103 was chosen because it had a higher intensity than the m/z 85 fragment. Data evaluation was performed with Chemoview[®] 3.0 software (AB Sciex, Framingham, USA).

Reference values were calculated using a reference population, consisting of 1,600 subjects out of the total population of 2,194 subjects. The other 594 samples derived from subjects diagnosed with an inborn error of metabolism, mainly fatty acid oxidation disorders, organic acidurias, phenylketonuria, glycogen storage diseases, and urea cycle defect, or originated from subjects who underwent a function test, i.e., fasting, glucose tolerance, or exercise tests. Concentrations of C18:1-ac and C16:0-ac are relatively high compared to the other long-chain acylcarnitines (lc-ac) (see, e.g., Table 1). It was decided to study C0, lc-ac (C16:0-, C16:1-, C18:0-, C18:1-, and C18:2-ac), the sum of lc-ac (Σ lc-ac), and the molar ratios C0/(C16:0-ac +C18:0-ac) and C0/ Σ lc-ac. Age-dependency of these biochemical markers was investigated in the reference population by Spearman rank tests (significant p < 0.05). For each established age category, 95% reference intervals were based on 2.5 and 97.5% percentiles (non-Gaussian distributed metabolites). Normality was assessed using Shapiro–Wilk tests (significant p < 0.05). Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curves were generated from results of patients with CPT-IA deficiency versus all (age-matched) subjects in the total cohort. The values of the biochemical markers to diagnose CPT-IA deficiency were compared using the areas under the curve (AUC). Sensitivity and specificity were calculated at 95% reference limits; sensitivity = true positives (TP)/(TP+false negatives (FN))and specificity = true negatives (TN)/(TN+false positives)(FP)). Analyses were done using Excel 2007 and Analyse-it 2008 (Analyse-it software, Ltd).

Reference values							ROC analysis			
	0-7 da (n = 1)	iys 69)	8-30 c (n = 1)	lays 06)	31 days $(n = 1,, n = 1)$	and older 325)	31 days and older ($n =$	= 1,803 su	bjects + po	atients)
	P2.5	P97.5	P2.5	P97.5	P2.5	P97.5	AUC (95% Cl)	Cut-off	Se	Sp
Free camitine (C0)	6.0	33.0	7.3	41.8	13.2	55.0	0.738 (0.513-0.964)	>55.0	25.0%	96.1%
C16:0-ac	0.04	0.40	0.03	0.24	0.04	0.22	0.992 (0.977-1.000)	< 0.04	100.0%	96.7%
C16:1-ac	0.01	0.15	0.01	0.05	0.01	0.10	0.919 (0.827-1.000)	< 0.01	50.0%	97.0%
C18:0-ac	0.01	0.10	0.01	0.10	0.02	0.08	1.000 (0.999-1.000)	< 0.01	100.0%	97.2%
C18:1-ac	0.03	0.33	0.04	0.38	0.05	0.43	1.000 (1.000-1.000)	< 0.05	100.0%	97.4%
C18:2-ac	0.01	0.17	0.01	0.16	0.02	0.19	0.994 (0.983-1.000)	< 0.02	88.9%	97.1%
Σlc-ac	0.11	1.06	0.12	0.96	0.16	0.99	1.000 (0.999-1.000)	< 0.16	100.0%	96.9%
C0/(C16:0-ac+C18:0-ac)	15	306	63	578	63	587	0.997 (0.990-1.000)	>587	100.0%	96.9%
C0/Σlc-ac	8	138	21	229	22	216	0.999 (0.998-1.000)	>216	100.0%	96.7%

Reference and corresponding cut-off values were based on the historical subject population, see text. Concentrations of C0, individual long-chain acylcarnitines (lc-ac), and the sum of lc-ac (Σ lc-ac) are in µmol/L. Ratios are in mol/mol. All biochemical markers, except C18:1-ac, were significantly related to age (see text). The areas under the curve (AUC) for Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curves and the sensitivity and specificity at 95% cut-off values are presented for subjects and patients \geq 31 days of age only (see text)

Results

Reference Values and ROC Analysis of Biochemical Markers

Except for C18:1-ac, all markers were significantly agedependent (Spearman rank P < 0.001), with correlation coefficients (R) between (-) 0.05 for \sum lc-ac and (+) 0.34 for C0. This relation was most significant in the first 30 days of life. Even though age-dependency remained to be significant after 30 days for C0 and C18:0-ac, their relation with age was considered too small to have a relevant effect on calculated reference values (+0.07 µmol/L per year for C0, and +0.0001 µmol/L per year for C18:0-ac (linear regression analyses)). Reference values were calculated for three age-categories: 0–6 days (n = 1.69), 7–30 days (n = 106), and ≥ 31 days (n = 1.325) (Table 1). All biomarkers in these subgroups had non-Gaussian distributions (Shapiro–Wilk p < 0.05).

Plasma and blood spot acylcarnitines concentrations and ratios of patients with CPT-IA deficiency are presented in Table 2. All nine plasma samples had normal concentrations of C0, whereas all had low C18:0-ac, C18:1-ac, and \sum lc-ac concentrations, and high molar ratios. The ROC curves, and the sensitivity and specificity using 95% reference limits are also presented in Table 1. Because all samples of CPT-IA deficient patients were obtained after 30 days of age, only subjects and patients \geq 31 days of age were included (n = 1,803/2,194). AUC were highest for C18:1-ac, C18:0-ac, and \sum lc-ac, closely followed by C0/ \sum lc-ac. Using 95% reference limits, C18:1-ac <0.05 µmol/L had the highest diagnostic value with a sensitivity of 100% and a specificity of 97.4%. Values were slightly less for other lc-ac and ratios, see Table 1. The ratio C0/(C16:0-ac+C18:0-ac) had slightly better specificity at these cut-off values compared to $C0/\Sigma$ lc-ac.

Using a combination of two markers, i.e., a concentration in plasma of C18:1-ac <0.05 μ mol/L and a molar ratio of C0/(C16:0-ac+C18:0-ac) >587, specificity to diagnose CPT-IA deficiency increased to 99.3% compared with either C18:1-ac (97.4%) or C0/(C16:0-ac+C18:0-ac) (96.9%) alone, all at a sensitivity of 100%.

Characteristics of Subjects with False-Positives Test Results

Figure 1 shows the values of the 2 biochemical markers: C18:1-ac and C0/(C16:0-ac+C18:0-ac) for all subjects and patients \geq 31 days of age, including 5 follow-up samples of CPT-IA deficient patients. Forty-eight subjects had false-positive test results for C18:1-ac. Ten of them were diagnosed with an inborn error of metabolism other than CPT-IA deficiency, i.e., phenylketonuria (n = 4), medium chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase (MCAD) deficiency (n = 4), biotinidase deficiency (n = 1), and molybdenum cofactor deficiency (n = 1). Two out of four patients with MCAD deficiency had low concentrations of the sum of all carnitine-containing species in plasma (total carnitine). Six patients without a diagnosis also had low total carnitine concentrations. None of the 48 subjects had a high total carnitine concentration.

Fifty-six subjects out of the total population had a falsepositive test results for the molar ratio C0/(C16:0-ac

Case Gender	1 m	1	1	1	1	2	3 m	3	4
Age (years, days)	1y, 206d	1y, 266d	1y, 268d	1y, 271d	1y, 278d	v 6y, 22d	16y, 273d	19y, 21d	v 13y, 53d
Plasma (µmol/L)									
C0	55.6	51.6	33.5	15.9	49.1	48.2	34.7	52.4	31.6
C16:0-ac	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.04	0.02	0.01
C16:1-ac	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.00
C18:0-ac	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00
C18:1-ac	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02
C18:2-ac	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02
Σlc-ac	0.04	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.05	0.09	0.06	0.05
C0/(C16:0-ac+C18:0-ac)	3,087	5,160	3,350	1,590	4,910	4,818	694	2,618	3,160
$C0/(\Sigma lc-ac)$	1,592	5,160	3,350	795	2,455	964	385	873	632
Blood spot (µmol/L)									
C0	>100					197	270		228
C16:0-ac						0.00	0.10		0.10
C16:1-ac						0.00	0.00		0.00
C18:0-ac						0.00	0.00		0.00
C18:1-ac						0.00	0.00		0.00
C18:2-ac						0.00	0.10		0.00
C0/(C16:0-ac+C18:0-ac)						>5,000	1,350		2,280
$C0/(\Sigma lc-ac)$						>5,000	1,350		2,280
Enzyme Activity (nmol min ⁻¹ mg ⁻¹ protein) ^a	0.08					0.08	0.15		0.15
DNA mutations	c.1241C>T					c.1318G>A	c.1318G>A		c.1318G>A
	(A414V)					(A440T)	(A440T)		(A440T)

Table 2 Biochemical marker concentrations of 4 CPT-IA deficient patients

This table shows concentrations of C0, individual long-chain acylcarnitines (lc-ac), the sum of lc-ac (\sum lc-ac), and ratios for 9 samples of 4 CPT-IA deficient patients in plasma and blood spots together with lymphocyte CPT-IA enzyme activities and results of DNA mutation analysis. Two plasma samples of case 1 had non-detectable concentrations of C18:1-ac. In Fig. 1, these samples were presented at a C18:1-ac concentration of 0.005 µmol/L. The blood spot C0 concentration of case 1 was obtained from the Dutch neonatal screening program (see text). Patients were homozygous for mentioned DNA mutations

^a Reference values lymphocyte CPT-IA activity: $0.2-0.8 \text{ nmol min}^{-1} \text{ mg}^{-1}$ protein

+C18:0-ac). Nineteen of them were diagnosed with an inborn error of metabolism other than CPT-IA deficiency, i. e., phenylketonuria (n = 11), glycogen storage disease 1A (n = 2), multiple acyl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency (n = 1), MCAD deficiency (n = 1), molybdenum cofactor deficiency (n = 1), Smith-Lemli-Opitz syndrome (n = 1), pyruvate dehydrogenase deficiency (n = 1), and OCTN2 deficiency (n = 1). The MCAD deficient patient and ten subjects without a diagnosis had plasma total carnitine concentrations above the 95% percentile of their reference age group. None of the 56 subjects had a low total carnitine concentration in plasma.

Twelve patients had a false-positive test result when using the combination of a low C18:1-ac and a high molar ratio of C0/(C16:0-ac+C18:0-ac), of whom three had

phenylketonuria and one had molybdenum cofactor deficiency. Of the other eight subjects, one was clinically suspected to suffer from CPT-IA deficiency. This was ruled out by CPT-IA enzyme activity measurements. All patients and subjects had a normal concentration of total carnitine.

Biochemical Markers of CPT-IA Deficiency in Neonatal Blood Spot

Acylcarnitine profiles were analyzed in blood spots obtained at the time of presentation in three of our patients with CPT-IA deficiency (cases 2–4). In these patients, C0 concentrations were above 197 μ mol/L, whereas all lc-ac concentrations were below 0.02 μ mol/L (Table 2). For case 1 the neonatal blood spot was requested at the Dutch



Fig. 1 Presents the results of C18:1-ac versus C0/(C16:0-ac+C18:0-ac) of all subjects and patients \geq 31 days of age, including the first (*circles*) and follow-up (*triangles*) samples of four patients with CPT-IA deficiency [n = 1,808 (1,803 + 5 follow-up samples)]. The numbers correspond to the case numbers presented in Table 2. The

neonatal screening authority. In this bloodspot, the concentration of C0 was found to be $>100 \mu mol/L$. In controls, C0 concentrations are lower and lc-ac concentrations are higher in blood spots compared to plasma (de Sain-van der Velden et al. 2013). This implies that these values are highly abnormal, even when applying plasma reference values.

Discussion

The results clearly show that CPT-IA deficiency can easily be overlooked when using the classical biomarker, i.e., high concentrations of C0 in plasma, as the sole criterion for diagnosis, as previously reported (Bergman 1994; Bonnefont et al. 2004; Innes et al. 2000; Primassin and Spiekerkoetter 2010; de Sain-van der Velden et al. 2013). Blood spot acylcarnitines, in particular the ratio of C0/ (C16:0-ac+C18:0-ac), seem to have high diagnostic value for CPT-IA deficiency (Fingerhut et al. 2001; McHugh et al. 2011; Primassin and Spiekerkoetter 2010; de Sain-van der Velden et al. 2013; Sim et al. 2001). Even though our data support this suggestion, the present study also demonstrates that plasma, the more commonly used matrix, can be used for this purpose as well. The current study confirmed the high sensitivity of the molar ratio of C0/ (C16:0-ac+C18:0-ac) in plasma, as proposed earlier (de

dashed lines indicate the 95% cut-off limits for C18:1-ac (0.05 μ mol/L) and C0/(C16:0-ac+C18:0-ac) (587). The quadrant limited by C18:1-ac <0.05 μ mol/L and C0/(C16:0-ac+C18:0-ac) >587 had a sensitivity of 100% and a specificity of 99.3% for diagnosis of CPT-IA deficiency in our study population

Sain-van der Velden et al. 2013). Sensitivity of low plasma lc-ac concentrations was, however, equally high. When taking specificity under consideration, the diagnostic value became much better when using the combination of a high molar ratio of C0/(C16:0-ac+C18:0-ac) >587 mol/mol ánd a low C18:1-ac <0.05 μ mol/L (cut-offs for patients \geq 31 days of age). For low prevalent diseases such as CPT-IA deficiency, the increase of specificity from 97 to 99% has a dramatic effect on the positive predictive value of a test. In our selected population with a prevalence of 0.0018 (4/2,194), the positive predicted value increases from 7 to 25%.

ROC curve analysis is a well-known tool to compare diagnostic values of biomarkers. Using this analysis (Table 1), plasma C18:0-ac, C18:1-ac, and \sum lc-ac had highest and similar diagnostic values (AUC 1.000), closely followed by C0/ \sum lc-ac (AUC 0.999). To reduce the chance of missing a CPT-IA deficient patient, fixed cut-off values based on 95% reference values were evaluated. Using these cut-offs, the molar ratio C0/ \sum lc-ac was equally sensitive, but slightly less specific than the originally proposed molar ratio, i.e., C0/(C16:0-ac+C18:0-ac). False-positive results for C0/(C16:0-ac + C18:0-ac) were explained by high total carnitine concentrations in 11 of 56 patients and subjects. On the other hand, low C18:1-ac concentrations were associated with low total carnitine concentrations in 9 of 48

patients. Combining both markers significantly diminished the number of false positives, partly due to low or high carnitine concentrations. False-positive results were not clearly associated with other (known) inborn errors of metabolism. Three patients with phenylketonuria (3/100 in this cohort) had low C18:1-ac concentrations in combination with high C0/(C16:0-ac+C18:0-ac) ratios. After reviewing other acylcarnitine profiles of the three patients, only one sample, i.e., the first sample, had this remarkable result. The reason for this is unknown.

An important limitation of this study is the relatively low number of patients with CPT-IA deficiency. Plasma acylcarnitines have high intra-individual biological variation, depending on nutritional status (fasting), exercise, and clinical condition. The large biological variation may impair the diagnostic value of the markers. This is illustrated by the results of case 3. The analysis of the first sample gave near-normal values of the molar ratios of C0/ (C16:0-ac+C18:0-ac) and C0/ Σ lc-ac, whereas the analysis of the second sample gave clearly abnormal values, see Table 2. When reviewing all nine plasma samples of our CPT-IA deficient patients (see Table 2 and Fig. 1), it is clear that the suggested cut-off values are highly sensitive and that the diagnostic value of the (combination of) markers is not dependent on the clinical condition and treatment regimens of our patients. When reviewing six plasma C0 concentrations and C0/(C16:0-ac+C18:0-ac) ratios of the 2 CPT-IA deficient patients presented in the study of de Sain-van der Velden et al. (2013), all the samples of these patients would probably also have been identified using the proposed marker combination. It is nevertheless important to investigate these markers in a larger cohort of CPT-IA deficient patients.

Conclusion

CPT-IA deficiency is rare and can easily be overlooked by relying on the classical marker, i.e., high plasma C0 concentrations. It has therefore been suggested to use blood spots acylcarnitines for diagnosis of CPT-IA deficiency. This study, however, demonstrates that CPT-IA deficiency can be diagnosed reliably with high sensitivity and specificity in plasma by a combination of a low C18:1-ac concentration and a high molar ratio of C0/(C16:0-ac+C18:0-ac). It is advised to further validate these markers in a larger cohort of patients with CPT-IA deficiency.

Acknowledgements We gratefully acknowledge mw A.J. van Assen-Bolt, A. Gerding, and mw K. Boer for acylcarnitine analyses. Moreover, we thank mw A.J. van Assen-Bolt for her help in creating the acylcarnitine database.

Authors' Contributions

MR Heiner-Fokkema was responsible for the study design, statistical analyses, and writing of this manuscript. FJ van Spronsen and D-J Reijngoud made significant contributions to the conception and design of this study. Data from CPT-I deficient patients were supplied by MR Heiner-Fokkema, FM Vaz, R Maatman, and LAJ Kluijtmans. All authors critically read the manuscript and gave final approval for this version.

Conflicts of Interest

MR Heiner-Fokkema, FM Vaz, R Maatman, LAJ Kluijtmans, FJ van Spronsen, and D-J Reijngoud declare that they have no conflicts of interest regarding the topic in this manuscript.

Take-Home Message

Carnitine palmitoyltransferase IA deficiency can be diagnosed reliably by plasma acylcarnitine analysis.

Compliance with Ethics Guidelines

All procedures followed were in accordance with the ethical standards of the medical ethical committee on human experimentation (institutional and national) and with the Helsinki.

References

- Bergman AJ, Donckerwolcke RA, Duran M et al (1994) Ratedependent distal renal tubular acidosis and carnitine palmitoyltransferase I deficiency. Pediatr Res 36:582–588
- Bonnefont JP, Djouadi F, Prip-Buus C, Gobin S, Munnich A, Bastin J (2004) Carnitine palmitoyltransferases 1 and 2: biochemical, molecular and medical aspects. Mol Aspects Med 5:495–520
- Derks TG, Boer TS, van Assen A et al (2008) Neonatal screening for medium-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase (MCAD) deficiency in The Netherlands: the importance of enzyme analysis to ascertain true MCAD deficiency. J Inherit Metab Dis 31:88–96
- de Sain-van der Velden MG, Diekman EF, Jans JJ et al (2013) Differences between acylcarnitine profiles in plasma and blood spots. Mol Genet Metab 110:116–121
- Fingerhut R, Röschinger W, Muntau AC et al (2001) Hepatic carnitine palmitoyltransferase I deficiency: acylcarnitine profiles in blood spots are highly specific. Clin Chem 47:1763–1768
- Innes AM, Seargeant LE, Balachandra K et al (2000) Hepatic carnitine palmitoyltransferase I deficiency presenting as maternal illness in pregnancy as maternal illness in pregnancy. Pediatr Res 47:43–45

- McHugh D, Cameron CA, Abdenur JE et al (2011) Clinical validation of cutoff target ranges in newborn screening of metabolic disorders by tandem mass spectrometry: a worldwide collaborative project. Genet Med 13:230–254
- Primassin S, Spiekerkoetter U (2010) ESI-MS/MS measurement of free carnitine and its precursor gamma-butyrobetaine in plasma and dried blood spots from patients with organic acidurias and fatty acid oxidation disorders. Mol Genet Metab 101:141–145
- Sim KG, Wiley V, Carpenter K, Wilcken B (2001) Carnitine palmitoyltransferase I deficiency in neonate identified by dried blood spot free carnitine and acylcarnitine profile. J Inherit Metab Dis 24:51–59
- Stanley CA, Sunaryo F, Hale DE, Bonnefont JP, Demaugre F, Saudubray JM (1992) Elevated plasma carnitine in the hepatic form of carnitine palmitoyltransferase-1 deficiency. J Inherit Metab Dis 15:785–789

RESEARCH REPORT

Relationships Between Childhood Experiences and Adulthood Outcomes in Women with PKU: A Qualitative Analysis

Rachel M. Roberts • Tamara Muller • Annabel Sweeney • Drago Bratkovic • Anne Gannoni • Brianna Morante

Received: 19 August 2015 / Revised: 11 April 2016 / Accepted: 12 April 2016 / Published online: 14 June 2016 © SSIEM and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2016

Abstract *Background*: The enduring impact of the childhood experiences of people with phenylketonuria (PKU) on their adulthood outcomes is equivocal. As the effect of childhood experiences on adulthood is well documented amongst the general population, the aim of this study was to explore childhood experiences considered significant by women with PKU as they relate to adult experiences and management of PKU, and psychological wellbeing.

Method: Eight women with PKU in South Australia underwent semi-structured interviews. The audio-recorded interviews were transcribed verbatim and analyzed using thematic analysis.

Results: Interviews revealed that feeling different to peers as a child, challenges with management of the condition during adolescence, parental and extended family support, and the perception of PKU as a burden during childhood were associated with adulthood experiences.

Communicated by: Anita MacDonald, PhD, BSc

R.M. Roberts (🖂) · T. Muller · B. Morante

School of Psychology, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA 5005, Australia

e-mail: rachel.roberts@adelaide.edu.au; Tamara.Muller@sa.gov.au; brianna.morante@student.adelaide.edu.au

A. Sweeney

Department of Nutrition, Women's and Children's Hospital, Adelaide, SA, Australia

e-mail: Annabel.Sweeney@sa.gov.au

D. Bratkovic

Metabolic Unit, Women's and Children's Hospital, Adelaide, SA, Australia

e-mail: Drago.Bratkovic@sa.gov.au

A. Gannoni

Department of Psychological Medicine, Women's and Children's Hospital, Adelaide, SA, Australia e-mail: Anne.Gannoni@sa.gov.au *Conclusions*: Thus, it is proposed that these childhood factors have a combined, long-term impact. These findings have significant clinical implications, suggesting that early psychosocial intervention relating to these identified childhood experiences has the potential to enhance positive outcomes for adults with PKU.

Successful management of phenylketonuria (PKU) can prove onerous across the lifespan (van Spronsen and Burgard 2008). Several factors influencing the experience of PKU during childhood have been identified. Family cohesion, comprising parental support (Shulman et al. 1991; MacDonald et al. 2010) and extended family support (MacDonald et al. 2010) are associated with dietary control. Conversely, children with separated or divorced parents (Olsson et al. 2007; Alaei et al. 2011), an unemployed parent (Alaei et al. 2011), or low socioeconomic status (Weglage et al. 1992) had reduced dietary control and elevated phenylalanine (Phe) levels (MacLeod and Ney 2010). Anguish and feelings of isolation have also been found to result from awareness of the differences in eating behavior between young people with PKU and their peers (Vegni et al. 2009). Adolescence can be particularly challenging. Adolescents experience less life satisfaction, restricted social experiences, and lower frustration tolerance than peers without PKU (Weglage et al. 1992). Additionally, adolescence has been associated with reduced dietary compliance (MacLeod and Ney 2010).

Despite the lifelong nature of PKU, there is little research on the influence of these early experiences on the adulthood experiences of the condition. To our knowledge, only MacDonald et al. (2010) have highlighted the important role of parental encouragement on children's

independence and increasing responsibility in relation to dietary control and long-term adherence to the PKU diet. This is because overreliance on parents for PKU treatment may negatively impact adjustment to full responsibility in adulthood (Bosch et al. 2007).

Whilst research specific to people with PKU is limited in this area, the long-term impact of childhood experiences is well documented within the general population. For example, childhood adversity has been associated with poor health and psychological distress in adulthood (Kestilä et al. 2005), whilst dietary patterns established in childhood extend into adulthood (Mikkilä et al. 2005). As such, it is proposed that the experiences of children with PKU would impact on their adult experience of the condition, psychological wellbeing, and management of the condition.

Irrespective of childhood experiences, and despite quality of life among adults with PKU being comparable with the general population (Mütze et al. 2011), adults with PKU experience greater psychological morbidity than the general population (Ris et al. 1997), including anxiety and depression (Pietz et al. 1997). The risk of mental health problems is further increased when one is non-adherent with the PKU diet (Koch et al. 2002). Accordingly, emphasizing childhood experiences that may impact adult outcomes is of significant clinical interest – early intervention may optimize outcomes for individuals with PKU not only during childhood but also across the lifespan.

This qualitative study aimed to explore the experiences of women with PKU, gaining an account of factors considered significant during childhood from the women's own perspectives. Subsequently, tentative links between childhood experiences and adult outcomes in terms of overall experience of PKU, psychological wellbeing, and PKU management are explored.

Method

Participants

All South Australian women known to be diagnosed with PKU were invited to participate (n = 20). Eight women participated (40% response), aged 21–42 years (M = 29.9, SD = 7.9). Reasons given for non-participation were primarily related to insufficient time. All participants were diagnosed and treated for PKU from soon after birth and all had tested intellectual functioning in the normal range. All but one of the participants (n = 7) were maintaining the PKU diet at the time of the interview, and were taking a supplement (medical formula). Six women were having regular blood tests although the frequency of testing ranged from weekly to every four to six weeks. Lifetime Phe levels were estimated based on a review of case notes by a

Table 1 Participant characteristics

Participant number	Age range	Education	Diet status	Phe levels in target range (approximate % over lifetime)
1	20s to 30s	High school	Off diet	<10%
2	20s to 30s	Post high school	Strict	100%
3	20s to 30s	Post high school	Strict	100%
4	20s to 30s	High school	Strict	100%
5	20s to 30s	Post high school	Strict	100%
6	30s to 40s	Post high school	Relaxed	100%
7	30s to 40s	High school	Relaxed	100%
8	30s to 40s	Post high school	Relaxed	25%

Metabolic Physician (DB). For six participants, Phe levels were within acceptable ranges for the majority of the time, one for approximately 80% of the time, and one for less than 10% of the time (see Table 1). Five women were married/de facto and three were single. Seven women were employed, four had completed Year 11–12, two had vocational qualifications, and two had university degrees. Three participants were undertaking tertiary education. Three participants (37.5%) were assessed on the M.I.N.I. as experiencing significant psychological disorders in their lifetime (two participants had a history of major depressive disorder; one of whom also was experiencing recurrent bulimia nervosa; one participant had a history of bipolar affective disorder, with a current depressive episode).

Procedure

This study, approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee of the Children, Youth, and Women's Health Service, forms part of a study to explore women's experiences of PKU in relation to pregnancy (Roberts et al. 2014). As such, participants were all female. Experiences of PKU across the lifespan were explored within the initial study and childhood experiences were noted to be of importance in relation to outcomes in adulthood, resulting in the current research.

Semi-structured interviews (which took 30–90 min, depending on the length of participant's responses) were audio-recorded, then transcribed. Interviews began with women being asked "Can you tell me about the impact that PKU has had on you throughout your life?" (see Appendix for full list of interview questions). Participants' experiences of PKU across their lifetime were explored (reported here), followed by their perceptions and/or experiences of pregnancy (reported in Roberts et al. 2014). Interviews were analyzed using thematic analysis (Braun and Clarke 2006). Initial interviews, data coding and sorting into

themes was conducted by TR, a graduate clinical psychology student with basic training in PKU management. Reliability of coding and themes was verified through review with two psychologists/researchers with extensive experience working with people with PKU (RR, AG).

In addition, The M.I.N.I. (English Version 6.0.0) was administered. The M.I.N.I. is a brief, verbally administered questionnaire assessing lifetime experience of psychological disorders (Sheehan et al. 1998).

 Table 2
 Childhood themes

Results

Participants are identified by age group, education, and selfreported dietary adherence – strictly on diet, relaxed on diet or off diet (Table 1). Thematic analysis identified five themes relating to childhood experiences of PKU (Table 2) and three themes relating to adulthood experiences of PKU (Table 3). We also describe the association between childhood experiences and adulthood outcomes reported by the women.

Theme	Examples
1. Comparisons to and feeling different from peers	you see all your friends eating this and then you're like, well I can't have that and they're all buying their lunch and you can't buy nothing cos you know, it's pies and pasties and everything else. (Participant 1) Back then it's, oh my god what's wrong with you! You know, you can't eat that, why, what's wrong with you, is something wrong with you, you know that sort of attitude It was hard, very difficult. (Participant 4) So I was sort of, almost felt an oddball, being a child growing up with PKU, or a teenager. (Participant 7) there's just me with like, my you know, different dish and you know it makes it a bit hard, hard to do, but it never bothered me. (Participant 3)
2. Management of PKU during adolescence	 It [management of PKU] was ok probably to my teens I sort of strayed there and just had whatever just the chips and you know, a pasty or not counting anything. (Participant 8) high school was worse you eventually stop eating at school and you know, you just think, I'm not eating at school, and you slowly drift from the diet. (Participant 1) I remember at 14, and for that, for like nearly a year it was really, really hard to get me to take my formula. (Participant 6) Girls are trying to fit in, they're going through puberty and there's boys and this and, so it's really tough. And then trying to stick to the diet. You're not always gonna do it, you're gonna fail eventually. You think, what's the point? (Participant 1) back then you think you can go on without doing the right thing for your body (Participant 8) a teenager's brain would not care at all about what happens in the future. (Participant 6)
3. Parental support	she [Participant's Mother] went out of her way to prepare stuff for me so I did have stuff there and stuff that was, I suppose special to me, and so it didn't make me feel like I was the oddball as much She'd make me fairy bread out of my own bread and so I'd be able to eat the fairy bread when the other kids were eating fairy bread (Participant 7) mum's always been a great cook and she kind of always adapted recipes to suit me and I think that helped a lot because you know, there's, I guess I would still be having like normal food, but with the low protein food. (Participant 3) mum never experimented with me, like with the drinks and food and stuff. (Participant 1) Mum would get me in the kitchen and we'd bake, make all the low protein stuff (Participant 5) I guess for many, my, my mum did pretty much everything for me. (Participant 8) extremely thankful to my parents for sticking to the diet so umm, so greatly and so accurately, because you know, here I am, I'm a, you know, I'm a graduate student, I've got a profession, and if it weren't for their compliance and their understanding of PKU and, and what my needs were as a child and as a baby, I wouldn't be here today. So I have them to thank for that and I'm very grateful. (Participant 6)
4. Extended family support	if there was a big party or something, they'd ring mum and say, you know, what can she have. Or we've made her this, so she can have that as well always made sure I had something so yeah, it was good. (Participant 5) yeah they were supportive, they always said, if we went over there for tea, they always said, what can [participant] have, what can she eat, and all that type of thing, so yeah. They were all supportive. (Participant 7)
5. Perception of PKU as a burden	I wouldn't really call it more an impact, it's just, it's just I've grown up this way, it's all I know. (Participant 5) So, it's sort of like, ok, how it is, that's how it is and you don't know any different. (Participant 4) Having to eat all my low protein foods and do all that type of thing and have my supplements, take them to friends' places. Or even something as simple as going on camps and stuff like that That would probably be the hardest thing. (Participant 7)

Table 3 Adulthood themes

Themes	Examples
1. Management of PKU	I like the liberty of having a normal cookie or biscuit every now and again. (Participant 6)
2. The unique experience of having PKU	
2a. Eating in a social context	when they [restaurants] make salads, some of the salads, like Caesar salads or something, has cheese in it and say could you not have cheese, and they look at you like you're weird I just feel different it always brings your mood down. (Participant 1) But it's just so hard, like even when you're happy, you go out for tea and, you could just imagine if you were on the diet, then what would you eat? You know, places like that don't exactly have menus for PKU people, do they? (Participant 1) so really socially, it's probably been an impact and going to parties and things like that. Having functions on where umm I almost have to eat before I go, I can't eat there. (Participant 7) It's normally fine I try not to eat tons of protein during the day, so I can have like a bowl of pasta or things like that I really like Asian food and Indian food which is great because it's just easy to get a pure vegetable dish. (Participant 3)
2b. Effects of dietary compliance	 when my levels get higher umm obviously the mood swings umm you feel, you get like, you feel sort of a little bit lethargic and you don't really want to do anything and you, it takes a while to umm to process stuff and just, my thinking's just probably a little bit slower (Participant 5) I can feel it. I just go, oh I feel like my brain's all fuzzy and I can't think straight. (Participant 6). having depression as well and not being on diet really is a bad combination. (Participant 1) So everything was just so much better. And mood swings were probably better too huge change just in how I handled day-to-day things with stress and stuff like that. (Participant 7)
2c. Transition from childhood to adulthood management of the condition	like counting out properly and that type of stuff, yeah she [her mother] used to make a lot of food for me, so she did it all, so umm yeah I didn't really do it myself, kind of thing. (Participant 8)
2d. Attitudes and perceptions	I don't really worry about it, I don't think about itI've had it my whole life, it's who I am, you know. (Participant 2) You know, it's just kind of been part of my life so I've just dealt with it and I just know exactly what I can eat and I can't eat and how much of, you know, something I can eat and that kind of thing. (Participant 3) oh my god, this is so hard, I've gotta weigh everything, I can't go out, I can't do this, I have to take my own food with me, so it is a big, it is a big stress (Participant 7) your life revolves around your diet you always think about what you're going to be eating. (Participant 6)
3. Psychological wellbeing	 my eating was umm a problem for me so I think it [PKU] might have been a part of it. Like it was all, like cuz I wasn't allowed. I didn't have a choice, I wasn't allowed to (Participant with previous eating disorder) you need to be working on both things at the same time. So getting back on diet and look after yourself, after your mental health, is two things that need to happen together. (Participant 1)

Childhood Themes

Comparisons to and Feeling Different from Peers

A key theme noted within discussions of childhood was feelings of difference between the women and their peers, predominantly related to eating within a social context, such as at school or parties. Whilst discussed by the majority of women, the experience of such differences varied. Some women found it to be a negative experience, associated with feelings of isolation, whilst others were unconcerned and did not feel excluded or distressed. The women who found such differences to be a negative experience described mealtime away from home as challenging as they received questions regarding their restricted diet, heightening feelings of difference and exclusion. In contrast, other women noted that they were aware of differences between themselves and peers, but this did not result in distress.

Management of PKU During Adolescence

Women noted that management of PKU was challenging during adolescence, resulting in reduced dietary compliance. The reasons noted for reduced compliance were similar. Two women attributed it to the general challenges of adolescence, with Participant 6 reporting that she lived her "...frustration as a teenager through my diet." Reduced compliance was also attributed to the perception of adolescence being a period associated with limited consideration of the future consequences of present actions.

Parental Support

All women spoke of the support received from their parents in childhood, highlighting the ways in which their parents assisted in the management and experience of PKU. Whilst all women emphasized the importance of this care, the nature and level of the support received varied. Several women reported receiving high levels of parental support which centered on reducing their feelings of exclusion and difference. For example, for social events with peers, parents routinely prepared and brought low-Phe food for the children similar to those foods eaten by others. These women reported that this assisted them to feel included, minimizing feelings of difference. In contrast, others indicated that the support received was more limited. Whilst Participant 1 stressed how adapting "normal" meals to be low-Phe helped to "...deal with the differences..." as a child, she reported minimal experimentation with dishes within her family. Of note, these women reported more feelings of difference from their peers.

Additionally, differences in the nature of parental support were identified. Some women reported that their parents included them in meal preparation, which assisted the development of their skills in the management of PKU in addition to providing an enjoyable experience. In contrast, one woman reported that her mother took responsibility for her diet and that she was rarely involved. She felt that this resulted in a lack of development in skills and contributed to difficulties in her adjustment to independent management of the condition as an adult. Regardless of the nature, parental support was appreciated and perceived as important.

Extended Family Support

The involvement of extended family members in the management of PKU was discussed, specifically with regard to catering at family events. When extended family members were not involved in the preparation of "PKU-friendly" meals or lacked knowledge of the condition, women felt excluded, for example, Participant 1 claimed that her extended family saw her as an outcast due to her condition.

Perception of PKU as a Burden

All women commented on the overall impact of PKU on their childhood and adolescence. Women who did not indicate that their condition was a significant burden instead appeared to have accepted the requirements for management, perceiving PKU as a way of life. In contrast, women who found PKU to be a burden as a child made reference to the difficulties associated with PKU and the sense of feeling "different" to peers.

Adulthood Themes

Themes were identified regarding PKU as it related to adulthood and current circumstances (Table 3). As noted within childhood themes, both similarities and differences were apparent in their experiences.

Management of PKU

Self-reported management of PKU formed a continuum from complete non-compliance to vigilant dietary control. Participant 1 was off diet, did not take the supplement, nor had blood tests to measure Phe levels. Participants 2, 3, and 5 were strictly on diet, took the supplement, and had regular blood tests. Participant 4 was also on diet and took the supplement but did not undertake blood tests. Participants 6, 7, and 8's management was situated in the middle of the spectrum, all being effectively on diet and consuming the supplement, but having a somewhat relaxed approach towards dietary adherence. Participant 6 deviated from the diet occasionally and Participants 7 and 8 did not measure their Phe intake. As such, some women had elevated Phe levels.

The Unique Experience of Having PKU

Women referred to several specific aspects of having PKU as adults.

Eating in a Social Context

Food in social contexts was problematic for some women. Similar to during childhood, Participants 1, 7, and 8 were conscious of differences, still find this upsetting. Eating out socially generally continued to be perceived as difficult due to the lack of suitable meals available. Participant 8 avoided going out to dinner altogether as it "...was just too hard..." In contrast, Participant 3 did not report eating out as an adult problematic as she was able to adapt sufficiently in social eating situations.

Effects of Dietary Compliance

Several women mentioned the negative effects of being off diet, or having high Phe levels. Women reported tiredness, inattentiveness, poor memory, mood swings, and anxiety. In cases where a psychological issue was present, symptoms were reported to be exacerbated. Maintenance of Phe levels within, or close to, the recommended range was associated with improved psychological and physical wellbeing. Women reported enhanced concentration, improved coping ability, more stable mood, decreased anxiety, and higher energy levels. These benefits of dietary compliance were a motivation for adherence.

Transition from Childhood to Adulthood Management of the Condition

Some women reported difficulty in adjusting to full responsibility for management of their condition as an adult. Contributing factors included timely access to adult services and the lack of development of appropriate knowledge and skills to achieve independent management. Participant 8, for example, noted that she had to acquire several skills required for dietary compliance in adulthood as she was not very involved in PKU management as a child. Participant 2 reported cessation of dietary compliance for a year following delays in access to adult services.

Attitudes and Perceptions

Overall, the women's attitudes towards, and perceptions of, their condition varied along a continuum. Women had either developed acceptance of, or spoke negatively about PKU. Acceptance of PKU and the requirements for its management was related to expression of relatively positive views about the condition. Women who expressed such views accepted PKU as a part of their life and experienced minimal distress related to PKU as they had adapted their lifestyle to accommodate the condition from an early age. In contrast, those with less positive attitudes towards PKU highlighted the difficulties associated with management of the condition. Additionally, poor psychological wellbeing appeared to heighten negative attitudes. One woman with depression reported, "I just really can't be bothered with my life. I just, there's no point anymore, so what's the point with the diet?"

Psychological Wellbeing

Significant differences in psychological wellbeing were noted between the women. Three women reported significant historical mental health concerns with one also experiencing current symptoms. The women who had experienced mental health concerns all perceived PKU as contributing to, or exacerbating, their mental health condition. In reference to her depressive episodes, one woman said "It's [PKU] got everything to do with it", with another questioning whether "...PKU people are fragile or predisposed to it [depression]..." In addition, a woman with bulimia nervosa suggested that the food restriction required in PKU contributed to its onset. Hence, PKU was perceived as a risk factor for poor psychological wellbeing. One woman also stressed the negative effect of poor psychological wellbeing on dietary compliance and the overall PKU experience, highlighting the importance of positive psychological wellbeing for successful dietary management.

Connection Between Childhood Experiences and Adult Outcomes

Connections were noted between the women's childhood experiences and their outcomes as adults, including management of the condition, experiences of PKU, and their psychological wellbeing. Positive adult outcomes, such as acceptance of PKU, continued appropriate management of PKU, positive psychological wellbeing, perception of minimal difficulty eating in social contexts, and ease of transition to independent management of the condition may be related to childhood experiences such as high levels of parental and extended family support, parental support to develop skills and knowledge to manage PKU, increased feelings of inclusion, and minimal perception of PKU as a burden. For example, Participant 1 who reported poor mental health and who was not on diet discussed feeling socially excluded as a child, and reported less support than many other participants from her parents and extended family, as well as perceiving PKU as a burden. This contracts with Participant 5 who reported good mental health, was on diet (strict) and who described extensive parental and extended family support as a child, who did not report feeling socially excluded as a child and who did not describe perceiving PKU as a burden. Table 4 highlights adulthood outcomes and potential related factors in childhood.

Table 4 Adulthood outcomes and associated childhood experiences

Adulthood outcomes	Associated childhood experiences
Eating out socially	Feelings of difference to peers
Transition to full responsibility of management	Management of PKU during adolescence
Attitude towards PKU	Parental support
Psychological wellbeing	Extended family support
Management of PKU	Perception of PKU as a burden

Discussion

This study explored childhood experiences of women with PKU as they relate to adulthood management of PKU, experiences of the condition, and psychological wellbeing. Consistent with previous literature, feelings of difference to peers due to eating behavior (Zwiesele et al. 2015; Vegni et al. 2009), increased difficulty with dietary compliance during adolescence (Weglage et al. 1992; MacLeod and Ney 2010), parental support (Shulman et al. 1991), and extended family support (MacDonald et al. 2010) were identified as key childhood experiences for women with PKU, shaping the perception of PKU during childhood. Consistent with Kestilä et al.'s (2005) and Mikkilä et al.'s (2005) findings regarding the long-term impact of early experiences, connections were noted between these childhood themes and adulthood outcomes. Adulthood outcomes ranged along a continuum dependent upon childhood experiences. Current findings suggest that the identified childhood themes collectively shape the overall experience of PKU as a child, in turn, having a combined effect on adulthood management of PKU, experiences of the condition, and psychological wellbeing.

More specifically, the experience of minimal emotional distress regarding differences with peers due to eating behavior, minimal difficulty with dietary compliance as an adolescent, and high levels of parental and extended family support together may reduce the perceived burden of PKU as a child. These factors appear to build resilience in the individual, facilitating adult outcomes characterized by effective management of PKU, minimal perception of difficulties eating in social contexts, reduced difficulty in transition to self-management, an attitude of acceptance towards PKU, and positive psychological wellbeing. This is consistent with Finkelson et al. (2001) who reported that social support, positive attitudes towards the PKU diet, and perceptions that the diet is manageable in one's daily life predicted whether adults with PKU successfully returned to being on diet.

The enduring significance of childhood experiences for individuals with PKU makes sense given the well-documented impact of early life experiences on long-term physical and psychological wellbeing amongst the general population (Kestilä et al. 2005). Distress during childhood over eating differences could lead in adulthood to deviation from the PKU diet to avoid feeling excluded, as well as negative views of the condition and poor psychological wellbeing. Difficulty with dietary compliance as an adolescent may result in relaxed or total non-adherence as an adult, with reestablishment of the diet being difficult (MacLeod and Ney 2010). Accordingly, women either off diet or with lenient dietary compliance in this study reported increased difficulty adhering during adolescence. Parental support is important in modeling management of PKU and establishing the child's dietary patterns, potentially assisting adjustment to adulthood in terms of attitude, diet, and psychological wellbeing. Consistent with Bosch et al.'s (2007) notion that children who are overly dependent on their parents in regard to PKU management may be susceptible to difficulties in adjustment to full responsibility in adulthood, the current study revealed that parental encouragement of growing self-management is important for the ease of transition. A sense of "teamwork" provided by supportive extended family members during childhood may also influence how accepting the individual is of PKU as an adult. Accordingly, women who reported high levels of extended family support during childhood were less overwhelmed by the demands of PKU in adulthood.

The self-report, qualitative nature of this study has revealed the perspective of women with PKU regarding their childhood and adult experiences, extending the current literature, much of which has previously explored the perspective of parents when consideration is made of childhood. Although appropriate for a study of this type, the sample was limited by the number of women with PKU in South Australia who were interested in participating. Participants were open to and had sufficient time to discuss their condition and experiences whereas those who were not as willing to discuss such matters and those who had more time pressures were likely underrepresented. It is also possible that those who chose not to participate were more likely to be those who perceived fewer psychological impacts of having PKU; future work should address this. However, the authors were satisfied that saturation had been reached for the key themes described in this paper. Given these findings reflect women's experiences only, future research with both genders would provide a broader perspective and validation of the themes identified here. Further, the results provide an illustration of the experiences of women treated within one hospital. Given that treatment within other health facilities may vary, multi-site research would be useful. Finally, future work that compares the experiences of adults with PKU with adults with other conditions, particularly those that require dietary management, may be useful.

The findings of this study have significant clinical implications. Given the difficult circumstances adults with PKU can experience regardless of their childhood experiences (Ris et al. 1997; Pietz et al. 1997; Koch et al. 2002; Gassió et al. 2003), intervention as a child can prove beneficial over the life span. In conjunction with diet and Phe level monitoring, treatment strategies should also encompass a psychosocial approach. Encouragement of parental support, specifically the delivery of advice regarding best care for children with PKU (as also described by Zwiesele et al. 2015), involvement of extended family

members, and provision of PKU knowledge to school peers should be included. Additional support services for adolescents with PKU may also assist in preventing or reducing potential issues with dietary adherence as a teenager, such as hands-on meal preparation "fun" days.

Conclusion

Adult outcomes for women with PKU may be influenced by certain childhood experiences relating to the condition, in particular the feeling of difference in comparison to peers, increased difficulty with dietary compliance during adolescence, parental support, extended family support, and the overall perceived burden of PKU. Results suggest that the unique experience of these may have a combined effect on adulthood management of PKU, experiences of the condition, and psychological wellbeing. Regardless of childhood experiences, lifelong management of PKU can prove onerous for some individuals and adults with PKU are at increased risk of mental health difficulties, despite good quality of life. Adoption of a broader approach to clinical management of PKU during childhood may facilitate positive adult outcomes.

Synopsis

Childhood experiences of women with PKU include feeling different to peers, challenges during adolescence, parental and extended family support, and the perception of PKU as a burden; these have a combined effect on adulthood management of the condition and psychological wellbeing.

Compliance with Ethics Guidelines

Conflict of Interest

R. Roberts, T. Muller, A. Sweeney, D. Bratkovic, A. Gannoni, and B. Morante declare that they have no conflict of interest.

All procedures followed were in accordance with the ethical standards of the responsible committee on human experimentation (institutional and national) and with the Helsinki.

Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2000 (5). Informed consent was obtained from all patients for being included in the study.

All authors contributed to the planning and reporting of the work described in the article. T Muller conducted the interviews and the thematic analysis.

Interview Questions

Can you tell me about the impact that PKU has had on you throughout your life?

As you were growing up, what were your plans about having children, knowing that you had PKU?

Have your plans changed now you are an adult?

What was your understanding about how pregnancy might be different for women with PKU?

Have you had any pregnancies, how many, were they planned or unplanned?

What did (would) you consider when deciding to become pregnant (if it was a planned pregnancy)?

Questions for Women Who Have Had a Pregnancy

I'd like to hear about your experience(s) of pregnancy with PKU.

Can you tell me about what you found particularly difficult during your pregnancy?

What did you find was helpful in coping with these difficulties?

Did you find that you used different ways of coping at different times in your pregnancy (for example, 1st trimester vs 3rd trimester)?

Can you tell me about what you found particularly positive during your pregnancy?

In general, how did you feel during your pregnancy?

How did you feel during the difficult times of your pregnancy?

Can you tell me about the supports you felt were available to you during your pregnancy, for example, people in your life, medical staff, or groups you were involved in?

Which supports did you find particularly helpful during your pregnancy and why was this?

Can you tell me about some supports that you would have liked to have had during your pregnancy?

Questions for Women Who Have Had Multiple Pregnancies

Can you tell me about the differences you noticed between your pregnancies?

How do you think your previous pregnancies affected your later pregnancies experiences?

Can you tell me about any knowledge that you feel that you would've found helpful during your first pregnancy?

Questions for Women Who Have Not Had a Pregnancy, but Are Planning to in the Future

I'd like to hear about the impact you believe PKU will have on your pregnancy.

Can you tell me about the difficulties you believe you may face?

Can you tell me about what you believe may be helpful in coping with these difficulties?

What supports do you believe may be helpful during your pregnancy, for example, people in your life, medical staff, or groups?

What supports would you like to have available to you during your pregnancy?

Questions for Women Who Have Not Had a Pregnancy, and Are Not Planning to in the Future

Can you share with me about the reasons why you have chosen not to become pregnant?

What impact did PKU have on this decision?

Can you tell me about the difficulties you experienced in making this decision?

Can you tell me about what you found helpful in coping with these difficulties?

Can you tell me about the supports you felt were available to you when you were making this decision, for example, people in your life, medical staff, or groups you were involved in?

Which supports did you find particularly helpful during this time and why was this?

Can you tell me about some supports that you would have liked to have had during this time?

References

- Alaei M, Asadzadeh-Totonchi G, Gachkar L, Farivar S (2011) Family social status and dietary adherence of patients with Phenylketonuria. Iran J Pediatr 21:379–384
- Bosch AM, Tybout W, van Spronsen FJ, de Valk HW, Wijburg FA, Grootenhuis MA (2007) The course of life and quality of life of early and continuously treated Dutch patients with phenylketonuria. J Inherit Metab Dis 30:29–34
- Braun V, Clarke V (2006) Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 3:77–101

- Finkelson L, Bailey I, Waisbren SE (2001) PKU adults and their return to diet: predicting diet continuation and maintenance. J Inherit Metab Dis 24:515–516
- Gassió R, Campistol J, Vilaseca M, Lambruschini N, Cambra F, Fusté E (2003) Do adult patients with phenylketonuria improve their quality of life after introduction/resumption of a phenylalaninerestricted diet? Acta Paediatr 92:1474–1478
- Kestilä L, Koskinen S, Martelin T et al (2005) Determinants of health in early adulthood: what is the role of parental education, childhood adversities and own education? Eur J Public Health 16:305–314
- Koch R, Hoganson G, Peterson R et al (2002) Phenylketonuria in adulthood: a collaborative study. J Inherit Metab Dis 25:333–346
- MacDonald A, Gokmen-Ozel H, van Rijn M, Burgard P (2010) The reality of dietary compliance in the management of phenylketonuria. J Inherit Metab Dis 33:665–670
- MacLeod EL, Ney DM (2010) Nutritional management of phenylketonuria. Ann Nestle Eng 68:58–69
- Mikkilä V, Räsänen L, Raitakari OT, Pietinen P, Viikari J (2005) Consistent dietary patterns identified from childhood to adulthood: The Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study. Br J Nutr 93:923–931
- Mütze U, Roth A, Weigel JFW, Beblo S, Baerwald CG, Bührdel P, Keiss W (2011) Transition of young adults with phenylketonuria from pediatric to adult care. J Inherit Metab Dis 34:701–709
- Olsson GM, Montgomery SM, Alm J (2007) Family conditions and dietary control in phenylketonuria. J Inherit Metab Dis 30:708–715
- Pietz J, Fätkenheuer B, Burgard P, Armbruster M, Esser G, Schmidt H (1997) Psychiatric disorders in adult patients with early-treated phenylketonuria. Pediatrics 99:345–350
- Ris MD, Weber AM, Hunt MM, Berry HK, Williams SE, Leslie N (1997) Adult psychosocial outcome in early-treated phenylketonuria. J Inherit Metab Dis 20:499–508
- Roberts RM, Muller T, Sweeney A, Bratkovic D, Gannoni A (2014) Promoting psychological well-being in women with phenylketonuria: pregnancy-related stresses, coping strategies and supports. Mol Genet Metab Rep 1:148–157
- Sheehan BV, Lecrubier Y, Harnett Sheehan K et al (1998) The Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview (M.I.N.I.): the development and validation of structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. J Clin Psychiatry 59:22–33
- Shulman S, Fisch RO, Zempel CE, Gadish O, Chang PN (1991) Children with phenylketonuria: the interface of family and child functioning. J Dev Behav Pediatr 12:315–321
- van Spronsen FJ, Burgard P (2008) The truth of treating patients with phenylketonuria after childhood: the need for a new guideline. J Inherit Metab Dis 31:673–679
- Vegni E, Fiori L, Riva E, Giovannini M, Moja EA (2009) How individuals with phenylketonuria experience their illness: an agerelated qualitative study. Child Care Health Dev 36:539–548
- Weglage J, Fünders B, Wilken B et al (1992) Psychological and social findings in adolescents with phenylketonuria. Eur J Pediatr 151:522–525
- Zwiesele S, Bannick A, Trepanier A (2015) Parental strategies to help children with phenylketonuria (PKU) cope with feeling different. Am J Med Genet A 167A:1787–1795

CASE REPORT

The Effect of S-Adenosylmethionine on Self-Mutilation in a Patient with Lesch-Nyhan Disease

Matthias Lauber • Barbara Plecko • Miriam Pfiffner • Jean-Marc Nuoffer • Johannes Häberle

Received: 14 January 2016 / Revised: 08 April 2016 / Accepted: 26 April 2016 / Published online: 14 June 2016 © SSIEM and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2016

Abstract *Background*: Lesch–Nyhan disease (LND) is an Xchromosomal disorder of purine metabolism characterized by hyperuricemia, dystonia, and self-mutilation, leading to an extremely high burden of disease in affected patients and families. Although allopurinol therapy can control hyperuricemia, it has no effect on self-mutilation and neurological symptoms. Single reports describe a beneficial effect of Sadenosylmethionine (SAM) on the neurological symptoms, which motivated us to evaluate this alternative treatment.

Methods: We performed a double-blind placebo-controlled trial to analyze the effects of SAM on self-mutilation attempts in a male patient affected by LND. The trial lasted for 282 days and comprised three alternating verum and placebo periods of 50 days each. The mother of the patient recorded attempts of self-mutilation during the entire trial.

Communicated by: Pascale de Lonlay

M. Lauber · J. Häberle (🖂)

- Division of Metabolism and Children's Research Center, University Children's Hospital, Steinwiesstr. 75, 8032 Zurich, Switzerland e-mail: Johannes.Haeberle@kispi.uzh.ch
- B. Plecko

Division of Neuropaediatrics and Children's Research Center, University Children's Hospital, Steinwiesstr. 75, 8032 Zurich, Switzerland

M. Pfiffner

Division of Pharmacy, University Children's Hospital, Steinwiesstr. 75, 8032 Zurich, Switzerland

J.-M. Nuoffer

Department of Paediatrics, Inselspital, University Hospital Bern, Bern, Switzerland

J.-M. Nuoffer

Institute of Clinical Chemistry, Inselspital, University Hospital Bern, Bern, Switzerland

Results: While verum and placebo were both well tolerated, a total of 1,762 events of self-mutilation were recorded, of which 1,281 events were in the placebo period and 481 in the verum period. The daily mean of events was 8.6 with placebo and 4.5 with SAM corresponding to a 50 % decrease in self-mutilation events under SAM treatment (p < 0.05).

Conclusion: The results of this double-blind placebocontrolled single-case trial suggest that SAM can have a beneficial effect on self-mutilation in patients with LND, possibly by replenishing the purine pool in affected brain cells.

Introduction

Lesch-Nyhan disease (LND, OMIM #308000) is a severe metabolic disorder due to a lack of hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyltransferase (HPRT E.C. 2.4.2.8). The disease is characterized by hyperuricemia and neurological symptoms including dystonia, psychomotor retardation, and self-mutilation. In humans, the main role of HPRT is to salvage hypoxanthine and guanine and, hereby, to replenish the intracellular purine pool (Fig. 1). In LND, hypoxanthine is degraded to uric acid by xanthine oxidase, thus resulting in hyperuricemia. The disease is X-linked with an incidence of 1 in 380,000 (Bertelli et al. 2004). The defective enzyme is encoded by the HPRT1 gene, and more than 615 mutations are known (Fu et al. 2014; Jinnah et al. 2004). There are several variants of the disease with different clinical severity (Jinnah et al. 2000, 2010; Puig et al. 2001; Schretlen et al. 2005). HPRT is expressed in all tissues with high levels found in many regions of the brain.

The clinical phenotype manifests mainly in males, but there are also female patients with LND (Chen et al. 2014;



Fig. 1 Scheme of the metabolic pathway of purines and their relation to hypoxanthine-guanine-phosphoribosyltransferase (HPRT). In Lesch–Nyhan disease (LND), the lack of HPRT activity leads to a failure in recycling of both guanine and hypoxanthine, thus creating a deficiency of both inosine monophosphate (IMP) and guanosine monophosphate (GMP). Hypoxanthine (and guanine) concentrations are elevated in LND and will be metabolized to uric acid by xanthine oxidase (XO). With S-adenosylmethionine (SAM, depicted in *blue*),

De Gregorio et al. 2000). Manifestation of LND is often by developmental delay in infancy, followed by dystonia and spasticity, which may provoke misdiagnosis as cerebral palsy. The presence of orange crystals in the diapers may raise suspicion of hyperuricemia.

LND usually leads to several severe complications along each of the clinical presentations, and all have a huge impact on the (social) life of patients and their families. The movement disorder is often severe and may necessitate the use of a wheelchair from early childhood. Self-mutilation and autoaggressive behavior are almost pathognomonic and may require wearing of gloves and/or dental removal to prevent bite wounds to fingers/hands and lips/cheeks. Overproduction of uric acid causes nephrolithiasis leading

an adenosine donor, the lack of purines in LND can be recovered by turning adenosine to adenosine monophosphate (AMP) by adenine phosphoribosyltransferase (APRT) and then to IMP. *ADA* adenosine deaminase, *ADSL* adenylosuccinate lyase, *AK* adenosine kinase, *AMPRT* amido phosphoribosyltransferase, *ATP* adenosine triphosphate, *GTP* guanosine triphosphate, *IDH* isocitrate dehydrogenase, *PNP* purine nucleoside phosphorylase, *PPRP* phosphoribosylpyrophosphate

to renal insufficiency, which is a main cause of death. Furthermore, there are several sudden death cases related to LND (Neychev and Jinnah 2006).

The pathophysiology of LND is not fully understood, but the general hypothesis includes depletion of adenosine (Criswell et al. 1988; Green et al. 1982; Kopin 1981; Stone 1981). Lack of purines due to HPRT deficiency in LND may be rescued by salvaging purines via adenosine \rightarrow inosine monophosphate (IMP) \rightarrow guanosine monophosphate (GMP). S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) is thought to replenish the purine pool by serving as an adenosine donor (Fig. 1).

SAM, previously used in another purine deficiency disease, Arts syndrome (de Brouwer et al. 2007; Duley

et al. 2011), has been beneficial for treatment of selfmutilation in a single LND patient who initially received SAM for liver detoxification and elevated transaminases (Bottiglieri 2002; Glick 2006) and was tested in 14 patients from the Italian LND cohort with unequivocally opposite effects on patients (Dolcetta et al. 2013). A recent study in four additional patients (Chen et al. 2014) demonstrated a positive effect of SAM on the neurological symptoms, mainly self-mutilation.

Here, we prospectively investigated the effect of SAM in a double-blind placebo-controlled trial in a single patient with LND. From the findings of this trial, we suggest that SAM therapy could be beneficial for control of selfmutilation in LND.

Methods

Patient Presentation and Clinical Course

We describe a firstborn male child from unrelated healthy Swiss parents with normal postnatal adaptation. After normal development during his first 6 months of life, parents noticed first signs of developmental delay and muscular hypotonia. Evolution of dystonia and spasticity as well as orange crystals in the diapers and elevations of uric acid in blood and urine led to the suspicion of LND. This was confirmed by enzymatic testing in leukocytes (Laboratory of Genetic Metabolic Disease, Erasmus Medical Center, Rotterdam) at an age of 18 months. Mutation analysis of the HPRT1 gene showed a c.319-1G>A de novo mutation in the patient, but not in the mother, probably leading to a splice defect of the gene. Allopurinol therapy was started at a low dose (as the only additional pharmacological treatment at the time of the SAM trial) and adapted in relation to the uric acid levels in serum and urine (Fig. 2). The patient showed first self-mutilation attempts at age 2.5 years by biting his fingers, and this symptom was progressive leading to severe destruction of lips and repeated deep oral wounds. Physiotherapy led to some improvement of hypotonia and spasticity. The patient became wheelchair bound at age four years. To prevent malnutrition, supportive gastric tube feeding was initiated at age 3.7 years. For treatment of sleep disorders and anxiety, risperidone seemed beneficial.

Planning of Therapeutic Trial and Study Design

Self-mutilation became the most stressful symptom for patient and parents and led to restraining of hands and legs for most of the time during days and nights. In an attempt to quantify self-mutilation attempts, recording by the parents was started as a pre-study period (Fig. 2). Selfmutilation attempts were defined as abrupt arm movements of the patient aimed at biting his fingers or hands. This prestudy period comprised 165 days, during which 212 selfmutilation attempts were documented confirming that recording of these events was feasible and tolerated by the parents. Later analysis of these recordings showed a possible association of self-mutilation attempts with pain and/or infections. In order to evaluate a possible effect of SAM on the number of self-mutilation events, a doubleblind placebo-controlled trial was performed over eight months in which the parents continued to record selfmutilation events. Informed consent of parents was obtained. The trial consisted of alternating periods of 50 days on either placebo or SAM (verum) (Figs. 2 and 3). The patient was given capsules with 100 mg SAM twice daily (corresponding to 17 mg/kg/day) or placebo via his nasogastric tube. SAM (Abbot AG, Baar, Switzerland) and placebo were prepared as capsules indistinguishable by appearance and smell/taste. As this was a therapeutic trial with a licensed drug in a single patient, there was no need to obtain formal approval by the local ethical board.

Statistical Analysis

To analyze results, an unpaired *t*-student test was used with average of recorded events \pm standard deviation. Results were considered significant in case of p < 0.05.

Results

The study was tolerated without adverse events, and total study duration was 9 months. All periods of the study (placebo and verum) could be completed as planned with 50 days each. As the only exception, capsules taken in the last study period changed appearance and smell probably because of the high temperature and/or humidity in the air during summer months. Therefore, the study was finished slightly ahead of schedule. Before unblinding of the study, the parents mentioned their suspicion of having lastly received verum based on the recent smell of the compound and their impression of a clinical improvement during every second period.

During the entire study period, a total of 1,762 selfmutilation events were recorded. Of these, 1,281 events occurred during the placebo periods and 481 during the verum periods of the study. This corresponds to a significant reduction of self-mutilation events from 8.6 ± 4.75 mean daily events in the placebo periods to 4.5 ± 2.57 mean daily events when SAM was taken (p < 0.001). Based on this almost 50 % reduction of self-mutilation events (Fig. 3) and based on the parental impression of a clear therapeutic benefit of SAM when



Fig. 2 Details of the patient divided into three main groups: clinical symptoms, diagnostic interventions, and lab monitoring. In the top in differently colored bars, the clinical manifestations of the disease in the patient are depicted. Below another bar shows the pre-study period followed by the SAM trial. The *dotted black line* indicates the

study periods were unblinded, SAM was continued at the same dose (100 mg twice daily) as long-term therapy.

Along increasing allopurinol dosages, levels of uric acid in blood and urine decreased, while concentrations of xanthine and hypoxanthine, the latter the best soluble of the three, increased (Fig. 2).

Discussion

Treatment of LND is symptomatic and often of only limited efficacy. The result from our placebo-controlled trial in a single patient showed a clear reduction in self-mutilation attempts. Self-mutilation is a key symptom in LND and most often includes biting lips or fingers (Robey et al.

adjustments of allopurinol therapy. A small drop in uric acid concentrations can be seen after start of allopurinol therapy, but the dose had to be adapted several times until urine and blood uric acid decreased to therapeutic ranges, while urinary xanthine and hypoxanthine increased

2003). Most patients experience this as involuntary and request help or try to protect themselves by wearing gloves (Nyhan 1976). Our patient started self-mutilation with about 2.5 years, which is in line with other reports (Anderson and Ernst 1994).

Although we only studied one patient, we tried to compensate this with a careful pre-study period and a strict study protocol. In the pre-study period, we ensured quantification of self-mutilation events as good as this can be achieved with this partly subjective symptom that seemed to be associated with tiredness and pain, which is typical for LND patients. The study itself was double blind and placebo controlled, lasted 282 days, and was thus the optimum we could achieve in this n = 1 situation. Another limitation of our study is the fact that self-injury varies over

55



Fig. 3 Graph illustrating the number of self-mutilation events during the SAM trial. Panel A: Events during trial periods (a bar above the graph shows placebo periods in *green* and SAM periods in *blue*). For clarity of presentation, each 50-day period is calculated as 5 parts of

10 days each. Panel **B**: Daily mean \pm SD of self-mutilation events; *green column* represents placebo periods (total days, 154), and *blue column* represents verum period (total days, 128). The difference between the two periods was significant (p < 0.001)

time and some of the changes may not be related to SAM. Nevertheless, while we are aware of these limitations, we still consider the improvement of the clinical situation under SAM therapy, as demonstrated by the significant decrease in self-mutilating events, as very encouraging because it relieved the physical and psychological distress for the patient and his family. The result may be further valuable for the understanding of the pathophysiology of LND and may open the way for further improvement of treatment.

SAM treatment has previously been reported in only few patients (Chen et al. 2014; Dolcetta et al. 2013; Glick 2006); in some of these, supplementation with SAM led to a drastic reduction in self-mutilation events and very good clinical outcome. This was investigated with (Dolcetta et al. 2013) or without (Chen et al. 2014; Glick 2006) formal assessment tools, and we decided here to base effect on parental judgment and documentation.

Action of LND is not fully understood, but SAM may replenish adenosine in cells, which can then be formed into adenosine monophosphate by adenosine kinase, and adenosine triphosphate. Furthermore, IMP can be formed by adenylosuccinate lyase, which can then be formed to GMP by isocitrate dehydrogenase, thus replenishing guanosine triphosphate purines. Purine depletion in tissue culture models and selective vulnerability of basal ganglia in HPRT-deficient mice was shown in several studies (Dunnett et al. 1989; Finger et al. 1988; Jinnah et al. 1992, 1994, 1999), and SAM could act on this by replenishing adenosyl stores in LND. Other authors discuss a role of SAM in neurotransmitter synthesis and metabolism (Dolcetta et al. 2013; Miller 2008), but this clearly needs more studies.

Although self-mutilation events cause most stress in LND, many patients die from renal failure due to nephrolithiasis. Prevention or treatment of nephrolithiasis should therefore be a priority, and a lesson can be learned from management in our patient. Lowering urinary uric acid concentration, the main therapeutic goal in LND, is coupled to an increase of renal xanthine and hypoxanthine excretion, which are a risk of urolithiasis. However, the solubility of these three metabolites should guide dosing of allopurinol: uric acid has by far the lowest solubility in water (10.5 mmol/L, HMBD, http://www.hmdb.ca/), while hypoxanthine is much better soluble (95.5 mmol/L, HMBD; this concentration will even with high-dose allopurinol hardly ever be reached). We thus suggest that

a high dose of allopurinol should be administered from the beginning of treatment in LND.

In conclusion, our n = 1 trial could show that SAM significantly reduces self-mutilating behavior in LND and may offer an additional therapeutic means adding to current symptomatic therapy. Furthermore, the course of purine metabolites in blood and urine underline the recommendation for an early start of high-dose allopurinol to prevent development of kidney stones. Finally, the findings of our study point toward adenosine depletion as a factor in the still dubious pathophysiology of LND.

Acknowledgments We appreciate the help of the family of our patient in conducting this trial and specifically the excellent recording of self-mutilation events. We also thank Mrs. Ursina Spörri, Zurich, for her help in data analysis.

Compliance with Ethics Guidelines

Conflict of Interest

Matthias Lauber, Barbara Plecko, Miriam Pfiffner, Jean-Marc Nuoffer, and Johannes Häberle declare that they have no conflict of interest.

This article does contain studies with a human subject. The patient received a medication as compassionate use after approval was obtained from the SwissMedic/Schweizerisches Heilmittelinstitut. As this was a therapeutic trial with a licensed drug in a single patient, there was no need to obtain formal approval by the local ethical board.

Jean-Marc Nuoffer and Johannes Häberle have together planned the study that was performed under the supervision of Johannes Häberle. Analysis and interpretation of data, drafting of the article, and revision were performed by Matthias Lauber, Barbara Plecko, Miriam Pfiffner, Jean-Marc Nuoffer, and Johannes Häberle.

References

- Anderson LT, Ernst M (1994) Self-injury in Lesch–Nyhan disease. J Autism Dev Disord 24:67–81
- Bertelli M, Randi D, Micheli V, Gallo S, Andrighetto G, Parmigiani P, Jacomelli G, Carella M, Lievore C, Pandolfo M (2004) Molecular basis of hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyltransferase deficiency in Italian Lesch–Nyhan patients: identification of nine novel mutations. J Inherit Metab Dis 27:767–773. doi:10.1023/B:BOLI.0000045799.78633.23
- Bottiglieri T (2002) S-Adenosyl-L-methionine (SAMe): from the bench to the bedside—molecular basis of a pleiotrophic molecule. Am J Clin Nutr 76:1151S–1157S
- Chen BC, Balasubramaniam S, McGown IN, O'Neill JP, Chng GS, Keng WT, Ngu LH, Duley JA (2014) Treatment of Lesch–Nyhan disease with S-adenosylmethionine: experience with five young Malaysians, including a girl. Brain Dev 36:593–600. doi:10.1016/j.braindev.2013.08.013

- Criswell H, Mueller RA, Breese GR (1988) Assessment of purinedopamine interactions in 6-hydroxydopamine-lesioned rats: evidence for pre- and postsynaptic influences by adenosine. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 244:493–500
- de Brouwer AP, Williams KL, Duley JA, van Kuilenburg AB, Nabuurs SB, Egmont-Petersen M, Lugtenberg D, Zoetekouw L, Banning MJ, Roeffen M, Hamel BC, Weaving L, Ouvrier RA, Donald JA, Wevers RA, Christodoulou J, van Bokhoven H (2007) Arts syndrome is caused by loss-of-function mutations in PRPS1. Am J Hum Genet 81:507–518. doi:10.1086/520706
- De Gregorio L, Nyhan WL, Serafin E, Chamoles NA (2000) An unexpected affected female patient in a classical Lesch–Nyhan family. Mol Genet Metab 69:263–268. doi:10.1006/ mgme.2000.2967
- Dolcetta D, Parmigiani P, Salmaso L, Bernardelle R, Cesari U, Andrighetto G, Baschirotto G, Nyhan WL, Hladnik U (2013) Quantitative evaluation of the clinical effects of S-adenosylmethionine on mood and behavior in Lesch–Nyhan patients. Nucleosides Nucleotides Nucleic Acids 32:174–188. doi:10.1080/15257770.2013.774012
- Duley JA, Christodoulou J, de Brouwer AP (2011) The PRPP synthetase spectrum: what does it demonstrate about nucleotide syndromes? Nucleosides Nucleotides Nucleic Acids 30:1129–1139. doi:10.1080/15257770.2011.591747
- Dunnett SB, Sirinathsinghji DJ, Heavens R, Rogers DC, Kuehn MR (1989) Monoamine deficiency in a transgenic (Hprt-) mouse model of Lesch–Nyhan syndrome. Brain Res 501:401–406
- Finger S, Heavens RP, Sirinathsinghji DJ, Kuehn MR, Dunnett SB (1988) Behavioral and neurochemical evaluation of a transgenic mouse model of Lesch–Nyhan syndrome. J Neurol Sci 86:203–213
- Fu R, Chen CJ, Jinnah HA (2014) Genotypic and phenotypic spectrum in attenuated variants of Lesch–Nyhan disease. Mol Genet Metab 112:280–285. doi:10.1016/j.ymgme.2014.05.012
- Glick N (2006) Dramatic reduction in self-injury in Lesch–Nyhan disease following S-adenosylmethionine administration. J Inherit Metab Dis 29:687. doi:10.1007/s10545-006-0229-8
- Green RD, Proudfit HK, Yeung SM (1982) Modulation of striatal dopaminergic function by local injection of 5'-N-ethylcarboxamide adenosine. Science 218:58–61
- Jinnah HA, Langlais PJ, Friedmann T (1992) Functional analysis of brain dopamine systems in a genetic mouse model of Lesch– Nyhan syndrome. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 263:596–607
- Jinnah HA, Wojcik BE, Hunt M, Narang N, Lee KY, Goldstein M, Wamsley JK, Langlais PJ, Friedmann T (1994) Dopamine deficiency in a genetic mouse model of Lesch–Nyhan disease. J Neurosci 14:1164–1175
- Jinnah HA, Jones MD, Wojcik BE, Rothstein JD, Hess EJ, Friedmann T, Breese GR (1999) Influence of age and strain on striatal dopamine loss in a genetic mouse model of Lesch–Nyhan disease. J Neurochem 72:225–229
- Jinnah HA, De Gregorio L, Harris JC, Nyhan WL, O'Neill JP (2000) The spectrum of inherited mutations causing HPRT deficiency: 75 new cases and a review of 196 previously reported cases. Mutat Res 463:309–326
- Jinnah HA, Harris JC, Nyhan WL, O'Neill JP (2004) The spectrum of mutations causing HPRT deficiency: an update. Nucleosides Nucleotides Nucleic Acids 23:1153–1160. doi:10.1081/NCN-200027400
- Jinnah HA, Ceballos-Picot I, Torres RJ, Visser JE, Schretlen DJ, Verdu A, Larovere LE, Chen CJ, Cossu A, Wu CH, Sampat R, Chang SJ, de Kremer RD, Nyhan W, Harris JC, Reich SG, Puig JG, Lesch–Nyhan Disease International Study Group (2010) Attenuated variants of Lesch–Nyhan disease. Brain 133:671–689. doi:10.1093/brain/awq013

- Kopin IJ (1981) Neurotransmitters and the Lesch–Nyhan syndrome. N Engl J Med 305:1148–1150. doi:10.1056/NEJM198111053051910
- Miller AL (2008) The methylation, neurotransmitter, and antioxidant connections between folate and depression. Altern Med Rev 13:216–226
- Neychev VK, Jinnah HA (2006) Sudden death in Lesch-Nyhan disease. Dev Med Child Neurol 48:923–926. doi:10.1017/ S0012162206002015
- Nyhan WL (1976) Behavior in the Lesch–Nyhan syndrome. J Autism Child Schizophr 6:235–252
- Puig JG, Torres RJ, Mateos FA, Ramos TH, Arcas JM, Buno AS, O'Neill P (2001) The spectrum of hypoxanthine-guanine phos-

phoribosyltransferase (HPRT) deficiency. Clinical experience based on 22 patients from 18 Spanish families. Medicine (Baltimore) 80:102-112

- Robey KL, Reck JF, Giacomini KD, Barabas G, Eddey GE (2003) Modes and patterns of self-mutilation in persons with Lesch– Nyhan disease. Dev Med Child Neurol 45:167–171
- Schretlen DJ, Ward J, Meyer SM, Yun J, Puig JG, Nyhan WL, Jinnah HA, Harris JC (2005) Behavioral aspects of Lesch–Nyhan disease and its variants. Dev Med Child Neurol 47:673–677. doi:10.1017/S0012162205001374
- Stone TW (1981) Physiological roles for adenosine and adenosine 5'triphosphate in the nervous system. Neuroscience 6:523–555

RESEARCH REPORT

Low Protein Formula: Consequences of Quantitative Effects of Pre-analytical Factors on Amino Acid Concentrations in Plasma of Healthy Infants

Claude Bachmann • Alexander Kainz • Elisabeth Haschke-Becher

Received: 08 November 2015 / Revised: 06 March 2016 / Accepted: 08 April 2016 / Published online: 15 June 2016 © SSIEM and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2016

Abstract *Objective*: Quantifying pre-analytical effects of postprandial sampling delay and daily protein intake on plasma amino acid concentrations in healthy infants fed formula with low protein content (1.8–1.9 g/100 kcal). Intake of formula with higher protein content bears a risk for later obesity (Kirchberg, J Clin Endocrinol Metab 100 (1):149–158, 2015). Formulas containing less than 1.8 g protein might be adequate but not safe (Fomon, J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 28:495–501, 1999). With on-demand feeding reproducible controls of indispensible amino acid concentration cannot be made at trough level.

Methods: Data of 102 healthy infants aged 1 month and 79 aged 4 months fed formula with low protein content were obtained from a previous study (Haschke-Becher, J Inherit Metab Dis 39(1):25–37, 2016). They were analysed by multiple regression. Independent variables were the postprandial sampling delay from 2.25 to 4.5 h and the daily protein intake. Dependant variables were the amino acid concentrations. The combined effect was calculated with the natural logarithm of the amino acid concentration.

Communicated by: Piero Rinaldo, MD, PhD
Electronic supplementary material: The online version of this
chapter (doi:10.1007/8904_2016_566) contains supplementary
material, which is available to authorized users.

C. Bachmann (⊠)

Laboratoire Central de Chimie Clinique, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Vaudois (CHUV), University of Lausanne, Rittergasse 11, CH-4103 Bottmingen, Switzerland e-mail: claude.bachmann@gmail.com

A. Kainz

Department of Internal Medicine III, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

E. Haschke-Becher

Department of Laboratory Medicine, Paracelsus Medical University, Salzburg, Austria

Results: Most amino acids fitted a significant exponential decrease due to the sampling delay, except of aspartate, citrulline, glutamine, glutamate, histidine, tryptophan and tyrosine at 1 month; and at 4 months except of citrulline, glutamine, glutamate, glycine and ornithine. Significant effects of protein intake were found for lysine and serine at 1 month and for glutamate at 4 months of age. Lowest limits of significant amino acid concentrations were calculated by extrapolation of sampling delay to 5 h and using the 10th percentile after back-transformation to μ mol/ L. A procedure to avoid the pitfall of overestimating amino acid concentration is presented.

Introduction

When infants cannot be breast-fed formulas with low protein content (1.8-1.9 g/100 kcal) have been recommended in order to avoid an excessive protein supply or amino acid imbalance during organ development in infants (Koletzko et al. 2005). Furthermore, infant formulas with higher protein content are risk factors for later obesity (Kirchberg et al. 2015; Ong et al. 2009; Toschke et al. 2004). Formulas containing less than 1.8 g protein might be adequate but not safe as shown by Fomon et al. (1999). Frequent controls of amino acid concentrations in plasma of infants are thus needed when low protein formulas are exclusively fed in order to exclude that very low amino acid concentrations limit protein synthesis of infants during this phase of change of growth rate. For the interpretation of amino acid results the effect of pre-analytical factors must be taken into account; however, most often pre-analytical factors are not documented and/or communicated.

Relevant pre-analytical factors which modify the plasma levels are (1) the time elapsed between the end of the last

feed and the sampling of blood and (2) the actual daily intake of protein and its composition. For following the course of a patient or for excluding protein malnutrition blood sampling should be done at trough levels, i.e. between 4.5 and 5.5 h postprandial (p.p.) except of citrulline (Haschke-Becher et al. 2016; Windmueller and Spaeth 1981). However this is not always done or feasible. If blood is sampled during food absorption (i.e. until 2 h p.p.) the results are useless since no reference data of healthy infants exist. In practice samples are most often taken during the exponential decrease of essential and of some non-essential amino acids before trough level is reached, e.g. if the infants are fed on demand. Such results might, however, lead to pitfalls of interpretation: Most essential amino acids and some non-essential ones decrease exponentially after 2.25 postprandial (p.p.) hours until the trough level (>4.5 h) is reached; when blood is sampled during the exponential drop, the actual amino acid concentration determined will be higher than at trough level. If this is not taken into account in infants fed low protein formulas there is a risk of missing amino acid deficiencies and to interpret the amino acid concentration as safe level.

To our knowledge the effect of time of blood sampling and of the actual daily intake of formulas with low protein content on plasma amino acids has not been quantitatively estimated in healthy infants of 1 and 4 months of age. In this period of rapid growth the concentrations of indispensible amino acids in plasma should be safe, adapted to the needs and neither rate limiting for protein synthesis nor in excess.

We show quantitative data of plasma amino acid concentrations of healthy infants aged 1 and 4 months fed low protein formula on demand. We focus on the combined effect of the p.p. sampling delay from 2.25 to 4.5 h and of the individual daily protein intake on the amino acid concentrations in plasma. Furthermore we present low limits (the 10th percentile) of amino acid concentrations in plasma of healthy infants aged 1 and 4 months after extrapolating the time of sampling to trough levels (5 h p.p.). By comparison of patient results with these data the risk of amino acid deficiency might be evaluated in patients fed amino acid mixtures of low protein content.

Study Population and Methods

In order to quantify and estimate the influence of postprandial sampling delay after the end of last feed and of daily protein intake on the plasma amino acids we used a population of healthy infants of 1 and 4 months of age fed exclusively formulas with low protein content (1.8–1.9 g protein/100 kcal). The population and the analytical

methods used for the amino acid analysis including total plasma tryptophan have been published elsewhere (Haschke-Becher et al. 2016). For this study we included only those infants who had information on actual protein intake per day. on postprandial sampling delay (independent variables) and plasma amino acid concentrations (dependent variables). 102 samples were of infants aged 1 month and 79 of infants aged 4 months. We do not report data of the following amino acids: taurine (added to the protein mixture of the formulas), hydroxyproline (posttranslational product of proline), cystine (pre-analytical bias) and 1- and 3-methylhistidine (low precision of low values); as shown in Haschke-Becher et al. (2016) on Fig 1 and in its electronic supplemental material. We focussed on the kinetics of plasma amino acids in blood samples obtained between 2.25 and 4.5 h postprandial. We used the natural logarithm of amino acid concentrations and determined intercept and parameter estimates of both independent variables. Furthermore we used standardized Beta coefficients of the multiple regressions, i.e. the coefficients of the dependent variables transformed to a standard deviation of 1 for weighting the impact of the two independent variables.

Statistics

Sample distribution of amino acids was analysed with Shapiro-Wilk, Kolmogorov Smirnov and Cramer von Mises tests and quantile regression with SAS 9.4 TS1M2 software for Windows (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC). The fit of combined effects of both independent factors was calculated by multiple regression of the natural logarithm (ln) of amino acid concentrations in dependence of p.p. sampling delay and daily protein intake. Analyse-it 3 for Excel software was used for these calculations (Analyse-it Software Ltd., Leeds, UK). In addition, the fit of each dependant variable by linear regression was controlled separately. R software (Koenker and Bassett 1978) was used for computing the fit at the 10th percentile.

Values of p < 0.05 were considered significant. Half-life was calculated by: $T_{1/2} = -\ln(2)/\text{estimate}$ of the regression coefficient of the sampling delay.

Results

Post-absorptive Kinetics of Amino Acid Concentrations in Plasma of Healthy Infants: Effect of p.p. Sampling Delay and Amount of Daily Protein Intake

The kinetic parameters of samples taken between 2.25 and 4.5 h p.p. differed among amino acids. The results of multivariate regressions are shown in Tables 1 and 2 for

Table 1 Kinetic ps	aramete	rs of plast	ma amino ac	ids sample	d at 1 mont	th of age bet	ween 2.25	and 4.5 h p	o.p. fed for	mula of low	protein	content				
			Intercept :	at $t = 0$ (cc	onstant)	Regression	coefficien	t of p.p. sai	npling dela	iy (h)		Regression (coefficient o	f daily prot	ein intake	
ln amino acids	и	R^{2}	Estimate	Lower 95%CI	Upper 95%CI	Estimate	Lower 95%CI	Upper 95%CI	Beta	d	$T_{1/2}$ (h)	Estimate	Lower 95%CI	Upper 95%CI	Beta	d
2-Aminobutyrate	102	0.006	2.656	2.307	3.004	-0.0102	-0.099	0.079	-0.023	0.8204	68	-0.00749	-0.0275	0.0125	-0.075	0.4589
Alanine	102	0.225	6.377	6.092	6.662	-0.1904	-0.263	-0.118	-0.461	< 0.0001	3.6	0.00760	-0.0088	0.0239	0.082	0.3588
Arginine	102	0.051	4.889	4.599	5.178	-0.0823	-0.156	-0.008	-0.217	0.0294	8.4	0.00425	-0.0124	0.0209	0.050	0.6131
Asparagine	102	0.144	4.128	3.912	4.343	-0.1068	-0.162	-0.052	-0.359	0.0002	6.5	0.00650	-0.0059	0.0189	0.097	0.2992
Aspartate	102	0.007	2.730	2.205	3.254	-0.0422	-0.176	0.092	-0.063	0.5328	16	0.00769	-0.0224	0.0378	0.051	0.6134
Citrulline	102	0.032	2.929	2.595	3.262	0.0762	-0.009	0.161	0.176	0.0786		0.00442	-0.0147	0.0236	0.045	0.6476
Glutamate	102	0.001	4.554	4.022	5.087	-0.0037	-0.140	0.132	-0.005	0.9571	188	0.00432	-0.0262	0.0349	0.028	0.7798
Glutamine	102	0.001	6.362	6.180	6.543	-0.0042	-0.050	0.042	-0.018	0.8577	165	-0.00084	-0.0112	0.0096	-0.016	0.8733
Glycine	102	0.011	5.586	5.392	5.781	-0.0269	-0.077	0.023	-0.107	0.2866	26	-0.00061	-0.0118	0.0106	-0.011	0.9140
Histidine	102	0.043	4.538	4.372	4.705	-0.0387	-0.081	0.004	-0.178	0.0733	18	0.00464	-0.0049	0.0142	0.095	0.3371
Isoleucine	102	0.208	4.594	4.300	4.889	-0.1865	-0.262	-0.111	-0.441	<0.0001	3.7	0.00824	-0.0087	0.0251	0.087	0.3363
Leucine	102	0.158	5.137	4.875	5.400	-0.1377	-0.205	-0.071	-0.377	<0.0001	5.0	0.00850	-0.0066	0.0236	0.103	0.2662
Lysine	102	0.178	5.594	5.378	5.810	-0.1086	-0.164	-0.053	-0.357	0.0002	6.4	0.01364	0.0012	0.0260	0.199	0.0314
Methionine	102	0.116	3.707	3.460	3.953	-0.1013	-0.164	-0.038	-0.302	0.0019	6.8	0.01035	-0.0038	0.0245	0.137	0.1501
Ornithine	102	0.135	4.885	4.575	5.196	-0.1458	-0.225	-0.066	-0.342	0.0004	4.8	0.01059	-0.0072	0.0284	0.111	0.2412
Phenylalanine	102	0.074	4.080	3.840	4.320	-0.0777	-0.139	-0.016	-0.244	0.0135	8.9	0.00757	-0.0062	0.0214	0.106	0.2781
Proline	102	0.117	5.477	5.241	5.713	-0.1097	-0.170	-0.049	-0.342	0.0005	6.3	0.00037	-0.0132	0.0139	0.005	0.9563
Serine	102	0.090	5.148	4.949	5.346	-0.0800	-0.131	-0.029	-0.301	0.0023	8.7	-0.00069	-0.0121	0.0107	-0.011	0.9050
Threonine	102	0.184	5.455	5.182	5.728	-0.1430	-0.213	-0.073	-0.371	<0.0001	4.8	0.01646	0.0008	0.0321	0.190	0.0395
Tryptophan	96	0.009	4.288	4.022	4.553	-0.0328	-0.102	0.036	-0.097	0.3486	21	-0.00048	-0.0155	0.0145	-0.007	0.9492
Tyrosine	102	0.027	4.564	4.270	4.857	-0.0625	-0.137	0.012	-0.164	0.1013	11	-0.00157	-0.0184	0.0153	-0.018	0.8541
Valine	102	0.102	5.303	5.058	5.549	-0.0997	-0.162	-0.225	-0.301	0.0021	7.0	0.00649	-0.0076	0.0206	0.087	0.3629
Aspartate +	102	0.115	4.373	4.163	4.583	-0.0918	-0.146	-0.038	-0.322	0.0010		0.00566	-0.0064	0.0177	0.088	0.3547
Asparagine	001	10000							100.0	00700		000000		1000		00100
Glutamate + Glutamine	107	0.0004	CZC.0	0.38/	0.003	-0.000/	-0.030	C£U.U	-0.004	0.9698		-0.00080	-0.008/	0.00/1	-0.020	0.8409

 R^2 coefficient of determination, Beta standardized Beta, Italics significant result, p.p. postprandial (after end of last feed), $T_{1/2}$ half-life

			Intercept a	If $t = 0$ (co	nstant)	Regression	coefficient	of p.p. samp	oling delay			Regression	coefficient o	of daily prot	ein intake	
InAA	и	R^{2}	Estimate	Lower 95%CI	Upper 95%CI	Estimate	Lower 95%CI	Upper 95%CI	Beta	d	$T_{1/2}$ (h)	Estimate	Lower 95%CI	Upper 95%CI	Beta	р
2-Aminobutyrate	<i>7</i> 9	0.046	2.922	2.636	3.208	-0.0374	-0.1162	0.0414	-0.106	0.3476	19	-0.0115	-0.0258	0.0027	-0.181	0.1113
Alanine	79	0.114	6.268	5.961	6.575	-0.1305	-0.2151	-0.0459	-0.333	0.0029	5.3	-0.0026	-0.0179	0.0127	-0.037	0.7341
Arginine	79	0.114	4.989	4.693	5.286	-0.1268	-0.2084	-0.0451	-0.334	0.0028	5.5	-0.0019	-0.0167	0.0128	-0.028	0.7947
Asparagine	79	0.169	4.101	3.851	4.351	-0.1341	-0.2030	-0.0651	-0.406	0.0002	5.2	0.0060	-0.0065	0.0185	0.100	0.3408
Aspartate	79	0.055	2.896	2.477	3.315	-0.0892	-0.2046	0.0263	-0.172	0.1281	7.8	-0.0140	-0.0348	0.0069	-0.149	0.1866
Citrulline	79	0.028	2.768	2.408	3.128	0.0716	-0.0275	0.1708	0.163	0.1544		0.0022	-0.0157	0.0202	0.028	0.8046
Glutamate	79	0.105	4.987	4.524	5.450	-0.0546	-0.1824	0.0731	-0.093	0.3972	13	-0.0325	-0.0556	-0.0094	-0.305	0.0064
Glutamine	79	0.028	6.250	6.051	6.449	-0.0258	-0.0807	0.0292	-0.106	0.3537	27	0.0060	-0.0039	0.0160	0.137	0.2303
Glycine	79	0.016	5.210	5.019	5.402	0.0004	-0.0525	0.0532	0.002	0.9895		0.0053	-0.0043	0.0148	0.126	0.2737
Histidine	79	0.089	4.574	4.384	4.764	-0.0590	-0.1114	-0.0065	-0.246	0.0281	12	-0.0067	-0.0161	0.0028	-0.154	0.1656
Isoleucine	79	0.202	4.564	4.298	4.830	-0.1599	-0.2333	-0.0865	-0.445	<0.0001	4.3	-0.0022	-0.0155	0.0111	-0.034	0.7428
Leucine	79	0.214	5.153	4.902	5.404	-0.1571	-0.2263	-0.0878	-0.460	<0.0001	4.4	-0.0013	-0.0139	0.0112	-0.022	0.8316
Lysine	79	0.197	5.542	5.297	5.787	-0.1453	-0.2127	-0.0778	-0.442	<0.0001	4.8	0.0049	-0.0073	0.0171	0.083	0.4248
Methionine	79	0.214	3.817	3.539	4.095	-0.1664	-0.2431	-0.0898	-0.441	<0.0001	4.2	-0.0078	-0.0217	0.0060	-0.115	0.2648
Ornithine	79	0.041	4.578	4.257	4.899	-0.0745	-0.1631	0.0140	-0.189	0.0976	9.3	-0.0042	-0.0202	0.0118	-0.059	0.6004
Phenylalanine	79	0.116	4.246	3.990	4.501	-0.0990	-0.1694	-0.0287	-0.303	0.0064	7.0	-0.0081	-0.0208	0.0047	-0.137	0.2103
Proline	79	0.112	5.476	5.206	5.746	-0.1011	-0.1755	-0.0267	-0.293	0.0084	6.9	-0.0088	-0.0223	0.0046	-0.142	0.1940
Serine	79	0.156	5.203	5.026	5.380	-0.0785	-0.1273	-0.0296	-0.338	0.0020	8.8	-0.0076	-0.0165	0.0012	-0.182	0.0884
Threonine	79	0.091	5.295	4.988	5.601	-0.1126	-0.1971	-0.0282	-0.291	0.0096	6.2	-0.0044	-0.0197	0.0108	-0.063	0.5651
Tryptophan	70	0.076	4.480	4.222	4.738	-0.0830	-0.1542	-0.0118	-0.274	0.0231	8.4	0.0026	-0.0100	0.0151	0.049	0.6817
Tyrosine	79	0.054	4.645	4.303	4.986	-0.0956	-0.1898	-0.0014	-0.226	0.0467	7.3	-0.0032	-0.0202	0.0138	-0.042	0.7089
Valine	79	0.152	5.377	5.165	5.588	-0.1041	-0.1623	-0.0459	-0.377	0.0006	6.7	-0.0039	-0.0144	0.0066	-0.078	0.4616
Aspartate +	79	0.197	4.397	4.180	4.614	-0.1301	-0.1901	-0.0702	-0.445	<0.0001		0.0012	-0.0096	0.0120	0.023	0.8254
Asparagine Glutamate + Glutamine	79	0.056	6.544	6.402	6.687	-0.0411	-0.0804	-0.0019	-0.233	0.0404		-0.0008	-0.0079	0.0063	-0.026	0.8159
R^2 coefficient of de	stermi	nation, Bo	<i>eta</i> standard	ized Beta,	Italics sign	ficant result,	<i>p.p.</i> postpra	indial (after	end of last	feed), T _{1/2} }	alf-life					

 $\underline{\widehat{\mathcal{D}}}$ Springer

blood samples taken at 1 and 4 months of age, respectively. Biological half-life is also shown. The equations with the factors of multiple regressions are presented in Table 3. The sample distribution of amino acids was logarithmic; thus the natural logarithms (ln) of the amino acid concentrations were used for calculations. For infants of 1 month of age all the regression parameters of sampling delay of the ln of essential amino acids had a significant negative slope except for total tryptophan (Table 1). This was also found for the following non-essential amino acids: alanine, arginine, asparagine, ornithine, proline, serine and the sum of aspartate and asparagine. The regression coefficients of daily protein intake were significant and positive only for lysine and threonine at 1 month of age.

At 4 month of age the significance of regression coefficients of sampling delay differed from those at 1 month insofar as the regression coefficient of ornithine was not significant anymore (p = 0.098); the coefficients of histidine, tryptophan and tyrosine were significant as well as the sum of glutamine and glutamate (Table 2). At 4 months of age the sole significant coefficient of protein intake/d was that of glutamate (p = 0.006). Citrulline concentration increased during the post-absorptive phase; the lowest level was reached during the first hour after the end of last feed (Haschke-Becher et al. 2016).

There were not enough data for calculating the kinetics during the initial absorption of the gut (0-2.0 h) and after 5.5 postprandial hours when concentrations of many amino acids tended to increase presumably by incipient proteolysis.

Kinetic parameters of both independent variables calculated separately by univariate linear regression are presented in the electronic supplemental material (Tables 5–8).

Effect of the Independent Variables on the Mean of Amino Acid Concentrations

The standardized squared Beta values were higher for the p. p. sampling delay than for the protein intake/day. At 1 month of age the percentage of the total variance which exceeded 10% and can be attributed to the sampling delay was found for: alanine (21%), isoleucine (20%), leucine (14%), threonine, asparagine, lysine (13% each), ornithine and proline (each 12%). At 4 months the effect of sampling delay was 21% for leucine, 20% for isoleucine and lysine, 19% for methionine, 17% for asparagine, 14% for valine and 11% for arginine and alanine. The effect of protein intake per day on total variance was lower than 5% for all the amino acids, both at 1 and 4 months of age.

Univariate regression was done for each independent variable on the same set of data as used for the multivariate

regression. As expected, most estimates differed between the two methods. The differences were, however, minor.

Procedure to Avoid the Pitfall of Overestimated Amino Acid Concentrations

The goal was to avoid the pitfall of overestimating amino acid concentrations sampled during the post-absorptive phase (2.25-4.5 h). We estimated by extrapolation to trough level (5 h) the ln of those amino acids which showed a significant p.p. drop in healthy infants fed formula with low protein content. We defined lower limits at the 10th percentile for such amino acids and back-transformed the logarithmic results into μ mol/L in dependence of sampling delay during the exponential drop and at trough level (Tables 4 and 5). These data of healthy infants aged 1 or 4 months may be used for evaluating amino acid results (μ mol/L) of controls made on patients aged 1 or 4 months fed low protein formula to make sure that there is no risk of protein malnutrition, e.g. if albumin is below the reference limits.

Discussion

The quantitative effects of p.p. sampling delay indicate that during the post-absorptive phase of 2.25-4.5 h the effect of sampling delay on the ln of essential amino acids (except total tryptophan) and of some non-essential amino acids leads to a significant negative slope, while several nonessential amino acids in plasma are not significantly affected by the p.p. sampling delay. Ornithine concentration is affected by the sampling delay at 1 month of age (p < 0.001), but not at 4 months of age (p = 0.098). This supports quantitatively the hypothesis that the flux direction at 1 month of ornithine to proline synthesis prevails (Haschke-Becher et al. 2016) due to the high demand of proline for collagen I synthesis. Since the proline content in the formula is lower than in breast-milk additional proline should be provided. Collagen I synthesis further requires glycine which is not affected by sampling delay in contrast to its precursor serine. Hydroxyproline, as a posttranslational product of proline is needed as well; the ln of proline and of hydroxyproline correlate positively (Spearman $\rho = 0.422$ and 0.454 at 1 and 4 months, respectively; p < 0.001 for both).

The effect of the actual daily intake of low protein formula is significant for lysine and threonine in infants of 1 month of age and at 4 months solely for glutamate (precursor of Δ 1-pyrroline 5-carboxylate and proline or ornithine). It is not clear if the significant effects of intake of lysine and threonine at 1 month of age are due to a

Infants aged 1 month	Infants aged 4 months
$lnABA = 2.656 - (0.0102 \times Sampling delay) - (0.007493 \times Prot.Intake/d)$ $lnALA = 6.377 - (0.190 \times Sampling delay) + (0.00760 \times Prot.Intake/d)$	$lnABA = 2.922 - (0.0374 \times Sampling delay) - (0.01152 \times Prot.Intake/d)$ $lnALA = 6.268 - (0.131 \times Sampling delay) - (0.002617 \times Prot.Intake/d)$
InARG = 4.889 - (0.0823 × Sampling delay) + (0.00425 × Prot.Intake/d) InASN = 4.128 - (0.107 × Samuling Dalay) + (0.00650 × Prot.Intake/d)	$\ln AG = 4.989 - (0.1270 \times Sampling delay) - (0.001935 \times Prot.Intake/d)$ $\ln ASN - 4.101 - 0.134 \times Samuling delay) + 0.005006 \times Prot Intele/d)$
$\ln ASP = 2.73 - (0.0422 \times Sampling delay) + (0.00769 \times Prot.Intake/d)$	$\ln \Delta SP = 2.896 - (0.08920 \times Sampling delay) - (0.01396 \times Prot.Intake(d)$
$\ln CIT = 2.929 + (0.0762 \times \text{Sampling delay}) + (0.00442 \times \text{Prot.Intake/d})$	$\ln CTT = 2.768 + (0.0716 \times \text{Sampling delay}) + (0.002234 \times \text{Prot.Intake/d})$
$\ln GLU = 4.554 - (0.00370 \times \text{Sampling delay}) + (0.00432 \times \text{Prot.Intake/d})$	$\ln GLU = 4.987 - (0.0546 \times \text{Sampling delay}) - (0.03251 \times \text{Prot.Intake/d})$
$\ln GLN = 6.362 - (0.00419 \times Sampling delay) - (0.000838 \times Prot.Intake/d)$	$\ln GLN = 6.25 - (0.0258 \times Sampling delay) + (0.006032 \times Prot.Intake/d)$
$\ln GLY = 5.586 - (0.0269 \times \text{Sampling delay}) - (0.000610 \times \text{Prot.Intake/d})$	$\ln GLY = 5.21 + (0.00035 \times \text{Sampling delay}) + (0.005289 \times \text{Prot.Intake/d})$
$hHIS = 4.538 - (0.0387 \times Sampling delay) + (0.00464 \times Prot.Intake/d)$	lnHIS = 4.574 $-$ (0.0590 $ imes$ Sampling delay) $-$ (0.006662 $ imes$ Prot.Intake/d)
$\ln \mathrm{ILE} = 4.594 - (0.187 imes \mathrm{Sampling}\ \mathrm{delay}) + (0.00824 imes \mathrm{Prot.Intake/d})$	lnILE = 4.564 $-$ (0.160 $ imes$ Sampling delay) $-$ (0.002195 $ imes$ Prot.Intake/d)
$\ln LEU = 5.137 - (0.138 imes Sampling delay) + (0.00850 imes Prot.Intake/d)$	$\ln LEU = 5.153 - (0.157 \times \text{Sampling delay}) - (0.001341 \times \text{Prot.Intake/d})$
$\ln LYS = 5.594 - (0.109 imes Sampling delay) + (0.0136 imes Prot.Intake/d)$	$\ln LYS = 5.542 - (0.145 imes Sampling delay) + (0.004911 imes Prot.Intake/d)$
$\mathrm{InMET}=3.707-(0.1019 imes \mathrm{Sampling}\ \mathrm{delay})+(0.0104 imes \mathrm{Prot.Intake/d})$	lnMET = $3.817 - (0.166 imes ext{Sampling delay}) - (0.007815 imes ext{Prot.Intake/d})$
$\ln ORN = 4.885 - (0.146 imes Sampling delay) + (0.01060 imes Prot.Intake/d)$	$\ln ORN = 4.578 - (0.0745 \times Sampling delay) - (0.004225 \times Prot.Intake/d)$
lnPHE = 4.08 $-$ (0.0777 $ imes$ Sampling delay) $+$ (0.00757 $ imes$ Prot.Intake/d)	lnPHE = 4.246 - (0.0991 $ imes$ Sampling delay) - (0.008068 $ imes$ Prot.Intake/d)
$lnPROL = 5.477 - (0.110 \times Sampling delay) + (0.000374 \times Prot.Intake/d)$	$lnPROL = 5.476 - (0.101 \times Sampling delay) - (0.008848 \times Prot.Intake/d)$
InSER = 5.148 - (0.0800 imes Sampling delay) - (0.000687 imes Prot.Intake/d)	$lnSER = 5.203 - (0.0785 \times Sampling delay) - (0.007643 \times Prot.Intake/d)$
lnTHR = 5.455 $-$ (0.143 $ imes$ Sampling delay) $+$ (0.0165 $ imes$ Prot.Intake/d)	$\ln THR = 5.295 - (0.113 \times Sampling delay) - (0.004426 \times Prot.Intake/d)$
$\ln \text{TRP} = 4.288 - (0.0328 \times \text{Sampling delay}) - (0.000483 \times \text{Prot.Intake/d})$	$\ln TRP = 4.48 - (0.0830 \times Sampling delay) + (0.00259 \times Prot.Intake/d)$
$\ln TYR = 4.564 - (0.0625 \times \text{Sampling delay}) - (0.00156 \times \text{Prot.Intake/d})$	$\ln TYR = 4.645 - (0.0956 imes Sampling delay) - (0.003201 imes Prot.Intake/d)$
$\ln VAL = 5.303 - (0.0997 \times \text{Sampling delay}) + (0.00649 \times \text{Prot.Intake/d})$	$\ln VAL = 5.377 - (0.104 imes Sampling delay) - (0.00391 imes Prot.Intake/d)$
lnASP + ASN = $4.373 - (0.0918 \times \text{Sampling delay}) + (0.00566 \times \text{Prot.Intake/d})$	$\ln ASP + ASN = 4.397 - (0.130 imes Sampling delay) + (0.001204 imes Prot.Intake/d)$
$\ln GLU + GLN = 6.525 - (0.000674 \times Sampling delay) - (0.0008038 \times Prot.Intake/d)$	$lnGLU + GLN = 6.544 - (0.0411 \times Sampling delay) - (0.0008319 \times Prot.Intake/d)$
Bold characters p significant (<0.05) for sampling delay, Prot. Intake intake of g protein/d, san	<i>ppling delay</i> postprandial delay (h) after end of last feed

Table 3 Equations of multiple regression of low protein formula-fed healthy infants

Table 4 Tenth J	percentile of sign	nificant amino ac	vid concentration	s (μmol/L) depe	nding on p.p. s	ampling delays v	with 95 % confid	lence intervals (CI) in infants ag	ed 1 month	
p.p. sampling delay (h)	2.25	2.50	2.75	3.00	3.25	3.50	3.75	4.00	4.25	4.50	5.00^{a}
Alanine	320 ^b (312;328)	308 (302;328)	297 (291;302)	286 (281;290)	275 (270;280)	265 (259;270)	255 (249;262)	246 (238;253)	236 (228;245)	228 (218;238)	211 (200;223)
Arginine A snaradine	85 (75;97) 43 (37:40)	84 (76;93) 41 (37:46)	83 (76;90) 40 (36:44)	82 (76;89) 38 (35·47)	81 (74;88) 37 (34:41)	80 (72;89) 36 (32·40)	79 (70;89) 34 (30:39)	78 (67;89) 33 (78·30)	77 (64:92) 32 (76:30)	76 (62;94) 31 (74·30)	74 (56:97) 28 (21:38)
Isoleucine	50 (48;53)	49 (49;51)	48 (46;49)	46 (45;48)	45 (43;47)	44 (42;46)	42 (40;45)	41 (38;44)	40 (37;43)	39 (35;43)	20 (21, 20) 37 (32; 43)
Leucine	102 (92;113)	99 (91;108)	97 (90;104)	94 (88;100)	92 (86;98)	89 (82;97)	87 (79;96)	85 (75;96)	83 (71;96)	81 (68;96)	77 (61;96)
Lysine	191 (169;215)	187 (169;206)	183 (169;198)	179 (166;192)	175 (161;189)	171 (155;188)	167 (149;188)	163 (142;188)	160 (135;189)	156 (128;190)	149 (116;193)
Methionine	27 (23;31)	26 (23;29)	26 (23;28)	25 (23;27)	24 (22;27)	24 (21;26)	23 (20;26)	22 (19;27)	22 (18;27)	21 (17;27)	20 (15;27)
Ornithine	77 (64;93)	75 (65;87)	73 (64;83)	71 (63;80)	69 (61;78)	67 (58;78)	65 (55;78)	64 (51;79)	62 (48;80)	60 (44;82)	57 (38;85)
Phenylalanine	40 (36;44)	40 (37;43)	40 (38;43)	40 (38;42)	40 (38;43)	40 (37;43)	40 (36;44)	40 (36;45)	40 (35;46)	40 (34;47)	40 (33;49)
Proline	138 (124;154)	137 (125;149)	135 (126;145)	134 (125;143)	132 (123;142)	131 (120;143)	130 (117;144)	128 (113;146)	127 (109;148)	126 (105;150)	123 (98;155)
Serine	113 (98;130)	111 (99;124)	109 (99:120)	107 (98:117)	105 (96:115)	103 (92:115)	101 (88:116)	99 (84;118)	98 (80;119)	96 (76;121)	92 (68;121)
Threonine	149 (176:177)	143 (174-164)	137	132	127	122	117	112 (07-138)	108 (85-137)	104 (78-137)	96 (66;138)
Valine	(123) (107;141)	(123) (110;138)	(122,134) 123 (112;135)	(113;135)	(113;136)	(201,001) 124 (1111;139)	(108;143) (108;143)	(105;147) (105;147)	(102;152) (102;152)	(76,157) 125 (99;158)	126 (93;169)

		pper 95 % confidence limit)
	^a Trough level	^b Tenth percentile (lower; u

Table 5 Tenth	percentile of sig.	nificant amino a	acid concentration	ns (µmol/L) dep	ending on p.p. s	sampling delay in	n infants aged 4	months			
p.p. sampling delay (h)	2.25	2.50	2.75	3.00	3.25	3.50	3.75	4.00	4.25	4.50	5.00
Alanine	270 ^a (231;316)	266 (234:302)	261 (235;291)	257 (233;283)	253 (228;281)	249 (220;281)	245 (211;284)	241 (201;289)	237 (191;294)	233 (181;300)	226 ^b (163;312)
Arginine	85 (77;94)	81 (74;88)	77 (71;82)	73 (68;77)	69 (64;74)	65 (60;71)	62 (56;68)	59 (52;66)	56 (48;64)	53 (45;82)	48 (39;59)
Asparagine Histidine	38 (34;42) 66 (59;73)	37 (34;40) 65 (59;71)	36(33;38) 64(59;69)	34 (32;37) 63 (59;67)	33 (31;36) 62 (58;67)	32 (30;35) 61 (56;67)	31 (28;35) 61 (55;67)	30(27;34) 60(53;68)	29 (25;34) 59 (51;69)	28 (24;34) 58 (49;69)	27 (21;33) 57 (45;71)
Isoleucine	52 (48;57)	50 (47;54)	48 (45;51)	46 (44;48)	44 (42;47)	42 (40;45)	40 (37;44)	39 (35;43)	37 (33;42)	36 (31;41)	33 (27;39)
Leucine	99 (95;103)	95 (92;98)	90 (88;93)	86 (84;88)	82 (80;84)	79 (76;81)	75 (72;78)	72 (69;75)	68 (65;72)	65 (61;69)	60 (55;64)
Lysine	161	154	146	140	133	127	121	115	110	105	95 (71;128)
Methionine	(140;186) 23 $(19;28)$	(137;172) 22 (19;26)	(133;161) 21 $(18;24)$	(128;153) 20 (18;22)	(121;146) 19 (17;21)	(114;142) 18 $(16;21)$	(106;139) 17 $(14;20)$	(98;136)16 $(13;20)$	(90;134) 15 $(12;20)$	(83;132) 15 (11;20)	13 (9;20)
Phenylalanine	39 (36;42)	39 (36;41)	38 (36;40)	38 (36;40)	37 (36;39)	37 (35;39)	37 (34;40)	36 (33;40)	36 (32;40)	36 (31;40)	35 (30;41)
Proline	137	133	130	127	124	121	118	115	113	110	105 (88;125)
Serine	(125;149) 122	(124;143) 119	(123;138) 116	(120;134) 114	(117;131) 111	(113;129) 108	(109;128) 106	(104;127) 103 (96:111)	(100;127) 101	(96;126) 99 (89:109)	94 (82:108)
Thrachina	(114;130)	(113;126) 115	(111;122)	(109;118)	(106;116) 104	(103;114)	(100;113) 07 (03:101)	00.001.00	(93;110) 01 (86:06)	(10.08) 88	87 (75:00)
	(114;124)	(111;119)	(108;114)	(105;110)	(101;107)	(97;104)					(01,01) 20
Tyrosine	54 (44;68)	54 (45;65)	54 (46;62)	53 (46;61)	53 (46;61)	53 (44;63)	52 (42;65)	52 (40;67)	52 (38;70)	51 (36;73)	51 (32;80)
Valine	131 (102;143)	128 (120;138)	126 (119;134)	124 (117;130)	121 (115;128)	119 (111;127)	116 (107;126)	114 (103;126)	112 (100;126)	110 (96;126)	106 (88;126)

 $^{\rm a}$ Tenth percentile (lower; upper 95 % confidence limit) $^{\rm b}$ Trough level

relatively high concentration of these amino acids in formulas as compared to breast-milk and/or to reduced utilization for protein synthesis.

As shown in the equations of multiple regression (Table 3) the coefficients of sampling delay are more than 10 times higher than the coefficients of actual daily protein intake. Despite our demand to the supervisors of the original studies to obtain blood samples later than 3.5 h after the last feed, this recommendation was ignored. In fact 82% of the samples were taken before 3.75 h p.p. at 1 month and 80% at 4 months of age. This is due to feeding the infants on-demand. We wonder if after 3.5 h satiety was not reached any more with the low protein formula.

Conclusion

For the interpretation of plasma amino acid concentrations data on the postprandial delay of sampling must be obtained and taken into account; otherwise low amino acid concentrations could be missed in patients.

Take-Home Message

For the interpretation of plasma amino acid concentrations data of the postprandial delay of sampling must be obtained and taken into account.

Compliance with Ethics Guidelines

Conflict of Interest

Alexander Kainz was funded by the research fund of the central clinical chemistry laboratory (CHUV, Lausanne) for his statistical work.

All authors declare no conflict of interest.

The authors confirm independence from Nestec Inc. The content of the article has not been influenced by any company or institution.

Informed Consent

All procedures were in accordance with the ethical standards of the responsible committees on human experimentation (national and international) and with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2000. Informed consent was obtained from the parents of all infants included in the original studies from which the data of this study were extracted.

Contribution of the Authors

C. Bachmann contributed by the conception, the planning, multiple regression statistics and analysis of the laboratory results, their interpretation as well as drafting and revising of the manuscript. He is the guarantor of the final manuscript.

A. Kainz contributed by the statistics including quantile regression, drafting and revising the manuscript.

E. Haschke-Becher contributed by the conception, the drafting and revision of the manuscript.

References

- Fomon SJ, Ziegler EE, Nelson SE et al (1999) Infant formula with protein-energy ratio of 1.7g/100 kcal is adequate but may not be safe. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 28:495–501
- Haschke-Becher E, Kainz A, Bachmann C (2016) Reference values of amino acids and of common clinical chemistry in plasma of healthy infants aged 1 and 4 months. J Inherit Metab Dis 39(1):25–37
- Kirchberg FF, Harder U, Weber M et al (2015) Dietary protein intake affects amino acid and acylcarnitine metabolism in infants aged 6 months. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 100(1):149–158
- Koenker RW, Bassett GW (1978) Regression quantiles. Econometrica 46:33–50
- Koletzko B, Baker S, Clegholm G et al (2005) Global standard for the composition of infant formula: recommendations of an ESPGHAN coordinated international expert group. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 41:584–599
- Ong KK, Langkamp M, Ranke MB et al (2009) Insulin-like growth factor I concentrations in infancy predict differential gains in body length and adiposity: the Cambridge baby growth study. Am J Clin Nutr 90:156–161
- Toschke AM, Grote V, Koletzko B, von Kries R (2004) Identifying children at high risk for overweight at school entry by weight gain during the first 2 years. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 158:449–452
- Windmueller HG, Spaeth AE (1981) Source and fate of circulating citrulline. Am J Physiol 241(6):E473–E480

RESEARCH REPORT

A Multiplatform Metabolomics Approach to Characterize Plasma Levels of Phenylalanine and Tyrosine in Phenylketonuria

H. Blasco • C. Veyrat-Durebex • M. Bertrand • F. Patin • F. Labarthe • H. Henique • P. Emond • C.R. Andres • C. Antar • C. Landon • L. Nadal-Desbarats • F. Maillot

Received: 05 February 2016/Revised: 15 April 2016/Accepted: 18 April 2016/Published online: 15 June 2016 © SSIEM and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2016

Abstract *Background*: Different pathophysiological mechanisms have been described in phenylketonuria (PKU) but the indirect metabolic consequences of metabolic disorders caused by elevated Phe or low Tyr concentrations remain partially unknown. We used a multiplatform metabolomics approach to evaluate the metabolic signature associated with Phe and Tyr.

Material and methods: We prospectively included 10 PKU adult patients and matched controls. We analysed the metabolome profile using GC-MS (urine), amino-acid

Communicated by: Nenad Blau, PhD
Competing interests: None declared

Electronic supplementary material: The online version of this chapter (doi:10.1007/8904_2016_568) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

H. Blasco (⊠) • C. Veyrat-Durebex • F. Patin • C.R. Andres • C. Antar Laboratoire de biochimie et biologie moléculaire, Hôpital Bretonneau, CHRU de Tours, 2, Bd Tonnellé, 37044 Tours cedex 1, France e-mail: helene.blasco@univ-tours.fr

H. Blasco · C. Veyrat-Durebex · F. Patin · P. Emond · C.R. Andres · C. Antar · L. Nadal-Desbarats

INSERM U930, Université François Rabelais Tours, Tours cedex 1, France

M. Bertrand · C. Landon

Centre de Biophysique Moléculaire, CNRS UPR4301, Orléans, France

F. Labarthe

Service de Pédiatrie, CHRU de Tours, Tours cedex 1, France

F. Labarthe · F. Maillot INSERM U1069, Université François Rabelais Tours, Tours cedex 1, France

H. Henique · F. Maillot

Service de médecine interne, CHRU de Tours, Tours cedex 1, France

analyzer (urine and plasma) and nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (urine). We performed a multivariate analysis from the metabolome (after exclusion of Phe, Tyr and directly derived metabolites) to explain plasma Phe and Tyr concentrations, and the clinical status. Finally, we performed a univariate analysis of the most discriminant metabolites and we identified the associated metabolic pathways.

Results: We obtained a metabolic pattern from 118 metabolites and we built excellent multivariate models to explain Phe, Tyr concentrations and PKU diagnosis. Common metabolites of these models were identified: Gln, Arg, succinate and alpha aminobutyric acid. Univariate analysis showed an inverse correlation between Arg, alpha aminobutyric acid and Phe and a positive correlation between Arg, succinate, Gln and Tyr (p < 0.0003). Thus, we highlighted the following pathways: Arg and Pro, Ala, Asp and Glu metabolism.

Discussion: We obtain a specific metabolic signature related to Tyr and Phe concentrations. We confirmed the involvement of different pathophysiological mechanisms previously described in PKU such as protein synthesis, energetic metabolism and oxidative stress. The metabolomics approach is relevant to explore PKU pathogenesis.

Abbreviations

¹ H NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
CV ANOVA	ANalysis Of VAriance testing of cross
	validated predictive residuals, used to eval-
	uate the robustness of multivariate model
GC-MS	Gas chromatography coupled with mass
	spectrometry
HCA	Hierarchical cluster analysis

KEGG	Pathway database
LC	Liquid chromatography
METPA	A web metabolomics tool to analyse meta-
	bolic pathways
OPLS-DA	Orthogonal partial least-squares discrimi-
	nant analysis
PLS	Partial least square
Q^2	Parameter to estimate of the predictive
	ability of the model, used to evaluate the
	robustness of multivariate model
R^2	Parameter defined as a fraction of the
	variance explained by a component, used to
	evaluate the robustness of multivariate model
ROC	Receiver-operating characteristics
UV Scaling	UV scaling is defined by a variable that is
	centred and scaled to "Unit Variance", i.e.
	the base weight is computed as 1/SD, where
	SD is the standard deviation of variable
	computed around the mean.
VIP	Variable importance parameters

Introduction

Phenylketonuria (PKU) is a metabolic disorder due to a deficiency in phenylalanine hydroxylase (PAH, RC 1.14.16.1), leading to high concentrations of Phenylalanine (Phe) and low concentrations of Tyrosine (Tyr) in blood and brain. A specific phenylalanine-restricted diet is prescribed following newborn screening but frequently discontinued by adult patients in some countries (Giovannini et al. 2012; Rocha et al. 2013; Jahja et al. 2014). Numerous reports highlighted the neurotoxic role of Phe, thus causing neurological and neuropsychiatric disturbances in PKU patients (van Spronsen et al. 2011; Christ et al. 2012; Bilder et al. 2013). Central mechanisms have been associated with neurotoxicity, such as amino-acid imbalance, reduced glutamatergic transmission, bioenergetics deficit, oxidative stress, impairment of lipid and protein metabolism, disruption of calcium homeostasis (Schumacher et al. 2008; Martynyuk et al. 2010; Schuck et al. 2015), but the interactions between these mechanisms await elucidation. The same questions are raised by the low concentrations of tyrosine responsible for the depletion of catecholamines related to brain dysfunction (McKean 1972; Christ et al. 2010; de Groot et al. 2010; Harding et al. 2014). Thus, a better knowledge of the metabolic pathways indirectly disturbed by both high Phe and low Tyr concentrations may be beneficial to better understand the pathogenesis of the disease, and finally to adjust the nutritional care (van Spronsen et al. 2009; Hennermann and Querfeld 2013; Longo et al. 2015; Schuck et al. 2015;

Turki et al. 2015). Metabolomics is a powerful strategy to ascertain metabolic signatures from a combination of small molecules in biological fluids. One of the main objectives of the metabolomics approach is to improve understanding of pathophysiology, especially based on the non-a priori metabolic signature. Gas chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry (GC-MS) and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) is often used to perform metabolomics studies, but rarely in combination. The aim of our study was then to characterize the metabolic disturbances associated with plasma Phe and Tyr concentrations using a multiplatform targeted metabolomics approach. We used a combination of three analytical methods, namely routine determination of amino-acid profiles using amino-acid analyzer, GC-MS and NMR in order to obtain the most comprehensive metabolic pattern.

Material and Methods

Patients

Ten adult PKU patients (1–10) and ten age- and sexmatched healthy (11–20) controls were prospectively recruited from September 2014 to February 2015. This study has been approved by the ethics committee of Tours Hospital (Comité de Protection des Personnes). All subjects were informed and signed a consent. No subject has Pherestricted diet at the time of inclusion. Clinical data available for their routine clinical follow-up were collected.

Samples Collection

Blood and urinary samples were collected at the inclusion visit after a night fasted. Blood samples were quickly centrifuged (2,500 g, 10 min). Urine samples were centrifuged in the same conditions. All samples were split into three aliquots and stored at -20° C until analysis. Blood samples were used to analyse amino-acids by aminotac, and urine samples were used to analyse (1) amino-acids by aminotac, (2) organic acids by GC-MS and (3) metabolomics profile by NMR. A brief description of these techniques is detailed below and additional material (document named "Additional Material" in supplemental data) provides complementary information about these analytical methods.

Amino-Acids Chromatography

We determined concentrations of amino-acid by Jeol Aminotac 500 analyzer, based on the ion-exchange chromatography with a post-column derivatization with ninhydrin and colorimetric detection. We used 500 μ L of blood
and urine samples to perform the analysis. The determination of concentrations was based on the peak areas of amino-acids compared to that of internal standard.

Urinary Organic Acids Chromatography

Organic acids were extracted from urine by liquid/liquid extraction using ethyl acetate. The organic phase was evaporated (SpeedVac, ThermoFisher). We used two internal standards (4 phenylbutyric acid and heptadecanoic acid in acetonitrile). The derivatization was based on a silylation, by adding *N*,*O*-bis-(trimethylsilyl)-trifluoroacetamide (BSTFA) and incubation for 40 min at 80°C. The samples were then injected in GC-MS (QP2010 PLUS (Shimadzu)). We normalized the peaks of metabolites to the internal standard and the urinary creatinine concentration.

NMR Analysis

Urine samples were thawed at room temperature and centrifuged at 4,000 g for 10 min. 500 μ L of supernatant was added with 100 μ L of deuterated phosphate buffer 0.2 M (pH 7.4) and 8 μ L of external reference (TSP). All the ¹H-NMR spectra were obtained on a Bruker Avance III HD NMR spectrometer (Bruker, SADIS, Wissembourg, France) operating at 700 MHz for ¹H resonance frequency using an inverse detection 5 mm ¹H-¹³C-¹⁵N cryoprobe.

Statistical Analysis

Multivariate Analysis

The plasma and urine signatures explored by the 1 or 3 analytical methods previously described were implemented in statistical software to analyse the merged data. The models were built to explain Phe and Tyr concentrations, and we completed the analysis by a discrimination of PKU and control group. For all the models, we excluded all metabolites directly modified by PKU (Phe, Tyr and derived organic acids).

We performed a multivariate analysis using Simca-P + -13, as done previously (Blasco et al. 2014). Principal component analysis (PCA) (Kemsley et al. 2007) was first performed as unsupervised clustering to identify similarities or differences between sample profiles.

Orthogonal partial least-squares discriminant analysis (OPLS-DA) is a supervised analysis that aims at evaluating the variations in metabolites between groups: the variation in the measured data was partitioned into two blocks by the program; one containing variations that correlated with the class identifier (PKU/controls) and the other containing variations that were orthogonal to the first block and thus did not contribute to discrimination between groups. OPLS- DA finds the algorithm of metabolites that will enable the best discrimination of the groups (PKU patients and controls) (Madsen et al. 2010).

After these multivariate analyses (PCA, OPLS-DA), we created a score plot to visualize the OPLS-DA model: it represents points corresponding to the different subjects defined by an algorithm of selected metabolites. We show only the models using the more robust algorithm of metabolites to separate the groups. We also characterized the contribution of each metabolite to the separation of the groups using a loading plot. The metabolites with large values of w*c (loading plot) (positive or negative) are highly correlated with Phe or Tyr values. The position of the metabolites in the loading plot enables to explain the group of subjects represented in score plot. The most discriminant metabolites called variable importance parameters (VIP) ranked the compounds according to their contribution to the model.

The quality of the models was described by different parameters: the CV ANOVA, R^2 and Q^2 values. R^2 is defined as a fraction of the variance explained by a component. Cross validation of R^2 gives Q^2 . Q^2 is an estimation of the predictive ability of the model. The OPLS-DA was cross validated by withholding one-seventh of the samples in seven successive simulations such that each sample was omitted once in order to guard against over fitting. The set of multiple models resulting from the cross validation was used to calculate jack-knife uncertainty measures (Westerhuis et al. 2010).

Supplemental material (see "Additional Material" in supplemental data) provides complementary information.

Based on the same strategies, we also used partial least square (PLS) models to explain the outcome in question (i.e. concentrations of plasma phenylalanine and tyrosine analysed by aminotac, considered as the reference method). We also performed a hierarchical cluster analysis (HCA).

We compared the metabolic pathways identified from PLS analysis (to explain Phe and Tyr concentrations) and OPLS-DA (to explain PKU diagnosis) and we highlighted the common metabolites between all these approaches.

Univariate Analysis

We performed the univariate analyses on the VIPs as a complementary means to improve understanding of mechanistic pathways involved in the disturbance of phenylalanine metabolism. We compared metabolites concentrations between PKU and controls with Wilcoxon tests for categorical variables and we used Spearman tests to evaluate the correlation between quantitative variables (Phe or Tyr versus other metabolites). We applied a correction (Bonferroni) to the p value to correct for multiple statistical tests. We performed statistical analyses with JMP statistical software version 7.0.2 (SAS Institute, Cary, North Carolina). We used KEGG pathway database (http://www.genome.jp/kegg/pathway.html) and METPA web application (http://metpa.metabolomics.ca/MetPA/faces/Home.jsp) to discuss the highlighted metabolic pathways. To focus on the most relevant data, we highlighted only the pathways that had significant Holm p and a pathway impact >0.10. The pathway impact value is the cumulative percentage from the matched metabolite nodes. Even if all the pathways having a significant Holm p are relevant, the threshold of 0.1 was fixed to focus our results and discussion only on the main metabolic pathways.

Results

Patients

The characteristics of PKU patients are provided in Table 1. The concentrations of Phe and Tyr are reported in Fig. S1 and will be used for further metabolomics models. Overall, the mean (\pm standard deviation) concentration of plasma Phe was 679.9 \pm 157.5 μ mol/L and the mean concentration of Tyr was 56.5 \pm 3.0 μ mol/L (Fig. S1). As expected we found higher concentrations of Phe (1,325 \pm 465 vs 63 \pm 15 μ mol/L) and lower concentrations of Tyr (43 \pm 9 vs 65 \pm 11 μ mol/L) in PKU patients, as compared to controls.

Metabolites Analysis

At the end of samples analysis, we detected 131 metabolites: 26 amino-acids measured in plasma and 105 molecules measured in urine: 27 organic acids measured by GC-MS, 26 amino-acids measured by the amino-acid

JIMD Reports

analyzer and 52 metabolites measured by NMR. After identification of the main metabolites, we found that 92 out of the 105 urinary metabolites correspond to distinct molecules. Indeed, some metabolites may be detected by different analytical methods. Thus, our dataset used to perform statistical analysis was based on 118 different variables: 26 amino-acids measured in plasma by the amino-acid analyzer and 92 metabolites measured in urine (26 amino-acids measured by amino-acids analyzer, 23 metabolites measured by NMR and 27 by GC-MS and 16 unidentified metabolites measured by NMR). We provided on the supplementary data only the list of the identified metabolites, including metabolites measured both, in urine and plasma (Table S1).

Multivariate Models to Explain Phenylalanine Concentrations

We used UV scaling and logarithmic transformation to minimize the impact of noise or high variance of the variables.

The best model describing the concentrations of Phe was obtained from 13 metabolites.

Six were from plasma: threonine, glutamine, proline, alpha aminobutyric acid, isoleucine and arginine, and seven from urine: glycerate, 3-OH-3-Me-glutarate, methylmalonate, succinate and three unknown molecules: unknown 3, 8, 13 (U3, U8, U13).

The performances of the models are as follows: R^2X (cum): 0.802, R^2Y (cum): 0.973 and Q^2 (cum): 0.934. CV ANOVA was 1.4×10^{-6} . The score plot is shown in Fig. 1 and the metabolites contributing to the model are shown in Fig. S2. Patients having high concentrations of Phe (with high t(1) and t(2), on the top right in the Fig. 1) are particularly discriminated from the others based on the high levels of U13, U8 and 3-OH 3-Me-3Glu.

 Table 1
 Clinical and biological characteristics of PKU patients

Patient	Age	Gender	Type of PKU	Phe concentration (µM)	Tyr concentration (µM)	Age of stopping Phe restricted diet (years)
1	34	F	Classical	1,641	37	6
2	22	М	Mild	1,051	61	16
3	30	F	Classical	1,281	51	5
4	34	F	Classical	1,854	46	5
5	27	F	Mild	1,069	30	5
6	36	М	Classical	1,449	56	5
7	30	F	Classical	1,472	39	5
8	39	М	Classical	1,790	52	5
9	30	F	Mild hyperphenylalaninemia	363	52	8
10	18	М	Mild	1,007	51	13



Fig. 1 Score plot based on the partial least square (PLS) models (13 metabolites) to explain Phe concentrations. The intensity of colour is proportional to the concentrations of Phe (n = 20, PKU patients from

1 to 10, healthy controls from 11 to 20). To note, the patient 9 is classified within the control group. $R^2X(\text{cum})$: 0.802, $R^2Y(\text{cum})$: 0.973 and $Q^2(\text{cum})$: 0.934, CV ANOVA: 1.4×10^{-6}

The univariate analysis performed on the VIPs and using the *p* value corrected by Bonferroni (13 metabolites in the model, so cut-off: *p* = 0.0004) showed a significant inverse correlation between glycerate (adjusted R^2 value: 0.61, *p* < 0.0001), alpha aminobutyric acid (adjusted R^2 value: 0.50, *p* = 0.0003), arginine (adjusted R^2 value: 0.56, *p* < 0.0001), glycerate (adjusted R^2 value: 0.61, *p* < 0.0001) and Phe and positive correlation between 3-OH-3-Me-glutarate (adjusted R^2 value: 0.61, *p* < 0.0001) and Phe (Fig. S2).

The dendrogram based on these data showed five different subgroups (Fig. 2a), visualized in the corresponding score plot (Fig. 2b). We noted that one patient was classified within the control group, especially because the concentration of Phe is lower than other patients (373 μ mol/L).

Multivariate Models to Explain Tyrosine Concentrations

The best model describing the concentrations of Tyr was obtained from 13 metabolites.

Six from plasma: glutamine, alanine, alpha aminobutyric acid, methionine, isoleucine and arginine, seven from urine: 2-Me succinate, fumarate, isovalerylglycine, pyruvate, 3-OH isovalerate, succinate and one unknown molecule (U11).

The performances of the models are as follows: R^2X (cum): 0.685, R^2Y (cum): 0.922 and Q^2 (cum): 0.898. CV ANOVA was 7.8 × 10⁻⁷. The score plot is shown in Fig. 3 and the metabolites contributing to the model are shown in Fig. S3.

The univariate analysis performed on the VIPs and using the p value corrected by Bonferroni (cut-off: p = 0.0004) showed a significant positive correlation between glutamine (adjusted R^2 value: 0.51, p = 0.0003), methionine (adjusted R^2 value: 0.48, p = 0.0004), isoleucine (adjusted R^2 value: 0.54, p = 0.0001), arginine (adjusted R^2 value: 0.53, p = 0.0002), pyruvate (adjusted R^2 value: 0.57, p = 0.0001), succinate (adjusted R^2 value: 0.56, p = 0.0001), U11 (adjusted R^2 value: 0.53, p = 0.0003) and Tyr.

The dendrogram showed five different subgroups (Fig. S4A), visualized in the corresponding score plot (Fig. S4B). We noted that one control was classified within the PKU group, due the low concentration of Tyr (45 μ mol/L).



Fig. 2 (a) Dendrogram obtained from hierarchical cluster analysis (HCA) based on the 13 relevant metabolites used in the partial least square (PLS) model to explain Phe concentrations, and showing 5 subgroups of subjects; the *X* axis represents the patients and the *Y* axis

the distance between the clusters; (b) Score plot characterized by the same colours as identified in the dendrogram. To note, the patient 9 (*asterisk*) is classified within the control group

Multivariate Models to Explain PKU

The best OPLS-DA model was based on 12 metabolites: six from plasma: threonine, glutamine, proline, alpha aminobutyric acid, methionine and arginine, and six from urine: glycerate, 2-OH isobutyrate, 3-OH isovalerate, 3-Me-2oxovalerate, succinate and one unknown molecule (U10) (Fig. S5). $R^2X(\text{cum})$: 0.719, $R^2Y(\text{cum})$: 0.837 and $Q^2(\text{cum})$: 0.761. CV ANOVA was 0.0003.

Common Metabolites Explaining Phe and Tyr Concentrations

We found four common molecules with the two PLS models to explain Phe and Tyr concentrations and the OPLS model to explain PKU (Fig. 4). The most relevant pathways involved in the different models are shown in Fig. 4 (defined by a significant p-value and a pathway impact >0.1). The ways found in the three models





Fig. 3 Score plot based on the partial least square (PLS) models (13 metabolites) to explain Tyr concentrations. The intensity of colour is proportional to the concentrations of Tyr (n = 20, PKU patients from

correspond to the metabolism of Arg and Pro, and also of obs

Discussion

Ala, Asp and Glu metabolism.

According to the partially unknown mechanisms associated with neurotoxicity in PKU, we hypothesized that a metabolomics profile of different subjects characterized by a large distribution of Phe and Tyr concentrations may be relevant to identify metabolic pathways disturbances.

Few studies reported metabolomics approach in PKU and they especially focused on new diagnosis biomarkers of this disease (Denes et al. 2012; Janeckova et al. 2012; Xiong et al. 2015) to develop a diagnosis from less invasive samples (for example, from urine collection or dried spot) or to limit false positive cases, for example. A recent metabolomics approach based on GC-MS aimed at developing a new standard to diagnose PKU from urine samples. They reported 19 differentially expressed compounds in PKU patients (for example, phenylacetic acid or phenylpyruvic acid) with a relevant receiver-operating characteristic (ROC) analysis (Xiong et al. 2015), thus validating the metabolomics approach from urine to diagnose PKU. They

1 to 10, healthy controls from 11 to 20). $R^2 X$ (cum): 0.685, $R^2 Y$ (cum): 0.922, Q^2 (cum): 0.898, CV ANOVA: 7.8 × 10⁻⁷

observed a high specificity (93.6%) and sensitivity (100%) from the ROC curve based on urinary phenylacetic acid concentrations. They noted a low false positive rate (6.4%) that could be improved from the use of additional specific markers. Interestingly, one other study evaluated the metabolic influence of the long term PKU diet (Mutze et al. 2012). The present study is the first metabolomics study in PKU based on multiplatform analysis and only focused on the pathophysiology of the disease.

The combination of several analytical methods adds complexity but might be the currently most expeditious approach in a disease with perturbations focused on metabolism. The present approach is based on the combination of two methods usually performed in routine practice to help in the diagnosis of metabolic disease or to adapt patients' diet or therapeutics. We added the exploration of urine samples by NMR, using a 700 MHz NMR spectrometer which is very sensitive and reproducible and actually rarely used for metabolomics approaches. We applied a targeted analysis to obtain a limited number of metabolites, mostly identified and with sufficient signal to be representative of physiological and pathological variations. A combination of different "omics" approaches has never been performed for a PKU condition, but has been tried in



Fig. 4 Venn diagram showing metabolites identified in the partial least square (PLS) models to explain Phe concentration (the *left circle*), Tyr concentration (the *right circle*) and Orthogonal partial least-squares discriminant analysis (OPLS-DA) to explain clinical status (the *bottom circle*). This diagram highlights the common and specific metabolites according to the objectives of the models. The

other fields (Weckwerth 2008). One of the limitations of this strategy is the inadequate number of metabolites compared to a limited samples size. In our study, we used merged data, and we optimized the different multivariate models to obtain the better performances with a limited number of metabolites (always <13), thus avoiding misinterpretation. Moreover, we validated our PLS modeling based on concentrations values of Phe and Tyr by the OPLS-DA model.

The different multivariate models enable a correct classification of subjects, except the subjects 9 and 11. The multivariate models performed to explain Phe concentrations revealed a clear discrimination of patients (except the subject 9), even after exclusion of metabolites directly altered by PKU. Some of discriminant metabolites included in the models were also significantly associated with Phe concentrations after univariate analysis. HCA enabled us to

metabolic pathways identified by METPA web application from the metabolites noted in the Venn diagram are shown for each model: PLS to explain Phe concentration (graph on the *left*), Tyr concentration (graph on the *right*) and OPLS-DA to explain clinical status (graph at the *bottom*). We noted on the figures only the most relevant pathways defined as significant Holm p and pathway impact >0.1

identify some subgroups of subjects, especially the patient 5, who seems different and the subject 9 who is classified with controls. Importantly, the statistical analysis of outsiders performed using SIMCA analysis did not reveal any outsider in the included subjects (data not shown). After a deeper analysis of the clinical characteristics of the patients, we noted that the patient 5 has also type 1 diabetes, thus explaining the different metabolic profile despite the high concentrations of Phe. To note, the OPLS-DA discriminating PKU patients from controls also found the patient 5 as an outlier. The patient 9 has a low concentration of Phe (363 μ M) compared to other PKU patients, so associated metabolism modification is similar to that of controls.

Inhibition of tyrosine transport across the presynaptic membrane by phenylalanine (McKean 1972; Knudsen et al. 1995), and decreased urinary excretion of dopamine and serotonin or their metabolites (Curtius et al. 1972) have been largely reported in the literature since many years but the metabolic perturbation associated with Tyr in PKU context remains partially unknown. To explain Tyr concentrations, the best fit was obtained from 13 metabolites, with excellent performances. However, we observed a bigger dispersion of subjects in the score plot. We noted that the patient 5, but also the 7 are quite different (Fig. 3). The control 11 was misclassified, that could be explained by its particularly low concentration of Tyr compared to other controls. The score plots of both PLS models showed that the dispersion of subjects is higher within the group of PKU patients, thus highlighting the heterogeneity of these patients for the discriminant metabolites. According to the misclassified subjects, the potential impact of diet has to be taken into account. In this study, subjects were fasted and the analysis of the amino-acids profile suggests that subjects respected the conditions of samples collection. However, the major role of diet on metabolic explorations has to be considered to avoid misinterpretation. Moreover, fasting, as other physiological challenges increased interindividual variations, even in similar subjects (Krug et al. 2012). These findings may explain some of our unexpected results.

The analysis of the common metabolites found in both PLS models and the OPLS-DA model revealed an important role of glutamate, succinate, arginine and alpha aminobutyric acid. METPA analysis highlighted the involvement of Arg, Pro, and Ala, Asp, Glu metabolism.

One of the most described pathophysiological ways in PKU is the defect in central nervous system protein synthesis (de Groot et al. 2015). Numerous authors highlighted a significant negative correlation between plasma Phe levels and the cerebral protein synthesis rate, based on positron emission tomography in PKU patients, and experiments in animal or in vitro models (Schuck et al. 2015). We observed a relation between different amino-acids largely involved in protein synthesis and Phe or Tyr (such as alanine, isoleucine). Alpha aminobutyric acid is an aminoacid not taking part in protein synthesis but is considered as a non-specific biomarker of liver, malnutrition or protein catabolism (Chiarla et al. 2011). An old report showed that alpha aminobutyric acid concentration was significantly higher (Thalhammer et al. 1980) in PKU that is consistent with our findings. This observation needs complementary data to understand the role of this metabolite in PKU pathophysiology.

Moreover energy metabolism disturbance was reported in PKU, including pyruvate kinase, hexokinase, other enzymes dependent or not from metal ions, and also ketonic bodies metabolism (Schuck et al. 2015). The inhibition of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase activity by phenylpyruvic acid has also been reported, thus leading to an impairment of NADPH production (Rosa et al. 2012). Importantly, some author observed a significant decrease of succinate dehydrogenase and mitochondrial respiratory chain in cerebral cortex of rats with hyperphenylalaninemia (Rech et al. 2002). These data are consistent with the involvement of succinate in our different models. To note the alteration of mitochondrial respiratory chain by phenylalanine is still debated (Hargreaves et al. 2002; Rech et al. 2002; Kyprianou et al. 2009). Even if succinate is a non-specific metabolite of energetic disturbance, this finding merits more explorations. As all these patients were not under rigorous Phe-restrict diet therapy, we suggest that these observations are probably not due to a poor nutritional status.

We showed that arginine was a relevant metabolite to explain Phe and Tyr concentration. Arginine has numerous roles in inflammation response (Rath et al. 2014), growth hormone regulation (Merimee et al. 1965), wound repair (Williams et al. 2002), glucose metabolism (Piatti et al. 2001) and so on. Among the different effect of arginine, its link with oxidative stress seems one of the most relevant mechanisms in PKU. Indeed, NO produced from L-arginine by NO synthases is largely involved in oxidative stress described in PKU patients (Ribas et al. 2011; Sanayama et al. 2011).

Interestingly, some metabolic pathways were highlighted only in models to explain Tyr concentrations (Fig. 4, citrate cycle, butanoate metabolism) but they were closely linked with that associated with Phe.

The main perspectives of this pilot study are to pursue on a larger cohort composed of patients from childhood to adult age. We may assess the evolution of metabolome that may be related to the Phe and Tyr equilibrium as well as the effect of age. As metabolism is largely age-associated and as metabolomics provide a global metabolism view without a priori, we have to plan some longitudinal studies to explore the evolution of the altered metabolic pathways during several years. As metabolomics profile may be influenced by gender and age (Thevenot et al. 2015), the robustness of this present study and the followings is based on the matching between PKU patients and controls. Importantly, such kinds of study will not be able to interpret the metabolism disturbance directly influenced by Phe, but it would establish a specific metabolic profile using high throughput techniques of PKU patients, deeply linked to the disequilibrium of Phe and Tyr (Kaufman 1976).

Conclusion

Importantly, we observed metabolism alterations in plasma and urine, although most studies are focused on brain metabolism to explain PKU pathogenesis. This pilot study based on a new strategy of pathophysiology exploration based on multiplatform metabolomics to analyse biological fluids is promising for further experiments. The approach based on easily available samples enabled us to obtain a large metabolic pattern without a priori and we identified the involvement of relevant pathways, thus opening new perspective of pathogenesis understanding.

Acknowledgement The authors would like to thank Hervé Meudal (Centre de Biophysique Moléculaire Orleans) for technical assistance with NMR spectrometer, and Colette Faideau, Stéphanie Premeau, Ghislaine Bruneau and Laurence Saison for their technical help.

This study was funded by the Hospital of Tours.

Synopsis

The metabolomics approach based on a multiplatform strategy is promising to improve the knowledge of PKU pathogenesis.

Compliance with Ethics Guidelines

Conflict of Interest Statements

Blasco H, Veyrat-Durebex C, Bertrand M, Patin F, Labarthe F, Henique H, Emond P, Andres CR, Antar C, Landon C, Nadal-Desbarats L and Maillot F declare no conflict of interest

All the authors confirm independence from the sponsors; the content of the article has not been influenced by the sponsor

Informed Consent

All procedures followed were in accordance with the ethical standards of the responsible committee and with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2000. Informed consent was obtained from all patients for being included in the study.

Contribution of Authors

Hélène Blasco performed the statistical analysis, interpreted the data and wrote a part of the manuscript

Charlotte Veyrat-Durebex: acquired data

Franck Patin: performed the statistical analysis, interpreted the data and wrote a part of manuscript

Labarthe F: critically revised the manuscript for important intellectual content

Bertrand M: acquired NMR data

Hélène Hénique: acquired clinical data

Patrick Emond: acquired GC-MS data

Christian R Andres: critically revised the manuscript for important intellectual content

Catherine Antar: pre-treated and integrated NMR data Céline Landon: acquired NMR data

Lydie Nadal-Desbararats: pre-treated, integrated NMR data and identified metabolites

François Maillot: recruited patients, interpreted data and critically revised the manuscript for important intellectual content

References

- Bilder DA, Burton BK, Coon H et al (2013) Psychiatric symptoms in adults with phenylketonuria. Mol Genet Metab 108:155–160
- Blasco H, Nadal-Desbarats L, Pradat PF et al (2014) Untargeted 1H-NMR metabolomics in CSF: toward a diagnostic biomarker for motor neuron disease. Neurology 82:1167–1174
- Chiarla C, Giovannini I, Siegel JH (2011) Characterization of alphaamino-n-butyric acid correlations in sepsis. Transl Res 158:328–333
- Christ SE, Huijbregts SC, de Sonneville LM, White DA (2010) Executive function in early-treated phenylketonuria: profile and underlying mechanisms. Mol Genet Metab 99(Suppl 1):S22–S32
- Christ SE, Moffitt AJ, Peck D, White DA, Hilgard J (2012) Decreased functional brain connectivity in individuals with early-treated phenylketonuria: evidence from resting state fMRI. J Inherit Metab Dis 35:807–816
- Curtius HC, Baerlocher K, Vollmin JA (1972) Pathogenesis of phenylketonuria: inhibition of DOPA and catecholamine synthesis in patients with phenylketonuria. Clin Chim Acta 42:235–239
- de Groot MJ, Hoeksma M, Blau N, Reijngoud DJ, van Spronsen FJ (2010) Pathogenesis of cognitive dysfunction in phenylketonuria: review of hypotheses. Mol Genet Metab 99(Suppl 1):S86–S89
- de Groot MJ, Sijens PE, Reijngoud DJ, Paans AM, van Spronsen FJ (2015) Phenylketonuria: brain phenylalanine concentrations relate inversely to cerebral protein synthesis. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 35:200–205
- Denes J, Szabo E, Robinette SL et al (2012) Metabonomics of newborn screening dried blood spot samples: a novel approach in the screening and diagnostics of inborn errors of metabolism. Anal Chem 84:10113–10120
- Giovannini M, Verduci E, Salvatici E, Paci S, Riva E (2012) Phenylketonuria: nutritional advances and challenges. Nutr Metab (Lond) 9:7
- Harding CO, Winn SR, Gibson KM, Arning E, Bottiglieri T, Grompe M (2014) Pharmacologic inhibition of L-tyrosine degradation ameliorates cerebral dopamine deficiency in murine phenylketonuria (PKU). J Inherit Metab Dis 37:735–743
- Hargreaves IP, Heales SJ, Briddon A, Land JM, Lee PJ (2002) Blood mononuclear cell coenzyme Q10 concentration and mitochondrial respiratory chain succinate cytochrome-c reductase activity in phenylketonuric patients. J Inherit Metab Dis 25:673–679
- Hennermann JB, Querfeld U (2013) Unknown pathomechanisms of renal impairment in PKU. J Inherit Metab Dis 36:1087–1088
- Jahja R, Huijbregts SC, de Sonneville LM, van der Meere JJ, van Spronsen FJ (2014) Neurocognitive evidence for revision of treatment targets and guidelines for phenylketonuria. J Pediatr 164(895–899), e892

- Janeckova H, Hron K, Wojtowicz P et al (2012) Targeted metabolomic analysis of plasma samples for the diagnosis of inherited metabolic disorders. J Chromatogr A 1226:11–17
- Kaufman S (1976) Phenylketonuria: biochemical mechanisms. Adv Neurochem 2:1–32
- Kemsley EK, Le Gall G, Dainty JR et al (2007) Multivariate techniques and their application in nutrition: a metabolomics case study. Br J Nutr 98:1–14
- Knudsen GM, Hasselbalch S, Toft PB, Christensen E, Paulson OB, Lou H (1995) Blood-brain barrier transport of amino acids in healthy controls and in patients with phenylketonuria. J Inherit Metab Dis 18:653–664
- Krug S, Kastenmuller G, Stuckler F et al (2012) The dynamic range of the human metabolome revealed by challenges. FASEB J 26:2607–2619
- Kyprianou N, Murphy E, Lee P, Hargreaves I (2009) Assessment of mitochondrial respiratory chain function in hyperphenylalaninaemia. J Inherit Metab Dis 32:289–296
- Longo N, Arnold GL, Pridjian G et al (2015) Long-term safety and efficacy of sapropterin: the PKUDOS registry experience. Mol Genet Metab 114:557–563
- Madsen R, Lundstedt T, Trygg J (2010) Chemometrics in metabolomics a review in human disease diagnosis. Anal Chim Acta 659:23–33
- Martynyuk AE, van Spronsen FJ, Van der Zee EA (2010) Animal models of brain dysfunction in phenylketonuria. Mol Genet Metab 99(Suppl 1):S100–S105
- McKean CM (1972) The effects of high phenylalanine concentrations on serotonin and catecholamine metabolism in the human brain. Brain Res 47:469–476
- Merimee TJ, Lillicrap DA, Rabinowitz D (1965) Effect of arginine on serum-levels of human growth-hormone. Lancet 2:668–670
- Mutze U, Beblo S, Kortz L et al (2012) Metabolomics of dietary fatty acid restriction in patients with phenylketonuria. PLoS One 7, e43021
- Piatti PM, Monti LD, Valsecchi G et al (2001) Long-term oral L-arginine administration improves peripheral and hepatic insulin sensitivity in type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes Care 24:875–880
- Rath M, Muller I, Kropf P, Closs EI, Munder M (2014) Metabolism via arginase or nitric oxide synthase: two competing arginine pathways in macrophages. Front Immunol 5:532
- Rech VC, Feksa LR, Dutra-Filho CS, Wyse AT, Wajner M, Wannmacher CM (2002) Inhibition of the mitochondrial respiratory chain by phenylalanine in rat cerebral cortex. Neurochem Res 27:353–357
- Ribas GS, Sitta A, Wajner M, Vargas CR (2011) Oxidative stress in phenylketonuria: what is the evidence? Cell Mol Neurobiol 31:653–662
- Rocha JC, van Spronsen FJ, Almeida MF, Ramos E, Guimaraes JT, Borges N (2013) Early dietary treated patients with phenylketon-

uria can achieve normal growth and body composition. Mol Genet Metab 110(Suppl):S40-S43

- Rosa AP, Jacques CE, Moraes TB, Wannmacher CM, Dutra Ade M, Dutra-Filho CS (2012) Phenylpyruvic acid decreases glucose-6phosphate dehydrogenase activity in rat brain. Cell Mol Neurobiol 32:1113–1118
- Sanayama Y, Nagasaka H, Takayanagi M et al (2011) Experimental evidence that phenylalanine is strongly associated to oxidative stress in adolescents and adults with phenylketonuria. Mol Genet Metab 103:220–225
- Schuck PF, Malgarin F, Cararo JH, Cardoso F, Streck EL, Ferreira GC (2015) Phenylketonuria pathophysiology: on the role of metabolic alterations. Aging Dis 6:390–399
- Schumacher U, Lukacs Z, Kaltschmidt C et al (2008) High concentrations of phenylalanine stimulate peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma: implications for the pathophysiology of phenylketonuria. Neurobiol Dis 32:385–390
- Thalhammer O, Pollak A, Lubec G, Konigshofer H (1980) Intracellular concentrations of phenylalanine, tyrosine and alpha-aminobutyric acid in 13 homozygotes and 19 heterozygotes for phenylketonuria (PKU) compared with 26 normals. Hum Genet 54:213–216
- Thevenot EA, Roux A, Xu Y, Ezan E, Junot C (2015) Analysis of the human adult urinary metabolome variations with age, body mass index, and gender by implementing a comprehensive workflow for univariate and OPLS statistical analyses. J Proteome Res 14:3322–3335
- Turki A, Murthy G, Ueda K et al (2015) Minimally invasive (13)Cbreath test to examine phenylalanine metabolism in children with phenylketonuria. Mol Genet Metab 115:78–83
- van Spronsen FJ, Hoeksma M, Reijngoud DJ (2009) Brain dysfunction in phenylketonuria: is phenylalanine toxicity the only possible cause? J Inherit Metab Dis 32:46–51
- van Spronsen FJ, Huijbregts SC, Bosch AM, Leuzzi V (2011) Cognitive, neurophysiological, neurological and psychosocial outcomes in early-treated PKU-patients: a start toward standardized outcome measurement across development. Mol Genet Metab 104(Suppl):S45–S51
- Weckwerth W (2008) Integration of metabolomics and proteomics in molecular plant physiology—coping with the complexity by data-dimensionality reduction. Physiol Plant 132:176–189
- Westerhuis JA, van Velzen EJ, Hoefsloot HC, Smilde AK (2010) Multivariate paired data analysis: multilevel PLSDA versus OPLSDA. Metabolomics 6:119–128
- Williams JZ, Abumrad N, Barbul A (2002) Effect of a specialized amino acid mixture on human collagen deposition. Ann Surg 236:369–374, discussion 374–365
- Xiong X, Sheng X, Liu D, Zeng T, Peng Y, Wang Y (2015) A GC/ MS-based metabolomic approach for reliable diagnosis of phenylketonuria. Anal Bioanal Chem 407:8825–8833

CASE REPORT

Japanese Male Siblings with 2-Methyl-3-Hydroxybutyryl-CoA Dehydrogenase Deficiency (HSD10 Disease) Without Neurological Regression

Shohei Akagawa • Toshiyuki Fukao • Yuko Akagawa • Hideo Sasai • Urara Kohdera • Minoru Kino • Yosuke Shigematsu • Yuka Aoyama • Kazunari Kaneko

Received: 26 January 2016/Revised: 06 April 2016/Accepted: 25 April 2016/Published online: 16 June 2016 © SSIEM and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2016

Abstract 2-Methyl-3-hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency (HSD10 disease) is a rare X-linked disorder caused by a mutation in the HSD17B10 gene. Fewer than 30 patients with this disorder have been reported worldwide. The classical infantile form of HSD10 disease is characterized by a progressive neurodegenerative course with retinopathy and cardiomyopathy, although HSD10 disease has broad clinical heterogeneity. However, several male patients have not shown neurological regression. Here, we describe two Japanese siblings with HSD10 disease without neurological regression. A 4-year-old boy presented with unconsciousness due to severe hypoglycemia. Laboratory testing on admission showed mild metabolic acidosis and mild hyperammonemia. Urinary organic acid analysis in the acute phase showed elevated excretion of 2-methyl-3-hydroxybutyric acid, tiglylglycine, and ketones. However, 2-methylacetoacetate was not elevated. HSD10 disease was suspected based on urinary organic

Communicated by: Johannes Zschocke

S. Akagawa · Y. Akagawa · U. Kohdera · M. Kino Nakano Children's Hospital, Osaka, Japan

S. Akagawa (⊠) · Y. Akagawa · K. Kaneko Department of Pediatrics, Kansai Medical University, 2-5-1 Shinmachi, Hirakata, Osaka 573-1010, Japan e-mail: akagawas@hirakata.kmu.ac.jp

T. Fukao · H. Sasai Department of Pediatrics, Graduate School of Medicine, Gifu University, Gifu, Japan

Y. Shigematsu

Faculty of Medical Sciences, Department of Health Science, University of Fukui, Fukui, Japan

Y. Aoyama

Department of Biomedical Sciences, College of Life and Health Sciences, Chubu University, Aichi, Japan

acid data. The patient had a novel hemizygous c.470C>T (p.A157V) mutation in the HSD17B10 gene. His mother was a heterozygous carrier of this mutation. The patient's older brother also had the c.470C>T (p.A157V) mutation. Neurological development was normal at the time of evaluation. The pilot newborn screening results using tandem mass spectrometry of the proband were reevaluated retrospectively and showed a high C5:1 carnitine level of 0.070 nmol/mL (upper cutoff limit, 0.05 nmol/mL) and a normal C5-OH carnitine level of 0.290 nmol/mL (upper cutoff limit, 1.0 nmol/mL). His affected brother and another patient with the atypical form of HSD10 disease having p.A154T also showed elevated C5:1 but not C5-OH in serum acylcarnitine analysis. Thus, these data suggested that some patients with this disorder may be identified using newborn screening.

Introduction

2-Methyl-3-hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency (HSD10 disease) is a rare X-linked disorder caused by a mutation in the *HSD17B10* gene (Zschocke et al. 2000; Ofman et al. 2003). Fewer than 30 patients have been reported worldwide. Classical infantile form of HSD10 disease is characterized by a progressive neurodegenerative course with retinopathy and cardiomyopathy, leading to death at the age of 2–4 years or later (Zschocke 2012); however, this disorder has wide clinical heterogeneity. Only three patients in two families have been reported to have the atypical presentation of the disease, without neurological regression (Rauschenberger et al. 2010; Fukao et al.

2014). Moreover, one patient without neurological regression during childhood was reported to develop Parkinsonism in adulthood, as an abstract form (Lorea et al. 2015).

Here, we describe the fourth and fifth case of HSD10 disease without neurological regression in two Japanese siblings. The proband developed ketotic hypoglycemia three times at 4 years of age.

Case Presentation

A 4-year-old Japanese boy, who had been well and exhibited normal development until admission, presented with unconsciousness. One day before admission, he had a high fever and appetite loss. His parents were unrelated, and he had a 10year-old brother and an 8-year-old sister. Both of his siblings exhibited normal growth and development.

On physical examination on admission, the patient had a height of 90.5 cm (-1.1 SD), body weight of 12.7 kg (-1.7 kg)SD), heart rate of 114 bpm, and body temperature of 36.8°C. The Glasgow Coma Scale was E4V1M1. Laboratory testing on admission showed mild metabolic acidosis (blood gas pH, 7.337; pCO₂, 33.8 mmHg; HCO₃-, 17.7 mM), mild hyperammonemia (156 µM), and severe hypoglycemia (blood glucose less than 1.1 mM). Other data were as follows: white blood cell count, 26,900/µL; hemoglobin, 12.5 g/dL; blood urea nitrogen, 0.57 mM; aspartate aminotransferase, 49 IU/L; lactate dehydrogenase, 353 IU/L; lactate, 2.7 mM; total ketone bodies, 5.4 mM; and insulin, 2.2 µIU/mL. Three minutes after bolus infusion of 18 mL of 20 % glucose, blood glucose was increased to 6.61 mM, and the patient became conscious. After continuous glucose infusion, his symptoms improved, and he began to take oral food. On day 2 of hospitalization, the patient exhibited duodenal ulcers, with complaints of abdominal pain and melena. He was successfully medicated and was discharged from the hospital on day 22 of hospitalization. Urinary organic acid analysis in the acute phase showed elevated excretion of 2-methyl-3-hydroxybutyrate to 830 μ g/mg Cr (mean \pm SD, 5.1 \pm 5.3) and tiglylglycine to 252.6 μ g/mg Cr (1.1 \pm 0.6). However, 2methylacetoacetate was not elevated (0.1 µg/mg Cr; 1.0 ± 1.6). Urinary organic acid analysis 1 month later under nonsymptomatic conditions also showed increased excretion of 2-methyl-3-hydroxybutyrate (91.8 µg/mg Cr) and tiglylglycine (207.7 µg/mg Cr). HSD10 disease was suspected based on urinary organic acid data and harmonized elevation of blood ketone bodies with hypoglycemia.

Mutation analysis was then carried out at the genomic level. The results showed that the patient had a novel hemizygous c.470C>T (p.A157V) mutation in the *HSD17B10* gene. His mother was a heterozygous carrier of this mutation, and his older brother also had the c.470C>T (p.A157V) mutation.

This mutation was not present in a population-based variation database consisting of 1,208 Japanese individuals (Human Genetic Variation Database, www.genome.med. kyoto-u.ac.jp/SnpDB/index.html).

2-Methyl-3-hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase (2M3HBD) activity was assayed using fibroblasts, as previously described (Zschocke et al. 2000). 2M3HBDH activity was low (0.25 ± 0.05 nmol/min/mg protein; control, 1.33 ± 0.08 nmol/min/mg protein). Immunoblot analysis showed that fibroblasts from patients with p. A157V or p.A154T mutations had similar levels of HSD17B10 protein as control fibroblasts (Fig. 1).

Pilot newborn screening using tandem mass spectrometry at 5 days of age showed C5:1 levels of 0.070 nmol/mL and C5-OH of 0.290 nmol/mL. Screening criteria for betaketothiolase deficiency at newborn screening were 0.05 nmol/mL for C5:1 and 1.0 nmol/mL for C5-OH. Reexamination showed C5:1 of 0.090 nmol/mL and C5-OH of 0.590 nmol/mL. Therefore, screening criteria for betaketothiolase deficiency was not carried out and was judged as normal at that time.

The patient developed two additional ketotic hypoglycemic episodes at 4 years of age. His neurological development was normal, with an IQ of 90 (Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children). No abnormal findings were identified in echocardiographic or ophthalmological examinations.

Urinary and blood analyses were also performed for his older brother at 11 years of age. Urinary organic acid analysis showed elevated 2-methyl-3-hydroxybutyrate to 25.0 µg/mg Cr and tiglylglycine to 44.1 µg/mg Cr. Serum acylcarnitine profile analysis showed an elevated C5:1 of 0.108 nmol/mL (mean \pm SD, 0.012 \pm 0.005) and a normal C5-OH of 0.06 nmol/mL (0.06 \pm 0.03). His IQ was 74, classifying him as borderline intelligence; however, he was enrolled in normal classes in school and had never experienced any apparent neurological problems.

Discussion

Typical HSD10 disease is suspected when patients with neurological degeneration or psychomotor retardation show similar urinary organic acid or blood acylcarnitine profiles with beta-ketothiolase deficiency. Our patient developed severe ketotic hypoglycemia, and HSD10 disease was suspected based on metabolic evaluation of this episode. His neurological development was normal, and he had still not exhibited any neurological symptoms at the latest follow-up (5 years of age). Moreover, his older brother was shown to have the same mutation and an IQ indicating borderline intelligence at 11 years of age, without the occurrence of neurological problems. The older brother had never experienced hypoglycemic episodes.

83



Fig. 1 Immunoblot analysis: Fibroblasts were cultured in Eagle's minimum essential medium containing 10% fetal calf serum. Immunoblot analysis for 2M3HBD was carried out using anti-rat 2M3HBD antibodies and antihuman glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate

Based on urinary organic acid profiles and normal mitochondrial acetoacetyl-CoA thiolase activity in the patient's fibroblasts, we assumed that the function of 2methyl-3-hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase was blocked in this patient. In accordance to this, we identified a novel hemizygous mutation c.470C>T (p.A157V) in the HSD17B10 gene, which encodes the HSD10 protein, a multifunctional mitochondrial 17beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase and one of the three components of mitochondrial RNaseP. The latter is essential for mitochondrial tRNA processing (Holzmann et al. 2008). Several studies have shown that defects in 2-methyl-3-hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase activity are not associated with clinical severity of HSD10 disease, whereas defects in RNaseP function are associated with clinical severity (Rauschenberger et al. 2010; Yang et al. 2009).

Patients with HSD10 disease exhibit broad clinical heterogeneity. Zschocke subdivided HSD10 patients into four groups: the neonatal form, infantile form, juvenile form, and atypical presentation, as shown in Table 1 (Zschocke 2012). The classical presentation, which is called the infantile form, is characterized by a progressive neurological regression and cardiomyopathy, leading to death. However, several patients have been described who did not show neurological regression, a presentation classified as the atypical presentation (Table 2). A patient with the c.495A>C (p. Q165H) mutation was shown to have normal development up to his current age of 5 years, although he previously exhibited growth retardation and feeding diffi-

dehydrogenase (GAPDH) antibodies (sc-25778; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA) as a reference. *Each lane* represents 30 µg of fibroblast extracts

culties during infancy. Moreover, his male cousin, who had the same mutation, achieved normal neurodevelopment until his current age of 8 years (Rauschenberger et al. 2010). We recently reported another patient with the c.460G>A (p.A154T) mutation who showed no neurological regression until his current age of 6.5 years (Fukao et al. 2014). Thus, in this report, we described an additional two patients with c.470C>T (p.A157V) mutations, leading to the atypical presentation of HSD10 disease. However, another patient with the p.A158V mutation was reported to have developed Parkinsonism and was diagnosed with HSD10 disease at the age of 27 years (Lorea et al. 2015). Because the main characteristic of these patients was the lack of neurological regression during childhood, we propose that these patients should be classified as having a nonregressive form of HSD10 disease. Some patients may have developmental delays or neurological problems without neurological regression. Therefore, careful followup is needed for young patients without neurological regression because we cannot exclude the possibility of neurological problems and other symptoms later in life.

The mutations identified in the four patients with atypical HSD10 (Table 2) are located in close proximity in the tertiary structure of the HSD17B10 protein subunit (PDB ID: 2023). Moreover, the catalytic triad of this subunit is formed by Ser155, Tyr168, and Lys172. All of these four mutations are very close to one of the catalytic residues. Thus, catalytic activity is expected to be affected by these mutations. Polyphen2 software suggests that

Classification	Number of previous cases	Typical mutations	Clinical presentation	Reference
Neonatal form	3	p.N247S, p.R226Q, p.D86D	Immediate postnatal onset of severe metabolic lactic acidosis, little psychomotor development, seizures, progressive cardiomyopathy, death in the first month of life	Perez-Cerda et al. (2005), García- Villoria et al. (2009), and Rauschenberger et al. (2010)
Infantile form	More than 13	p.R130C, p.P210S, p.L122V	Normal development in the first 6–18 months of life, followed by a progressive neurodegenerative course with retinopathy and cardiomyopathy, leading to death at the age of 2–4 years or older	Zschocke et al. (2000), Ensenauer et al. (2002), Sutton et al. (2003), Sass et al. (2004), Perez-Cerda et al. (2005), Cazorla et al. (2007), Lenski et al. (2006), García-Villoria et al. (2009), Rauschenberger et al. (2010), and Zschocke (2012)
Juvenile form	1	p.E249Q	Normal development in the first 5 years and slow deterioration of speech and motor skills linked to measles infection	Olpin et al. (2002)
Nonregressive form	Six cases from four families, including the siblings in the current report	p.R165H, p.A154T, p.A157V, pA158V	Normal development in childhood, with typical urinary organic acid profiles and potential transient metabolic decompensation	Rauschenberger et al. (2010), Fukao et al. (2014), and Lorea et al. 2015; Present case

Table 1 Clinical presentation of HSD10 disease and mutations in the HSD17B10 gene

Table 2 Mutations and clinical presentation of nonregressive form of HSD10 disease

Mutation	First presentation	Neurological problem	Family members with the same mutation	Reference
p.Q165H	Pre- and postnatal failure to thrive	None at 8 years of age	Brother and male cousin	Rauschenberger et al. (2010)
p.A154T	Five-day period of appetite loss and vomiting with severe ketoacidosis due to gastroenteritis at 6 years of age	None at 7 years of age		Fukao et al. (2014)
p.A158V	Parkinsonism at 27 years of age	None before diagnosis		Lorea et al. (2015)
p.A157V	Unconsciousness due to severe hypoglycemia at 4 years of age	None at 5 years of age	Older brother	Present case

p.A157V may be classified as probably damaging. Additionally, immunoblot analysis showed that fibroblasts from patients with p. A157V or p.A154T mutations had similar levels of HSD17B10 protein as control fibroblasts (Fig. 1) (Fukao et al. 2014). These mutations may affect catalytic activity but not stability.

Our proband and the patient with the p.A154T mutation developed ketotic hypoglycemic episodes several times, leading to further urinary organic acid analyses and thereby facilitating the final diagnosis (Fukao et al. 2014). However, it is not clear whether patients with HSD10 disease may tend to develop ketotic hypoglycemia owing to the lack of sufficient cases; further studies are needed to determine the associations between ketotic hypoglycemia and HSD10 disease.

Notably, C5:1 was particularly elevated, whereas C5-OH was within the upper cutoff limit in newborn screening in

our probands. Such high C5:1 levels were not observed in more than 10,000 newborns in Gifu, Japan (unpublished observation). However, the patient's older brother and our other patient with the p.A154T mutation also showed elevated C5:1 but not C5-OH in serum acylcarnitine analysis. Thus, these data suggest that this disorder may be identifiable during newborn screening.

Conclusion

Here, we present two male siblings with HSD10 disease without neurological regression (the nonregressive form) having a novel hemizygous c.470C>T (p.A157V) mutation in the *HSD17B10* gene. The younger sibling had several ketotic hypoglycemic events at 4 years of age, whereas the older brother showed no symptoms. The nonregressive

form of HSD10 disease may not be as rare as was previously thought, and careful follow-up is needed for young patients with atypical HSD10 disease.

Acknowledgments The present study was supported in part by a Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology of Japan (26114708, 24591505); Health and Labor Science Research Grants for Research on Intractable Diseases from the Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare of Japan; and the Practical Research Project for Rare/Intractable Diseases from the Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development, AMED, to T.F. This study was partly supported by the Mami Mizutani Foundation.

Take-Home Message

Patients of HSD10 disease without neurological regression during childhood may not be as rare as was previously thought.

Conflict of Interest

Shohei Akagawa, Toshiyuki Fukao, Yuko Akagawa, Hideo Sasai, Urara Kohdera, Minoru Kino, Yosuke Shigematsu, Yuka Aoyama, and Kazunari Kaneko declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Informed Consent

All procedures followed were in accordance with the ethical standards of the responsible committee on human experimentation (institutional and national) and with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2000. Informed consent was obtained from the family for inclusion in this report. The molecular study was approved by the Ethical Committee of the Graduate School of Medicine, Gifu University, Gifu, Japan, and carried out with written approval.

Compliance with Ethics guidelines

This article does not contain any studies with animal subjects performed by the any of the authors.

Author Contributions

SA is the attending doctor of the siblings. YA, UK, and MK followed and treated the patients with SA. YS chemically diagnosed these patients by GC-MS. TF, HS, and YA performed molecular analysis and contributed to molecular diagnosis. TF, YS, and KK helped SA to diagnose and treat

the patient as advising doctors. SA and TF contributed to the conception and design of this report. YS and KK contributed to drafting of the article. SA, TF, YS, YA, and KK contributed to critical editing of the article. All authors approved the final version of the article.

References

- Cazorla MR, Verdú A, Pérez-Cerdá C et al (2007) Neuroimage findings in 2-methyl-3-hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency. Pediatr Neurol 36:264–267
- Ensenauer R, Niederhoff H, Ruiter JP et al (2002) Clinical variability in 3-hydroxy-2-methylbutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency. Ann Neurol 51:656–659
- Fukao T, Akiba K, Goto M et al (2014) The first case in Asia of 2methyl-3-hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency (HSD10 disease) with atypical presentation. J Hum Genet 59:609–614
- García-Villoria J, Navarro-Sastre A, Fons C et al (2009) Study of patients and carriers with 2-methyl-3-hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase (MHBD) deficiency: difficulties in the diagnosis. Clin Biochem 42:27–33
- Holzmann J, Frank P, Löffler E, Bennett KL, Gerner C, Rossmanith W (2008) RNase P without RNA: identification and functional reconstitution of the human mitochondrial tRNA processing enzyme. Cell 135:462–474
- Lenski C, Kooy RF, Reyniers E et al (2006) The reduced expression of the HADH2 protein causes X-linked mental retardation, choreoathetosis, and abnormal behavior. Am J Hum Genet 80:372–377
- Lorea CF, Sitta A, Yamamoto R et al (2015) Case report: atypical juvenile parkinsonism and basal ganglia calcifications due to HSD10 disease. Inherit Metab Dis 38(Suppl 1):210
- Ofman R, Ruiter JP, Feenstra M et al (2003) 2-Methyl-3-hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency is caused by mutations in the HADH2 gene. Am J Hum Genet 72:1300–1307
- Olpin SE, Pollitt RJ, McMenamin J et al (2002) 2-Methyl-3hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency in a 23-year-old man. J Inherit Metab Dis 25:477–482
- Perez-Cerda C, García-Villoria J, Ofman R et al (2005) 2-Methyl-3hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase (MHBD) deficiency: an Xlinked inborn error of isoleucine metabolism that may mimic a mitochondrial disease. Pediatr Res 58:488–491
- Rauschenberger K, Schöler K, Sass JO et al (2010) A non-enzymatic function of 17beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 10 is required for mitochondrial integrity and cell survival. EMBO Mol Med 2:51–62
- Sass JO, Forstner R, Sperl W (2004) 2-Methyl-3-hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency: impaired catabolism of isoleucine presenting as neurodegenerative disease. Brain Dev 26:12–14
- Sutton VR, O'Brien WE, Clark GD et al (2003) 3-Hydroxy-2methylbutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency. J Inherit Metab Dis 26:69–71
- Yang SY, He XY, Olpin SE et al (2009) Mental retardation linked to mutations in the HSD17B10 gene interfering with neurosteroid and isoleucine metabolism. Proc Natl Acad Sci 106:14820-14824
- Zschocke J (2012) HSD10 disease: clinical consequences of mutations in the HSD17B10 gene. J Inherit Metab Dis 35:81–89
- Zschocke J, Ruiter JP, Brand J et al (2000) Progressive infantile neurodegeneration caused by 2-methyl-3-hydroxybutyryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency: a novel inborn error of branchedchain fatty acid and isoleucine metabolism. Pediatr Res 48:852–855

RESEARCH REPORT

Newborn Screening for Vitamin B₆ Non-responsive Classical Homocystinuria: Systematical Evaluation of a Two-Tier Strategy

Jürgen G. Okun • Hongying Gan-Schreier • Tawfeq Ben-Omran • Kathrin V. Schmidt • Junmin Fang-Hoffmann • Gwendolyn Gramer • Ghassan Abdoh • Noora Shahbeck • Hilal Al Rifai • Abdul Latif Al Khal • Gisela Haege • Chuan-Chi Chiang • David C. Kasper • Bridget Wilcken • Peter Burgard • Georg F. Hoffmann

Received: 15 December 2015 / Revised: 01 March 2016 / Accepted: 15 March 2016 / Published online: 21 June 2016 © SSIEM and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2016

Abstract *Background*: In classical homocystinuria (HCU, MIM# 236200) due to the deficiency of cystathionine β -synthase (EC 4.2.1.22) there is a clear evidence for the success of early treatment. The aim of this study was to develop and evaluate a two-tier strategy for HCU newborn screening.

Methods: We reevaluated data from our newborn screening programme for Qatar in a total number of 125,047 neonates including 30 confirmed HCU patients. Our hitherto existing screening strategy includes homocys-

Communicated by: Piero Rinaldo, MD, PhD	
Competing interests: None declared	

Electronic supplementary material: The online version of this chapter (doi:10.1007/8904_2016_556) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

J.G. Okun (⊠) • H. Gan-Schreier • K.V. Schmidt • J. Fang-Hoffmann • G. Gramer • G. Haege • P. Burgard • G.F. Hoffmann Department of General Pediatrics, Division of Inherited Metabolic Diseases, University Children's Hospital, Heidelberg, Germany e-mail: juergen.okun@med.uni-heidelberg.de

T. Ben-Omran · G. Abdoh · N. Shahbeck · H. Al Rifai · A.L. Al Khal Department of Pediatrics, Hamad Medical Corporation, Doha, Qatar

C.-C. Chiang

Chinese Foundation of Health, Taipei City, Taiwan

D.C. Kasper

Department of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

B. Wilcken

NSW Newborn Screening Programme, The Children's Hospital at Westmead, Westmead, NSW, Australia

teine (Hcy) measurements in every child, resulting in a unique dataset for evaluation of two-tier strategies. Reevaluation included methionine (Met) levels, Met to phenylalanine (Phe) ratio, and Hcy. Four HCU cases identified after database closure were also included in the evaluation. In addition, dried blood spot samples selected by Met values >P97 in the newborn screening programs in Austria, Australia, the Netherlands, and Taiwan were analyzed for Hcy.

Results: Met to Phe ratio was found to be more effective for first sieve than Met, sorting out nearly 90% of normal samples. Only 10% of the samples would have to be processed by second-tier measurement of Hcy in dried blood spots. As no patient with HCU was found neither in the samples investigated for HCU, nor by clinical diagnosis in the other countries, the generalization of our two-tier strategy could only be tested indirectly.

Conclusion: The finally derived two-tier algorithm using Met to Phe ratio as first- and Hcy as second-tier requires 10% first-tier positives to be transferred to Hcy measurement, resulting in 100% sensitivity and specificity in HCU newborn screening.

Abbreviations

CBS	Cystathionine β-synthase
DBS	Dried blood spots
ESI-MS/	Electrospray ionization-tandem mass spec-
MS	trometry
HCU	Classical homocystinuria
Нсу	Homocysteine

HPLC	High-performance liquid chromatography
LC-MS/	Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spec
MS	trometry
Met	Methionine
Phe	Phenylalanine

Introduction

Homocystinuria (HCU, MIM# 236200) is an autosomal recessive disorder usually caused by deficiency of cystathionine β -synthase (CBS, EC 4.2.1.22, Mudd et al. 1964), leading to highly increased plasma and urine concentrations of homocysteine (Hcy) as well as increased levels of plasma methionine (Met). Clinical symptoms in untreated or late treated patients include Marfan-like appearance, progressive myopia and lens dislocation, thromboembolism, epilepsy, and mental retardation (Mudd et al. 1964, 2001). Early treatment with high doses of pyridoxine and/or methionine restriction combined with betaine administration has proven to be effective in preventing many complications of this disease (Mudd et al. 1964, 2001).

There is considerable evidence that early detection and treatment can prevent the clinical consequences of the enzyme deficiency; therefore, newborn screening for the disorder has been advocated (American College of Medical Genetics Newborn Screening Expert Group 2006; Schulze et al. 2009). HCU leads to hypermethioninemia as an additional metabolic marker (Huemer et al. 2015; Wong et al. 2016, Region 4 Stork [R4S] collaborated website, http://www.clir-r4s.org). Newborn screening for HCU by measurement of Met in dried blood spots (DBS) is being performed in some countries but has poor sensitivity. In Ireland, 4 of 25 cases were missed, including one pyridoxine-responsive patient. The false negative-screening in the other three cases might be attributed to breastfeeding, due to low Met concentrations in breast milk and some infant formulas (Naughten et al. 1998). It is likely that pyridoxine-responsive patients, which account for about half of all CBS-deficiency cases, are not detected by measurement of methionine in neonates; there is no substantiated report of such detection (Huemer et al. 2015).

Based on data from newborn screening programs, the worldwide prevalence of pyridoxine non-responsive HCU has been estimated to be approximately 1 in 335,000 (Mudd et al. 2001) but varies from 1:900,000 (Japan, Naughten et al. 1998), 1:400,000 (Germany, Aymé and Hivert 2011) to 1:65,000 (Ireland, Yap and Naughten 1998) and 1:58,000 (Australia, Naughten et al. 1998) the latter at

a time when the Australian population had a high proportion with Irish ancestry. We previously reported a high prevalence of about 1:3,000 in Qatar. In this highly consanguineous population HCU is caused primarily by homozygosity for the mutation p.R336C (c.1006C>T) in the CBS gene (Bener and Hussain 2006; El-Said et al. 2006; Zschocke et al. 2009; Gan-Schreier et al. 2010).

Based on the newborn screening samples of 125,047 children born in Qatar, obtained over a 7-year period from July 2006 to June 2013 using the parameters Met, Phe and Hcy measured by high-throughput liquid chromatography–tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) in all samples, we developed a strategy using Met to Phe ratio as first-tier, and Hcy values as second-tier screening parameters for HCU.

In addition, samples from newborn screening programs in Austria, Australia, the Netherlands, and Taiwan were used to test the generalizability of the suggested two-tier strategy.

Materials and Methods

Study Design

The primary goal of the present study was to develop a two-tier strategy for screening for HCU. Screening of 125,047 samples from Qatar between 2006 and 2013 for HCU on the basis of Hcy alone resulted in 30 confirmed cases. In a reevaluation of the data initially obtained from the regular newborn screening (Met, Phe) as well as from the Hcy determination by LC-MS/MS performed in all newborns in Qatar we used in a first approach Met as firsttier and Hcy as second-tier parameters. As this strategy resulted in a rather insufficient model with a cut-off for Met at P62 to achieve 100% sensitivity, in a second approach the Met to Phe ratio was used as first-tier variable. As phenylalanine metabolism is not affected by HCU, Phe normalizes Met, i.e., individuals with overall higher or lower amino acid profiles would have normal ratios, and only individuals with Met values deviating from the average profile would become noticeable. Again Hcy was used as a second-tier parameter.

The secondary goal was to investigate samples from the newborn screening programs of Australia, the Netherlands, Austria, and Taiwan to test the generalizability of the twotier algorithms. All samples exceeding the top 3% (>P97) of methionine concentrations in DBS were punched into sealed microtiter membrane plates (96 wells; Millipore Multi Screen Filter Plates 0.22 µm, Darmstadt, Germany), stored at 4°C, and sent to the screening laboratory in Heidelberg, Germany, for measurement of Hcy. No cases of HCU were identified in these samples. The confirmed HCU cases from Qatar were then processed together with this second data set using the Met and Hcy two-tier algorithm previously applied on the Qatar data set. The study was approved by the respective local ethical committees.

Determination of Methionine and Phenylalanine in Dried Blood Spots

Blood spots taken between the 36th and 72nd hour of life were sampled on screening cards (Neonatal Screening Card; Whatman 903, GE Healthcare Europe GmbH, Freiburg, Germany) and dried at room temperature. Met and Phe were analyzed as their butyl esters on a triple quadrupole tandem mass spectrometer with $[^{2}H_{3}]$ methionine and $[^{2}H_{3}]$ phenylalanine as internal deuterated standards as previously described (Lindner et al. 2007 and the references therein). All other participating laboratories performed amino acid and acylcarnitine profiling using the above-mentioned derivatization step and subsequent ESI-MS/MS measurements (Australia and Austria: Wilcken et al. 2003; Taiwan: Huang et al. 2006; and the Netherlands: Rizzo et al. 2003).

Determination of Homocysteine in Dried Blood Spots

Following a formerly reported technique (Gan-Schreier et al. 2010), Hcy concentrations were quantified from the same blood samples in 3.2 mm punch-outs by LC-MS/MS using a modified stable isotope dilution technique (Gempel et al. 2000) and $[^{2}H_{4}]$ homocysteine (Fluka, Sigma Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany) as an internal standard.

A Quattro micro tandem mass spectrometer (Waters, Germany) fitted with a Z-Spray ion source was used for all analyses. The instrument was operated in electrospray positive ion mode coupled to a Rheos 2000 HPLC system using an AtlantisTM HILIC Silica 2.1×50 mm, 3 µm (Waters, Eschborn, Germany) for separation. All aspects of system operation and data acquisition were controlled using Masslynx NT v3.5 software.

Data Analysis

For comparison of distributions of Met, Hcy, and Met to Phe values between samples with the Brown–Forsythe Levene-type test, R function "levene.test" in software package lawstat (Gastwirth et al. 2013) of statistical program R (R Core Team 2015) was used with the setting 'correction.method = "zero.correction". All other statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 22 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL).

Results

HCU Screening Based on Hcy

In Qatar, from July 2006 until June 2008 a total of 29,791 neonates (12,152 = 40.8% Qatari; 17,639 = 59.2% non-Qatari) were screened for HCU. Starting from July 2008, information concerning ethnic origin was suppressed. For 95,256 neonates screened from July 2008 portions for the Qatari population (38,856 corresponding 40.8%) as well as for the non-Qatari population (56,400 corresponding 59.2%) were estimated on the basis of the data from 2006 until 2008. For all further calculations the total sample of 125,047 screened neonates was divided into a total sample of 51,008 Qatari children and 74,039 of non-Qatari children.

During the whole period of the study 132 cases of vitamin B_{12} deficiency and 30 confirmed patients with HCU were identified. Vitamin B_{12} deficiency was confirmed in 59 subjects in the Qatari subsample and 73 subjects in the non-Qatari subsample. The 30 patients with classical HCU were found by Hcy screening using the LC-MS/MS method. HCU patients were exclusively of Qatari origin (Table 1).

In the one-tier Hcy screening approach the cut-off for Hcy was 10 µmol/l (99.0 percentile) until March 2009 and 12 µmol/l (99.2 percentile) thereafter. In confirmed HCU patients Hcy levels in the first blood spot ranged from 14.1 to 97.0 µmol/l for Hcy. Compared to the healthy Qatari population, the lowest patient value for homocysteine of 14.1 µmol/l was well above the 100 percentile of the healthy population (12 µmol/l) resulting in a sensitivity and specificity of 100% for the cut-off of 12 µmol/l, and a sensitivity of 100% and a specificity of 99.04% (leading to 107 false positives) for the 10 µmol/l cut-off. All cases with Hcy values above the cut-offs were further investigated by molecular genetics identifying 30 confirmed cases (homozygosity for R336C: n = 29, D234N: n = 0, G347S: n = 1). No additional case with HCU has been diagnosed based on clinical symptoms so far (between July 2006 and June 2013).

Development of a Two-Tier Strategy for the Screening of Classical Homocystinuria: Met and Hcy Two-Tier Strategy

We first used Met as first-tier parameter, as it is measured routinely during screening of amino acids by ESI-MS/MS. Met values in the first screening card for patients with confirmed HCU ranged from 21.0 to 262.0 μ mol/l, with the lowest value for Met corresponding to the 62nd percentile. In a retrospective approach, the cut-off for Met was set at 20 μ mol/l, i.e., below the minimum value of the HCU patients, thus ensuring 100% sensitivity. This first-tier criterion led to a percentage of 38.44 (19,097 cases)

Table 1 Basic description of the data set

Country (period)	Samples (<i>n</i>)	Excluded from analysis ^a (n)	Missing data ^b (<i>n</i>)	Samples included in analysis (<i>n</i>)	Cases HCU	N for prevalence ^c	Prevalence
Qatari (July 2006–June 2008)	12,152	952	0	11,200	7	12,152	1:1,736
Qatari (July 2008–June 2013) ^d	38,856	377	0	38,479	23	38,856	1:1,689
Qatari (July 2006–June 2013)	51,008	1,329	0	49,679	30	51,008	1:1,700
Non-Qatari (July 2006–June 2008)	17,639	2,177	0	15,462	0	17,639	<1:17,639
Non-Qatari (July 2008–June 2013) ^d	56,400	862	0	55,538	0	56,400	<1:56,400
Non-Qatari (July 2006–June 2013)	74,039	3,039	0	71,000	0	74,039	<1:74,039
Australia (2009-2010)	4,344	452	96	3,796	0	144,800 ^c	<1:144,800
Austria (2009-2010)	1,795	246	440	1,109	0	59,833°	<1:59,833
Taiwan (2010)	206	2	0	204	0	6,867 ^c	<1:6,867
The Netherlands (2009–2010)	1,812	10	1,485	317	0	60,400 ^c	<1:60,400

^a Preterm sample, other diagnosis, medication, material insufficient, and post mortem sample

^b Met and/or Phe missing

^c Calculated as (*n* of samples/3) \times 100

^d Estimated on the distribution of screening period July 2006–June 2008

	Table 2	Results	of first	st- and	second-tier	strategies	with	cut-offs	trimmed	for	100%	sensitivity
--	---------	---------	----------	---------	-------------	------------	------	----------	---------	-----	------	-------------

	First-tier			Second-tier: Hcy = $12 \ \mu mol/l$ (P100)			
	Sensitivity	Specificity	No. (%) of positives	Sensitivity	Specificity	No. of false positives	
Met > 20 (=P61)	1	0.616	19,097 (38.44)	1	1	0	
Met/Phe > 0.77 (=P98.8)	1	0.988	611 (1.23)	1	1	0	
Met/Phe > 0.61 (=P94)	1	0.942	2,885 (8.81)	1	1	0	
Met/Phe > $0.56 (=P89)^{a}$	1	0.898	5,105 (10.28)	1	1	0	

Number of samples that go into first-tier: 49,679 including 30 homocystinuria patients

^a Including four additional HCU cases

suspected cases of HCU (specificity = 0.616, see Table 2) if the cut-off was trimmed for a 100% sensitivity. Only samples with first-tier values above the respective cut-offs entered the second-tier measuring Hcy. As this approach was judged to be inefficient, a second strategy, using the Met to Phe ratio as first- and Hcy as second-tier was developed and tested.

Development of a Two-Tier Strategy for the Screening of Classical Homocystinuria: Met to Phe and Hcy Two-Tier Strategy

Phe values of confirmed cases ranged from 27.0 to 73.0 μ mol/l and Met to Phe ratios from 0.78 to 4.68. The lowest Met to Phe ratio corresponded to the 98.8th

percentile of controls. Using a cut-off of 0.77 for the Met to Phe ratio as first-tier led to a percentage of 1.23 (611 cases) of suspected HCU (specificity = 0.988, Table 2). Again, only samples with first-tier values above the respective cut-offs entered the second-tier using Hcy values as diagnostic criterion. The 132 cases of vitamin B_{12} deficiency identified by first-tier Hcy were sorted out by the Met to Phe ratio cut-off during the first-tier.

Generalizability of the Two-Tier Approach

A strict test of the generalizability of the two-tier approach using the samples from Australia, Austria, the Netherlands, and Taiwan would require confirmed HCU cases identified in these screening programmes. However, no case of HCU was found in the samples analyzed for this study, nor was any clinically identified case reported during the observation period. To test the generalizability of our algorithm using the data of the samples defined by the upper 3% of the Met distributions of neonates screened in Australia, Austria, the Netherlands, Taiwan, and Qatar (Table 1 and Supplemental Table 1) we developed the following approach. First, we compared the upper 3% of values in the Qatari and non-Qatari subsamples from July 2006 to June 2008. There were only small differences between the medians as well as the distributions of Met and Hcy (Met: median test: $\chi^2(df = 1, N = 753) = 1.78, p$ = 0.182, Cramer's V = 0.049, 95%-CI[-0.023; 0.120]; Brown–Forsythe Levene-type test for distribution: $W(df_1)$ $= 1, df_2 = 751) = 4.33, p = 0.038, Cramer's V = 0.076,$ 95%-CI[0.004; 0.146] – Hcy: median test: $\chi^2(df = 1,$ N = 753 = 0.12, p = 0.729, Cramer's V = 0.013, 95%-CI[-0.059; 0.084]; Brown-Forsythe Levene-type test for distribution: $W(df_1 = 1, df_2 = 751) = 1.87, p = 0.172,$ Cramer's V = 0.050, 95%-CI[-0.022; 0.121]). Cramer's V gives a standardized difference between sample characteristics, small values indicating small differences. As in studies with large samples even small differences easily become significant, effect sizes and their confidence intervals are recommended to evaluate the practical significance of a result (Lin et al. 2013; Nuzzo 2014). Following Cohen's (Cohen 1988) effect sizes were classified as small (values >= 0.1), medium (>=0.3), or large (>=0.5). All Vs comparing Qatari and non-Qatari samples were very small. Therefore, for further analyses subsamples from Qatar were merged.

In a second step comparing Met values >P97 across Qatar, Australia, Austria, the Netherlands, and Taiwan (Supplemental Fig. 1), we found a medium size difference between medians (median test: $\chi^2(df = 4, N = 8,638) = 4648.30, p < 0.001$, Cramer's V = 0.367, 95%-CI [0.348; 0.385]) but not for distributions (Brown–Forsythe Levene-type test for distribution: $W(df_1 = 4, df_2 = 8,633) = 287.81, p < 0.001$, Cramer's V = 0.091, 95%-CI[0.070; 0.112]). Significance for medians was only due to Australian data showing higher Met values than in all other countries, which were rather similar (median test: $\chi^2(df = 3, N = 4,842) = 163.03, p < 0.001$, Cramer's V = 0.106, 95%-CI[0.078; 0.134]; Brown–Forsythe Levene-type test for distribution: $W(df_1 = 3, df_2 = 4,838) = 308.80, p < 0.001$, Cramer's V = 0.146, 95%-CI[0.118; 0.173]).

Also differences between Met to Phe ratios (Supplemental Fig. 2) as well as between Hcy values (Supplemental Fig. 3) in blood samples selected if Met > P97 from Qatar, Australia, Austria, the Netherlands, and Taiwan were small (Met/Phe: median test: $\chi^2(df = 4, N = 8,637) = 317.92$,

p < 0.001, Cramer's V = 0.096, 95%-CI[0.075; 0.117]; Brown–Forsythe Levene-type test for distribution: $W(df_1 = 4, df_2 = 8,632) = 333.43, p < 0.001$, Cramer's V = 0.098, 95%-CI[0.077; 0.119]; Hcy: median test: $\chi^2(df = 4, N = 8,638) = 555.19, p < 0.001$, Cramer's V = 0.127, 95%-CI[0.106; 0.147]; Brown–Forsythe Levene-type test for distribution: $W(df_1 = 4, df_2 = 8,633) = 70.80, p < 0.001$, Cramer's V = 0.045, 95%-CI[0.024; 0.066]).

In summary, distributions of Met values and Met to Phe ratios for Met > P97 were similar across all countries allowing us to conclude that Qatar data are comparable to those of other countries and a generalization of our results found for Qatar could be justified. The definite test of the generalizability of the two-tier strategy, however, is not possible, as this would require access to the complete data set of Met to Phe ratios.

Determination of a Cut-Off for the Met to Phe Ratio

Using a Met to Phe ratio of 0.77 as a cut-off given the lowest Met to Phe ratio of confirmed HCU patients being 0.78 would not be conservative enough, as repeated measurement of the same sample might be at risk to be lower than 0.77 and therefore would miss the case. The standard error of prediction (σ_{iI}) allows calculation of the interval for a repeated measurement (Xi) of a blood sample having the result XI (Dudek 1979). It is calculated as $\sigma_{\rm iI} = \sigma_{\rm i} (1 - r_{\rm iI}^2)^{1/2}, \sigma_{\rm i}$ being the standard deviation of all measurements and r_{iI} the reliability of the measurement device. Quality control samples of four different concentrations for Met and Phe used as internal standards for MS/ MS experiments were used to calculate the reliability (Hopkins 2000) resulting in a value of 0.994. These quality controls are the regular quality control samples which were measured each day before starting the amino acid and acylcarnitine profiling.

The mean of Met to Phe ratios of all 30 confirmed cases obtained from the initially measured data obtained from the regular screening program was 1.55 with a standard deviation of 0.77 and was used to estimate σ_i , leading to a standard error of prediction of 0.084. The expected true value of the lowest Met to Phe ratio is calculated as $1.55 + ((0.78 - 1.55) \times 0.994) = 0.784$. Now the 95% CI for 0.784 can be calculated as $0.784 \pm 1.96 \times 0.084$ resulting in an interval of] 0.62-0.95[, with the lower bound corresponding to P 94.7. Using 0.61 (P94) as a new cut-off for Met to Phe ratio as a first-tier would still result in a sensitivity of 1. Specificity would slightly decrease to 0.942 remitting 2,885 samples to the second-tier Hcy measurement of the screening process.

Discussion

Newborn screening for classical homocystinuria performed by measurement of Met concentrations in dried blood spots has an insufficient sensitivity. The exact proportion of cases missed by newborn screening for methionine is unknown. In the present study taking the 99.5th Met centile (42 µmol/ 1) as a cut-off, 4 out of 34 (11.8%) affected babies would have been missed. Met cut-off values as low as 40 µmol/l have been proposed to yield higher sensitivity (Huemer et al. 2015 and the references therein: McHugh et al. 2011; Turgeon et al. 2010) but methionine seems to be to insecure as a first-tier parameter. The false negative rate is likely to be higher with early (<5 days) than with later blood sampling (5-7th day of life). Therefore, early screening, due to early discharge from the maternity unit, can be expected to influence the proportion of cases missed by methionine screening. Breast-fed babies may also have significantly lower methionine levels because of low concentrations of methionine in breast milk compared to some infant formulas (Naughten et al. 1998). Taken together. Met alone is not an adequate parameter for screening for classical homocystinuria.

Hcy can be measured in dried blood spots by LC-MS/MS for HCU screening with 100% sensitivity and specificity (Gan-Schreier et al. 2010; Alodaib et al. 2012). However, this approach requires measuring all samples with this particular and elaborated method. Our screening strategy for Qatar was so far based on Hcy as first-tier in all samples. As this is the only newborn screening programme in the world with Hcy measured in all subjects we could use a unique data set for evaluation of different second-tier strategies in newborn screening for HCU. We could demonstrate that using Met as first- and Hcy as second-tier is also a strategy with 100% sensitivity and specificity, if the cut-off for Met is set at a sufficiently low level. Compared to the Hcy alone strategy the number of samples requiring Hcy measurement is reduced by 61.6% in this second-tier strategy. However, Met and Phe are already measured by ESI-MS/MS in NBS for aminoacidopathies without additional cost and effort. Sensitivity is also increased by using the Met to Phe ratio which adjusts to the above-mentioned different protein intake (Bowron et al. 2005). Using the Met to Phe ratio as first-tier reduces the total number of samples requiring Hcy measurement by 89.7% in our retrospective data evaluation. Therefore, Met to Phe ratio as first-tier and Hcy as second-tier appears to be the optimal strategy. In the generalizability study we could demonstrate that the distributions of Met, Met to Phe ratio, and Hcy for samples selected if Met > P97 were rather similar between Qatari and non-Qatari samples from Qatar, as well as between Australia, Austria, Taiwan, and the Netherlands. However, the direct test comparing complete distributions of Met to Phe ratios remains to be done.

In retrospect although all HCU cases could be detected by first-tier Met and second-tier Hcy in the data sets selected by the upper 3% of Met distributions (corresponding to a first-tier screening using P97 for Met) from Australia and Austria, one case would not have been included in the data sets from Taiwan and the Netherlands, where one more had a Met value equal to the cut-off.

Our data allow the calculation of the prevalence for HCU in Qatar among the Qatari population, giving an estimate of 1:1,700, stable across different observation periods (Table 1, see also Gan-Schreier et al. 2010). As not a single case was found in any of the other samples from other countries, only upper limits for prevalence estimates can be derived from the data sets. Merging all non-Qatari subgroups included in our analysis results in a prevalence estimate for HCU lower than 1:345,939, which is in agreement with some previously published estimates (see introduction and Skovby et al. 2010, which estimated the frequency of classical CBS to 1:344,000).

One limitation is that CBS deficiency in the Qatari population is predominately caused by homozygosity for a frequent mutation (Bener and Hussain 2006; El-Said et al. 2006; Zschocke et al. 2009; Gan-Schreier et al. 2010). Therefore our results are not necessarily transferable to other populations with different genetic backgrounds. The generalizability of the approach should be prospectively evaluated in future studies in other populations with high incidences of CBS deficiency, e.g., the Irish population.

As expected according to the genetic background of the Qatari population, all patients detected in this study were pyridoxine non-responsive. Therefore, we cannot draw conclusions about detection of pyridoxine-responsive CBS patients by the proposed strategy in other populations. Based on the higher frequency of pyridoxine-responsive CBS patients in historical cohorts compared to cohorts detected by newborn screening (Huemer et al. 2015) current newborn screening strategies have been reported to miss the majority of pyridoxine-responsive CBS patients.

After we had finished all calculations leading to the cutoff for the Met to Phe ratio of 0.61 four more confirmed cases with HCU have been identified by one-tier Hcy screening (Hcy: 57, 82, 100, 79 µmol/l). Met to Phe ratios of these cases were 0.94, 0.96, 0.73, 1.54, i.e., all these cases would have also been detected by the suggested twotier algorithm. However, the case with a Met to Phe ratio of 0.73 constitutes a new minimum (Fig. 1). This is comparable with the recommended cut-off value (0.75-0.97)presented previously as a summary of the laboratory markers for newborn screening of homocystinurias and methylation defects in the R4S collaborative project (Huemer et al. 2015). The lower bound of the interval for a repeated measurement of the sample with the Met to Phe ratio = 0.73 based on now 34 confirmed cases with HCU is 0.57. Therefore, for a sensitivity of 1, the new cut-off had



Fig. 1 Met/Phe and Hcy for upper three percent of Met distribution of all samples and for Qatar homocystinuria patients; *red stars* indicate cases with confirmed HCU found after data analysis

to be changed to 0.56 (corresponding to P89), resulting in a specificity of 0.898 or 10.28% first-tier positives to be transferred to Hcy determination in the same dried blood sample.

Conclusion

In conclusion, three options have been evaluated retrospectively for neonatal screening for HCU. In a one-tier strategy samples of all newborn have to be investigated for Hcy, which has a sensitivity and specificity of 100% but is an elaborated method. Using Met as first-tier would result in nearly 40% of samples to be measured for Hcy in a secondtier strategy. Finally, using the Met to Phe ratio as first-tier would result in ~10% of samples which have to be analyzed for Hcy. We have validated a reliable strategy to screen for HCU using MS/MS for the first-tier Met to Phe ratio and LC-MS/MS for Hcy as second-tier.

Acknowledgements We thank Deborah Treiber and all members of the Newborn Screening Laboratory in Heidelberg as well as the team in the Newborn Screening Units in Austria, Australia, the Netherlands (especially Bert Elvers), Qatar, and Taiwan for excellent assistance and continuous reliable work. This extensive study over more than a decade was only made possible by the continuous and generous support of the Dietmar Hopp Foundation to Georg F. Hoffmann.

Synopsis

Systematical evaluation and subsequent implementation of a second-tier test for homocysteine in dried blood spots improve the specificity and positive predictive value for classical homocystinuria screening.

Author Contributions

Jürgen G. Okun, Hongying Gan-Schreier, and Kathrin V. Schmidt participated in the design of the study and were involved in the experimental setup of the study. Junmin Fang-Hoffmann, Gwendolyn Gramer, Ghassan Abdoh, Tawfeg Ben-Omran, Noora Shahbeck, Hilal Al Rifai, and Abdul Latif Al Khal were involved in the newborn screening process and clinical evaluation of patients. Chuan-Chi Chiang, David C. Kasper, and Bridget Wilcken provided the upper 3% methionine samples of their newborn screening programs. Gisela Haege and Peter Burgard performed the statistical analyses and made substantial contributions to conception and interpretation of the study. Georg F. Hoffmann and Jürgen G. Okun initiated the study, participated in its design and coordination, and drafted the manuscript.

Conflict of Interest

Jürgen G. Okun, Hongying Gan-Schreier, Kathrin V. Schmidt, Junmin Fang-Hoffmann, Ghassan Abdoh, Tawfeg Ben-Omran, Noora Shahbeck, Hilal Al Rifai, Abdul Latif Al Khal, Gisela Haege, Chuan-Chi Chiang, David C. Kasper, Bridget Wilcken, Peter Burgard, and Georg F. Hoffmann declare to have no conflict of interest.

Compliance with Ethics Guidelines

This article does not contain any studies with human or animal subjects. All procedures followed were in accordance with the ethical standards of the responsible committee on human experimentation (institutional and national) and with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2000.

References

- Alodaib AN, Carpenter K, Wiley V, Wotton T, Christodoulou J, Wilcken B (2012) Homocysteine measurement in dried blood spot for neonatal detection of homocystinurias. JIMD Rep 5:1–6
- American College of Medical Genetics Newborn Screening Expert Group (2006) Newborn screening: toward a uniform screening panel and system-executive summary. Pediatrics 117:S296–S307
- Aymé S, Hivert V (2011) Report on rare disease research, its determinants in Europe and the way forward. Homocystinuria due to cystathionine beta-synthase deficiency: Estimated Prevalence: 0.4/100,000
- Bener A, Hussain R (2006) Consanguineous unions and child health in the State of Qatar. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol 20:372–378
- Bowron A, Barton A, Scott J, Stansbie D (2005) Blood spot homocysteine: a feasibility and stability study. Clin Chem 51:257–258
- Cohen J (1988) Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences, 2nd edn. Lawrence Erlbaum, Hillsdale
- Dudek FJ (1979) The continuing misinterpretation of the standard error of measurement. Psychol Bull 86:335–337
- El-Said MF, Badii R, Bessisso MS et al (2006) A common mutation in the CBS gene explains a high incidence of homocystinuria in the Qatari population. Hum Mutat 27:719
- Gan-Schreier H, Kebbewar M, Fang-Hoffmann J et al (2010) Reliable newborn population screening for classical homocystinuria by determination of total homocysteine from Guthrie cards. J Pediatr 156:427–432
- Gastwirth JL, Gel YR, Wallace Hui WL, Lyubchich V, Miao W, Noguchi K (2013) Lawstat: an R package for biostatistics, public policy, and law. R package version 2.4.1, http://CRAN.R-project. org/package=lawstat (accessed 12.02.2015)

- Gempel K, Gerbitz KD, Casetta B, Bauer MF (2000) Rapid determination of total homocysteine in blood spots by liquid chromatography-electrospray ionization-tandem mass spectrometry. Clin Chem 46:122–123
- Hopkins WG (2000) Measures of reliability in sports medicine and science. Sports Med 30:1-15
- Huang HP, Chu KL, Chien YH et al (2006) Tandem mass neonatal screening in Taiwan-report from one center. J Formos Med Assoc 105:882–886
- Huemer M, Kožich V, Rinaldo P et al (2015) Newborn screening for homocystinurias and methylation disorders: systematic review and proposed guidelines. J Inherit Metab Dis 38:1007–1019
- Lin M, Lucas HC, Shmueli G (2013) Too big to fail: large samples and the p-value problem. Inf Syst Res 24:906–917
- Lindner M, Abdoh G, Fang-Hoffmann J et al (2007) Implementation of extended neonatal screening and a metabolic unit in the State of Qatar: developing and optimizing strategies in cooperation with the Neonatal Screening Center in Heidelberg. J Inherit Metab Dis 30:522–529
- McHugh D, Cameron CA, Abdenur JE et al (2011) Clinical validation of cutoff target ranges in newborn screening of metabolic disorders by tandem mass spectrometry: a worldwide collaborative project. Genet Med 13:230–254
- Mudd SH, Finkelstein JD, Irreverre F, Laster L (1964) Homocystinuria: an enzymatic defect. Science 143:1443–1445
- Mudd SH, Levy HL, Kraus JP (2001) Disorders of transsulfuration. In: Scriver CR, Beadudet AL, Sly WS, Valle D (eds) The metabolic and molecular bases of inherited disease, 8th edn. McGraw-Hill, New York, pp 2007–2056
- Naughten ER, Yap S, Mayne PD (1998) Newborn screening for homocystinuria: Irish and world experience. Eur J Pediatr 157 (Suppl 2):S84–S87
- Nuzzo R (2014) Scientific method: statistical errors. Nature 506:150-152
- R Core Team (2015) R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. R version 3.2.1 Vienna, Austria. http://www.R-project.org/
- Rizzo C, Boenzi S, Wanders RJ, Duran M, Caruso U, Dionisi-Vici C (2003) Characteristic acylcarnitine profiles in inherited defects of peroxisome biogenesis: a novel tool for screening diagnosis using tandem mass spectrometry. Pediatr Res 53:1013–1018
- Schulze AS, Matern D, Hoffman GF (2009) Newborn screening. In: Sarafoglou K, Hoffmann GF, Roth KS (eds) Pediatric endocrinology and inborn errors of metabolism. McGraw-Hill, New York, pp 17–36
- Skovby F, Gaustadnes M, Mudd SH (2010) A revisit to the natural history of homocystinuria due to cystathionine beta-synthase deficiency. Mol Genet Metab 99:1–3
- Turgeon CT, Magera MJ, Cuthbert CD et al (2010) Determination of total homocysteine, methylmalonic acid, and 2-methylcitric acid in dried blood spots by tandem mass spectrometry. Clin Chem 56:1686–1695
- Wilcken B, Wiley V, Hammond J, Carpenter K (2003) Screening newborns for inborn errors of metabolism by tandem mass spectrometry. N Engl J Med 348:2304–2312
- Wong D, Tortorelli S, Bishop L et al (2016) Outcomes of four patients with homocysteine remethylation disorders detected by newborn screening. Genet Med 18:162–167
- Yap S, Naughten E (1998) Homocystinuria due to cystathionine βsynthase deficiency in Ireland: 25 years' experience of a newborn screened and treated population with reference to clinical outcome and biochemical control. J Inherit Metab Dis 21:738–747
- Zschocke J, Kebbewar M, Gan-Schreier H et al (2009) Molecular neonatal screening for homocystinuria in the Qatari population. Hum Mutat 30:1021–1022

RESEARCH REPORT

Management of an LCHADD Patient During Pregnancy and High Intensity Exercise

D.C.D. van Eerd • I.A. Brussé • V.F.R. Adriaens • R.T. Mankowski • S.F.E. Praet • M. Michels • M. Langeveld

Received: 20 November 2015 / Revised: 14 March 2016 / Accepted: 21 March 2016 / Published online: 23 June 2016 © SSIEM and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2016

Abstract In this report we describe a female Long-Chain 3-Hydroxyacyl-CoA Dehydrogenase Deficiency (LCHADD) patient who suffered from severe exercise intolerance. At age 34, the patient became pregnant for the first time. After an uneventful first 32 weeks of pregnancy she developed sinus tachycardia (resting heart rate 120–134 bpm) and lactate and creatinine kinase levels increased (3.3 mmol/L and 264 U/L, respectively). Increasing MCT supplementation (dose and frequency of administration) lowered heart rate and improved biochemical parameters. At 34 weeks the heart rate rose again and it was decided to deliver the child by caesarean section. Postpartum both mother and child did well.

Prior to pregnancy, she performed exercise tests with different doses of medium chain triglycerides (MCTs) to establish a safe and effective exercise program (baseline test, second test with 10 g MCTs and third test with 20 g of MCTs). In the MCT supplemented tests the maximal power

Communicated by: Niels Gregersen

D.C.D. van Eerd · M. Langeveld (⊠) Center for Lysosomal and Metabolic Disease, Erasmus University Medical Center, 's Gravendijkwal 230, 3015 CE Rotterdam, The Netherlands e-mail: m.langeveld.1@erasmusmc.nl

I.A. Brussé

Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, The Netherlands

V.F.R. Adriaens

Department of Anaesthesiology, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, The Netherlands

R.T. Mankowski · S.F.E. Praet Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, The Netherlands

M. Michels

Department of Cardiology, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, The Netherlands output was 23% (second test) and 26% (third test) higher, while cardiac output at maximal power output was the same in all three tests (\sim 15.8 L/min).

In conclusion, this is the first report of pregnancy in an LCHADD patient, with favourable outcome for both mother and child. Moreover, in the same patient, MCT supplementation improved cardiac performance and metabolic parameters during high intensity exercise. Using impedance cardiography, we got a clear indication that this benefit was due to improved muscle energy generation at high intensity exercise, since at the same cardiac output a higher power output could be generated.

Introduction

Long-Chain 3-Hydroxyacyl-CoA Dehydrogenase Deficiency (LCHADD, OMIM 600890) is a rare inborn error of long chain fatty acid metabolism, resulting in mitochondrial dysfunction with subsequent energy shortage as well as toxic effects of fatty acid metabolites (den Boer et al. 2002). Clinically, this results in hypoketotic hypoglycaemia, metabolic acidosis, cardiomyopathy and liver disease presenting in infancy (den Boer et al. 2002). In those patients who survive early childhood, the main characteristics are fatigue and exercise intolerance, retinopathy and less common peripheral neuropathy (Spiekerkoetter 2010). Prognosis in early treated patients is generally favourable (Sim et al. 2002), but still not all patients survive into adulthood and long term complications are common.

Acute metabolic decompensation, leading to elevated CK concentrations or rhabdomyolysis, acidosis and eventually hypoglycaemia, can be triggered by fasting, infection or other causes of increased energy demand. Treatment consists of immediate supply of extra energy in the form of carbohydrates and medium chain triglycerides (MCTs) and strict limitation in intake of long chain fatty acids (Spiekerkoetter et al. 2009). Carnitine supplementation can be considered, though it may theoretically increase levels of hydroxyacylcarnitines, one of the toxic fatty acid metabolism intermediates that accumulate in LCHADD (Spiekerkoetter et al. 2010). Given the restriction in long chain fatty acid intake additional essential fatty acids (especially docosahexaenoic acid) should be given (Spiekerkoetter et al. 2010).

Exercise increases energy demand and therefore supplementation of additional energy before exercise initiation can be necessary in LCHADD patients to prevent complications. MCTs unique kinetics, with faster intestinal as well as mitochondrial uptake compared to long chain fatty acids, make them a very effective energy source. In the small intestines MCTs can diffuse passively into the portal system (as opposed to LCT that require active uptake into the lymphatic system), without modification (Bach and Babayan 1982). MCT uptake into the mitochondrion does not require the formation of acylcarnitines and MCTs can thus be used as a source of energy in LCHADD patients. A study in nine LCHADD patients showed a positive effect of MCT supplementation (0.5 g/kg lean body mass) on exercise tolerance (Gillingham et al. 2006). A second study in 11 patients showed a lower steady state heart rate at the same workload after using pre-exercise MCT supplementation (0.5 g/kg lean body mass) compared to isocaloric carbohydrate supplementation in long chain fatty acid oxidation disorders (Behrend et al. 2012). In addition, a positive effect of an odd chain triglyceride, triheptanoate, on exercise performance in a single LCHADD patient has been reported (Karall et al. 2014). Since no cardiac output measurements were performed, these studies cannot distinguish between a positive effect of MCTs at the level of the heart versus the skeletal muscle.

To our knowledge, there are no published reports of pregnancy in an LCHADD patient, though pregnancies in other fatty acid oxidations, e.g. CPT2 deficiency, MCADD and VLCADD have been described in several case reports (Ramsey and Biggio 2005; Santos et al. 2007; Yamamoto et al. 2015).

Case Description

We here describe a 34-year-old female LCHADD patient who was diagnosed in early childhood when she presented with hypotonia, hypoglycaemia and failure to thrive. This was first attributed to a systemic carnitine deficiency. At age 10 the correct diagnosis of LCHAD deficiency was established based on the presence of a typical acylcarnitine pattern in plasma, reduced enzyme activity and genetic testing (homozygous for the c.1528G > C mutation). With dietary management, she did quite well during childhood, experiencing only mildly reduced exercise tolerance compared to peers. From age 21 onwards her exercise capacity has declined considerably, her last measured maximal uninterrupted walking distance was 200 m. She did try to exercise frequently, but often suffered from post-exercise myalgia. Further symptoms consisted of poor eyesight due to retinitis pigmentosa (OD 2/60: able to count fingers at 2 m distance, OS: can see hand movements only) and peripheral neuropathy. On echocardiography her cardiac function was normal, but resting heart rate was elevated at outpatient clinic visits (± 100 bpm). Because of intermittent episodes of palpitations she was treated with low dose betablockade (50 mg slow acting metoprolol once daily).

The patient adhered to a long chain triglyceride restricted, high carbohydrate diet, supplemented with MCTs. Her weight was 65.5 kg, total energy intake 2,151 kcal per 24 h of which 9% came from long chain fatty acids, 21% from medium chain fatty acids, 58% from carbohydrates and 15% from protein. Protein intake was ample at 1.5–2 g/kg bodyweight. She used the following supplements: MCTs three times 10 g daily (MCT Procal, Vitaflo, UK), essential fatty acids once daily (KeyOmega, one dose containing 200 mg of arachidonic acid and 100 mg of docosahexaenoic acid, Vitaflo, Liverpool, UK), maltodextrin six times daily 5 g (Fantomalt, Nutricia, the Netherlands), 30 g of uncooked cornstarch at nighttime and levocarnitine 1 g three times daily.

Pregnancy and Birth

At age 34 the patient became pregnant for the first time. Early on in pregnancy the beta-blockade treatment was discontinued because of its potential negative effects on placental function. At 10 weeks pregnancy duration maternal echocardiography showed a structurally normal heart with normal left and right ventricular function. 24 hour ECG Holter monitoring at 17 weeks showed sinus rhythm with a mean heart rate of 94 bpm without arrhythmia.

During pregnancy the caloric intake was gradually increased by increasing both carbohydrate (simple and complex) and MCT intake. During the first 31 weeks of pregnancy there were no specific complaints or symptoms and biochemical parameters remained stable. Fetal development, biometry and structural ultrasonography were unremarkable.

At 32 weeks pregnancy duration the patient developed complaints of intermittent, mostly nightly, palpitations and

a reduction in exercise tolerance. Resting heart rate was 120 bpm (sinus rhythm). There were no signs of cardiac decompensation. Reinstitution of low dose beta-blockade for 1 week did not have any effect on the complaints or the heart rate and at 33 weeks she was admitted to the cardiac care unit with a resting heart rate of ~120/min. Both plasma lactate and CK levels (both previously in the normal range) were mildly elevated (3.3 mmol/L and 264 U/L, respectively). We increased the dose and the number of administrations of MCT supplementation from 40 to 60 g/day (in six doses). The next day her heart rate was lower (~100 bpm), palpitations diminished and CK levels normalised. This improvement lasted 12 days, after which heart rate rose again and the patient felt worse. After a multidisciplinary discussion and consulting the patient and her partner it was decided to deliver the child by caesarian section at 34 + 1 weeks. Her weight at that time was 74.9 kg, total energy intake 3,230 kcal per 24 h of which 8% came from long chain fatty acids, 23% from medium chain fatty acids, 55% from carbohydrates and 14% from protein. During pregnancy, levels of long chain hydroxvacylcarnitines dropped initially, but at 34 weeks the levels were similar to the preconceptional levels. For example, the C16OH-carnitine level was 0.20 µmol/L preconceptionally, 0.09 µmol/L at 17 weeks of pregnancy and 0.17 µmol/L at 34 weeks of pregnancy. Free carnitine levels remained normal throughout pregnancy.

To prevent metabolic decompensation the patient continued taking her oral MCT supplements right up to surgery and 10% glucose infusion (2 L per 24 h) was started on the ward. Premedication consisted of oral metoclopramide and oral ranitidine (aspiration-prophylaxis). Standard non-invasive heart rhythm, blood pressure and oxygen saturation monitors were applied.

Because of the need for frequent blood samples and continuous blood pressure monitoring, an arterial line was placed in the right radial artery. Normal saline preload was administered intravenously. To prevent interference with the patient's serum lactate levels, ringers lactate infusion was avoided. A combined spinal epidural was placed in sitting position. After spinal injection, a phenylephrine infusion was started to prevent hypotension. The patient was placed supine in the left lateral tilt position. An adequate sensory block was reached 10 min after spinal injection.

Surgery commenced and a baby girl was born 5 min after incision. Routine prophylactic antibiotics were injected intravenously after clamping of the cord. An oxytocin bolus was avoided to prevent sudden extreme contraction of the uterus musculature, which might cause metabolic derangement. An oxytocin infusion of 10 IU in 500 mL of glucose 5% solution was infused over 2 h. Estimated intra-operative blood loss was 300 mL. The patient remained haemodynamically stable throughout the whole procedure. Postoperative analgesia was delivered by means of intravenous paracetamol and a patient controlled epidural infusion. The patient was admitted to the intensive care unit for postoperative monitoring. The following day, she was returned to the obstetric high care unit in good condition.

Postpartum the patient did clinically very well. Biochemically there was slight further increase in plasma lactate (maximal level 4.9 mmol/L) and a drop in bicarbonate (lowest level 16.1 mmol/L) which corrected spontaneously over the next few days. Oral energy intake (carbohydrates and MCTs) was high (3,230 kcal per 24 h) the first days after delivery and IV glucose administration could be discontinued after 1 day. The patient left the hospital 4 days postpartum in good clinical condition. 14 weeks postpartum she was in good clinical condition, had no palpitations or other complaints and her resting heart rate was ~82 bpm using 25 mg of metoprolol.

Exercise Testing

Approximately 6 months prior to her pregnancy, the patient was referred to the rehabilitation outpatient clinic because she wanted to improve her endurance capacity. She completed three incremental cycle ergometry exercise tests over the course of 1 month to examine the effects of MCT supplementation on exercise tolerance and cardiac function. in order to establish a safe training program with adequate dietary advice. The patient performed a symptom limited exercise stress test. This standard ramp test started with a 2 min rest period followed by 4 min of unloaded cycling as warming-up. Next, the workload increased with a slope of 1 W/5 s. The subject was instructed to cycle until exhaustion with a pedal frequency of 60-80 revolutions per minute (rpm). The loaded phase was terminated when pedalling frequency dropped below 60 rpm after which a 5 min unloaded recovery phase ended the exercise test. During warming-up, workload and recovery phase of the exercise protocol, VO₂ and VCO₂ were measured (Oxycon Pro, Carefusion, Houten, the Netherlands). Using these respiratory indices the respiratory exchange ratio (RER) was calculated (VCO₂/VO₂). The RER was then used to determine the ventilatory threshold (RER = 1), at which point lactate starts to accumulate in the bloodstream. Expiratory VCO₂ rises exponentially after this point, as a byproduct of lactate buffering in the bloodstream, to prevent the occurrence of severe acidosis.

Stroke volume and cardiac output were assessed during the test using impedance cardiography (SM-ICG, Physio-Flow PF05 Lab1, PhysioFlow, France). Blood was drawn at rest, just before reaching the ventilatory threshold and at maximal power output. The first test was performed without MCT supplementation, the second test with 16 g of MCT Procal supplement (containing 10 g of MCTs, total 112 kcal) and the third test with 32 g (containing 20 g of MCTs, total of 224 kcal). The MCT supplement was taken 25 min prior to the test. The diet was otherwise unchanged and body weight remained stable between the tests.

The observed peak oxygen consumption in the baseline test was only 40% of predicted (using the Fairbairn equation which takes into account age, gender and weight) (Fairbarn 1994). Compared to the baseline test, in the second test (using 10 g of MCTs) maximal power output was increased by 25% (70 vs 88 W) and maximal oxygen consumption by 26% (956 mL/min vs 1,209 mL/min). At maximal workload, in the second test the stroke volume was lower and maximal heart rate higher, resulting in the same cardiac output at maximal power output. Thus, the 25% higher power output in the second test was reached at the same cardiac output (Table 1).

When comparing the second to the first exercise test, power output at the ventilatory threshold was more than doubled (64 vs 28 W) and the oxygen consumption per Watt produced was much lower (16 vs 28 W). No further

 Table 1 Physiological and cardiac measurements during exercise tests

Test	1	2	3
Grams of MCTs	0	10	20
Maximal power output (W)	70	88	86
Time to exhaustion (mm:ss)	12:21	13:37	13:30
Power output at $RER = 1$ (W)	28	64	40
Heart rate rest (bpm) ^a	96 ± 3	93 ± 4	112 ± 3
Heart rate max (bpm)	150	160	174
VO ₂ max (mL/min)	956	1,209	1,245
VO_2/W at RER = 1 (mL/min)	27	16	19
RER rest	0.99	0.93	1.02
RER max	1.18	1.26	1.24
Stroke volume rest (mL) ^a	97 ± 4	88 ± 6	80 ± 2
Stroke volume at max power (mL) ^b	111 ± 4	100 ± 1	92 ± 1
Cardiac output rest (L/min) ^a	9.4 ± 0.5	8.2 ± 3.1	9.0 ± 0.4
Cardiac output at max power (L/min) ^b	15.6 ± 0.5	15.9 ± 0.3	15.9 ± 0.2

Heart rate max maximal heart rate measured during test, VO_2 max the highest VO₂ measured during the test, *RER max* RER measured at the highest power output during the test

^a Average of 21 measurements

^b Average of 3 measurements

improvement of the increase in MCT dose from 10 to 20 g on power output or cardiac parameters was observed.

In the MCT supplemented second and third test, both at rest and during exercise, plasma lactate concentrations were lower compared to the baseline test. The same was true for plasma creatinine kinase levels (Table 2). There were no clear differences between the tests in plasma glucose, ammonia and free fatty acid (FFA) concentrations (Table 2). Plasma beta-hydroxybutyrate was higher in the second test, but this increase was not observed in the third test (Table 2).

Discussion

MCTs are an ideal source of energy to be used prior or during exercise since, in contrast to long chain fatty acids, they do not delay gastric emptying and are rapidly taken up and transported to peripheral tissues (Beckers et al. 1992; Jeukendrup and Saris 1996). Combining MCTs with carbohydrates accelerates MCT oxidation without negatively affecting endogenous carbohydrate oxidation. The positive effect of MCT supplementation on exercise performance in long chain fatty acids disorders has been described before, but it remained unclear whether this effect was due to improved metabolic efficiency at the level of the heart, the skeletal muscle or both (Gillingham et al. 2006; Behrend et al. 2012).

During exercise, carbohydrates and fatty acids are the main source of energy for skeletal muscle and the heart. In terms of substrate preference, the heart favours fatty acids over glucose, both at rest and during exercise. Fatty acids

Table 2 Biochemical measurements during exercise tests

Test	1	2	3
Glucose rest (mmol/L)	5.5	4.5	4.3
Glucose max (mmol/L)	5.0	5.2	5.1
CK rest (IU/L)	183	135	110
CK max (IU/L)	197	139	115
Lactate rest (mmol/L)	1.7	0.9	0.8
Lactate max (mmol/L)	3.5	2.4	1.9
NH ₃ rest (µmol/L)	41	<10	16
NH ₃ max (µmol/L)	30	22	39
FFA rest (mmol/L)	0.21	0.27	0.32
FFA max (mmol/L)	0.31	0.26	0.24
BHB rest (mmol/L)	0.10	0.29	0.14
BHB max (mmol/L)	0.10	0.22	0.12

CK creatine kinase, NH_3 ammonia, FFA free fatty acids, BHB betahydroxybutyric acid, Rest before starting exercise, max at maximal exercise capacity

become a more important energy source during high intensity and prolonged exercise as muscle and liver glycogen stores are gradually depleted (Massicotte et al. 1992; van Loon et al. 2001). Given the preference of the heart for fatty acids as fuel and the fact that acute dilated cardiomyopathy can develop in LCHADD patients at times of acute metabolic stress (Dyke et al. 2009) we expected the improvement in exercise performance after MCT supplementation in our patient to be due to improved cardiac performance. However, after MCT supplementation maximal cardiac output was the same, but maximal power output increased considerably. This points in the direction of more efficient ATP generation at the level of the skeletal muscle. The more than doubled power output at ventilatory threshold after MCT supplementation indicates improved aerobic oxidation. Since we used a high intensity exercise protocol aimed at reaching exhaustion, we cannot exclude a positive effect of MCT supplementation on cardiac function at lower intensity exercise. In addition to the positive effect of the MCTs, the small amount of protein present in the MCT supplement (2 g in the second test and 4 g in the third test) may have had an anaplerotic effect in energy.

In this report, we describe for the first time a pregnancy in an LCHADD patient. Pregnancies in the mothers carrying a fetal with LCHADD or mitochondrial trifunctional protein deficiency (MTP deficiency) can be complicated by acute fatty liver of pregnancy or HELLP (haemolysis, elevated liver enzymes and low platelets) syndrome (Ibdah et al. 1999; Yang et al. 2002). This is thought to be due to the spill of toxic fatty acid oxidation intermediates from the fetal and/ or placenta into the maternal circulation (Strauss et al. 1999). In the pregnancy here described, LCHADD or MTP deficiency in the foetus was highly unlikely since molecular diagnostics showed that the patient's partner did not carry a mutation in the relevant genes. What the risk of these pregnancy complications is in a mother who is homozygous for an LCHADD mutation, carrying a heterozygous foetus, is unknown. We closely monitored our patient throughout pregnancy and no signs of fatty liver of pregnancy or HELPP were found.

The pregnancy was uneventful up to 32 weeks when the increase in heart rate and the slight changes in biochemical parameters indicated the onset of metabolic decompensation. Most likely, the increase in heart rate was a result of a higher oxygen demand resulting from peripheral energy shortage and not a sign of cardiomyopathy, since repeated echocardiography showed no signs of either dilatation of the heart or of decreased cardiac muscle function. Increasing the dose and the number of administrations of MCTs initially lowered heart rate and improved the patient's wellbeing. However, at 34 weeks the heart rate increased again and the patient was feeling less well. It was then decided to not risk full metabolic decompensation, but to deliver the

child. We debated whether a caesarean section or assisted vaginal deliverance would give the best outcome for both mother and child, since in, for example, patients with cardiomyopathy assisted vaginal birth gives better maternal outcome compared to caesarean section (Ruys et al. 2013; Ruys et al. 2014) because of substantial haemodynamic instability during surgery. Since we wanted to prevent further metabolic derangement resulting from muscle activity during a vaginal delivery we chose to perform a caesarean section.

In conclusion, this is the first report of pregnancy in an LCHADD patient, with favourable outcome for both mother and child. Moreover, in the same patient, MCT supplementation improved cardiac performance and metabolic parameters during high intensity exercise. Our results indicate that at high intensity exercise this benefit is a result of improved aerobic muscle energy generation. This finding needs to be confirmed in a larger patient cohort.

Take Home Message

This report describes the first documented pregnancy in an LCHADD patient, with favourable outcome for both mother and child.

Compliance with Ethics Guidelines

Conflict of Interest

D.C.D. van Eerd, M. Langeveld, I.A. Brussé, V.F.R. Adriaens, R.T. Mankowski, S.F.E. Praet and M. Michels declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Informed Consent

All procedures followed were in accordance with the ethical standards of the responsible committee on human experimentation (Medical Ethics Committee Erasmus MC) and with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2000. Informed consent was obtained from the patient described in this case report.

Contributions of Individual Authors

Data collection: DCDvE, RTM, SFEP and MM; analysis and interpretation of the data: DCDvE, IAB, RTM, SFEP, MM and ML; drafting the article: DCDvE, IAB, VFRA, RTM and ML; critically revising the article: SFEP

References

- Bach AC, Babayan VK (1982) Medium-chain triglycerides: an update. Am J Clin Nutr 36:950–962
- Beckers EJ, Jeukendrup AE, Brouns F (1992) Gastric emptying of carbohydrate-medium chain triglyceride suspensions at rest. Int J Sports Med 13(8):581–584
- Behrend AM, Harding CO, Shoemaker JD et al (2012) Substrate oxidation and cardiac performance during exercise in disorders of long chain fatty acid oxidation. Mol Genet Metab 105(1):110–115
- den Boer MEJ, Wanders RJA, Morris AAM, IJlst L, Heymans HSA, Wijburg FA (2002) Long-chain 3-hydroxyacyl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency: clinical presentation and follow-up of 50 patients. Pediatrics 109(1):99–104
- Dyke PC, Konczal L, Bartholomew D, McBride KL, Hoffman TM (2009) Acute dilated cardiomyopathy in a patient with deficiency of long-chain 3-hydroxyacyl-CoA dehydrogenase. Pediatr Cardiol 30:523–526
- Fairbarn MS (1994) Prediction of heart rate and oxygen uptake during incremental and maximal exercise in healthy adults. Chest 105 (5):1365–1369
- Gillingham M, Scott B, Elliott D, Harding C (2006) Metabolic control during exercise with and without medium-chain triglycerides (MCT) in children with long-chain 3-hydroxy acyl- CoA dehydrogenase (LCHAD) or trifunctional protein (TFP) deficiency. Mol Genet Metab 89(1–2):58–63
- Ibdah JA, Bennett MJ, Rinaldo P et al (1999) A fetal fatty-acid oxidation disorder as a cause of liver disease in pregnant women. N Engl J Med 340(22):1723–1731
- Jeukendrup AE, Saris WH (1996) Effect of endogenous carbohydrate availability on oral medium-chain triglyceride oxidation during prolonged exercise. J Appl Physiol 80(3):949–954
- Karall D, Mair G, Albrecht U et al (2014) Sports in LCHAD deficiency: maximal incremental and endurance exercise tests in a 13-year-old patient with long-chain 3-hydroxy Acyl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency (LCHADD) and heptanoate treatment. JIMD Rep 17:7–12
- Massicotte D, Peronnet F, Brisson GR (1992) Oxidation of exogenous medium-chain free fatty acids during prolonged exercise: comparison with glucose. J Appl Physiol 73(4):1334–1339

- Ramsey PS, Biggio JR (2005) Carnitine palmitoyltransferase deficiency in pregnancy. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 18 (5):357–359
- Ruys TPE, Cornette J, Roos-Hesselink JW (2013) Pregnancy and delivery in cardiac disease. J Cardiol 61(2):107–112
- Ruys TPE, Roos-Hesselink JW, Pijuan-Domenech A et al (2014) Is a planned caesarean section in women with cardiac disease beneficial? Heart 101(7):530–536
- Santos L, Patterson A, Moreea SM, Lippiatt CM, Walter J, Henderson M (2007) Acute liver failure in pregnancy associated with maternal MCAD deficiency. J Inherit Metab Dis 30:103
- Sim KG, Hammond J, Wilcken B (2002) Strategies for the diagnosis of mitochondrial fatty acid β-oxidation disorders. Clin Chim Acta 323:37–58
- Spiekerkoetter U (2010) Mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation disorders: clinical presentation of long-chain fatty acid oxidation defects before and after newborn screening. J Inherit Metab Dis 33 (5):527–532
- Spiekerkoetter U, Lindner M, Santer R et al (2009) Treatment recommendations in long-chain fatty acid oxidation defects: consensus from a workshop. J Inherit Metab Dis 32:498–505
- Spiekerkoetter U, Bastin J, Gillingham M, Morris A, Wijburg F, Wilcken B (2010) Current issues regarding treatment of mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation disorders. J Inherit Metab Dis 33(5):555–561
- Strauss AW, Bennett MJ, Rinaldo P et al (1999) Inherited long-chain 3-hydroxyacyl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency and a fetal-maternal interaction cause maternal liver disease and other pregnancy complications. Semin Perinatol 23(2):100–112
- van Loon LJC, Greenhaff PL, Constantin-Teodosiu D, Saris WHM, Wagenmakers AJM (2001) The effects of increasing exercise intensity on muscle fuel utilisation in humans. J Physiol 536 (1):295–304
- Yamamoto H, Tachibana D, Tajima G et al (2015) Successful management of pregnancy with very-long-chain acyl-coenzyme A dehydrogenase deficiency. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 41 (7):1126–1128
- Yang Z, Yamada J, Zhao Y, Strauss AW, Ibdah JA (2002) Prospective screening for pediatric mitochondrial trifunctional protein defects in pregnancies complicated by liver disease. JAMA 288 (17):2163–2166

CASE REPORT

Rare Case of Hepatic Gaucheroma in a Child on Enzyme Replacement Therapy

Sophy Korula • Penny Owens • Amanda Charlton • Kaustuv Bhattacharya

Received: 13 January 2016 / Revised: 15 March 2016 / Accepted: 21 March 2016 / Published online: 23 June 2016 © SSIEM and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2016

Abstract *Background*: We present a 6 year old boy with type I Gaucher treated from 16 months with ERT, developing focal Gaucheroma in the liver at 3.5 years.

Case: The subject presented at 13 months of age with anaemia, thrombocytopenia and hepatosplenomegaly. Gaucher disease was confirmed by leucocyte enzyme assay. A homozygous change: c.1193G>A (p.Arg398Gln) in the GBA gene was identified. He had normal neurology with normal saccades. Imiglucerase was administered at 60 IU/ kg/fortnight from 15 months as per Australian regulations with good clinical response. At 3.5 years hepatic ultrasound demonstrated a nodular cystic lesion measuring 7×5.3 \times 5.1 cm in the right lobe of liver, confirmed on MRI. Biopsy demonstrated acellular hyaline necrosis, portal-portal bridging fibrosis and nodules of Gaucher cells. Cystic fluid comprised necrotic debris and Gaucher cells. Further evaluation over 18 months including repeat MRI, biopsy, alpha-fetoprotein monitoring and whole-body FDG-Pet scan demonstrate no malignancy.

Conclusion: GD is the most common lysosomal storage disorder. The aetiology, natural history and optimal management strategy of rare Gaucheroma in paediatric cases has not been defined particularly in regards to malignancy risk.

Introduction

Gaucher disease (GD) is the commonest lysosomal storage disorder and is caused by deficiency of lysosomal gluco-

Communicated by: John H Walter, MD FRCPCH Competing interests: None declared

S. Korula (⊠) · P. Owens · A. Charlton · K. Bhattacharya Genetic Metabolic Disorders Service, Children's Hospital at Westmead, Sydney, NSW 2145, Australia e-mail: jsophyhr@yahoo.co.in cerebrosidase resulting in accumulation of undegraded glucosylceramide and other glycolipids in the reticuloendothelial system (Brady et al. 1965). Phenotypically GD presents as a clinical spectrum ranging from an asymptomatic to a perinatal lethal disorder. It has been traditionally classified into three types - GD 1 (non-neuropathic form), GD 2 (acute neuropathic form) and GD 3 (chronic neuropathic form). GD1 is the commonest type comprising of 95% of all cases (Charrow et al. 2000) and although considered non-neuropathic, peripheral neuropathy (Biegstraaten et al. 2010) and Parkinson's disease (Tayebi et al. 2001) have been documented in this subset. Most of the patients with GD1 are symptomatic in childhood (Charrow et al. 2004) and often present with hepatosplenomegaly, haematological manifestations (anaemia and thrombocytopenia) or bone disease. Early onset correlates well with severe disease progression (Kaplan et al. 2006). GD2 typically presents within 2 years of age with a rapidly progressive course resulting in death by 2-4 years of age. In GD 3 patients usually survive till third or fourth decade. The current recommendation for use of enzyme replacement therapy (ERT) in GD1 has shown to help significantly with anaemia, thrombocytopenia, bone pain and bone crises (Weinreb et al. 2002; Anderson et al. 2014). The possibility of localised deposition of Gaucher cells in various organs has been described in adults. Such a well-delineated lesion has been termed Gaucheroma historically, although there does not seem to be a very clear definition outlined so far in literature. Radiological follow-up of splenic lesions has been documented in the paediatric cases earlier with most showing complete radiological recovery with ERT (Chippington et al. 2008). However increased risk of malignancies especially haematological is well documented in adult patients with GD (Mistry et al. 2013). The development of solid tumours in adults with type 1 GD

has also been reported in the lung, bone, spleen, breast, prostate, colon, brain and liver (Xu et al. 2005): all of them being organs that harbour Gaucher cells. Specifically looking at liver - 3 cases of hepatocellular carcinoma in Gaucher disease have been reported so far (Xu et al. 2005), all in adults. Multiple lesions on radiological examination and HbsAg positivity were present in the case reported in this paper. The other patient included in the review (Xu et al. 2005, patient described in reference 5) had a singe echodense hepatic lesion with metastatic peritoneal deposits having had a previous normal AFP and being HbsAg negative. Thus there are do not appear to be clear diagnostic indicators for predicting HCC in patients with GD. To our knowledge there are no cases of a hepatic Gaucheroma described in a paediatric population. What significance this holds in terms of malignancy risk remains unexplored as well. We thus report a case of Gaucheroma noted in a 3.5-year-old boy after being on ERT for nearly 2 years and his follow-up till 6 years of age.

History

A 13-month-old male infant 4th child to consanguineous parents of Lebanese background presented with abdominal distension for 2 months. His development was normal and he was in good health otherwise. There was no significant family history of note. On examination he had liver palpable 7 cm below the right costal margin and spleen was palpable 15 cm along its long axis below the left costal margin. He also had anaemia (Hb 74 g/L, ref 105-138) and thrombocytopenia (Plat 83×10 9/l, ref 150-600) noted with mild elevation of liver enzymes (AST 72 μ/L , ref 10-50; GGT 51 µ/L ref 15-45). Systemic examination including saccadic eve movements was normal. Malignancy was suspected and hence bone marrow biopsy was performed, demonstrating several foamy histiocytes on the aspirate. Leucocyte enzyme assay confirmed decreased beta glucocerebrosidase activity (<10 pmol/min/mg protein (ref 600-3,200)) and serum chitotriosidase level was markedly elevated at 11,700 nmol/h/mL (ref 3.6-78) in keeping with GD. At 15 months of age he was commenced on ERT with Imiglucerase at 60 IU/kg/fortnightly. Genetic testing subsequently showed a homozygous change: c.1193G>A (p. Arg398Gln) in the GBA gene. At 3.5 years a routine hepatic ultrasound demonstrated a nodular cystic lesion in the right lobe of liver. This measured $7 \times 5.3 \times 5.1$ cm in size and was confirmed on MRI (Fig. 1). Biopsy demonstrated hyaline necrosis, portal-portal bridging fibrosis and nodules of Gaucher cells (Fig. 2). Alpha fetoprotein was 2 kIU/l (ref range 0-6). Cystic fluid comprised necrotic



Fig. 1 Large subcapsular heterogeneous lesion $7 \times 5.3 \times 5.1$ cm in the right lobe of liver with multiple satellite lesions



Fig. 2 Histopathology of liver biopsy with Masson Trichrome staining shows a nodule of Gaucher histiocytes (*light pink*) surrounded by fibrosis (*green*) and lymphocytes. Normal hepatocytes (*magenta*) are at the bottom right

debris and Gaucher cells. Further evaluation over 18 months including repeat MRI (Fig. 3), biopsy, serial alpha-fetoprotein monitoring and whole-body FDG-Pet scan demonstrate no evidence of malignancy. The patient remained stable throughout and his serum chitotriosidase levels have also shown a steady decline with treatment with the last level being 2,400 nmol/h/mL at 4 year 4 months of age, indicative of positive response to ERT. Subsequently the reference laboratory has been testing plasma glucosyl-sphingosine levels and our patients have ranged from 230 to 330 (ref <10 nmol/L).



Fig. 3 Interval reduction in right lobar hepatic mass, $4.6 \times 3.8 \times 5.1$ cm with diffuse dystrophic calcification within the mass

Discussion

Management of GD in terms of ERT, dose and therapeutic goals is well established based on previous studies (Weinreb et al. 2002; Pastores et al. 2004; Anderson et al. 2014). Hepatic Gaucheroma has only been reported in a 23-year-old adult as a differential for focal nodular hyperplasia (Poll 2009). It is unclear if this adult was receiving ERT and if any follow-up was documented. We know that haemato-logical and solid organ malignancies occur in adults with Gaucher disease. Although the exact aetiology of increased incidence of malignancies in type 1 is unknown, it is believed that accumulated glucocerebroside stimulates the immune system predisposing to haematological carcinogenesis and damage to the immunosurveillance system of T lymphocytes may contributes to solid organ tumours (Shiran et al. 1993; Bertram et al. 2003).

The exact approach to management of a solid organ lesion remains unclear, more so in paediatric population. Serum chitotriosidase level was trending downwards when this lesion was detected. In our patient, liver biopsy was done twice and was in keeping with a benign process. Options include observation, adjunctive or single substrate reduction therapy, resection of primary lesion, partial hepatectomy or liver transplantation. All of these therapeutic options were considered, but none has proven utility in this situation. Funding authorities in Australia do not reimburse doses above 60 IU/kg fortnightly and hence this prescribed dose/kg has been maintained and conservative management of the lesion has continued. Serial alphafetoprotein measurements remained normal. Anti-imiglucerase antibody levels were not performed but continuing on the same dose/kg of enzyme resulted in decrease in the size of the lesion with dystrophic calcification within it (Figs. 1 and 3). There were two stellate lesions noted inferior to the main mass which we will follow up on serial imaging. The spectre of looming potential malignancy is a heavy burden for families to bear from early childhood and this has led to huge psychological and emotional impact on the family. Unfortunately with rare disorders having even rarer manifestations it is difficult to explain unquantifiable risks of these findings to the family and for the family to fathom what lies ahead of them.

Conclusion

Hepatic Gaucheroma is a rare entity in children. We believe this is the first case described in paediatric population. The lesion in our patient was picked up incidentally on routine screening. Our patient has shown features of decrease in size of the lesion with continuation of ERT with no features of malignancy established both pathologically and based on serum markers. More such cases with longitudinal followup need to be reported to establish the natural course of these rare lesions.

Compliance with Ethics Guidelines

Conflict of Interest Statement

All authors, Sophy Korula, Penny Owens, Amanda Charlton and Kaustuv Bhattacharya, declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Informed consent was obtained from the patients parents and permission from institutional ethics committee has also been obtained as per the hospital guidelines.

Contributors

Manuscript writing – SK.

Manuscript editing – KB, AC.

Treatment, diagnosis and management of patient – KB, PO, AC, SK.

References

Anderson LJ, Henley W, Wyatt KM, Nikolaou V, Waldek S, Hughes DA, Pastores GM et al (2014) Long-term effectiveness of enzyme replacement therapy in children with Gaucher disease: results from the NCS-LSD cohort study. J Inherit Metab Dis 37:961–968

Bertram HC, Eldibany M, Padgett J, Dragon LH (2003) Splenic lymphoma arising in a patient with Gaucher disease. A case

report and review of the literature. Arch Pathol Lab Med 127(5): e242–e245

- Biegstraaten M, Mengel E, Maródi L, Petakov M, Niederau C, Giraldo P, Hughes D et al (2010) Peripheral neuropathy in adult type 1 Gaucher disease: a 2-year prospective observational study. Brain 133(10):2909–2919
- Brady RO, Kanfer JN, Shapiro D (1965) Metabolism of Glucocerebrosides. II. Evidence of an enzymatic deficiency in Gauchers disease. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 18:221–225
- Charrow J, Andersson HC, Kaplan P, Kolodny EH, Mistry P, Pastores G, Rosenbloom BE et al (2000) The Gaucher registry: demographics and disease characteristics of 1698 patients with Gaucher disease. Arch Intern Med 160(18):2835–2843
- Charrow J, Andersson HC, Kaplan P, Kolodny EH, Mistry P, Pastores G, Prakash-Cheng A et al (2004) Enzyme replacement therapy and monitoring for children with type 1 Gaucher disease: consensus recommendations. J Pediatr 144(1):112–120
- Chippington S, McHugh K, Vellodi A (2008) Splenic nodules in paediatric Gaucher disease treated by enzyme replacement therapy. Pediatr Radiol 38:657–660
- Mistry PK, Taddei, T, vom Dahl S, Rosenbloom BE (2013) Gaucher disease and malignancy: a model for cancer pathogenesis in an inborn error of metabolism. Crit Rev Oncog 18(3):235–246

- Kaplan P, Andersson HC, Kacena KA, Yee JD (2006) The clinical and demographic characteristics of nonneuronopathic Gaucher disease in 887 children at diagnosis. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 160:603–608
- Pastores GM, Weinreb NJ, Aerts H, Generoso A, Cox TM, Giralt M, Grabowski GA et al (2004) Therapeutic goals in the treatment of Gaucher disease. Semin Hematol 41(Suppl 5):4–14
- Poll LW, Vom Dahl S (2009) Hepatic Gaucheroma mimicking focal nodular hyperplasia. Hepatology 50(3):985–986
- Shiran A, Brenner B, Laor A, Tatarsky I (1993) Increased risk of cancer in patients with Gaucher disease. Cancer 72(1):219–224
- Tayebi N, Callahan M, Madike V, Stubblefield BK, Orvisky E, Krasnewich D, Fillano JJ et al (2001) Gaucher disease and parkinsonism: a phenotypic and genotypic characterization. Mol Genet Metab 73(4):313–321
- Weinreb NJ, Charrow J, Andersson HC, Kaplan P, Kolodny EH, Mistry P, Pastores G et al (2002) Effectiveness of enzyme replacement therapy in 1028 patients with type 1 Gaucher disease after 2 to 5 years of treatment: a report from the Gaucher Registry. Am J Med 113(2):112–119
- Xu R, Mistry P, McKenna G, Emre S, Schiano T, Bu-Ghanim M, Levi G et al (2005) Hepatocellular carcinoma in type 1 Gaucher disease: a case report with review of the literature. Semin Liver Dis 25(2):226–229

RESEARCH REPORT

Newborn Screening Programmes in Europe, Arguments and Efforts Regarding Harmonisation: Focus on Organic Acidurias

Friederike Hörster • Stefan Kölker • J. Gerard Loeber • Martina C. Cornel • Georg F. Hoffmann • Peter Burgard

Received: 27 October 2015 / Revised: 11 January 2016 / Accepted: 12 January 2016 / Published online: 26 June 2016 © SSIEM and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2016

Abstract *Background*: The state of newborn screening (NBS) programmes for organic acidurias in Europe was assessed by a web-based questionnaire in the EU programme of Community Action in Public Health 2010/2011 among the – at that time – 27 EU member states, candidate countries, potential candidates and three EFTA countries.

Results: Thirty-seven data sets from 39 target countries were analysed. Newborn screening for glutaric aciduria type I (GA-I) was performed in ten, for isovaleric aciduria (IVA) in nine and for methylmalonic aciduria including cblA, cblB, cblC and cblD (MMACBL) as well as for propionic aciduria (PA) in seven countries. Samples were obtained at a median age of 2.5 days and laboratory analysis began at median age of 4.5 days. Positive screening results were mostly confirmed in specialised centres by analysis of organic acids in urine. Confirmation of a positive screening result usually did not start before the second week of life (median ages: 9.5 days [IVA], 9 days [GA-I], 8.5 days [PA, MMACBL]) and was completed

Competing interests: None declared

F. Hörster (⊠) · S. Kölker · G.F. Hoffmann · P. Burgard Division of Neuropediatrics and Inherited Metabolic Diseases, Department of General Pediatrics, University Children's Hospital Heidelberg, Im Neuenheimer Feld 430, 69120 Heidelberg, Germany e-mail: friederike.hoerster@med.uni-heidelberg.de

J.G. Loeber

International Society for Neonatal Screening, Bilthoven, The Netherlands

M.C. Cornel

early in the third week of life (median ages: 15 days [IVA, PA, MMA], 14.5 days [GA-I]). Treatment was initiated in GA-I and IVA at a median age of 14 days and in MMACBL and PA at a median age of 15 days.

Conclusion: NBS for organic acidurias in Europe is variable and less often established than for amino acid disorders. While for GA-I its benefit has already been demonstrated, there is room for debate of NBS for IVA and especially PA and MMACBL.

Abbreviations

EFTA	European Free Trade Association
ESPE	European Society for Paediatric
	Endocrinology
FYROM	Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia
GA-I	Glutaric aciduria type I, OMIM 231670
	deficiency of glutaryl-CoA dehydrogenase
GP	General practitioner
IVA	Isovaleric aciduria, OMIM 243500 defi-
	ciency of isovaleryl-CoA dehydrogenase
ISNS	International Society for Neonatal Screening
MMACBL	Methylmalonic aciduria including cblA, cblB,
	cblC and cblD defects
	OMIM 251000 methylmalonic aciduria,
	methylmalonyl-CoA mutase deficiency
	OMIM 251100 methylmalonic aciduria,
	cblA type
	OMIM 251110 methylmalonic aciduria,
	cblB type
	OMIM 277400 methylmalonic aciduria and
	homocystinuria, cblC type
	OMIM 277410 methylmalonic aciduria and
	homocystinuria, cblD type
NBS	Newborn screening

Clinical Genetics and EMGO Institute for Health and Care Research, VU University Medical Center, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

PA	Propionic aciduria						
	OMIM 232050 deficiency of propionyl-CoA						
	carboxylase subunit β						
	OMIM 232000 deficiency of propionyl-CoA						
	carboxylase subunit α						
SSIEM	Society for the Study of Inborn Errors of						
	Metabolism						

Introduction

In 2010/2011 regulation and practice of population newborn screening (NBS) for rare disorders were surveyed among – at that time – 27 EU member states (NBS in Belgium is different in the Flemish and in the French part, therefore contributed two data sets), five candidate countries (Croatia, Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Iceland, Montenegro, Turkey), four potential candidates (Albania, Bosnia Herzegovina, Kosovo, Serbia) and three EFTA countries (Norway, Switzerland and Liechtenstein) through a tender of the European Commission within the EU programme of Community Action in Public Health (Burgard et al. 2012; Loeber et al. 2012).

Data collection covered five domains of an NBS programme, and results have been reported previously (Burgard et al. 2012; Loeber et al. 2012; Cornel et al. 2011).

This article specifies the state of NBS programmes for organic acidurias in Europe in 2010, regarding four organic acidurias: glutaric aciduria type I (GA-I), isovaleric aciduria (IVA), propionic aciduria (PA) and methylmalonic acidurias including inherited deficiencies of methylmalonyl-CoA mutase as well as of cbIA, cbIB, cbIC and cbID deficiency (MMACBL).

NBS for these disorders aims to detect elevations of characteristic acylcarnitines by tandem mass spectrometry and subsequent calculation of acylcarnitine ratios (Lindner et al. 2006, 2008; Ensenauer et al. 2011; Chace et al. 2001).

In IVA, MMACBL and PA patients may already develop life-threatening metabolic decompensation during the first days of life (Deodato et al. 2006; Vockley and Ensenauer 2006; Kölker et al. 2015a, b). Therefore, NBS process times are key performance indicators.

Methods

A web-based questionnaire asked for current practice of NBS and its possible regulation by directives and/or by guidelines (Burgard et al. 2012; Loeber et al. 2012).

In each country respondents nominated by European professional societies (ISNS; SSIEM; ESPE) reported data

for all disorders screened for according to the national NBS panel (Loeber et al. 2012). The survey started in August 2010 and was closed on January 14, 2011; reference date for all data is September 1, 2010. Values given for time points of obtaining NBS samples, conforming diagnosis and start of treatment are mostly experts' estimates for single disorders or groups of disorders, but not calculated measures based on individual measurements. Therefore standard deviations cannot be communicated. Process times were not differentiated by different methods to confirm a diagnosis.

Results

Description of the Data Set

From 39 target countries, 37 data sets were available for analysis (response rate 92.5%). Data sets were not available for Albania (NBS was not established), Liechtenstein (NBS is performed in Switzerland and data are included in the Swiss data set) and Kosovo (the questionnaire was not returned), but it was known by personal communication that newborn screening, if functional, does not include organic acidurias. Newborn screening for GA-I was performed in ten countries and for IVA in nine countries; MMACBL and PA were screened for in seven countries (Table 1).

Confirmation of Screening Results

Nine of ten countries answered that positive screening results for GA-I were confirmed by specialised centres but rarely also by local hospitals or by general practitioners/paediatricians in practice (2/10) (Table 1). Similar results were obtained for IVA: in 9/9 countries positive screening results are confirmed by specialised centres (Table 1). MMACBL and PA screening results are confirmed by specialised centres (7/7 countries), but rarely also in local hospitals (1/7 countries) or by general practitioners or paediatricians in private practice (1/7 countries) (Table 1). Screening results are confirmed most frequently by analyses of organic acids in urine. However, in the majority of countries, additionally mutation analysis and/or enzyme analysis is performed for the confirmation of diagnosis (Table 1).

Process Times

In most countries there is (written) information for prospective parents and informed consent is asked at the time of blood sampling (Burgard et al. 2012). Blood spots are taken at a median age of 2.5 days and analysis in the screening laboratory starts at median age of 4.5 days (Table 2).

Table 1 Confirmation of newborn screening and feedback of screening results

Countries	Point of confirmation			Method of confirmation			Feedback of screening results			
	Specialised centre	Local hospital	GP/ Paed.	Metabolites	Enzyme activity	Mutation analysis	To screening lab	To registry	Only diagnosis	Detailed results
Disorder: GA-I										
Austria	50%	50%		Х	Х	Х	Х			Х
Belgium (Flemish part)	Х			Х			Х		Х	
Czech Republic	Х			Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	
Denmark	Х			Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	
Germany	Х			Х	Х	Х	Х			Х
Hungary	50%		50%	Х			Х	Х		Х
Netherlands	na			Х	Х	Х	na	na	na	na
Portugal	Х			Х	Х	Х	Х			Х
Spain	Х				Х	Х	Х		Х	
Iceland	Х			na	na	na	Х			Х
Disorder: IVA										
Austria	50%	50%		Х	Х	Х	Х			Х
Belgium (Flemish part)	Х			Х			Х		Х	
Czech Republic	Х			Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	
Germany	Х			Х		Х	Х			Х
Hungary	50%		50%	Х			Х	Х		Х
Netherlands	50%	50%		Х	Х	Х	na	na	na	na
Portugal	Х			Х	Х	Х	Х			Х
Spain	Х				Х	Х	Х		Х	
Iceland	Х			na	na	na	Х			Х
Disorder: MMAC	BLC									
Austria	50%	50%		Х	Х	Х	Х			Х
Belgium (Flemish part)	Х			Х			Х		Х	
Denmark	Х			Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	
Hungary	50%		50%	Х			Х	Х		Х
Portugal	Х			Х	Х	Х	Х			Х
Spain	Х				Х	Х	Х		Х	
Iceland	Х			na	na	na	Х			Х
Disorder: PA										
Austria	50%	50%		Х	Х	Х				
Belgium (Flemish part)	Х			Х			Х		Х	
Denmark	Х			Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	
Hungary	50%		50%	Х			Х	Х		Х
Portugal	Х			Х	Х	Х	Х			Х
Spain	Х				Х	Х	Х		Х	
Iceland	Х			na	na	na	Х			Х

na data not available, GP general practitioner, Paed. paediatrician

Confirmation of a positive screening result usually does not start before the second week of life and is completed early in the third week of life (Table 2). Treatment starts in GA-I and IVA at a median age of 14 days (range 8–23 days) and in MMACBL and PA at a median age of 15 days (range 14–23 days) (Table 2).

Information Flow Between NBS Domains

In all countries with NBS for organic acidurias, results of the diagnostic confirmatory process are reported back to NBS laboratories (Table 1), following local guidelines (Table 3 Part II). Type and extent of transmitted data are varied, ranging from communication of only the confirmed diagnosis to reporting detailed results (Table 1).

Regulations

A guideline on how to confirm the diagnosis is usually available mostly on a national level, but usually written by local heads/directors of the institution executing the confirmation test - in contrast a national directive concerning the same topic is rarely available (Table 3 Part I). Where to confirm a diagnosis is also predominantly regulated by guidelines, mostly on a national level and less frequently by a directive (Table 3 Part I). The same holds true for the time needed to confirm a diagnosis (Table 3 Part II). Reporting positive results is also more often regulated by guidelines than by directives; few countries have guidelines as well as directives (Table 3 Part II). In Germany, for example, there is a national directive concerning NBS for GA-I, but a guideline endorsed by a national professional society is also in place (Kölker et al. 2011).

Discussion

The major aim of this study was to describe the concepts and state of established NBS programmes for organic acidurias in Europe. In contrast to amino acid disorders, organic acidurias are less often included in European NBS disease panels (Burgard et al. 2012). Therefore experience about the impact of different logistics on outcome of these disorders is scarce.

Our study reveals that performance and, confirmation of positive NBS results, and start of treatment for organic acidurias in Europe is variable. This may result in inappropriate interventions, delayed treatment, increased disease burden and finally health inequities and increased costs. Further studies shall provide systematic evaluation of existing NBS programmes for their impact on patients' outcomes and also costs and health equity. Particular attention should be paid to the time schedule of the NBS process for these conditions (Kelm and Tanksley 2015).

Since patients with a classical organic aciduria such as IVA, MMACBL and PA are at risk to already present early in the neonatal period with a putatively life-threatening metabolic decompensation, it is important to accomplish NBS as early as possible in order to start treatment and care ideally in the still asymptomatic patient. In our survey, treatment in these disorders was reported to start after 15 days of life. This is clearly too late for most patients with a neonatal metabolic decompensation. Furthermore the confirmatory diagnostic process needs to be tailored to avoid therapy in patients with mild phenotypes which is especially recognised in IVA (Ensenauer et al. 2004).

The European Network of Experts on Newborn Screening (EUNENBS) delivered a consensus document with recommendations how to develop NBS in the European Union based on the results of the survey (Cornel et al. 2014). Within these recommendations GA-I is considered as a disorder with lower prevalence, not too difficult to test and prove health gain, IVA is a candidate disorder where NBS is more challenging according to the criteria by Wilson and Jungner (1968), and NBS for MMACBL or PA is not recommended at all.

NBS and subsequent treatment of GA-I according to an international guideline have significantly improved the neurological outcome of affected individuals (Heringer et al. 2010; Kölker et al. 2006, 2007, 2011), and NBS is considered a cost-effective diagnostic strategy for countries with healthcare systems comparable to Germany (Pfeil et al. 2013). According to this international guideline, it is crucial to start treatment early before the manifestation of irreversible neurologic damage (Kölker et al. 2011). Treatment has to be started early in the diagnostic process, i.e. immediately after demonstration of elevated concentrations of 3-hydroxyglutaric acid and already in advance of the final confirmation of the diagnosis by demonstration of two disease-causing mutations or impaired enzyme activity (Kölker et al. 2011). In our survey only in the Netherlands and in Germany, pre-emptive treatment of GA-I patients starts before the end of the confirmation process as recommended (Kölker et al. 2011). In Fig. 1a we illustrate the current practice mostly employed and show our proposed model (Fig. 1b). In concordance with an international guideline (Kölker et al. 2011), we strongly advocate starting pre-emptive treatment in the setting of a metabolic centre as soon as the suspicion of an organic aciduria arises from newborn screening and before the diagnosis is finally confirmed. This is important in GA-I, but may even be more crucial in MMACBL, PA and IVA, where neonatal decompensation is more frequent.

For IVA, successful experience with NBS programmes has been published (Ensenauer et al. 2011; Grünert et al.
Table 2 Process times of newborn screening

			Confirmation		
Countries	DBS sampling Mean age (days)	NBS lab analysis Age at start (days)	Mean start (days)	Mean end (days)	Treatment Mean start (days)
Disorder: GA-I					
Austria	2.3	3.8	11	14	14
Belgium (Flemish part)	2.2	4.2	10	12	14
Czech Republic	2.5	4.5	6	8	8
Denmark	2.5	4.5	5	12	na
Germany	2.2	3.2	11	16	14
Hungary	2.5	5.5	na	na	na
Netherlands	3.8	4.8	10	21	10
Portugal	2.2	4.2	8	na	na
Spain	3.8	7.8	8	15	15
Iceland	3	6	9	23	23
Median	2.5	4.5	9	14.5	14
Disorder: IVA					
Austria	2.3	3.8	11	14	14
Belgium (Flemish part)	2.2	4.2	10	12	14
Czech Republic	2.5	4.5	6	8	8
Germany	2.2	3.2	11	16	14
Hungary	2.5	5.5	na	na	na
Netherlands	3.8	4.8	10	21	10
Portugal	2.2	4.2	8	na	na
Spain	3.8	7.8	8	15	15
Iceland	3	6	9	23	23
Median	2.5	4.5	9.5	15	14
Disorder: MMACBL					
Austria	2.3	3.8	11	14	14
Belgium (Flemish part)	2.2	4.2	10	14	14
Denmark	2.5	4.5	5	15	15
Hungary	2.5	5.5	na	na	na
Portugal	2.2	4.2	8	na	na
Spain	3.8	7.8	8	15	15
Iceland	3	6	9	23	23
Median	2.5	4.5	8.5	15	15
Disorder: PA					
Austria	2.3	3.8	11	14	14
Belgium (Flemish part)	2.2	4.2	10	12	14
Denmark	2.5	4.5	5	15	15
Hungary	2.5	5.5	na	na	na
Portugal	2.2	4.2	8	na	na
Spain	3.8	7.8	8	15	15
Iceland	3	6	9	23	23
Median	2.5	4.5	8.5	15	15

na data not available, DBS dried blood spot

Table 3 Regulation of th	e confirmation	1 process								
	How to con	firm NBS				Where to co	nfirm diagnosis	2		
Countries	Guideline	Application	Directive	Application	Authors	Guideline	Application	Directive	Application	Authors
Disorder: GA-I PART I										
Austria	Х	National			PS	Х	National			Sd
Belgium (Flemish part)	na					Х	National			Sd
Czech Republic	Х	Regional			LH	Х	National	Х	National	HA
Denmark	Х	National	Х	National	HA, LH	Х	National	Х	National	HA, LH
Germany	Х	National			PS	Х	National	Х	National	HA, PS
Hungary	Х	National			LH	Х	Regional			LH
Netherlands	na			na		na		na		
Portugal	Х	National				Х	Regional			
Spain	na		na			na		na		
Iceland	Х	Regional	Х	Regional	LH	X		X	National	LH
Disorder: IVA PART I										
Austria	Х				PS	Х	National			PS
Belgium (Flemish part)	na		па			Х	National			PS
Czech Republic	Х	Regional			LH	Х	National	Х	National	HA
Germany	Х	National			PS	Х	National	Х	National	HA, PS
Hungary	Х	National			LH	Х	Regional			LH
Netherlands	Х					Х		Х		HA,PS
Portugal	Х	National				Х	Regional			
Spain	na		na			na		na		
Iceland	Х	Regional	Х	Regional	LH	Х		Х	National	LH
Disorder: MMACBL PA	ART I									
Austria	Х	National			PS	Х	National			PS
Belgium (Flemish part)	na		na			Х	National			PS
Denmark	Х	National	Х	National	HA, LH	Х	National	Х	National	HA, LH
Hungary	Х	National			LH	Х	Regional			LH
Portugal	Х	National				Х	Regional			
Spain	na		na			na		na		
Iceland	Х	Regional	Х	Regional	ΗН	X		X	National	LH

🙆 Springer

Disorder: PA PART I										
Austria	x	National			PS	x	National			PS
Belgium (Flemish part)	na		na			Х	National			PS
Denmark	Х	National	Х	National	HA, LH	Х	National	Х	National	HA, LH
Hungary	Х	National			LH	Х	Regional			LH
Portugal	Х	National				Х	Regional			
Spain	na		na							
Iceland	Х	Regional	Х	Regional	LH	Х		Х	National	LH
	Recommen	ded age to confirm a sust	vicious NBS result			Feedback of	`final diagnosis			
Countries	Guideline	Minimum age (days)	Maximum age (days)	Application	Authors	Guideline	Application	Directive	Application	Authors
Disorder: GA-I PART]	Ι									
Austria	na					Х	National			PS
Belgium (Flemish part)	Х	1		National	LH	Х	Regional	Х	Regional	HA, PS
Czech Republic	na					Х	Regional			LH
Denmark	na					Х	National	Х	National	HA, LH
Germany	Х			National	HA,PS			Х	National	НА
Hungary	na					Х	National			LH
Netherlands	na					na		na		
Portugal	na					Х	National			
Spain	Х	3	20	National	PS	Х	Regional	Х	Regional	LH
Iceland	Х			National	LH	Х	National			LH
Disorder: IVA PART II										
Austria	na					X	National			PS
Belgium (Flemish part)	Х	1		National	ΗΠ	Х	Regional	Х	Regional	HA, PS, LH
Czech Republic	na					Х	Regional			LH
Germany	Х			National	HA, PS			Х	National	НА
Hungary	na					Х	National			LH
Netherlands	Х		14	National	PS	Х				PS
Portugal	na					Х	National			
Spain	Х	3	20	National	PS	Х	Regional	Х	Regional	LH
Iceland	Х			National	LH	X	National			LH
Disorder: MMACBL P/	ART II									
Austria	na					x	National			PS
Belgium (Flemish Part)	Х	1		National	ΓН	Х	Regional	Х	Regional	HA, PS, LH
										(continued)

🙆 Springer

111

Table 3 (continued)										
	Recomment	led age to confirm a suspi	cious NBS result			Feedback of	final diagnosis			
Countries	Guideline	Minimum age (days)	Maximum age (days)	Application	Authors	Guideline	Application	Directive	Application	Authors
Denmark	na					Х	National	X	National	HA, LH
Hungary	na					×	National			LH
Portugal	na					Х	National			
Spain	Х	3	20	National	PS	X	Regional	Х	Regional	LH
Iceland	Х			National	LH	Х	National			LH
Disorder: PA PART II										
Austria	na					X	National			PS
Belgium (Flemish part)	Х	1		National	LH	Х	Regional	X	regional	HA, PS, LH
Denmark	na					Х	National	Х	National	HA, LH
Hungary	na					X	National			LH
Portugal	na					Х	National			
Spain	Х	3	20	National	PS	X	Regional	Х	Regional	LH
Iceland	x			National	LH	x	National			LH

na data not available, LH local head of institution responsible for confirmation of NBS, PS professional society, HA health authority

 $\underline{\textcircled{O}}$ Springer



Fig. 1 Current practice after positive NBS result (a) versus a proposed model recommending pre-emptive treatment after a positive NBS result is received (b). This should be initiated and supervised by

a metabolic centre with the major aim to minimise the risk of a neonatal metabolic decompensation in patients with organic acidurias during the confirmatory diagnostic process

2012a, b; Lindner et al. 2011), and the natural history is favourable as long as early neonatal brain damage can be prevented by adequate therapy (Grünert et al. 2012a, b). However, about half of the individuals with a positive screening result for IVA are homozygous for mutation c.932C>T in the *IVA* gene, presumably associated with a benign phenotype (Ensenauer et al. 2004), for whom the benefit of screening is questionable.

The impact of NBS on history and outcome of PA and MMACBL was thought to be low due to the fact that many patients will have already presented clinically before the results of NBS are available (Leonard et al. 2003). In line with this, a study demonstrated that NBS for PA did not affect the outcome of these patients (Grünert et al. 2012a, b). However, there still is controversy whether PA and MMACBL patients with a late disease onset, i.e. presenting with first symptoms after the newborn period, might benefit from NBS (Dionisi-Vici et al. 2006; Couce et al. 2011). Follow-up studies on a larger number of patients are required to address this question.

In 2011, E-IMD (EAHC no. 2010 12 01; www.eimdregistry.org), an observational patient registry including organic acidurias, has been initiated. It currently includes detailed follow-up data of more than 1100 patients (Kölker et al. 2015a, b).

Taking the start of confirmation as a surrogate parameter for the time when an organic aciduria can be suspected from NBS, percentages of patients identified before onset of symptoms can be estimated. For example, in Denmark confirmation of NBS for MMACBL starts on day 5 after birth (Table 2), which is the earliest among all European countries performing NBS screening for MMACBL. At that time at least 25% of all MMACBL patients have already been diagnosed by clinical symptoms [total number of patients: 101; median age at diagnosis (interquartile range): 21 (3–210) days] in the E-IMD sample. Similar results were obtained for PA with at least 25% of all patients being diagnosed until day 5 [total number of patients: 78; median age at diagnosis (interquartile range): 14 (4–90) days].

For IVA, confirmation of NBS is at first initiated at day 6 in the Czech Republic (Table 2); at that time at least 25% of patients have been diagnosed [total number of patients, 29; median age at diagnosis (interquartile range), 8 (5–465) days]. In contrast, since GA-I patients rarely present with symptoms before age 3 months (Kölker et al. 2006), neonatal onset in GA-I has been rarely observed until day 5 in the E-IMD survey. On day 5 confirmation of positive NBS results for GA-I is first started in Denmark [total number of patients: 52; median age at diagnosis (interquartile range): 300 (145–428) days].

Although being preliminary, these data support the call for NBS to be fast in intoxication-type organic acidurias such as MMACBL, PA and IVA and to initiate treatment early before completing follow-up investigations. Patients with late-onset forms of these disorders will most likely benefit the most from NBS programmes. This notion is supported by a recently published E-IMD study demonstrating that (1) NBS significantly lowers the age of diagnosis in classic organic acidurias compared to patients with late onset of symptoms identified by selective metabolic testing, (2) improves the neurological outcome in patients with GA-I and cobalamin-nonresponsive MMA and (3) reduces the probability of cardiac manifestation with increasing age in PA patients (Heringer et al. 2015).

However, the decision whether or not to screen for these diseases must be based on many more criteria, including long-term follow-up studies and health economic evaluations.

Conclusion

NBS for organic acidurias in Europe is variable and less often established than for amino acid disorders. While for GA-I its benefit has already been demonstrated, there is room for debate of NBS for IVA and especially PA and MMACBL patients. NBS for intoxication-type organic acidurias has to be fast and treatment has to be started pre-emptively, i.e. even before the diagnosis is finally confirmed.

Acknowledgements We thank all respondents for contributing their data to the survey. Collection of data underlying this publication was funded by the European Union contract number 2009 6206 of the Executive Agency for Health and Consumers.

Synopsis

NBS for organic acidurias in Europe is variable and less often established than for amino acid disorders. While for GA-I its benefit has already been demonstrated, there is room for debate of NBS for IVA and especially PA and MMACBL defects. For optimal benefit NBS for intoxication-type organic acidurias has to be fast and treatment has to be started pre-emptively, i.e. even before the diagnosis is confirmed.

Authors' Contributions

Designing, planning and conducting the study: All authors Collection of data and statistical analysis: Peter Burgard Manuscript writing: All authors

Guarantor

Peter Burgard

Conflict of Interest

Friederike Hörster, Stefan Kölker, J. Gerard Loeber, Martina C. Cornel, Georg F. Hoffmann and Peter Burgard declare that they have no conflict of interests.

Details of Funding

Collection of data underlying this publication was funded by the European Union contract number 2009 6206 of the Executive Agency for Health and Consumers. All authors declare that the content of the article has not been influenced by the sponsors.

Ethics Approval

All procedures followed were in accordance with the ethical standards of the responsible committee on human experimentation (institutional and national) and with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2000. No data on individual patients are included in this study; therefore no informed consent had to be obtained.

This article does not contain any studies with human or animal subjects performed by any of the authors.

References

- Burgard P, Rupp K, Lindner M et al (2012) Newborn screening programmes in Europe; arguments and efforts regarding harmonization. Part 2. From screening laboratory results to treatment, follow-up and quality assurance. J Inherit Metab Dis 35 (4):613–625
- Chace DH, DiPerna JC, Kalas TA et al (2001) Rapid diagnosis of methylmalonic and propionic acidemias: quantitative tandem mass spectrometric analysis of propionylcarnitine in filter-paper blood specimens obtained from newborns. Clin Chem 47:2040–2044

- Cornel MC, Rigter T, Weinreich SS et al (2014) A framework to start the debate on neonatal screening policies in the EU: an Expert Opinion Document. Eur J Hum Genet 22:12–17
- Couce ML, Castiñeiras DE, Bóveda MD et al (2011) Evaluation and long-term follow-up of infants with inborn errors of metabolism identified in an expanded screening programme. Mol Genet Metab 104(4):470–475
- Deodato F, Boenzi S, Santorelli FM et al (2006) Methylmalonic and propionic aciduria. Am J Med Genet C Semin Med Genet 142C:104–112
- Dionisi-Vici C, Deodato F, Roschinger W et al (2006) 'Classical' organic acidurias, propionic aciduria, methylmalonic aciduria and isovaleric aciduria: long-term outcome and effects of expanded newborn screening using tandem mass spectrometry. J Inherit Metab Dis 29:383–389
- Ensenauer R, Vockley J, Willard JM et al (2004) A common mutation is associated with a mild, potentially asymptomatic phenotype in patients with isovaleric acidemia diagnosed by newborn screening. Am J Hum Genet 75:1136–1142
- Ensenauer R, Fingerhut R, Maier EM et al (2011) Newborn screening for isovaleric acidemia using tandem mass spectrometry: data from 1.6 million newborns. Clin Chem 57(4):623–626
- Grünert SC, Wendel U, Lindner M et al (2012a) Clinical and neurocognitive outcome in symptomatic isovaleric acidemia. Orphanet J Rare Dis 7:9
- Grünert SC, Müllerleile S, de Silva L et al (2012b) Propionic acidemia: neonatal versus selective metabolic screening. J Inherit Metab Dis 35:41–49
- Heringer J, Boy SP, Ensenauer R et al (2010) Use of guidelines improves the neurological outcome in glutaric aciduria type I. Ann Neurol 68(5):743–752
- Heringer J, Valayannopoulos V, Lund AM et al (2015) Impact of age at onset and newborn screening on outcome in organic acidurias. J Inherit Metab Dis. doi:10.1007/s10545-015-9907-8 [epub ahead of print]
- Kölker S, Garbade SF, Greenberg CR et al (2006) Natural history, outcome, and treatment efficacy in children and adults with glutaryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency. Pediatr Res 59:840–847
- Kölker S, Garbade SF, Boy N et al (2007) Decline of acute encephalopathic crises in children with glutaryl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency identified by newborn screening in Germany. Pediatr Res 62:357–363
- Kölker S, Christensen E, Leonard JV et al (2011) Diagnosis and management of glutaric aciduria type I – revised recommendations. J Inherit Metab Dis 34:677–694
- Kölker S, Garcia Cazorla A, Valayannopoulos V et al (2015a) The phenotypic spectrum of organic acidurias and urea cycle

disorders. Part 1: the initial presentation. J Inherit Metab Dis 38:1041-1057

- Kölker S, Valayannopoulos V, Burlina AB et al (2015b) The phenotypic spectrum of organic acidurias and urea cycle disorders. Part 2: the evolving phenotype. J Inherit Metab Dis 38:1159–1174
- Leonard JV, Vijayaraghavan S, Walter JH (2003) The impact of screening for propionic and methylmalonic acidaemia. Eur J Pediatr 162(Suppl 1):S21–S24
- Lindner M, Ho S, Fang-Hoffmann J et al (2006) Neonatal screening for glutaric aciduria type I: strategies to proceed. J Inherit Metab Dis 29:378–382
- Lindner M, Ho S, Kolker S et al (2008) Newborn screening for methylmalonic acidurias-optimization by statistical parameter combination. J Inherit Metab Dis 31:379–385
- Lindner M, Gramer G, Haege G et al (2011) Efficacy and outcome of expanded newborn screening for metabolic diseases-report of 10 years from South-West Germany. Orphanet J Rare Dis 6:44
- Loeber JG, Burgard P, Cornel MC et al (2012) Newborn screening programmes in Europe; arguments and efforts regarding harmonization. Part 1. From blood spot to screening result. J Inherit Metab Dis 35(4):603–611
- Pfeil J, Listl S, Hoffmann GF et al (2013) Newborn screening by tandem mass spectrometry for glutaric aciduria type 1: a costeffectiveness analysis. Orphanet J Rare Dis 8:167
- Vockley J, Ensenauer R (2006) Isovaleric acidemia: new aspects of genetic and phenotypic heterogeneity. Am J Med Genet C Semin Med Genet 142C(2):95–103
- Wilson JMG, Jungner G (1968) The principles and practice of screening for disease. Public health papers, vol 34. World Health Organization, Geneva. http://whqlibdoc.who.int/php/ WHO_PHP_34.pdf. Accessed 9 Oct 2015

Internet Documents

- Cornel M, Rigter T, Weinreich S et al (2011) Newborn screening in Europe: expert opinion document. http://www.iss.it/cnmr/index. php?lang=1&id=1621&tipo=72. Accessed 5 Oct 2015
- E-IMD Consortium. www.eimd-registry.org. Accessed 5 Oct 2015
- Kelm K, Tanksley S (2015) Timeliness of newborn screening: suggested recommendations from DACHDNC laboratory standards and procedures subcommittee. Accessed 12 Feb 2015

RESEARCH REPORT

Whole Exome Sequencing Identifies the Genetic Basis of Late-Onset Leigh Syndrome in a Patient with MRI but Little Biochemical Evidence of a Mitochondrial Disorder

Michael Nafisinia • Yiran Guo • Xiao Dang • Jiankang Li • Yulan Chen • Jianguo Zhang • Nicole J. Lake • Wendy A. Gold • Lisa G. Riley • David R. Thorburn • Brendan Keating • Xun Xu • Hakon Hakonarson • John Christodoulou

Received: 16 September 2015 / Revised: 25 January 2016 / Accepted: 26 January 2016 / Published online: 26 June 2016 © SSIEM and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2016

Abstract Leigh syndrome is a subacute necrotising encephalomyopathy proven by post-mortem analysis of brain

Communicated by: Shamima Rahman, FRCP, FRCPCH, PhD Competing interests: None declared

Electronic supplementary material: The online version of this chapter (doi:10.1007/8904_2016_541) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

M. Nafisinia · W.A. Gold · L.G. Riley · J. Christodoulou (⊠) Genetic Metabolic Disorders Research Unit, Western Sydney Genetics Program, The Children's Hospital at Westmead, Locked Bag 4001, Sydney, NSW 2145, Australia e-mail: john.christodoulou@health.nsw.gov.au

M. Nafisinia · W.A. Gold · L.G. Riley · J. Christodoulou Discipline of Paediatrics and Child Health, Sydney Medical School, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia

Y. Guo · B. Keating · H. Hakonarson Center for Applied Genomics, The Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, Philadelphia, PA 19104, USA

X. Dang BGI Education Center, University of Chinese Academy of Sciences, Shenzhen 518083, China

X. Dang · J. Li · Y. Chen · J. Zhang · X. Xu Shenzen Key Laboratory of Neurogenomics, BGI-Shenzen, Shenzhen 518083, China

N.J. Lake · D.R. Thorburn

Murdoch Childrens Research Institute and Victorian Clinical Genetics Services, Royal Children's Hospital, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

N.J. Lake · D.R. Thorburn Department of Paediatrics, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

J. Christodoulou Discipline of Genetic Medicine, Sydney Medical School, University of Sydney, Sydney NSW, Australia tissue showing spongiform lesions with vacuolation of the neuropil followed by demyelination, gliosis and capillary proliferation caused by mutations in one of over 75 different genes, including nuclear- and mitochondrialencoded genes, most of which are associated with mitochondrial respiratory chain function. In this study, we report a patient with suspected Leigh syndrome presenting with seizures, ptosis, scoliosis, dystonia, symmetrical putaminal abnormalities and a lactate peak on brain MRS, but showing normal MRC enzymology in muscle and liver, thereby complicating the diagnosis. Whole exome sequencing uncovered compound heterozygous mutations in NADH dehydrogenase (ubiquinone) flavoprotein 1 gene (NDUFV1), c.1162+4A>C (NM_007103.3), resulting in skipping of exon 8, and c.640G>A, causing the amino acid substitution p.Glu214Lys, both of which have previously been reported in a patient with complex I deficiency. Patient fibroblasts showed a significant reduction in NDUFV1 protein expression, decreased complex CI and complex IV assembly and consequential reductions in the enzymatic activities of both complexes by 38% and 67%, respectively. The pathogenic effect of these variations was further confirmed by immunoblot analysis of subunits for MRC enzyme complexes in patient muscle, liver and fibroblast where we observed 90%, 60% and 95% reduction in complex CI, respectively. Together these studies highlight the importance of a comprehensive, multipronged approach to the laboratory evaluation of patients with suspected Leigh syndrome.

Introduction

Leigh syndrome is largely an early-onset, progressive, neurodegenerative disorder caused by mutations in at least 75 nuclear- and mitochondrial-encoded genes involved in pyruvate metabolism or the mitochondrial respiratory chain complexes (MRC), with the latter mainly involving complex I (CI) and complex IV (CIV) (Lake et al. 2015). Clinical hallmark signs of Leigh syndrome are brainstem dysfunction, symmetrical spongiform lesions in the brain, dystonia, spasticity, movement disorders, visual disturbances, nystagmus, ophthalmoparesis, ptosis, cerebellar ataxia, seizures, scoliosis, bulbar dysfunction and peripheral neuropathy that lead to biochemical signs of mitochondrial dysfunction including lactate elevation in different body fluids, Krebs cycle intermediates in urine and dysfunction of the mitochondrial respiratory chain in different tissues (Lake et al. 2015). Mutations in the nuclear-encoded mitochondrial CI gene NDUFV1 [MIM 161015] have previously been reported by Schuelke et al. (1999) in a patient with seizures, followed by a report by Benit et al. (2001) in a patient with the same mutations as reported here and a clinical phenotype of Leigh syndrome and CI deficiency (Benit et al. 2001; Schuelke et al. 1999). This gene encodes a 51 kDa subunit of the flavoprotein portion of CI, containing NADH, flavin mononucleotide (FMN) and Fe-S-binding sites (Mimaki et al. 2012). NDUFV1 is highly evolutionarily conserved and plays a critical role in the catalytic activity of CI (Benit et al. 2001). Dysfunction of CI is the most common oxidative phosphorylation disorder in humans, likely due to the sheer number of subunits (each encoded by a different nuclear or mitochondrial gene) required for its structure, function and assembly, with defects in the CI assembly process commonly at fault (Mimaki et al. 2012).

In a bid to identify the genetic basis of late-onset childhood Leigh syndrome in the proband, we performed whole exome sequencing of DNA from the proband and four unaffected family members and identified compound heterozygous *NDUFV1* sequence variants (NM_007103.3) in the proband. Functional assays of patient fibroblasts revealed reduced levels of NDUFV1 protein, MRC assembly defects and dysfunction of CI and CIV, resulting in a probable reduction in ATP production. These variations have previously been associated with CI deficiency in a patient with moderately elevated plasma lactate levels and clinical features including cerebellar ataxia, persistent seizures, psychomotor regression, strabismus, ptosis and brain atrophy with multiple symmetric areas of hyperintensity in the brainstem (Benit et al. 2001).

Methods and Materials

Proband Summary

The female proband was the second child of unrelated parents of Caucasian Australian background. She had an older and younger brother, both of whom were well. The pregnancy was uncomplicated, and she was born at term by elective lower segment caesarean section due to cephalopelvic disproportion. The birth weight was 3.47 kg (50th percentile) and length was 50 cm (50th–75th percentiles). There were no concerns in the perinatal period, or with early growth and development, and hearing and vision were determined as normal. She was breastfed for the first 3–4 months.

She continued normally until 2 years of life, at which time she had febrile convulsions and subsequently developed a partial left ptosis. This ptosis resolved 2–3 months later. At the age of 7 years, her parents noted that she appeared to use her left arm and leg less than her right limbs. Her parents commented in retrospect that she had always appeared clumsier compared with her older brother. She subsequently developed progressive asymmetric bilateral dystonia of her hands and feet, worse on the right than the left, which was only partially responsive to Baclofen and Botox. Implementation of a ketogenic diet was of no obvious benefit.

Over the following 12 months, her dystonia progressively worsened, chewing became more difficult, she lost the ability to feed herself and her balance and speech deteriorated. She became wheelchair-bound by 10 years of age, developed progressive scoliosis and when last reviewed at the age of 12 years old had a resting tremor, dysarthria and dysphagia, requiring a gastrostomy. Her parents felt that a therapeutic cocktail of thiamine, coenzyme Q10, L-carnitine and biotin had been of some subjective benefit.

A brain MRI performed at the age of 7 years showed symmetrical putaminal lesions, and brain MRS showed a lactate peak (images not shown). A repeat MRI a year later showed progression of the changes in the putamen, as well as involvement of the left body of the caudate and the right quadrigeminal plate (images not shown). Blood and CSF lactate were normal on a number of occasions, as was a urine metabolic screen, serum CPK, copper and ceruloplasmin and liver function tests (results not shown). The clinical evolution together with the brain MRI changes was suggestive of a clinical diagnosis of late-onset Leigh syndrome.

Muscle and liver respiratory chain enzyme activities were found to be normal by spectrophotometric analysis

	Enzyme a	activity		
	Patient	(Ref range)	% Activity	% CS ratio
Muscle ^a				
CI (nmol/min/mg)	46	19-72	110	53
CII (nmol/min/mg)	121	26-63	269	126
CIII (min/mg)	72.2	12.8-50.9	248	112
CIV (min/mg)	11.88	3.3-9.1	180	86
CS (nmol/min/mg)	273	85-179	212	_
Liver				
CI (nmol/min/mg)	21	8-11	221	113
CII (nmol/min/mg)	166	54-73	272	138
CIII (min/mg)	15.1	5.2-10.3	199	100
CIV (min/mg)	0.78	0.5-0.9	110	56
CS (nmol/min/mg)	54	26-31	193	-
	% Activit	y		
	Patient	Control		
Skin fibroblasts ^b				
CI in fibroblast	38*	100		
CIV in fibroblast	67*	100		

 Table 1
 Spectrophotometric MRC enzyme diagnostic data in skeletal muscle, liver and fibroblasts

Bold characters indicate clinically significant abnormal values ^a Patient liver and muscle samples. Enzyme activity data are expressed as nmol/min per mg protein, except for CIII and CIV, which were expressed as /min/mg. Data are also expressed as % CS ratio, which represents % of the normal control mean value when expressed relative to citrate synthase. Complex I (CI), NADH-coenzyme Q1 oxidoreductase; complex II (CII), succinate-coenzyme Q1 oxidoreductase; complex III (CIII), decylbenzylquinol-cytochrome c oxidoreductase; complex IV, cytochrome c oxidase (CIV)

^b Dipstick MRC enzyme data from cultured fibroblasts. Enzyme activity data are expressed as % residual activity relative to protein (% protein)

p < 0.001

(Table 1). She was negative for the common Leigh syndrome mutations m.8993T>C and m.8993T>G. Subsequent sequencing of the entire mitochondrial genome did not reveal any variants of interest, and fibroblast pyruvate dehydrogenase activity was found to be normal (results not shown).

Whole Exome Sequencing

Genomic DNA was isolated from whole blood collected from the patient, her parents and two unaffected siblings using the QIAamp DNA mini kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany), following the manufacturer's instructions. WES and bioinformatics analyses were performed on all samples as previously described (Menezes et al. 2015).

Variants identified by WES analysis were confirmed by Sanger sequencing of DNA from all subjects. Sanger sequencing was performed at the Australian Genome Research Facility (AGRF), Westmead Millennium Institute (Westmead, Australia), using the ABI PRISM BigDye Terminator Cycle Sequencing Ready Reaction Kit and ABI PRISM 3100 Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA).

In Silico Analysis

In silico analyses of variants identified by WES were performed using Sift (http://www.sift.jcvi.org), PolyPhen2 (http://www.genetics.bwh.harvard.edu/pph2/), GVGD (agvgd.iarc.fr/), MutationTaster (www.mutationtaster.org/), PhyloP (http://ccg.vital-it.ch/mga/hg19/phylop/phylop. html), Human Splicing Finder (http://www.umd.be/HSF/) and PhastCons (http://compgen.bscb.cornell.edu/phast/ phastCons-HOWTO.html).

Exon Skipping

Total RNA extracted from fibroblasts was converted to cDNA using a Superscript III first-strand cDNA synthesis kit (Invitrogen, Mulgrave, VIC, Australia), following the manufacturer's instructions. Each reaction contained 400 ng of total RNA and 250 ng of random decamers, 200 U of Superscript III and 40 U of RNaseOUT[™] (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Full-length cDNA was generated by incubation at 50°C for 60 min. cDNA was amplified by PCR to determine whether the intronic variant caused exon skipping. PCR products were gel purified (PCR Purification Kit; Qiagen) and sent to AGRF for Sanger sequencing.

Immunoblotting

Fibroblast cells were lysed and protein prepared as previously described (Riley et al. 2013). 20 µg of each protein sample was resolved on a 4–12% Bis–Tris gel (Life Technologies) and transferred to a polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane. Membranes were probed with 1:1,000 anti-NDUFV1 (ab174472, Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom) or 1:500 anti-OXPHOS cocktail (consisting of five antibodies, recognising labile subunits from each of the five MRC complexes; ab110411, Abcam). Protein loading was normalised to porin (1:5,000 anti-porin for 2 h at room temperature; ab14734, Abcam). All blots were then probed with either 1:2,500 anti-rabbit or anti-mouse IgG horseradish peroxidase (HRP; GE Healthcare, Little Chalfont, Buckinghamshire, United Kingdom) for 2 h at room temperature. Membranes were then incubated with enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) reagents and exposed to Hyperfilm ECL (GE Healthcare, Little Chalfont, Buckinghamshire, United Kingdom). Films were scanned using a SRX-101A (Konica Minolta Holdings, Inc., Tokyo, Japan) scanner and analysed with ImageJ version 1.49 (http://rsb.info.nih.gov/ij/).

Protein was extracted from patient and control skeletal muscle and liver biopsy samples as previously described (PMID: 12847163). Relative concentration of protein was estimated by running samples on a 4–12% Bis–Tris gel (Life Technologies) and staining with Coomassie blue staining solution, after which samples were subjected to immunoblotting as above except blots were probed with 1:2,000 anti-mouse IgG horseradish peroxidase for 1.5 h and films were scanned using a CP1000 Processor (Agfa-Gevaert, Mortsel. Belgium).

Spectrophotometric MRC Enzyme Activity

MRC enzyme activities in liver and skeletal muscle biopsies from the proband were determined as previously described (Frazier and Thorburn 2012).

Complex I and IV Dipstick Enzyme Activity Assays in Fibroblasts

CI and CIV enzyme assays were performed on freshly isolated protein lysates from patient fibroblasts using dipstick enzyme assays, following the manufacturer's instruction (Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom).

Blue Native Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis

Blue native polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (BN-PAGE) was performed on freshly isolated protein lysates from patient fibroblasts as described elsewhere (McKenzie et al. 2007). 20 μ g of protein sample was resolved on 4–16% Bis–Tris Protein Gels (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 5.03 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, USA). All variables underwent statistical comparisons by Mann–Whitney U non-parametric testing. Two-tailed Student's *t*-test of measures was carried out at least in triplicate. Statistical significance was set at P < 0.05.

Results

Because of the clinical suspicion of late-onset Leigh syndrome, we initially performed MRC complex spectrophotometric assays in liver and skeletal muscle (Table 1). Since these results were within the reference ranges and the patient had a phenotype strongly indicative of Leigh syndrome, we moved to whole exome sequencing and identified compound heterozygous mutations (c.1162 +4A>C and c.640G>A) in the MRC CI flavoprotein subunit encoding gene NDUFV1. Both mutations were confirmed by Sanger sequencing, with each parent carrying one of the mutations (Fig. 1a and c). In silico review of the c.640G>A variant predicted it to affect protein function with the most damaging score and showed that the p. Glu214 position is completely conserved across many species (Fig. 1b). In silico analysis of the c.1162+4A>C variation predicted it to be disease causing, affecting the donor splice site. These variations had very low minor allele frequencies (http://www.1000genomes.org & ExAc http://exac.broadinstitute.org). Amplification of patient cDNA, generated by reverse transcription of patient fibroblast mRNA, showed two bands on agarose gel electrophoresis: an intense higher full-length band and a shorter transcript (faint lower band) (Fig. 1d). Sanger sequencing of the shorter transcript confirmed the skipping of exon 8 (Fig. 1e), and the presence of the missense c.640G>A mutation in the higher full-length band in the patient mRNA.

We examined NDUFV1 protein levels in patient fibroblasts and its effect on MRC complex levels. Immunoblot analysis revealed a 72% reduction in NDUFV1 levels in patient fibroblasts compared to a control (Fig. 2a). Immunoblot analysis of subunits for MRC enzyme complexes, dependent upon MRC complex formation for protein stability, revealed a severe reduction in CI (95%), CIII (45%) and CIV (60%) in patient fibroblasts (Fig. 2b). However, in patient skeletal muscle and liver, only CI was reduced by 90% and 60%, respectively, suggesting that CI was the most vulnerable complex in our patient (Fig. 2c and Supplementary Fig. 1). It is not clear to us what factors may be contributing to the tissue specificity in our patient carrying *NDUFV1*mutations.

Since the *NDUFV1* mutations were only expected to affect CI, we examined MRC assembly in patient fibroblasts by blue native polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (BN-PAGE). A relative reduction in CI (60%), CIII (35%), CIV (51%) and supercomplex I/III (95%) was observed (Fig. 2d). However, we were unable to examine whether



Fig. 1 (a) Sanger sequencing profile of *NDUFV1* from the proband and parents showing compound heterozygous mutations in the proband, including c.640G>A (p.Glu214Lys; heterozygous in the mother) and c.1162+4A>C (heterozygous in the father). (b) Evolutionary sequence conservation of the altered amino acid residue (p. Glu214) is denoted by a *red rectangle*. (c) Amplification of cDNA shows two bands in the proband: an intense higher molecular weight band and a faint lower molecular weight band. (d) Sanger sequencing of the faint band from amplified cDNA showing skipping of exon 8 in the patient. (e) Representative image of the RT-PCR and sequencing analysis of exon 8 skipping



Fig. 2 (a) Immunoblot showing reduced NDUFV1 expression in cultured fibroblasts from the proband (P) compared to controls (C). (b) Immunoblot showing OXPHOS expression in muscle and liver from the proband (P) compared to controls (C). (c) Immunoblot showing OXPHOS expression in cultured fibroblasts from the proband (P) compared to controls (C). (d) BN-PAGE immunoblotting

of skin fibroblast mitochondria lysed in 1% digitonin, using antibodies against the NDUFA9 subunit of complex I, the SDHA subunit of complex II, the UQCRC1 subunit of complex III and the COX1 subunit of complex IV, shows reduced complexes I, III, IV and supercomplex CI/CIII

these assembly defects were also present in patient skeletal muscle and liver because we did not have enough tissue material to carry out these studies.

In summary, these results confirm the deleterious nature of the *NDUFV1* variants as predicted by *in silico* analyses, with strong evidence that changes at the NDUFV1 subunit level have affected CI assembly in our patient. Mitochondrial respiratory chain enzyme function was then reevaluated by dipstick enzyme assays to determine the relative specific activity of immunocaptured CI and CIV in patient fibroblast lysates. The results showed reduced activity of both CI and CIV reductions at 67% and 38%, respectively, in patient fibroblasts, relative to controls (Table 1). The reduced CI and CIV activity by dipstick enzyme assay was consistent with reduced CI and CIV levels seen on immunoblotting in patient fibroblast (Fig. 2b–d).

Discussion

This study highlights several challenges faced in the diagnosis of a patient with a clinical picture of Leigh syndrome but normal MRC enzyme activity in clinically unaffected tissues. The findings reinforce the value of using massively parallel sequencing for the identification of the underlying genetic basis of this genetically heterogeneous disorder and demonstrate the importance of confirmatory structural and functional analyses to build an evidence base linking genotype and phenotype.

In most cases, diagnosis of MRC diseases relies on identifying abnormal activity in one or more MRC enzymes (Hui et al. 2006). However, there are limitations in using MRC enzyme activity as a lead diagnostic tool. These relate primarily to dilute aqueous assay systems being an imperfect reflection of the function of membrane-embedded enzymes and the difficulty distinguishing primary from secondary MRC defects, as discussed elsewhere (Thorburn et al. 2004). Hence, only 29 out of 67 suspected Australian cases of Leigh syndrome showed a significant decrease in activity of the MRC complexes, underscoring the notion that enzyme activity investigations should be complimentary and additive to other structural and functional evidence in the diagnosis of MRC disease and should be interpreted with caution (Rahman et al. 1996).

However, implementation of combined MRC enzymology methods such as spectrophotometric assays and polarographic or dipstick enzyme assays is not currently suitable as a frontline diagnostic assay but can be useful for confirmation and evaluation of the effect of novel mutations and to study animal models (Calvo et al. 2010; Wenchich et al. 2003). These complementary methods differ in their methodologies, potentially allowing differential interrogation of the pathways involved (Barrientos et al. 2009; Tang et al. 2013; Wenchich et al. 2003).

Benit et al. (2001) has reported a patient with the same compound heterozygous variations, an onset of seizures at age 1 year, mildly elevated plasma lactate, neurological regression, strabismus, ptosis and a progressive course leading to death by 3 years. The MRI showed the typical bilateral, symmetrical basal ganglia and brainstem lesions. Leigh syndrome was proven histopathologically postmortem (Benit et al. 2001). They reported CI deficiency in muscle and liver. However, CI was normal in cultured skin fibroblasts (Benit et al. 2001). The patient we describe here had different clinical manifestations compared with the case reported by Benit et al. (2001), with a later onset, slower progression and asymmetrical ptosis and dystonia, but no seizures. The patient is still alive 10 years after diagnosis. It is important to note that although we showed a significant reduction in both complexes I and IV in cultured fibroblasts as well as a significant reduction in complex I in muscle and liver in the current study, the overall evaluation of mitochondrial CI and CIV enzyme activity in the liver, muscle and fibroblasts was not considered helpful for the diagnosis of Leigh disease.

In mammals, all 44 CI subunits must be assembled correctly in the right sequence to form a mature functional complex. Among these components, disease-causing mutations in 14 nuclear-encoded structural subunits of CI (NDUFS1, NDUFS2, NDUFS3, NDUFS4, NDUFS7, NDUFS8, NDUFV2, NDUFS6, NDUFV1, NDUFA1, NDUFA2, NDUFA9, NDUFA10, NDUFA12), four assembly factor defects (NDUFAF2, NDUFAF5, NDUFAF6, FOXRED1) and 6 mtDNA subunits have previously been linked with Leigh syndrome (Ogilvie et al. 2005; Mimaki et al. 2012; Lemire 2015; Lake et al. 2015). Mutations in four CI subunits (NDUFV1, NDUFS1, NDUFS4 and NDUFS6), all located in the matrix arm (N-module) of CI, lead to CI subassembly complexes of about 830 kDa on BN-PAGE analysis that appear to have lost the matrix arm of CI (Mimaki et al. 2012; Ogilvie et al. 2005; Tuppen et al. 2010; Leong et al. 2012). In our experience, patients and mice with mutations in these genes often show an apparently more severe impact on the amount of fully assembled CI on BN-PAGE than on spectrophotometric CI activity or functional analyses such as ATP synthesis (Leong et al. 2012). This is likely due to the amount of fully assembled CI in the intact inner membrane being higher than implied by BN-PAGE and enzyme studies where the membrane has been disrupted by detergent, freeze-thawing or sonication (Leong et al. 2012), destabilising the assembled CI. All four of these CI subunit genes are expressed ubiquitously, but the impact on CI enzyme activity and function also varies between tissues (Bird et al. 2014). Furthermore, as was seen in our case, mutations in

CI genes can affect the stability of other mitochondrial complexes, which may explain the reduced CIII and CIV levels and low CIV activity in patient fibroblasts (Ugalde et al. 2004; Suthammarak et al. 2010). Some ambiguity in being able to detect isolated CI defects in all patients with mutations in genes like *NDUFV1* is not surprising given the potential variability introduced by the differing severity of individual mutations, genetic background effects and different methods for assessing the activity and assembly of a membrane-embedded complex of 44 proteins that interacts with other membrane complexes.

In summary, we have presented in silico studies and abnormalities of the NDUFV1 mRNA with consequent reductions of CI protein level in skeletal muscle, liver and cultured fibroblasts. The finding of normal CIV and CIII protein levels in the patient skeletal muscle and liver, also observed in a previous study (Benit et al. 2001), emphasises the need to investigate primary tissues, as fibroblasts alone may lead to misleading results. We have also highlighted the assembly defects in OXPHOS complexes CI, CIII, CIV and supercomplex I/III. Considering the limitations in the biochemical diagnosis of a child with clinical manifestations of late-onset Leigh syndrome, implementation of a multifaceted diagnostic pipeline, including whole exome sequencing and complementary structural and functional studies, helped to confirm the pathogenicity of NDUFV1 mutations in this patient.

Acknowledgements This research was supported by Australian NHMRC grant 1026891 to J.C., an NHMRC Principal Research Fellowship to D.R.T., an Australian Mitochondrial Disease Foundation (AMDF) PhD Scholarship to M.N. and a Research Grant from the Shenzhen Municipal Government of China (NO. CXB201108250094A) to X.X. We would also like to acknowledge the Institutional Development Funds to H.H. Finally, we also gratefully acknowledge donations to J.C. by the Crane and Perkins families.

Compliance with Ethics Guidelines

All procedures followed were in accordance with the ethical standards of the responsible committee on human experimentation (institutional and national) and with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2000. Informed consent was obtained from all patients included in the study.

Synopsis

A definitive genetic diagnosis was provided by whole exome sequencing and functional studies in a patient with late-onset childhood Leigh syndrome and normal muscle and liver mitochondrial RC enzyme activities.

Conflicts of Interest

Michael Nafisinia, Yiran Guo, Xiao Dang, Jiankang Li, Yulan Chen, Jianguo Zhang, Nicole J Lake, Wendy A Gold, Lisa G Riley, David R Thorburn, Brendan Keating, Xun Xu, Hakon Hakonarson and John Christodoulou declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Details of Contributions of Individual Authors

Michael Nafisinia: design and implementation of structural and functional studies, data analysis and manuscript preparation

Yiran Guo, Xiao Dang, Jiankang Li, Yulan Chen, Jianguo Zhang, Brendan Keating, Xun Xu, Hakon Hakonarson: performance of whole exome sequencing, implementation of bioinformatics, data analysis and manuscript preparation

Wendy Gold, Lisa Riley: contribution to design of structural and functional studies, data analysis and manuscript preparation

Nicole J. Lake: implementation of structural and functional studies

David Thorburn: oversight of spectrophotometric assays, data analysis and manuscript preparation

John Christodoulou: overall oversight of the research project, clinical interface, data analysis and manuscript preparation

References

- Barrientos A, Fontanesi F, Diaz F (2009) Evaluation of the mitochondrial respiratory chain and oxidative phosphorylation system using polarography and spectrophotometric enzyme assays. Curr Protoc Hum Genet. Chapter 19, Unit19 3
- Benit P, Chretien D, Kadhom N, DE Lonlay-Debeney P, Cormier-Daire V, Cabral A, Peudenier S, Rustin P, Munnich A, Rotig A (2001) Large-scale deletion and point mutations of the nuclear NDUFV1 and NDUFS1 genes in mitochondrial complex I deficiency. Am J Hum Genet 68:1344–1352
- Bird MJ, Wijeyeratne XW, Komen JC, Laskowski A, Ryan MT, Thorburn DR, Frazier AE (2014) Neuronal and astrocyte dysfunction diverges from embryonic fibroblasts in the Ndufs4fky/fky mouse. Biosci Rep 34:e00151
- Calvo SE, Tucker EJ, Compton AG, Kirby DM, Crawford G, Burtt NP, Rivas M, Guiducci C, Bruno DL, Goldberger OA, Redman MC, Wiltshire E, Wilson CJ, Altshuler D, Gabriel SB, Daly MJ, Thorburn DR, Mootha VK (2010) High-throughput, pooled sequencing identifies mutations in NUBPL and FOXRED1 in human complex I deficiency. Nat Genet 42:851–858
- Frazier AE, Thorburn DR (2012) Biochemical analyses of the electron transport chain complexes by spectrophotometry. Methods Mol Biol 837:49–62
- Hui J, Kirby DM, Thorburn DR, Boneh A (2006) Decreased activities of mitochondrial respiratory chain complexes in non-mitochon-

drial respiratory chain diseases. Dev Med Child Neurol 48:132-136

- Lake NJ, Compton AG, Rahman S, Thorburn DR (2015) Leigh syndrome: one disorder, more than 75 monogenic causes. Ann Neurol. doi:10.1002/ana.24551
- Lemire BD (2015) Glutathione metabolism links FOXRED1 to NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase (complex I) deficiency: a hypothesis. Mitochondrion 24:105–112
- Leong DW, Komen JC, Hewitt CA, Arnaud E, Mckenzie M, Phipson B, Bahlo M, Laskowski A, Kinkel SA, Davey GM, Heath WR, Voss AK, Zahedi RP, Pitt JJ, Chrast R, Sickmann A, Ryan MT, Smyth GK, Thorburn DR, Scott HS (2012) Proteomic and metabolomic analyses of mitochondrial complex I-deficient mouse model generated by spontaneous B2 short interspersed nuclear element (SINE) insertion into NADH dehydrogenase (ubiquinone) Fe-S protein 4 (Ndufs4) gene. J Biol Chem 287:20652–20663
- Mckenzie M, Lazarou M, Thorburn DR, Ryan MT (2007) Analysis of mitochondrial subunit assembly into respiratory chain complexes using Blue Native polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. Anal Biochem 364:128–137
- Menezes MJ, Guo Y, Zhang J, Riley LG, Cooper ST, Thorburn DR, Li J, Dong D, Li Z, Glessner J, Davis RL, Sue CM, Alexander SI, Arbuckle S, Kirwan P, Keating BJ, Xu X, Hakonarson H, Christodoulou J (2015) Mutation in mitochondrial ribosomal protein S7 (MRPS7) causes congenital sensorineural deafness, progressive hepatic and renal failure and lactic acidemia. Hum Mol Genet 24:2297–2307
- Mimaki M, Wang X, Mckenzie M, Thorburn DR, Ryan MT (2012) Understanding mitochondrial complex I assembly in health and disease. Biochim Biophys Acta 1817:851–862
- Ogilvie I, Kennaway NG, Shoubridge EA (2005) A molecular chaperone for mitochondrial complex I assembly is mutated in a progressive encephalopathy. J Clin Invest 115:2784–2792
- Rahman S, Blok RB, Dahl HH, Danks DM, Kirby DM, Chow CW, Christodoulou J, Thorburn DR (1996) Leigh syndrome: clinical

features and biochemical and DNA abnormalities. Ann Neurol $39{:}343{-}351$

- Riley LG, Menezes MJ, Rudinger-Thirion J, Duff R, de Lonlay P, Rotig A, Tchan MC, Davis M, Cooper ST, Christodoulou J (2013) Phenotypic variability and identification of novel YARS2 mutations in YARS2 mitochondrial myopathy, lactic acidosis and sideroblastic anaemia. Orphanet J Rare Dis 8:193
- Schuelke M, Smeitink J, Mariman E, Loeffen J, Plecko B, Trijbels F, Stockler-Ipsiroglu S, van den Heuvel L (1999) Mutant NDUFV1 subunit of mitochondrial complex I causes leukodystrophy and myoclonic epilepsy. Nat Genet 21:260–261
- Suthammarak W, Morgan PG, Sedensky MM (2010) Mutations in mitochondrial complex III uniquely affect complex I in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. J Biol Chem 285:40724–40731
- Tang G, Gutierrez Rios P, Kuo SH, Akman HO, Rosoklija G, Tanji K, Dwork A, Schon EA, Dimauro S, Goldman J, Sulzer D (2013) Mitochondrial abnormalities in temporal lobe of autistic brain. Neurobiol Dis 54:349–361
- Thorburn DR, Chow CW, Kirby DM (2004) Respiratory chain enzyme analysis in muscle and liver. Mitochondrion 4:363–375
- Tuppen HAL, Hogan VE, He L, Blakely EL, Worgan L, Al-Dosary M, Saretzki G, Alston CL, Morris AA, Clarke M, Jones S, Devlin AM, Mansour S, Chrzanowska-Lightowlers ZMA, Thorburn DR, Mcfarland R, Taylor RW (2010) The p.M292T NDUFS2 mutation causes complex I-deficient Leigh syndrome in multiple families. Brain 133:2952–2963
- Ugalde C, Janssen RJ, van den Heuvel LP, Smeitink JA, Nijtmans LG (2004) Differences in assembly or stability of complex I and other mitochondrial OXPHOS complexes in inherited complex I deficiency. Hum Mol Genet 13:659–667
- Wenchich L, Drahota Z, Honzik T, Hansikova H, Tesarova M, Zeman J, Houstek J (2003) Polarographic evaluation of mitochondrial enzymes activity in isolated mitochondria and in permeabilized human muscle cells with inherited mitochondrial defects. Physiol Res 52:781–788